UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 40-F

		FURIVI 40-F	
	REGISTRATION STATEMENT PURSUAN	NT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXC	CHANGE ACT OF 1934
		or	
X	ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECT	TION 13(a) OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXC	CHANGE ACT OF 1934
		For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 Commission File Number 001-37403	
	Œ	Amaya Inc. xact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)	
	(E.		•
	Quebec (Province or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	7370 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)	98-0555397 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)
		7600 Trans Canada Hwy. Pointe-Claire, Quebec, Canada H9R 1C8 +1 (514) 744-3122	
	(Address and	telephone number of Registrant's principal execu Amaya Services USA Corporation 4000 Hollywood Blvd., Suite 360-N, Hollywood, Florida 33021 +1 (514) 744-3122	tive offices)
	(Name, address ((including zip code) and telephone number (included) of agent for service in the United States)	ling area code)
	Securities regi	stered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
	Title of each class	Name of e	ach exchange on which registered
	Common Shares, no par valu	The N	NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
	Securities regi	stered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g None) of the Act:
	Securities for which	there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section None	n 15(d) of the Act:
	For annual repor	rts, indicate by check mark the information filed v	vith this Form:
	☑ Annual information form	⊠ Aud	ited annual financial statements
annu	Indicate the number of outstanding shares of e	each of the Registrant's classes of capital or common	stock as of the close of the period covered by this
		res and 1,139,249 Class A Convertible Preferred Sha	res outstanding as at December 31, 2016.
-		nt (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Se the Registrant was required to file such reports) and	
•	,	Yes ⊠ No □	
		at has submitted electronically and posted on its cor 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) d post such files).	
		Yes ⊠ No □	

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain information and statements in this Annual Report on Form 40-F and the exhibits attached hereto (this "Annual Report") of Amaya Inc. (the "Registrant") are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and contingencies that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied. Investors are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Applicable risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those identified under the heading "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" in the Registrant's Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the "2016 AIF") and "Risk Factors and Uncertainties", "Limitations of Key Metrics and Other Data" and "Key Metrics" in the Registrant's Management's Discussion & Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the "2016 MD&A"), attached as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.3 to this Annual Report, respectively, and in other filings that the Registrant has made and may make with applicable securities authorities in the future. Additionally, the safe harbor provided in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, applies to forward looking information provided pursuant to "Off Balance Sheet Arrangements" and "Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations" in this Annual Report. Please also see "Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" in each of the 2016 AIF and 2016 MD&A. Each forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date hereof, and Amaya undertakes no obligation to correct or update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable law.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The disclosure provided under the headings "Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting—Disclosure Controls and Procedures", "—Remediation Efforts to Address Identified Material Weaknesses" and "—Limitations on Effectiveness of DC&P and ICFR" included in the 2016 MD&A is incorporated by reference herein.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The disclosure provided under the headings "Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting—Internal Control Over Financial Reporting," "—Remediation Efforts to Address Identified Material Weaknesses" and "—Limitations on Effectiveness of DC&P and ICFR" included in the 2016 MD&A is incorporated by reference herein.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of Amaya's internal control over financial reporting has been audited by its independent external auditor, Deloitte LLP, London, United Kingdom ("Deloitte"), the registered public accounting firm that also audited the Registrant's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, attached as Exhibit 99.2 to this Annual Report (the "2016 Financial Statements"). Deloitte's attestation report on Amaya's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016 is included in the 2016 Financial Statements and is incorporated by reference herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The disclosure provided under the heading "Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting—Changes to Internal Control Over Financial Reporting" included in the 2016 MD&A is incorporated by reference herein.

Identification of the Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert

The disclosure regarding the Registrant's audit committee and audit committee financial expert provided under the heading "Directors and Officers—Audit Committee" included in the 2016 AIF is incorporated by reference herein.

Code of Ethics

The Registrant has adopted a "code of ethics" (as defined in paragraph (9) of General Instruction B to Form 40-F), known as its Code of Business Conduct (the "Code"), that applies to all directors, officers and employees, including its principal executive officer, principal financial and accounting officer, controller and persons performing similar functions, and has posted a copy of the same to its website at www.amaya.com. See also the 2016 AIF under the heading "Directors and Officers—Ethical Business Conduct".

To the extent the Registrant is required by paragraph (9) of General Instruction B to Form 40-F to disclose any amendments to or waivers of the Code, it may do so by providing the applicable information on its website at www.amaya.com within five business days following the date of the amendment or waiver, as permitted by the notes to paragraph (9) of General Instruction B to Form 40-F.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The disclosure regarding audit, audit-related, tax and all other fees billed to the Registrant in each of the last two fiscal years by the Registrant's principal accountant and certain audit committee pre-approval policies and procedures provided under the headings "Directors and Officers—External Auditor Service Fees" and "Directors and Officers—Audit Committee—Pre-approval Policies and Procedures", respectively, included in the 2016 AIF are incorporated by reference herein.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The disclosure provided under the heading "Off Balance Sheet Arrangements" included in the 2016 MD&A is incorporated by reference herein.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

The tabular and certain other disclosure regarding the Registrant's contractual obligations as of December 31, 2016 provided under the heading "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Contractual Obligations" included in the 2016 MD&A is incorporated by reference herein. For a discussion of the Registrant's other contractual obligations, see the 2016 MD&A.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Registrant believes that its corporate governance practices are consistent in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the corporate governance guidelines established by the Canadian Securities Administrators, the applicable corporate governance rules of the Toronto Stock Exchange and the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (the "NASDAQ Rules") and the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. Disclosure of the NASDAQ Rules that the Registrant does not follow and a brief statement of the home country practices it follows in lieu of such NASDAQ Rules, in each case as permitted thereunder, are available on the Registrant's website at www.amaya.com.

UNDERTAKING AND CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

A. Undertaking

The Registrant undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the SEC staff, and to furnish promptly, when requested to do so by the SEC staff, information relating to: the securities registered pursuant to Form 40-F; the securities in relation to which the obligation to file an annual report on Form 40-F arises; or transactions in said securities.

B. Consent to Service of Process

A Form F-X signed by the Registrant and its agent for service of process was previously filed with the SEC on May 26, 2015, and amended on January 20, 2017, in connection with the Registrant's registration statement on Form 40-F with respect to its Common Shares.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 40-F and has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

Date: March 22, 2017 AMAYA INC.

By: /s/ Daniel Sebag

Name: Daniel Sebag

Title: Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Description
99.1	Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2016
99.2	Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
99.3	Management's Discussion & Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2016
99.4	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
99.5	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
99.6	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
99.7	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
99.8	Consent of Deloitte LLP, London, United Kingdom



ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

March 22, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXPLANATORY NOTES	1
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	1
CORPORATE STRUCTURE	2
BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION	3
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS	22
RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES	26
<u>DIVIDENDS</u>	48
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE	48
MARKET FOR SECURITIES	50
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS	52
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS	59
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS	61
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR	62
MATERIAL CONTRACTS	63
INTEREST OF EXPERTS	63
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	63
SCHEDULE A – AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER	A-1

EXPLANATORY NOTES

Unless otherwise indicated, the information contained in this annual information form is as of December 31, 2016, and unless the context otherwise requires, references to "Amaya", the "Corporation", "it", "its" or similar expressions refer to Amaya Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. This annual information form should be read in conjunction with the information contained in Amaya's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the "2016 Annual Financial Statements") and the Management's Discussion and Analysis thereon (the "2016 Annual MD&A").

All references in this annual information form to "dollars", "US\$" and "\$" are to U.S. dollars, references to "CDN\$" are to Canadian dollars, references to " \mathbb{C} " are to Euros and references to " \mathbb{C} " are to British pound sterling. The Corporation has certain proprietary rights to certain company names, product names, trade names and trademarks used in this annual information form that are important to its business, including, without limitation, *Amaya*, *PokerStars*, and those brands listed under the heading "Business of the Corporation—Overview". The Corporation has omitted the registered trademark (\mathbb{C}) and trademark (\mathbb{C}) symbols and any other related symbols for such trademarks and all related trademarks, including those related to specific products or services, when used in this annual information form. All other names and trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

Market data and certain industry data and forecasts included in this annual information form were obtained or derived from internal and market research, publicly available information, reports of governmental agencies and industry publications and surveys. Amaya has relied upon industry publications as its primary sources for third-party industry data and forecasts. Industry surveys, publications and forecasts generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. Amaya has not independently verified any of the data from third-party sources, nor has Amaya ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon therein. Similarly, industry forecasts and market research, which Amaya believes to be reliable based upon management's knowledge of the industry, have not been independently verified. By their nature, forecasts are particularly subject to change or inaccuracies, especially over long periods of time. In addition, Amaya does not know what assumptions regarding general economic growth were used in preparing the third-party forecasts that are or may be cited in this annual information form. While Amaya is not aware of any inaccuracies in Amaya's industry data presented herein, Amaya's estimates that are based on the same involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed under "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" and elsewhere in this annual information form.

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual information form contains certain forward-looking information and statements (collectively, "forward-looking statements") within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable securities laws, including, without limitation, statements relating to certain expectations, projections, growth plans, new or improved product introductions, market expansion efforts, and other information related to Amaya's business strategy and future plans. Forward-looking statements can, but may not always, be identified by the use of words such as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", "predict", "potential", "targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "would", "should", "believe", "objective", "ongoing", "assumes", "goal", "likely" and similar references to future periods or the negatives of these words and expressions and by the fact that these statements do not relate strictly to historical or current matters. These forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including market and economic conditions, business prospects or opportunities, future plans and strategies, projections, technological developments, anticipated events and trends and regulatory changes that affect the Corporation, its customers and its industries. Although the Corporation and management believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable and based on reasonable assumptions and estimates, there can be no assurance that these assumptions or estimates are accurate or that any of these expectations will prove accurate. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive risks, uncertainties and contingencies that could cause actual events to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements.

Undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements. Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those anticipated by Amaya and expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this annual information form. Such statements are based on a number of assumptions and risks which may prove to be incorrect, including, without limitation, assumptions about:

- the ability of the Corporation to secure, maintain and comply with all required licenses, permits, approvals, and certifications to distribute and market its products and services in the jurisdictions where the Corporation is currently doing business or intends to do business;
- the anticipated regulation of online and mobile gaming in various jurisdictions;

- the anticipated outcome of litigation involving the Corporation;
- the overall business and economic conditions;
- the potential financial opportunity of the Corporation's addressable markets;
- the potential financial opportunity of individual contracts signed by the Corporation with third parties;
- the competitive environment;
- the protection of the Corporation's current and future intellectual property rights;
- the ability of the Corporation to recruit and retain the services of its key technical, sales, marketing and management personnel;
- the ability of the Corporation to develop commercially viable products and services as a result of its research and development ("R&D")
 activities;
- the ability of the Corporation to obtain additional financing on reasonable terms or at all;
- the ability of the Corporation to integrate acquisitions and generate synergies; and
- the impact of new laws and regulations in Canada, the United States or any other jurisdiction where the Corporation is currently doing business or intends to do business.

Many factors could cause the Corporation's actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements or future events or developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, the factors discussed under "Risk Factors and Uncertainties".

There can be no assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those expressly or impliedly expected or estimated in such statements. Shareholders and investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as the plans, intentions or expectations upon which they are based might not occur. Although the Corporation cautions that the foregoing list of risk factors, as well as those risk factors presented under the heading "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" and elsewhere in this annual information form and in the 2016 Annual MD&A, including under the headings "Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements", "Limitations of Key Metrics and Other Data" and "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" therein, are not exhaustive, shareholders and investors should carefully consider them and the uncertainties they represent and the risks they entail. The forward-looking statements contained in this annual information form are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. Unless otherwise indicated by the Corporation, forward-looking statements in this annual information form describe Amaya's expectations as of March 22, 2017 and, accordingly, are subject to change after such date. The Corporation does not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by applicable securities laws.

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Name, Address and Incorporation

Amaya Inc. was incorporated under Part IA of the *Companies Act* (Québec) on January 30, 2004 under the name 9138-5666 Québec Inc. and is now governed by the *Business Corporations Act* (Québec) (the "QBCA"). Since its incorporation, the Corporation has amended its articles on numerous occasions. The Corporation first amended its articles on May 14, 2007 to, among other things: (i) change its name to Gametronix Systems Inc.; and (ii) subdivide its Class A shares. On November 2, 2007, the Corporation amended its articles to change its name to "Amaya Gaming Group Inc." On May 11, 2010, the Corporation amended its articles to, among other things: (i) increase the authorized capital of the Corporation by creating an unlimited number of common shares (the "Common Shares") and an unlimited number of preferred shares; (ii) re-designate Class A shares as Common Shares on the basis of 1.7756 Common Shares for each Class A share; (iii) re-designate Class G shares as Common Shares on the basis of 100 Common Shares for each Class G share; and (iv) eliminate all classes of shares except for Common Shares. The articles of the Corporation were further amended on each of July 30, 2014 and November 28, 2014 in connection with the Rational Group Acquisition (as defined below) to, among other things: (i) replace the then current class of authorized preferred shares with a new class of non-voting convertible preferred shares, called Class A Convertible Preferred Shares (the "Preferred Shares"); (ii) change the Corporation's name to "Amaya Inc."; and (iii) add certain provisions affecting the Common Shares to facilitate the Corporation's compliance with applicable gaming regulations.

The Corporation's head and registered office address is 7600 TransCanada Highway, Pointe-Claire, Québec H9R 1C8, Canada, and the Corporation's telephone number is +1 (514) 744-3122. The Corporation's website address is www.amaya.com. The

information contained on, or that can be accessed through, the Corporation's website is neither part of nor incorporated by reference into this annual information form. The Corporation has included its website address in this annual information form solely as an inactive textual reference.

Intercorporate Relationships

The activities of Amaya are conducted either directly or through its subsidiaries. The table below lists the principal subsidiaries of Amaya as at December 31, 2016, as well as their jurisdiction of organization. Each of the principal subsidiaries is wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by Amaya.

Name	Jurisdiction Where Organized
Amaya Holdings B.V.	Netherlands
Rational Entertainment Enterprises Limited	Isle of Man
Rational Gaming Europe Limited	Malta
REEL Italy Limited	Malta
Amaya Group Limited	Isle of Man

Amaya has other subsidiaries, but the assets and revenues of such subsidiaries individually did not exceed 10%, and in the aggregate did not exceed 20%, of Amaya's consolidated assets or consolidated revenues as at and for the year ended December 31, 2016.

BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION

Overview

Amaya is a leading provider of technology-based products and services in the global gaming and interactive entertainment industries. Through its Business-to-Consumer ("B2C") and, up until July 31, 2015, its Business-to-Business ("B2B") operations, Amaya focuses on developing and acquiring interactive technology-based assets with high-growth potential in existing and new markets and industries or verticals. Amaya's B2C business currently consists of the operations of Amaya Group Holdings (IOM) Limited (formerly known as Oldford Group Limited) ("Oldford Group") and its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively with Oldford Group, "Rational Group"). Rational Group currently offers, among other products and services, online (including desktop and mobile) real- and play-money poker and other products, including casino and sports betting (also known as sportsbook). Until July 31, 2015, the date on which Amaya completed the sale of its then-remaining B2B assets, Amaya's B2B business consisted of the operations of certain of its subsidiaries, which offered interactive and land-based gaming solutions. Amaya strives to not only improve and expand upon its current offerings, including its portfolio of interactive technology-based assets, but to pursue and capitalize on new global growth opportunities. Amaya seeks to take advantage of technology to provide gaming and interactive entertainment to large networks of customers.

Since Amaya's acquisition of the Rational Group on August 1, 2014 (the "Rational Group Acquisition") and as a result thereof, its B2C operations have been and continue to be its primary business and source of revenue, which is derived entirely by group entities based outside of Canada and predominately from customers based in the European Union. Through Rational Group, which is based in the Isle of Man and operates globally, Amaya owns and operates gaming and related interactive entertainment businesses, which it offers under several ultimately owned brands, including, among others, PokerStars, PokerStars Casino, BetStars, Full Tilt, StarsDraft, and the PokerStars Championship and PokerStars Festival live poker tour brands (incorporating aspects of the European Poker Tour, PokerStars Caribbean Adventure, Latin American Poker Tour and Asia Pacific Poker Tour). For additional information, see below under "—Regulatory Environment" and the 2016 Annual MD&A. These brands together have more than 108 million registered customers globally (which included all customer accounts whether or not any such account was then currently active) and collectively form the largest poker business in the world, comprising online poker games and tournaments, sponsored live poker competitions, marketing arrangements for branded poker rooms in popular casinos in major cities around the world, and poker programming and content created for television and online audiences. In addition to growing its existing poker businesses, Amaya has recently targeted growth of its operations into other adjacent online and mobile gaming verticals, particularly casino and sportsbook, by, among other things, leveraging its PokerStars brand, scalable technology platform, back-office functionality, personnel, regulatory experience and position, payment processing relationships, and global exposure and customer acquisition capabilities. Amaya also now offers its customers a seamless experience between real-money online poker, casino and sportsbetting with a co

The Corporation currently estimates that the *PokerStars* site holds a significant majority of the global market share of real-money poker player liquidity, or the volume of real money poker players, and is among the leaders in play-money poker player liquidity. Since its 2001 launch, the Corporation also estimates that *PokerStars* has become the world's largest real money online

poker site based on, among other things, player liquidity and revenues, and the Corporation believes that *PokerStars* has distinguished itself as the world's premier poker brand. Additionally, the Corporation estimates that Rational Group's combined online casino offering, including *PokerStars Casino*, is currently among the world's fastest growing and has one of the largest player bases among its competitors.

Amaya's B2B business included the design, development, manufacturing, distribution, sale and service of technology-based gaming solutions for the regulated gaming industry worldwide, primarily to land-based and online gaming operators and governmental agencies and bodies. Amaya's B2B solutions were designed to provide end-users with popular, engaging and cutting-edge content across multiple formats and through a secure technology environment, all of which was intended to improve the profitability, productivity, security and brands of the operators. Amaya developed its former portfolio of solutions through both internal development and strategic acquisitions, including, without limitation, Ongame Network Ltd. ("Ongame"), Amaya (Alberta) Inc. (formerly Chartwell Technology Inc.) ("Chartwell"), CryptoLogic Ltd. ("CryptoLogic"), Cadillac Jack Inc. ("Cadillac Jack"), and Diamond Game Enterprises ("Diamond Game"), all of which provided technology, content and services to a diversified base of customers in the regulated gaming industry. As of the date of this annual information form, and as previously reported, Amaya has divested these and other B2B assets. The fundamental objective of such divestitures was to expedite the Corporation's overall business strategy and maximize shareholder value. See "General Development of the Business— Recent History of the Former B2B Business (2014-2016)" below.

Online and Mobile Poker

Amaya offers online and mobile poker primarily through its *PokerStars* and *Full Tilt* brands. While the brands are and will continue to be distinct, in mid-May 2016, Amaya completed the previously announced migration of the *Full Tilt* brand and customers to the *PokerStars* platform, which it expects will improve liquidity for its customers and allow it to focus development and operational resources on a single platform. Descriptions of these brands and their respective offerings are provided below.

PokerStars

PokerStars, which launched in 2001, is the world's largest online poker site with an estimated significant majority of the global market share of online real-money poker player liquidity. As of December 31, 2016 and following the Full Tilt migration, PokerStars and its related brands served a global customer base of more than 108 million registered customers in 19 different languages. In online poker, PokerStars provides desktop (including through its downloadable client interface), online and mobile products and services to its customers. Among PokerStars' current real-money poker offerings are ring (or cash) games, including traditional games and fast-fold variants, such as Zoom, and tournament-style games, including scheduled multi-table game variants and sit and go variants (which are tournaments that do not have pre-assigned start times but rather begin when all the seats are filled), such as Spin & Go (which is a fast-paced sit and go with variable prize pools that can be multiples of the applicable buy-in). PokerStars' poker product offerings are also currently varied among buy-in and limit amounts and types, as well as among numerous poker game variants (e.g., Texas Hold-Em, Omaha, Stud, Draw and mixed games). Amaya believes that PokerStars is home to some of the largest online poker events and the biggest weekly tournaments, both in terms of dollar amount and number of players, and has greater player liquidity and offers more daily tournaments than any other online poker site. More than 165 billion hands of poker have been dealt on PokerStars since inception, which is more than any other online poker site. PokerStars has set many records, including the largest number of players in an online poker tournament (more than 253,000), the largest prize pool awarded for a series of online tournaments (approximately \$90.9 million), and the largest ever single online tournament prize (approximately \$12.4 million). PokerStars' mobile applications are currently among the most popular real-money poker applications

PokerStars also offers play-money and social poker through its desktop client and mobile applications, including through PokerStars.net, and its Jackpot Poker by PokerStars (formerly PokerStars Play) game, which is available on various online, mobile, social and television platforms and applications, such as Facebook, Apple's iOS and Apple TV, Google's Android and Amazon's Kindle. Play-money and social poker involve playing poker games for play-money, or virtual currency, with other people through free websites, social networks, or other mobile or television applications. Such "free-to-play" products are designed to create social interaction, engagement and competition, provide PokerStars with an additional customer acquisition channel, globally promote the game of poker, and are monetized through the sale of play-money chips (although cash prizes are not awarded).

Amaya's product development team continuously analyzes the data generated by its customers' game play and social interactions, as well as customer feedback, to guide the creation of new content, features, games and game variants, and to enhance its platforms. For example, following the launch of *Spin & Go* in 2014 and *Knockout Poker, Beat the Clock* and *Card Match* in 2016, Amaya continues to focus on developing new and innovative poker products and variants to attract new audiences (including those who may not have previously considered playing real-money poker games, such as play-money or social players and the video gaming community), reactivate inactive players with exciting new games, and continuously engage existing active customers. In 2017,

PokerStars announced the completion of certain initial testing of its new *PokerStars Power Up* product (which is a combination of traditional No Limit Hold'em poker with the ability of the player to influence hands and change game play in a variety of ways).

In addition, Amaya also monitors and assesses its products and services to continuously improve the experience for all of its customers and to ensure a safe, competitive and enjoyable environment. As such and as previously reported, the Corporation has implemented a number of policies and controls, and anticipates implementing additional policies and controls throughout 2017, to significantly reduce or eliminate the use of certain sophisticated technology that may provide an artificial competitive advantage for certain customers over others. For example, in 2017, PokerStars announced the trial of its new Seat Me feature which is intended to help prevent improper opponent targeting and enhance the recreational customer's experience by eliminating the ability of customers to pick his or her table and seat, and instead automatically placing them into the same once the customer has chosen a game and stake. In addition to controls over technological tools and software, the Corporation also assesses its pricing and loyalty programs, rebates and rewards (i.e., incentives) to ensure that such pricing and the distribution of such incentives is aligned with the Corporation's objectives to reward customers for loyalty and behavior that is positive to the overall customer experience and the particular product's ecosystem. As previously reported, since the beginning of 2016, Amaya has introduced certain improvements in the poker ecosystem to benefit and attract high value, net depositing customers (primarily recreational players) and reduce incentives for high volume, net withdrawing customers, and adjusting the pricing on poker games and tournaments (also known as rake) on certain offerings (which resulted in an effective increase). The Corporation anticipates that these and future planned improvements, despite an expected overall decrease in volume of gameplay and total deposit balances held by high volume, net withdrawing players, will create a more attractive environment and experience for recreational players, allowing them to play longer on its platforms and engage in its various product offerings. The Corporation believes this has led and may continue to lead to an increase in net deposits (equal to total customer deposits minus total customer withdrawals made on the Corporation's real money platform) and greater retention. The Corporation has been, among other things, reinvesting resulting savings and funds from the poker ecosystem improvements into marketing, increased incentives for other customers, bonuses and promotions, new poker products and services, R&D, and to help offset costs in the business, including gaming duties and others related to promoting the regulation of online gaming in various jurisdictions.

See also "Business of the Corporation—Business Strategy of the Corporation" and "Business of the Corporation—Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development".

Full Tilt

Full Tilt, which launched in 2004, quickly became a popular online poker site by delivering what the Corporation believes is innovative and realistic online poker game play, which has evolved from and is based on input from some of the world's leading poker players. Prior to its migration onto the PokerStars platform in May 2016, Full Tilt served a global customer base of more than 23.9 million registered customers (which included all real and playmoney customer accounts whether or not any such account was then currently active) and had dealt more than 36.5 billion hands of poker on its proprietary software. Similar to PokerStars, under the Full Tilt brand customers can play both ring games, including traditional games and its fast-fold variants, such as Rush, and tournament-style games, including scheduled multi-table games and sit and go variants, such as Jackpot Sit &Go.

Other Online and Mobile Products

In addition to pursuing growth opportunities in online and mobile poker in existing and new markets, including through the introduction of new product features and enhancements, geographic expansion and improvements to the poker ecosystem (as discussed above), Amaya believes that there are potentially significant opportunities for growth in other adjacent gaming verticals. Specifically, Amaya believes that these verticals initially include online and mobile casino and sportsbook, and such potential opportunities include the ability to leverage its brand and product recognition (particularly poker) to acquire new customers, including recreational customers, and capitalize on network effects and cross-selling these new verticals to its existing and new customer base. In addition to online and mobile casino and sportsbook, Amaya currently intends to expand upon and explore other growth opportunities, including, without limitation, expanding upon its current social gaming offering, pursuing potential opportunities for its daily fantasy sports product, and exploring other interactive entertainment opportunities.

Casino

In January 2014, *Full Tilt* expanded its game portfolio by initially offering a variety of play-money table and casino games on its global online sites, including a range of single- and multi-player variations of blackjack and roulette, online slots and live dealer games. In November 2014, Amaya completed the introduction of play- and real-money casino games under the *PokerStars* brand to players in eligible markets, beginning with casino table games, single- and multi-player blackjack and roulette through the *PokerStars* desktop client interface. Throughout 2015, Amaya expanded its *PokerStars* online casino game offerings in certain markets to include live dealer games and slot machines as well as offering a limited selection of slot machines on its mobile applications, and in 2016,

Amaya introduced the *PokerStars Casino* brand while adding a standalone mobile application for the brand, a "Vegas" tab, which provides access to additional slots, *Millionaire's Island*, the Corporation's first in-house developed progressive jackpot slot game, and additional tier-one slots.

Since the introduction of online and mobile casino, Rational Group has focused on improving its casino offerings, including through the integration of more games across platforms and expanding their availability into new geographies, and on cross-selling its casino offerings to its existing online poker customer base. However, in addition to continued cross-sell efforts, Rational Group initiated measured external marketing efforts for its online casino in late-2016 to attract new customers and retain existing customers and expects to continue to do so throughout 2017.

While the Corporation continues to improve its product offerings, including by enhancing its mobile offering and expanding both its game portfolio and geographic reach, it estimates that Rational Group's combined online casino, including *PokerStars Casino*, is currently among the world's fastest growing and has one of the largest player bases among its competitors. Currently, more than two-thirds of Rational Group's aggregate real-money active unique poker customers are located in jurisdictions where its online casino offerings are available (primarily in Europe). To expand Rational Group's online casino offerings, Amaya currently anticipates focusing on integrating additional casino games, including tier-one slots, expanding into certain additional jurisdictions, implementing a cross-vertical (i.e., poker, casino and sportsbook) loyalty program, and continuing its measured and targeted external marketing campaigns.

Sportsbook

Real-money online sportsbook involves online wagering on the outcome of sporting events and races using real-money. Amaya initially launched limited sports betting under the *PokerStars* brand during 2015 and, through *PokerStars*, announced the introduction of its *BetStars* brand in December 2015, under which it currently offers sports betting products and services. Similar to real-money online casino, Amaya believes that real-money online sportsbook may attract new customers, primarily through the *BetStars* brand, as well as provide it with a strong cross-selling opportunity to its existing and new customer base.

Currently, more than half of Rational Group's aggregate real-money active unique poker customers are located in jurisdictions where its online sportsbetting offerings are available (primarily in the European Union) through both online domains and dedicated iOS and Android mobile applications. To expand its offering in the future, *BetStars* intends to introduce innovative new betting products on the platform to distinguish the brand from competitors, including the *Spin & Bet* product announced in January 2016 which provides customers with the opportunity to potentially enhance their odds and potential payout, and expand into certain additional jurisdictions. In 2017, *BetStars* announced a new sportsbetting feature, *BetStars Sports Jackpots*, which combines certain features of fantasy sports with the *BetStars* product to provide daily, real-money tournaments and jackpot prizes.

BetStars offers a range of betting options across approximately 43 sports, including football, tennis, basketball and horseracing, as well as specialty offerings such as eSports and poker. The brand also features a range of in-play betting options and exclusive offers and promotions.

The Corporation intends to leverage third-party services for certain features of its sports betting offering while it continues to control the payments, customer service, marketing and other key differentiating factors of the business.

Business Strategy of the Corporation

Amaya focuses on the creation of long-term shareholder value by building upon its existing strengths and expanding and strengthening its portfolio of products and services that it expects will deliver sustainable, profitable long-term growth. To do this, Amaya seeks certain ongoing, principal strategic initiatives, including:

• Strengthening and Expanding its Products and Services: While seeking to grow its online and mobile poker offerings through innovative technology and marketing campaigns, Amaya intends to expand its current offerings, primarily through the continued rollout and introduction of new and innovative poker offerings and continued improvements in the poker ecosystem to benefit and attract high value, net depositing customers (primarily recreational players), and continued improvements to its customer loyalty program, as well as through online and mobile sports betting and casino games. Amaya's primary focus will continue to be on its core poker offerings, which are currently its primary customer acquisition channels and in which the Corporation believes it currently has a competitive advantage. However, through the continued expansion of sports betting and its casino offerings, Amaya expects to cross-sell to existing customers, attract new customers, and keep customer leisure time and spending within Amaya's various products and services. In addition, Amaya currently intends to selectively pursue the potential expansion of its other product offerings, such as social gaming and daily fantasy sports. Amaya seeks to become the global market leader across all gaming verticals through its

comprehensive product offerings, focus on customer experience, customer service and dedication to security, game integrity and transparency. See also "—Online and Mobile Poker—*PokerStars*", "—Regulatory Environment—Regulatory Strategy" and "—Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development". Moreover, Amaya seeks to develop its products and services and the intellectual property underlying them by, among other things, (i) developing product enhancements and improvements, including with respect to the security of its technology and customer information, as well as with respect to new content and features to enhance the overall customer experience, (ii) expanding the flexibility of its product offerings and technology infrastructure to allow for customization and integration to address new markets and jurisdictional demands, including new niche markets, (iii) improving its product and service offerings and underlying software and technology platform to adapt to the rapidly changing nature of the gaming and interactive entertainment industries and to ensure a safe, competitive and enjoyable environment, and (iv) protecting its intellectual property in jurisdictions where the Corporation determines there are strategic or other benefits for doing so.

- **Expanding its Geographical Reach**: The Corporation currently intends to expand its geographical reach by offering its products and services in certain additional jurisdictions, including through the promotion of the regulation of online gaming in new and emerging markets, including, without limitation, states within the United States, and certain countries within Asia, Latin America and Eastern Europe. Amaya currently expects that these and other jurisdictions may become significant growth opportunities. With respect to the United States, certain subsidiaries of the Corporation hold a transactional waiver authorizing them to conduct online gaming in New Jersey using the *PokerStars* and *Full Tilt* brands, and Amaya intends to seek approval to offer its online gaming products in certain other U.S. states if and when they regulate and establish an applicable licensing regime. The Corporation's current strategy in Asia, Latin America and Eastern Europe primarily seeks to promote brand awareness and market development through various gaming, non-gaming and land-based efforts, including, without limitation, the *PokerStars* sponsorship of sports superstars and poker professionals in certain of these jurisdictions, sponsored live events, and the *PokerStars LIVE* branded poker rooms. Amaya's strategy to expand its geographical reach includes, but not limited, (i) building relationships with governments and private operators, and (ii) working with regulators and government officials to implement regulations beneficial to its customers, the citizens of the regulating jurisdiction and the industry as a whole.
- **Pursuing Operational Excellence**: Beginning in 2016, the Corporation launched its operational excellence program to review its expense structure and identify areas for improvement that it believes will enhance shareholder value. So far, this program has resulted in rationalizing the Corporation's operations, including consolidating certain office locations. For example, during 2016, certain office locations and departments, including in London, Sydney and Dublin (as a result of the *Full Tilt* migration), underwent various adjustments and restructurings to reduce costs and increase efficiency and focus. The Corporation expects to continue its operational excellence program and focus on further optimizing its operations to potentially achieve a higher level of efficiency, effectiveness and quality throughout the organization. The Corporation will also continuously assess and monitor the overall impact of these initiatives on its operations and performance throughout the year and expects to reinvest resulting savings into, among other things, R&D, and to help offset costs in the business, including gaming duties and others related to promoting the regulation of online gaming in various jurisdictions.
- **Pursuing Strategic Transactions**: Since 2011, Amaya has completed numerous strategic acquisitions and divestitures that it believes have significantly expanded its experience in the industries in which it operates, delivered shareholder value and expanded its market presence. The most significant of such acquisitions was Amaya's entrance into its B2C business through the transformative Rational Group Acquisition. Amaya may pursue additional strategic acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures to leverage its large customer base and further its strategy of long-term growth and enhanced shareholder value if appropriate opportunities arise. As it relates to divestitures, during 2015 Amaya completed the divestiture of its B2B business and used the majority of the proceeds to repay outstanding indebtedness and repurchase Common Shares pursuant to the 2015 NCIB (as defined below). Pending any further strategic transactions, Amaya intends to continue its strategy of maximizing long-term shareholder value and pursuing sustainable, profitable growth, particularly through the growth and development of its core product offerings, poker, casino and sportsbook. For additional information, including certain information relating to Amaya's strategic alternatives review in 2016, see below under "Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions" and the 2016 MD&A.

Marketing Strategy and Revenue Model

Marketing Strategy

Amaya markets its brands, products and services through various platforms and channels, including, without limitation, various media outlets, sponsored live poker tours and branded poker rooms (which also generate nominal revenue), and endorsement agreements. Below is a general description of such platforms and channels. Although Amaya's primary focus has been and currently

is on poker, it intends to begin increasing its focus and attention on marketing efforts that highlight its casino and sportsbook offerings.

Media

Amaya has a multimedia approach that focuses on acquiring and retaining customers both online and offline for its brands, products and services. In addition to the *PokerStars LIVE* productions and broadcasts, this multimedia approach includes, among other things, television programming and television advertisement campaigns, affiliate partnerships, digital advertisements and online campaigns, paid search optimization, various social media campaigns, and other content.

The Corporation broadcasts various televised poker programs and advertisement campaigns that run throughout the year at different intervals. Live poker tournaments are also filmed at various sponsored *PokerStars* events, including Amaya's *PokerStars* sponsored tours, and broadcast as television shows on different channels in several countries. These sponsored live events are also broadcast online on various sites, including YouTube and *PokerStars*.tv. Other forms of television programs that the Corporation broadcasts include reality shows and poker-based dramas which are developed and produced together with various production companies.

The Corporation also engages third-party search engine and online traffic optimization companies to increase the Corporation's online presence and traffic to its websites. In addition, the Corporation employs various display campaigns through banner advertisements, social media campaigns, and paid-for placements in search engines. These campaigns are directed at both existing and new client interface, online and mobile customers.

Poker Tours and Events

In addition to providing online and mobile gaming products, Amaya, through Rational Group, also sponsors some of the world's largest live poker tours and produces televised or streamed coverage of such poker events.

In late 2016, *PokerStars* announced two new sponsored global live tours: *PokerStars Championship* and *PokerStars Festival*. These new tours will incorporate aspects of the main *PokerStars* sponsored events and tours from around the world, including the *European Poker Tour*, *PokerStars Caribbean Adventure*, *Latin American Poker Tour* and *Asia Pacific Poker Tour*. Through the two new tours, the Corporation expects to bring its popular sponsored *European Poker Tour* experience to other cities around the world in an effort to continue expanding the size of the events. In 2017, the Corporation expects the sponsored *PokerStars Championship* and *PokerStars Festival* tours to visit various cities and countries, including Atlantic City, Barcelona, London, Macau, Manila, Marbella, Monte-Carlo, Nassau, Panama and Prague.

As the sponsor, *PokerStars* provides promotion for the brand through the tour's widespread television and multimedia distribution. The live poker tours are largely marketed through various media sources and news coverage. In 2016 alone, *PokerStars* sponsored tours included more than 1,200 tournaments, with more than 200,000 player entries, representing over 100 different countries and awarding more than \$265 million in prize money.

Founded in 2004, the *European Poker Tour* was known in the industry as Europe's most popular poker tour, and has staged and hosted successful tournament series across Europe. The *European Poker Tour* was filmed and widely televised in various countries throughout the world and, in 2016, was live streamed with over 16.8 million unique daily viewers. The *European Poker Tour* attracted numerous players from across the world and offered lucrative prize pools, with more than 13,000 players from 80 countries with a total prize pool of approximately €150 million in 2016. The *Asia-Pacific Poker Tour*, which hosted events at luxury casinos throughout Australasia, started in 2007 and Amaya believes it helped expand the popularity of poker in Asia. The *Asia-Pacific Poker Tour* was responsible for bringing the first major government-sanctioned real-money "Texas hold 'em" poker tournaments to certain Asian countries, including South Korea. Founded in May 2008, the *Latin America Poker Tour* brought world-class poker tournaments to locations such as Chile, Panama, Brazil, Peru and Uruguay, and attracted more than 2,400 players from 30 countries with a total prize pool of approximately \$4.5 million in 2016. The *PokerStars Caribbean Adventure*, which was founded in 2004 on a popular Caribbean cruise ship, was held each year at the Atlantis Casino and Resort on Atlantis Paradise Island in the Bahamas. The *PokerStars Caribbean Adventure* was considered in the industry as one of the most popular poker events in the world and, since inception, awarded more than \$260 million in prize money. The *PokerStars Caribbean Adventure* involved thousands of players since its inception, including hundreds of qualifiers each year from *PokerStars* sites, as well as various professional athletes and celebrities.

Branded Poker Rooms

Amaya also has marketing arrangements for branded, under the *PokerStars LIVE* name, live poker rooms at popular casinos in major cities around the world, namely at the Hippodrome Casino in London, the City of Dreams Casino in both Macau and Manila, and the Saint-Vincent Resort and Casino in Saint-Vincent, Italy. The Corporation strives to enter into marketing arrangements to

brand its poker rooms at premier leisure and entertainment destinations around the world, particularly those that it believes have thriving gaming communities. These *PokerStars LIVE* branded rooms adhere to the same global design concept but are tailored to the specific location, which in each case is developed by the Corporation along with a design agency, and is intended to provide a strong brand presence through common elements across each location.

Endorsement Agreements

Amaya endorses several celebrities, professional athletes and poker players, or ambassadors, both at global and regional levels. In particular, these ambassadors comprise four categories: Team Pro, which includes professional poker players; Team SportStars, which includes professional athletes; Team Online, which includes some of the most prominent online professional players; and friends, which includes ambassadors, such as local, regional and global celebrities who have a personal connection to or interest in poker, gaming or the Corporation's brands in general. Each category is generally engaged to generate new customer participation and vertical growth as well as to enhance the customer experience and customer retention.

Revenue Model

Amaya's revenue model for its core product offerings is based primarily on two main offerings, real-money games and play-money games. Nearly all of Amaya's revenues during the year-ended December 31, 2016 were, and the Corporation expects its revenues to continue to be, generated by its client interface, online and mobile gaming offerings. For the same time period, the significant majority of Amaya's revenues were generated through the provision of real-money online poker offerings, followed by online casino offerings, in each case derived entirely by group entities based outside of Canada and predominately from customers based in the European Union. Net gaming revenue (from real and play-money games, sponsored tours and events, and marketing arrangements for branded poker rooms) comprises almost the entirety of the Corporation's reported gaming revenues, with the remaining reported gaming revenues generated from certain related real-money gaming revenues, primarily currency conversion fees. For additional information, see the 2016 Annual MD&A and 2016 Annual Financial Statements.

Real-Money Games

The Corporation's current core real-money gaming offerings are poker, casino and sportsbook, each with its own revenue model.

In poker, players play against each other in either ring games (i.e., games for cash on a hand-by-hand basis) or in tournaments (i.e., players play against each other for tournament chips with prize money distributed to the last remaining competitors) or variations thereof. The Corporation collects a percentage of each pot, or the rake, in ring games and a tournament entry fee for scheduled tournaments and sit and go tournaments, and does not generally have any of its own capital at risk (with an exception being the *Spin & Go* product where the tournament payout is a randomly determined multiple of the entry fee or buy-in). These amounts are then reduced by applicable VAT in certain jurisdictions and offsets (as described below) to arrive at net gaming revenue.

Online casino offerings typically include the full suite of games seen in a land-based casino, such as blackjack, roulette and slot machines. For these offerings, the Corporation functions similarly to land-based casinos, generating revenue through hold, or gross winnings, as players play against the house, and then these amounts are reduced by applicable VAT in certain jurisdictions and offsets to arrive at net gaming revenue. In online casino, the Corporation believes there is typically lower volatility from the statistical norm versus land-based casinos as there is generally a larger number of bets placed at small denominations.

Sportsbook involves customers wagering on the outcome of sporting events as well as horse and dog races. Like casino offerings, the Corporation generates sportsbook revenues through hold based on a certain margin to ensure that the house has an advantage, and then these amounts are reduced by applicable VAT in certain jurisdictions and offsets to arrive at reported gaming revenue. Like online casino, in online sportsbook, the Corporation believes there is typically lower volatility from the statistical norm versus land-based sportsbook as there are a larger number of bets placed at smaller denominations.

Offsets for each vertical are the portion of gross revenue that the Corporation allocates to incentives and promotions, which are awarded as a result of game play or at the Corporation's discretion, as applicable, though loyalty programs, free plays, sign-up bonuses, rebates and other rewards and incentives. Offsets are generally used to acquire new customers and retain and reactivate existing customers.

Play-Money Games

Play-money gaming involves players receiving virtual currency for free, or paying a fee to receive additional virtual currency, which can be used to play certain gaming offerings. Play-money gaming is permitted in various jurisdictions that may not otherwise

permit real-money gaming, including the United States. In the future, the Corporation may also generate revenue from advertising through its play-money gaming offering. The Corporation's current play-money game offering primarily consists of poker, including on *PokerStars.net* and *FullTilt.net* and through the social gaming brands *Jackpot Poker by PokerStars* and *Casino Rush by PokerStars*. There are no cash prizes or other prizes for monetary value, and in most cases, all the player fees are passed to the Corporation as revenue, unless the games are played through social platforms, in which case the platform operator retains a certain percentage (typically 30%) for distributing the offering. The Corporation's play-money games may be played through the client interface or through online, television and mobile platforms, including on social gaming platforms. The net gaming revenue for play-money is the sum of fees paid by customers (net of any percentage of the same retained by the particular platform operators), less applicable VAT in certain jurisdictions and certain promotional costs.

Poker Tours and Events and Branded Poker Rooms

As described above, the Corporation sponsors certain live poker tours and events and has marketing arrangements for branded poker rooms at various locations around the world. The Corporation generates revenue from these sponsorships and marketing arrangements and includes such revenue in net gaming revenue.

Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development

The technology infrastructure used for Amaya's B2C business was designed to support its growth by having the flexibility and scalability to adapt and conform to the demands and changes in its products and services. Amaya's product development philosophy is focused on continuous innovation in creating and improving its products and services. In addition, as the Corporation's user base grows, and the level of engagement from its customers increases, including on mobile devices, the Corporation's computing will expand. Amaya continuously develops its proprietary platforms and has invested significantly in its technology infrastructure to ensure a positive experience for its customers, not only from an entertainment perspective, but most importantly with respect to security and integrity across business segments and verticals. To support Amaya's strong reputation for security and integrity, Amaya employs what it believes to be industry-leading practices and systems led by an internal information security group with respect to various aspects of its technology infrastructure, including, but not limited to, information and payment security, game integrity, customer fund, information and data protection, marketing and promotion, customer support, responsible gaming and loyalty programs. The Corporation also uses third parties to provide cyber security, including, without limitation, anti-virus software, network monitoring software, firewalls, and similar protection. These security and integrity systems routinely review and evaluate attempted breaches of the Corporation's infrastructure, as well as customer backgrounds, game play, financial and transactional activity and related risks through a variation of management systems, including, without limitation, "know your customer" and related background screening (which collects age and identity information, as well as monitoring against certain prohibited persons and other watch lists), deposit screening, abnormal game play and movement of funds detection, withdrawals screening, collusion detection, bots detection (which detects artificial intelligence-driven game play), multiple account alerts, account restriction and ban detection and a safe mode system (which is based on a customer's risk profile and limits access to high risk deposit methods). These systems also include controls that, among other things, (i) restrict the use of third-party software components, also known as third-party tools (such as "heads-up displays" and "seating scripts"), for the purpose of collecting additional gameplay information or selecting specific opponents and (ii) prohibit data-mining of certain products (or the practice of accumulating a large set of information, such as poker hand histories, through the use of software as opposed to actual gameplay) for the purpose of analyzing and exploiting another customer's activity, playing styles and tendencies. Amaya's technology infrastructure and software is also subject to rigorous management and certification process testing and meets applicable compliance and regulatory requirements in numerous jurisdictions. See also "Regulatory Environment — Regulatory Strategy" and "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to the Corporation's Intellectual Property and Technology."

The Corporation's R&D strategy seeks to provide broad market applications for products derived from its technology base. The Corporation's R&D efforts are focused primarily on the following areas: (i) developing and delivering the Corporation's pipeline of new products and services; (ii) revitalizing its existing product and services offerings through continued innovation; (iii) developing core technology and platforms for existing and future verticals; (iv) evolving the functionality, security and performance of its offerings and platforms; (v) continuously developing and extending the number of supported client platforms; (vi) developing infrastructure systems to provide the underlying support for the Corporation's offerings, systems and platforms; (vii) providing a platform and tools for operations and marketing; and (viii) improving development and testing technologies. The Corporation also engages from time to time in longer term fundamental research and may do so in the future either directly or through the funding of third party projects. The Corporation currently dedicates nearly all of its R&D investments to its B2C business.

Markets and Customers

For the year-ended December 31, 2016, Amaya's revenues were generated almost entirely through the provision of real-money interactive gaming. Amaya's brands together currently have approximately 108 million registered customers globally. In addition, the Corporation currently estimates that the *PokerStars* site holds a significant majority of the global market share of real-money poker player liquidity, or the volume of real-money poker players, and is among the leaders in play-money poker player liquidity. Since its 2001 launch, the Corporation also estimates that *PokerStars* has become the world's largest real money online poker site based on, among other things, player liquidity and revenues. Additionally, the Corporation estimates that Rational Group's combined online casino, including *PokerStars Casino*, is currently among the world's fastest growing and has one of the largest player bases among its competitors.

The gaming industry in general operates in a large, dynamic and growing global market with a variety of segments, including online, mobile and land-based poker, sports betting, casinos, bingo rooms, lotteries and other gaming mediums. According to gaming industry consultants, H2 Gambling Capital ("H2GC"), from 2003 to 2016, the combined global (including markets where Amaya does not currently operate real-money online gaming) interactive gaming verticals, including online and mobile real money poker, casino, sports betting, horseracing, bingo, lotteries and skill-based and other games, have grown from approximately €7.3 billion to €39.6 billion in gross gaming revenues ("GGR"), defined as wagers or rakes plus bonuses, promotions, overlays and loyalty rewards, less prizes or winnings. Of this total, H2GC estimates that in 2016 alone, betting, i.e., horseracing and sports betting, comprised 49%, casino comprised 26%, state lotteries comprised 9%, poker comprised 6%, skill and other gaming and commercial lotteries comprised 5%, and bingo comprised 4%. H2GC estimates that the combined global interactive gaming GGR to grow to approximately €55.3 billion in 2021 (data as at February 16, 2017). This reflects a compounded annual growth rate ("CAGR") of 6.9% from 2016 to 2021.

Online and mobile gaming operators take advantage of scale and technology to provide gaming to large networks of customers. Originating in the mid 1990's, online gaming has grown steadily over time with improvements to technology, security and public sentiment coinciding with growth in national regulation of online gaming.

Set forth below is a general overview of the current market for the Corporation's core products, i.e., real money online poker, casino and sportsbook.

Online poker saw a rapid rise in popularity beginning in 2003 when Tennessee accountant Chris Moneymaker won the main event at the World Series of Poker, a prize of \$2.5 million, after winning his entry in a \$39 buy-in online satellite tournament on *PokerStars*. This rise in popularity saw global online poker grow significantly, notably in Europe and North America, until 2010. In 2011, two of the industry's largest brands, *PokerStars* and *Full Tilt*, exited the U.S. market, where they held a significant majority of the online poker market share, impacting global poker player liquidity. Currently, Amaya does not offer its core real-money online poker offering in over 30 jurisdictions around the world, including the United States (except in the regulated market of New Jersey). Amaya's primary markets for real money online poker include the European Union, certain other jurisdictions in the rest of Europe and the Americas (excluding the United States). Various industry data sources currently estimate that the United States still represents a potential growth opportunity for real-money online poker between 2016 and 2021, subject to more U.S. states regulating online poker, or online gaming or betting more broadly; currently, only New Jersey, Nevada and Delaware have regulated online poker or online gaming. However, in recent years multiple states have considered or are currently considering proposed legislation to regulate online poker or online gaming, including Pennsylvania, Michigan, New York, and California; while the Corporation currently believes more states will regulate online poker or online gaming in the future, there can be no assurance when this will happen, if at all.

Online casino has also seen rapid growth over the past decade, with GGR from the global market growing from €1.8 billion in 2013 to €10.3 billion in 2016 according to H2GC (such estimates include markets where Amaya does not currently operate real-money online casino). As online operators continue to expand content and increase product offerings, and more markets regulate online casino, H2GC forecasts GGR to grow to €13.8 billion in 2021, or at a CAGR of 6.0% from 2016 to 2021. According to H2GC, much of this growth is currently expected to come from Europe. For compliance and strategic reasons, Amaya currently anticipates that the primary market where Rational Group's combined online casino offering will be available, when fully rolled out, is Europe, which comprised approximately 61% of the global online casino market in 2016 according to H2GC.

According to H2GC, online betting, comprising horseracing and sports betting, makes up the largest segment of the online gaming market at approximately €19.4 billion in GGR in 2016. As with online poker and online casino, according to H2GC, online sports betting saw significant growth from 2003 through 2016 as technology improved, e-commerce became more mainstream and national regulation of online betting grew (such estimates include markets where Amaya does not currently operate real-money online sportsbook). H2GC estimates online betting will continue to grow, with GGR reaching €26.6 billion in 2021, or at a CAGR of 6.5% from 2016 to 2021. For compliance and strategic reasons, Amaya currently anticipates that the primary market where Rational Group's online sports betting offering will be made available, when fully rolled out, is the European Union, which comprised approximately 35% of the global online betting market in 2016.

For detailed information regarding the regulatory environment in which Amaya currently operates, Amaya's current licenses and approvals, and Amaya's current regulatory strategy, see "Regulatory Environment" below.

Seasonality

Amaya's business can fluctuate due to seasonal trends and other factors. Historically, given the geographies where the majority of the Corporation's customers are located, and the related climate and weather in such geographies, among other things, revenues from the Corporation's operations have been generally higher in the first and fourth fiscal quarters than in the second and third fiscal quarters. In online sports betting, fluctuations can also occur around applicable sports seasons with increased customer activity around notable or popular sporting events. As such, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved in another quarter or for the full fiscal year. There can be no assurance that the seasonal trends and other factors that have impacted Amaya's historical results will repeat in future periods as Amaya cannot influence or forecast many of these factors. For other factors that may cause Amaya's business and results to fluctuate, including, without limitation, market risks, such as foreign exchange risks, see "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" below and the 2016 Annual MD&A.

Competition

The industries in which Amaya currently operates are highly competitive, constantly evolving and subject to regulatory and rapid technological change. Amaya faces significant competition in all aspects of its business and competes for customers with other online, mobile and land-based gaming and interactive entertainment developers and operators on the basis of many factors, including, without limitation, the quality of the customer experience, brand awareness, reputation, security, integrity and access to other distribution channels. Although the Corporation believes that it competes favorably, its competitors could develop more compelling products, services, content and offerings, which could adversely affect the Corporation's ability to attract and retain customers. As the Corporation introduces new products, as its existing products evolve, or as other companies introduce new products and services or merge with competitors into larger entities, the Corporation may become subject to additional and/or stronger competition. Amaya's competitors, whether known or unknown, may also take advantage of large user and customer bases and networks through social networks to grow rapidly. See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to the Corporation's Business".

There are multiple competitors specializing in offering online and mobile gaming and interactive entertainment products, including developers for online, mobile and social networks, operators of regulated online real-money gaming, live poker tournaments, developers for consoles and other platforms, and other forms of media, content and entertainment. For example, although the Corporation has and continues to be a significant market leader in online poker, it is just beginning its entry into casino and sportsbook, where competition is significant and more formidable. Amaya's competitors range from small, localized companies to large multinational corporations in the jurisdictions where it conducts business. These competitors include, among others, bet365, William Hill, GVC (including bwin.party), Paddy Power Betfair, 888 Holdings, Kindred Group (including Unibet), Betsson, Ladbrokes, Gala Coral, Sky Betting & Gaming, Winamax, 32Red, Jackpotjoy, Cherry, Mr. Green, LeoVegas and certain government operators and smaller operators in specific regions. Also, there is increasing competition with social and video gaming companies, such as Zynga, Caesars Interactive Entertainment, Playtika, the social gaming divisions of Sony, IGT, Scientific Games, Churchill Downs (including Big Fish), Penn National Gaming, AGS, Aristocrat, Activision Blizzard (including King), and Riot Games, as well as interactive content and media companies, such as Netflix, which provide monetized interactive entertainment offerings that offer competition to real money online gaming companies for time and wallet share of consumers.

Amaya's ability to compete effectively with its competitors is based on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, its ability to (i) maintain its strong reputation among its customers and brand awareness through the world, (ii) maintain appropriate liquidity, as applicable, and continue to grow its large customer base and customer engagement across existing and new verticals, (iii) provide comprehensive and varied gaming and entertainment offerings, (iv) provide a superior customer experience, including through appropriate promotions, incentives and customer protections, and best-in-class software development and back-office infrastructure, customer service, payment processing, security and integrity, as applicable, and (v) develop products and offerings designed for distribution across multiple channels and to new, large audiences with superior functionality and efficient implementation, including through the use of innovative architecture and technologies that the Corporation believes will result in a higher degree of customer acceptance and player preference. See above under "—Online and Mobile Poker—PokerStars" for additional information regarding Amaya's improvements in the poker ecosystem to benefit and attract recreational players and improve the overall customer experience.

Manufacturing and Supply Chain Management

The Corporation primarily develops and produces its products and services internally through, among other resources, internal engineering teams, software architects, internal network operations teams and production operations staff. Amaya's development and production includes, without limitation, software development and quality assurance, hosting of software within the Corporation's

data centers and transit points of presence, development of network infrastructure and operations monitoring and maintenance of its products and services. The Corporation engages third parties to assist in development and production on an as-needed basis.

As applicable, the Corporation seeks to negotiate competitive pricing with its third-party service providers and suppliers, and generally believes that the availability of software, components and other supplies that it uses are adequate and can be sourced from more than one provider or supplier.

For additional information, see also "—Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development", "—Human Resources" and "—Facilities".

Intellectual Property Rights

The development and protection of intellectual property is a core part of the Corporation's business strategy and a key element to its success. The Corporation believes that its intellectual property rights currently provide broad and comprehensive coverage for its products and services. Since inception, the Corporation has followed a policy and practice of protecting its intellectual property rights in its core business areas through a combination of patents, copyrights, industrial designs, trademarks and trade secret laws, and generally through contractual provisions with third parties who have access to or are otherwise involved in the creation or development of its intellectual property. These protections generally include non-disclosure and confidentiality policies and provisions and the use of appropriate intellectual property ownership and assignment provisions and restrictive covenant agreements with, among others, the Corporation's employees, contractors, consultants, manufacturers, suppliers, customers and stakeholders. The Corporation actively seeks to protect and enforce its intellectual property rights to prevent unauthorized use by third parties, including through applications for injunctive relief and litigation, as necessary.

In addition, the Corporation seeks to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of its data, trade secrets and know-how by maintaining the physical security of its facilities and the electronic security of its information technology systems. Measures taken by the Corporation to maintain confidentiality of its facilities and systems include the use of monitoring methods to prevent third party access to confidential information and certain software, such as the underlying source code, as well as systems, practices and procedures designed to prevent unauthorized third party access to such information and software. While the Corporation has confidence in these individuals, organizations and systems, the Corporation's security measures may be breached, and legal recourse may not provide adequate remedies for any such breach.

The Corporation's active intellectual property portfolio currently contains, among other rights, approximately 31 issued patents, 45 patent applications, 513 registered trademarks, 325 trademark applications and 22 industrial designs. In addition, the Corporation currently owns approximately 7,800 domain names, as well as unregistered intellectual property, which includes copyright works, such as source codes, software codes, logos, audio-visual elements, graphics, original music, story lines, interfaces, advertisements, films and videos, copyrights and databases (including customer lists), unregistered trademark rights, confidential information and trade secrets. Issued and registered rights (and applications for such rights) are held by the Corporation in numerous jurisdictions around the world, including the United States, Canada, Europe, Russia, certain Latin American countries, China and certain Australasian countries. The terms and extent of protection afforded under the Corporation's issued and registered rights or unregistered rights vary depending on the jurisdiction and, as applicable, the date of filing.

The Corporation's patent strategy focuses on protecting novel elements of its technology design covering the principal jurisdictions where the Corporation currently carries on business and where it believes filing for such protection is strategically, commercially, technologically or otherwise, appropriate and beneficial. These elements include, among others, core design features, implementation technologies and inventions and developments of games, in each case, where possible. In addition to the issued patents mentioned above, the Corporation has pending patent applications in the United States and certain key commercial foreign countries, such as Canada and in Europe, and files new patent applications as and where it deems appropriate. The actual protection afforded by a patent depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability of legal remedies in the applicable jurisdiction.

In addition to patent rights, the Corporation has registered trademarks or trademark applications for, among other things, its primary brands, including *Amaya*, *PokerStars*, *PokerStars*, *Casino*, *BetStars*, *Full Tilt*, and related brands, as well as its live poker tours in more than 40 jurisdictions around the world where the Corporation believes there is a commercial benefit for having such registrations. The Corporation continuously monitors its trademark portfolio and files new registration applications as and when it deems appropriate.

To complement the Corporation's owned intellectual property, the Corporation has in the past and may in the future enter into brand licensing agreements with various third parties to develop product offerings based on their respective marks, characters and themes. Amaya believes that its use of licensed brand names and related intellectual property may contribute to the appeal and success

of its products. These licensing agreements may be subject to various conditions and typically involve Amaya paying royalties to each licensor. Licensors also typically have the right to inspect and approve the use of licensed property.

The source code for the Corporation's software is generally protected under trade secret law and confidential information law, as the case may be in a particular jurisdiction, as well as applicable copyright law. The Corporation recognizes, however, that effective protection may be limited or not available in some countries in which it offers its products and services. The Corporation licenses the use of its software to end-users, which may provide additional protection through the use of contractual provisions in the applicable license agreements. In particular, these licenses contain, among other restrictions, customary provisions prohibiting the unauthorized reproduction, disclosure, reverse engineering and transfer of the Corporation's licensed software and related intellectual property. Moreover, any licensing of the Corporation's core intellectual property and brands is on what the Corporation believes to be strict licensing terms, with licenses being non-exclusive and limited in duration and scope.

The Corporation also seeks to protect its copyright works through either or both the registration of such works with applicable governmental authorities (where available and it deems registration strategically beneficial) and reliance on international treaties. The Corporation believes that such protection is adequate for its purposes in the jurisdictions in which it operates, or currently expects to operate in the near term. Similar to its other intellectual property rights, the Corporation continuously monitors its copyright portfolio and updates its policy regarding the registration of copyrights to seek the appropriate protection available under applicable laws.

In addition, the Corporation also enters into various types of licensing and transfer agreements related to technology and intellectual property rights. The Corporation enters certain of these agreements to obtain rights that may be necessary to produce and sell its products and services. The Corporation may also license its technology and intellectual property to third parties through various licensing agreements.

Notwithstanding the Corporation's efforts to protect its intellectual property, the Corporation may not be successful in obtaining the patents, trademarks, industrial designs and other protections for which it has applied. Amaya's issued patents and registered intellectual property rights and those that may be issued or registered in the future, may be challenged, narrowed, circumvented or found to be invalid or unenforceable, which could limit Amaya's ability to stop competitors from marketing related products or services or the length of term of protection that Amaya may have for its products or services. Despite efforts to protect its proprietary rights, third parties may infringe on the Corporation's intellectual property rights and in such situations the Corporation may be required to defend such rights. The defense of such rights may divert management's attention to the business and involve a significant expense, and the Corporation may not be successful in defending its rights. In addition, others, including Amaya's competitors, may be able to independently develop substantially equivalent intellectual property, and the rights granted to Amaya under any of its issued or registered intellectual property, or future rights, may not provide it with any meaningful competitive advantages against these competitors. See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" below.

Regulatory Environment

General

The offering and operation of online and mobile real-money gaming platforms and the development and use of gaming-related software are subject to extensive regulation and approval by various federal, state, provincial and foreign authorities (collectively, "gaming authorities"). Gaming laws generally require the Corporation to obtain licenses or findings of suitability from gaming authorities, including for each of the subsidiaries of the Corporation engaged in these activities, and certain of the Corporation's directors, officers, employees and, in some instances, significant shareholders (typically beneficial owners of more than 5% of a company's outstanding equity). The criteria used by gaming authorities to make determinations as to qualification and suitability of an applicant varies among jurisdictions, but generally require the submission of detailed personal and financial information followed by a thorough investigation. Gaming authorities have broad discretion in determining whether an applicant qualifies for licensing or should be found suitable. Gaming authorities generally look to the following criteria when determining to grant a license, approval or finding of suitability, including (i) the financial stability, integrity and responsibility of the applicant, (ii) the quality and security of the applicant's online real-money platform and gaming equipment and related software, as applicable, (iii) the past history of the applicant, and (iv) the effect on competition. Gaming authorities may, subject to certain administrative proceeding requirements, (i) deny an application, or limit, condition, restrict, revoke or suspend any license, registration, finding of suitability or approval, and (ii) fine any person licensed, registered or found suitable or approved.

If any director, officer, employee or significant shareholder of the Corporation fails to qualify for a license or approval or is found unsuitable (including due to the failure to submit required documentation) by a gaming authority, the Corporation may deem it necessary, or be required, to sever its relationship with such person, which may include terminating the employment of any such person or divesting any such person of any interest in the Corporation, as permitted under the redemption provision in the Corporation's articles.

Gaming authorities have the right to investigate any individual or entity having a relationship to, or involvement with, the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries, to determine whether such individual or entity is suitable as a business associate of the Corporation. In addition, certain gaming authorities monitor the activities of the entities they regulate both in their respective jurisdiction and in other jurisdictions to ensure that such entities are in compliance with local standards on a worldwide basis.

As a regulated entity, the Corporation is required to maintain strong corporate governance standards and is required to, among other things, maintain effective internal controls over its financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures, maintain systems for accurate record keeping, file periodic reports with gaming authorities and maintain strict compliance with various laws and regulations applicable to it. In addition, there are various other factors associated with gaming operations that could burden the Corporation's business and operations, including, without limitation, compliance with multiple, and sometimes conflicting, regulatory requirements, jurisdictional limitations on contract enforcement, foreign currency risks, certain restrictions on gaming activities, potentially adverse tax risks and tax consequences, including, without limitation, the imposition of new or additional taxes, such as additional corporate tax, value-added taxes ("VAT"), point of consumption taxes ("POC") and gaming duties, and changes in the political and economic stability, regulatory and taxation structures and the interpretation thereof in the jurisdictions in which the Corporation and its licensees operate or otherwise offer their products and services. Any or all of such factors could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, operating results and financial condition. See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to Regulation" below.

Regulation of the Corporation's Business

Amaya, through certain of its subsidiaries, is licensed or approved to offer, or offers under third party licenses or approvals, its products and services in various jurisdictions throughout the world, including in Europe, both within and outside of the European Union, which is currently its primary market, North America and elsewhere. In particular, and as of the date hereof, *PokerStars* is the world's most licensed online gaming brand, holding licenses or related operating approvals in 17 jurisdictions.

The Corporation views its applicable gaming licenses and approvals in two categories: (i) jurisdictions where it maintains a local license, permission, approval or authorization for, or through a third party relationship is, offering real-money online gaming products and services within such jurisdiction; and (ii) jurisdictions where its real-money online gaming products and services are offered pursuant to a "multi-jurisdictional" license. See also "Regulatory Environment—Regulatory Strategy" below.

Local Licenses and Approvals

Set forth below is an overview of certain of Amaya's various local licenses and approvals, including through third parties, as it relates to the operation of its real-money online gaming offerings. With the exception of Spain (.es), Italy (.it), France (.fr), Portugal (.pt) and the State of New Jersey (pokerstarsnj.com), which are segregated markets for the purpose of liquidity, poker customers in the other listed jurisdictions are permitted to participate in the Corporation's shared-liquidity global player pool on its .com and .eu sites. Applicable gaming duty and/or VAT is payable on the Corporation's revenue from online gaming offered through these licenses and approvals.

Belgium

The Belgium Gaming Commission (the "Belgian Commission") is responsible for issuing gaming licenses for the operation of games of chance, and ensuring the proper supervision of these games and the implementation of any regulation promulgated under applicable law. Belgian law generally prohibits the operation of a gaming establishment or the offering of gaming in any form, in any place, or in any direct or indirect way, unless a license is granted by the Belgian Commission in accordance with the Belgian law.

Gambling Management S.A., the owner and operator of Casino de Namur in Belgium, was granted a license to operate and offer online gaming through one of Amaya's domain names. Casino de Namur partnered with Amaya to offer online gaming to customers in Belgium. On April 20, 2011, one of the Corporation's subsidiaries was awarded a ten-year Class E gaming license as a service provider to Gambling Management S.A.

Bulgaria

In Bulgaria, the State Commission for Gambling ("Bulgarian Commission") issues and maintains licenses for "gambling games" including online casino games. A license for organizing online betting must explicitly state the intended gaming activity by the holder, and may not be transferred. Bulgaria requires that the licensee be registered in a European Union member state, another state signatory to the European Economic Area Agreement, or in the Swiss Confederation. The licensee must also appoint an authorized representative with an address in Bulgaria, with the authority to represent the licensee before state authorities or Bulgarian courts. The Bulgarian Gambling Act also requires that certain communication equipment must be located in Bulgaria for reporting purposes.

On February 18, 2014, one of Amaya's subsidiaries was awarded a license to offer online poker and casino to Bulgarian residents. The license is valid for 10 years.

Czech Republic

Under the Act on Gambling Coll. 186/2016, the State Supervision of Gambling and Lotteries Department of the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic (the "MFCR") maintains the licensing procedure for individuals and entities seeking to provide betting and online casino services to customers in the Czech Republic. The MFCR defines online casino services as "an internet game, the gambling participant shall play against the operator's software-based gaming system or against another person mediated by that system." Online casino games can include "Technical Games", which are games of chance operated via a technical device directly handled by the bettor, such as slot reel games, and "Live Games", which include roulette, card games, and games operated in the form of a tournament.

On January 28, 2017, one of the Corporation's subsidiaries was granted a six-year license to provide online casino and poker games to customers in the Czech Republic, which will expire on January 27, 2023.

Denmark

Under the Danish Gambling Act, the Danish Gambling Authority (the "DGA") maintains the licensing procedure for individuals and entities looking to provide betting and online casino services to customers in Denmark. The DGA defines online casino services as "those where the player and operator do not meet physically, for instance where games are sold via the internet, telephone or television." Online casino games can include roulette, blackjack, baccarat, punto banco, poker and "combination games". A license to operate online casino services is valid for a term of five years. If the applicant has not yet obtained the required certifications for its gaming system through testing, the DGA will issue a fixed-term one-year license until such certifications are complete.

One of the Corporation's subsidiaries renewed a five-year license to provide online casino and poker games that will expire on December 31, 2021 and was granted a five-year license to provide online sportsbetting that will expire on November 30, 2020.

Estonia

The Estonian Tax and Customs Board maintains responsibility for the issuance of activity licenses and operating permits for gaming and lotteries to customers in Estonia, and also acts as the gaming supervisory agency in Estonia. The Estonia Gambling Act, RT I 2008, 47, 261 (the "Estonia Gambling Act") was enacted to establish elevated requirements for gaming operators, provide measures for the protection of players, and reduce the negative consequences of gaming and its impact on society. "Remote gambling" under the Estonia Gambling Act is generally defined as the gaming organization of gambling where the outcome of the game is determined by an electronic device, and the player can participate in the game by electronic means of communication, including telephone, internet and media services.

On August 18, 2010, one of Amaya's subsidiaries was awarded an activity license which became effective on August 23, 2010. Activity licenses are generally valid for an unspecified period of time. On September 20, 2010, that subsidiary was further awarded an operating permit for the organizing of games of chance in the form of remote gambling concerning one of Amaya's domain names. This operating permit, which was subsequently renewed in September 2015, is valid through September 21, 2020.

France

The *Collège De L'Autorité de Régulation des Jeux En Ligne* (the "ARJEL") oversees gaming licensing with respect to customers in France. Act No. 2010-476 of 12 May 2010 authorized online gaming with respect to customers in France for betting on sports, horse races, and circle games. Each type of online gaming requires a separate license. Government decrees and orders are also a part of the French regulatory system. The decrees and orders that the Corporation believes are relevant to its business, address, among other topics, changes of control, customer accounts, and the licensing process.

One of the Corporation's subsidiaries renewed a five-year license granted by ARJEL for online poker games that will expire on June 24, 2020. On June 7, 2016, one of Amaya's subsidiaries was granted a five-year license by ARJEL for sports betting.

Germany - Schleswig Holstein

The German state of Schleswig Holstein issued a license to one of the Corporation's subsidiaries pursuant to a law adopted in 2012 that regulated and licensed online gaming. Although the law has since been repealed, the Corporation's license will remain valid until December 21, 2018. Under such license, and only until the expiration date, which may not be extended, Amaya currently offers poker games and certain casino games to customers in Schleswig Holstein.

Greece

In Greece, the Hellenic Gaming Commission (the "HGC"), in partnership with the Greek Ministry of Finance (the "Greek Ministry") is responsible for regulating and supervising the online gaming industry. In 2011, the Greek government enacted new legislation relating to all forms of gaming (the "Greek Gambling Act"). Under the Greek Gambling Act, companies that have been licensed by the Greek Ministry through public tenders are authorized to offer online gaming. The Greek Gambling Act also allows for companies that hold licenses in other member states of the European Union to apply for interim temporary licenses, valid until the formal licenses are awarded. The HGC issued twenty-four temporary licenses under the Gambling Act.

In November 2013, Amaya partnered with Diamond Link Ltd., a Maltese entity ("Diamond Link"), to allow Greek customers to utilize Amaya's product offerings. Diamond Link is one of the twenty-four temporary license holders in Greece, and through Amaya's partnership, two of Amaya's websites operate under that authorization.

Ireland

In Ireland, sports betting services are licensed through the Irish National Excise Licence Office and the Corporation's Malta licenses (discussed below) as a result of changes made to the Irish tax code in 2015. In July 2015, a subsidiary of the Corporation received a license from the Irish National Excise Licence Office to provide online sports betting to customers in Ireland. The license is valid for two years.

Italy

Currently, *L'Amministrazione Autonoma dei Monopoli di Stato* (the "AAMS") regulates gaming with respect to customers in Italy. Since July 2002, the AAMS has been authorized to govern the Italian gaming industry. All operators, both foreign and domestic, are required to obtain a license from the AAMS to provide online gaming services to residents in Italy. Applicants based in the European Economic Area ("EEA"), or those with an EEA passport, are eligible for a license.

On December 17, 2010, a concession to operate, among other things, poker, casino and sports betting in Italy was awarded to one of the Corporation's subsidiaries. This license was supplemented in March 2011, and was set to expire on June 30, 2016. The Corporation filed a renewal application for the license and is permitted to continue operating until the renewal is processed; there can be no assurance that such renewal will be granted.

Portugal

Under the Online Gambling and Betting Legal Regime (the "OLR"), approved by Decree Law No. 66/2015, the Serviço de Regulação e Inspeção de Jogos, or the Gambling Inspection and Regulation Service (the "SRIJ"), is responsible for the control, inspection and regulation of gambling activities, including through any electronic, computer-based, telematic or any other interactive means (i.e., online gaming).

On November 25, 2016, one of the Corporation's subsidiaries was granted a three-year license to offer certain online poker and casino games to customers in Portugal, which will expire on November 24, 2019.

Romania

In Romania, the Oficiul National pentru Jocuri de Noroc (the "ONJN") issues and maintains licenses for online gaming. In August 2015, one of the Corporation's subsidiaries was awarded an interim license by the ONJN to offer online casino, poker and sports betting to customers in Romania. The interim license was valid for one year and on August 12, 2016, the ONJN awarded the Amaya subsidiary a full license for organizing remote gambling games, which is valid for ten years and allows such subsidiary to provide online poker, casino and sports betting to customers in Romania.

Spain

In Spain, gaming is traditionally regulated by the seventeen autonomous regions within each of the respective territories. Spain's Gambling Act (the "Spanish Gambling Act") became effective on May 29, 2011, in order to, among other things, regulate online gaming nationwide. The Spanish Gambling Act covers "gaming operations through electronic, interactive, and technological means" including the internet, television, mobile phones, and land lines. The types of gaming activities controlled under the Spanish Gambling Act include sports betting, horse racing betting, raffles, competitions, and "other games," which includes poker and casino games. The Spanish Gambling Commission is responsible for enforcement of the Spanish Gambling Act and has sanctioning authority.

The Spanish Gambling Act establishes two categories of licenses: general and single, as well as a permit for offering occasional games. A general license is required to offer certain types of betting games, raffles, and games categorized as "other games." General licenses are valid for a ten year term, and may be renewed for additional ten year periods. The Spanish Gambling Commission offers general licenses through a competitive and public process. The Gambling Act requires applicants to apply for provisional registration in the General Register of Gambling Licenses prior to requesting a call, or public notice of application, for a general license. The Gambling Act grants the Spanish Gambling Commission the authority to restrict the number of licenses awarded for each type of game based on public interest and whether a company requests a call, in each case allowing the Spanish Gambling Commission to control the license review and authorization process. If the number of licenses for a particular type of game is restricted, the licenses offered during that call are not automatically renewable.

On June 1, 2012, one of Amaya's subsidiaries was granted a general license for the development and operation of games in the "Other Games" category and a singular license for the offering of online poker. The same subsidiary is also authorized to conduct the advertising, sponsorship and promotion of the games authorized by the licenses. This general license is valid for a ten year term and the singular license is valid for a five year term. This subsidiary has also been granted singular licenses for blackjack, roulette and sportsbetting and a general license for sportsbetting. The licenses for blackjack and roulette expire on February 2, 2018. The sportsbetting licenses expire on June 2, 2025 and June 2, 2020, respectively.

United Kingdom

Gaming with respect to customers in the United Kingdom is regulated by the Gaming Act 2005 (the "UK Act"). The UK Act established the Gambling Commission as the regulator that is responsible for granting licenses to operate as well as overseeing compliance with the UK Act. In 2014, the Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act 2014 was passed by Parliament which required all remote gambling operators serving UK customers and advertising in the UK to obtain a license from the UK Gambling Commission.

On November 1, 2014, one of Amaya's subsidiaries obtained a continuation license issued by the UK Gambling Commission and on March 18, 2015 a final license was granted. So long as the applicable license fees are paid, Amaya remains compliant with applicable UK licensure requirements and the license is not suspended, revoked or otherwise surrendered, Amaya expects that the license will remain valid indefinitely.

United States

Generally, intrastate online gaming is lawful in the United States provided the relevant gaming complies with the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act and the particular state has enacted legislation or otherwise properly authorized the same. Further, the Federal Wire Act of 1961 (the "Federal Wire Act") makes it unlawful to use electronic communications to make interstate bets or wagers, or transmit information that assists in making such bets or wagers, on any sporting event or contest. In December of 2011, the United States Department of Justice (the "DOJ") issued an opinion from its Office of Legal Counsel indicating that it is the official opinion of the DOJ that the Federal Wire Act "prohibits only the transmission of communications related to bets or wagers on sporting events or contests. More specifically, "interstate transmissions of wire communications that do not relate to a 'sporting event or contest' [...] fall outside of the reach of the Wire Act." Pursuant to this guidance, the legislatures of New Jersey, Nevada and Delaware authorized intrastate online gaming, provided that the gambling does not concern a sporting event or contest. More detail on the regulatory scheme in New Jersey, where the Corporation currently holds a transactional waiver, is provided directly below.

New Jersey

The provision of online gaming, and other aspects of casino gaming in New Jersey, are subject to the requirements of New Jersey Casino Control Act (the "NJ Act") and the regulations promulgated thereunder. Under the online gaming legislation, third party companies may provide services to casino licensees to facilitate the conduct of online gaming, including website hosting, and the provision of game content. Such service providers must first obtain a casino service industry enterprise (a "CSIE") license. The New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement (the "NJ DGE") has the responsibility to investigate all license applications and to prosecute violations of the NJ Act.

Due to the length of investigative time prior to issuing of a plenary CSIE license, the New Jersey regulations allow a CSIE applicant to petition the NJ DGE for a transactional waiver which allows a CSIE applicant to conduct business with a casino licensee prior to the issuance of a license at the discretion of the NJ DGE and subject to certain conditions.

Certain subsidiaries of the Corporation were issued an initial six-month transactional waiver on September 30, 2015 in relation to an agreement entered into with Resorts Casino Hotel in Atlantic City, New Jersey to conduct online gaming in the state. Additional six-month renewal transactional waivers have been granted to these subsidiaries to continue operations with the most recent

transactional waiver granted on September 30, 2016 and valid until March 30, 2017. The transactional waiver may be renewed in six-month intervals until a full, five-year license is issued; there can be no assurance that such a license will be issued. The transactional waiver contains certain conditions, including, without limitation, prohibiting certain individuals from having any relationship with the Corporation and informing the NJ DGE of various actions of such individuals, providing the NJ DGE with notice of certain corporate actions and copies of records relating to the same, and providing certain inspection rights to the NJ DGE. In connection with the initial grant of the transactional waiver, the Corporation was also required to escheat certain funds to the State of New Jersey and separate certain individuals from employment.

Multi-Jurisdictional Licenses

The Corporation, through certain subsidiaries, holds licenses in Malta and the Isle of Man, which are often referred to as "multi-jurisdictional" or "point-of-supply" licenses. Where online gaming products and services are offered under a multi-jurisdictional license and supplied to a customer in another jurisdiction, it is done so on the basis of the established industry position that provision of such products and services, generally, takes place where the operator's server and/or the operator itself is established and located. Amaya relies on its supply of online gaming products and services being licensed or approved within the jurisdiction of origin (i.e., Malta or Isle of Man) as the rationale for continuing to offer its products and services into other jurisdictions where either such jurisdictions have not established a regulatory and licensing framework for online gaming or where the inward supply of content from outside of its jurisdictional boundaries are not clearly prohibited by the law of such jurisdiction. Set forth below is an overview of Amaya's multi-jurisdictional licenses.

Isle of Man

Under the Online Gambling Regulation Act 2001, the Isle of Man Gambling Supervision Commission (the "GSC") maintains responsibility for the regulation and supervision of all online gaming activities in the Isle of Man, and for investigating the character and financial status of any person applying for or holding a license in connection with online gaming. The GSC is authorized to grant a license to conduct online gaming to a company if the GSC is satisfied: (i) that the company is under the control of persons of integrity; (ii) as to the beneficial ownership of the share capital of the company; (iii) that the activities of the company are under the management of persons of integrity and competence; and (iv) that the company has adequate financial means available to conduct online gaming. Licenses are generally valid for a maximum of five years. The GSC may revoke a license if the license fails, at any time, to meet any of the initial licensure requirements. The GSC may suspend or revoke a license if the holder of the license or designated official is convicted of certain offenses, or is convicted "by a court in any country or territory in the world of an offense punishable (in that country or territory) in the case of an adult by custody for an unlimited period or a term of two years or more." The license may also be suspended or revoked for other reasons, including the failure to pay required fees, failure to comply with license conditions or obligations.

One of the Corporation's subsidiaries holds a license issued by the GSC allowing the Corporation to provide poker, casino and betting products and services. The license was renewed on March 10, 2014 and expires on March 9, 2019. Gaming duty is payable in the Isle of Man on the Corporation's worldwide gaming revenue.

With the exception of the United States, outside the European Union, the Isle of Man license granted to one of the Corporation's subsidiaries generally permits the applicable entity to operate and accept customers in various jurisdictions around the world where no national regulatory and licensing system specifically requires licensure by foreign operators. For example, the Corporation's online poker and casino products and services are currently accessible in Russia pursuant to its Isle of Man license. Federal Russian Law No.244-FZ ("Law 244") limits the operation of gambling activities in the territory of the Russian Federation but it is not clear whether offering remote online gaming from websites and servers established outside of Russia is considered as an activity taking place "in Russian" Russian courts have generally taken a very narrow approach to the extra-territoriality of Russian law, including Law 244, and in certain internet service provider blocking cases determined it would not be possible to take direct enforcement action against companies outside of Russia and that operators of foreign online gaming websites cannot be held liable in accordance with Russian law because they do not operate in Russia and Russian courts do not have jurisdiction over them.

Malta

Under the Maltese Lotteries and Other Games Act 2001 and the Remote Gaming Regulations (S.L. 438) (collectively, the "Maltese Regulations"), the Malta Gaming Authority (the "Maltese Authority") regulates all aspects of gaming in Malta. Pursuant to the Maltese Regulations, any person who operates, promotes, sells, supplies or manages interactive gaming in or from Malta must obtain the appropriate license from the Maltese Authority. The Maltese Authority issues four classes of Remote Gaming Licenses: (i) a Class 1 Remote Gaming License which is a remote gaming license; (ii) a Class 2 Remote Gaming License - remote betting office license; (iii) a Class 3 Remote Gaming License to promote and/or abet remote gaming from Malta; and (iv) a Class 4 Remote

Gaming License - license to host and manage remote gaming operators, excluding the licensee. The above-referenced licenses or an authorized equivalent from a European Economic Area jurisdiction approved by the Maltese Authority are required to operate, promote, sell, or abet internet gaming in or from Malta.

Two of the Corporation's subsidiaries hold an aggregate of 9 licenses issued by the Maltese Authority, including Class 1, Class 2, Class 3 and Class 4 licenses, which enables such subsidiaries to offer all respective products and services listed above. Absent any renewals or extension under the terms of the governing licensing agreements, the Class 1 license is set to expire on November 13, 2019, the Class 2 license is set to expire on January 20, 2020, the Class 3 license are set to expire on December 22, 2021 and the Class 4 license is set to expire on December 22, 2021. Gaming duty is payable in Malta on the Corporation's revenue from online gaming offered through this license. With respect to online gaming offered under this license to customers in certain other jurisdictions, the Corporation also pays applicable gaming duty or VAT in those jurisdictions.

In accordance with European Union law, the Corporation's Maltese licenses authorizes its subsidiaries to provide online gaming services to other European Union member states in compliance with established European Union rules and principles on the free movement of services, unless those countries have an independent regulatory and licensing scheme that require the Corporation to be licensed (or do not recognize the Malta license for valid and legitimate reasons). For example, the Corporation's online poker, casino and sports betting products and services are accessible by customers in Germany pursuant to its Maltese licenses. In broad terms, the 'Glücksspielstaatsvertrag' or Interstate Treaty on Gambling of 1 July 2012 (the "Treaty") provides for Germany's 16 states to assume responsibility for aspects of gambling regulation and attempts to maintain the state monopoly on lotteries, prohibits the offering of online casino games (including poker), and permits the licensing of up to 20 sports betting operators, with all licenses subject to expiration in 2019. German authorities, however, have been reluctant to initiate action relating to the German Criminal Code's provisions regarding unlicensed remote gaming services due to uncertainty over the compatibility of the Treaty with the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union ("TFEU"), most notably pursuant to a February 2016 decision of the Court of Justice of the European Union ("CJEU") citing the incompatibility of the Treaty with the TFEU on the basis it does not observe the principles of equal treatment and non-discrimination on grounds of nationality and the consequent obligation of transparency pursuant to European Union rules and principles. The CJEU's judgment also called into question regulation of online gaming in Germany as a whole, demanding clear licensing criteria. Given the CJEU's position in February 2016, Amaya currently believes that it is justified in deriving revenue from the Corporation's online poker, casino and sports betting services fr

Regulatory Strategy

Amaya seeks to ensure that it obtains all permits, authorizations, registrations and/or licenses necessary to develop and offer its products and services in the jurisdictions in which it operates, where its customers are located and/or where it is otherwise required to do so. In particular, Amaya intends to seek licensure with respect to more European Union member states if and when such member states introduce their own independent regulatory and licensing regimes and generally following a determination by the European Commission that such national regulatory frameworks are compliant with European Union law. Outside of the European Union, Amaya anticipates there may be a potential for regulation of online gaming, including online poker, casino and/or sportsbook, and that this may result in potential licensing or partnerships with private operators or governmental bodies with respect to various jurisdictions. Amaya supports regulation of online gaming, including licensing and taxation regimes, which it believes will promote sustainable online gaming markets that are beneficial for consumers, governments and the citizens of the regulating jurisdiction, operators, and the industry as a whole. Amaya strives to work with applicable governmental authorities to develop regulations that it expects would protect consumers, encourage responsible gaming, ensure efficient taxation and promote regulated gameplay. Amaya also strives to be among the first of the licensed operators to provide online gaming to customers in newly-regulated jurisdictions, in each case to the extent it would be in furtherance of Amaya's business goals and strategy and in compliance with its policies and procedures.

Amaya also seeks to ensure that its systems, products and services comply with all the regulations and guidelines published by the jurisdictions in which it operates and/or where its customers are located. The Corporation works with regulatory and governmental bodies, and its products, including the software and technological infrastructure underlying the same, undergo comprehensive, exhaustive and rigorous testing by such regulatory and governmental bodies, as well as by independent industry leading internal and third-party testing, accreditation and certification laboratories (including, without limitation, GLI and BMM) to ensure, among other things, security, conformity to applicable regulations and game integrity. The Corporation seeks to meet or exceed best operational and customer protection practice requirements, each with a particular emphasis on fair and responsible gaming.

Amaya further seeks a zero tolerance approach to money laundering, fraud and collusion and works with regulators and law enforcement globally on such matters. Amaya believes that it has a robust and extensive anti-money laundering policy and framework in effect, and conducts customer due diligence and background investigations while routinely monitoring customer activity (including,

without limitation, deposits, cashouts, customer-to-customer transfers and game play), all in accordance with applicable rules and laws. Amaya also has a dedicated compliance team that works with the Corporation's employees and various departments to implement routine business activity monitoring and seeks to ensure that the Corporation complies with its regulatory obligations under its licenses, as well as all applicable anti-money laundering, anti-fraud and anti-collusion rules and laws. For further information regarding Amaya's regulatory strategy and its commitment to ethical business conduct, see "Business of the Corporation—Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development" and "Directors and Officers—Ethical Business Conduct".

Other Regulatory Considerations

The Corporation handles, collects, stores and uses certain personal information of its customers, which is subject to the laws relating to the protection and security of privacy and data that apply in various jurisdictions in which it operates and/or where its customers are located, particularly across Europe. Data and information protection laws, require, among other things, that entities collecting and processing such personal information do so fairly and lawfully, that they obtain the consent of the individuals whose personal information is being used (especially in relation to the use of sensitive data and information), that the purpose for which such personal information will be used will not exceed or extend beyond the purpose for which such consent was first obtained and that adequate technical and organizational safeguards are put in place to protect the storage and use of such personal information, including any transfers of the same. Failure to comply with applicable laws on data and information protection and privacy can give rise to regulatory sanctions, fines and, in certain limited cases, criminal liability. As a result, the Corporation provides and updates its privacy statements as well as its terms and conditions for use of its products and services on its sites, all in accordance with its obligations under the relevant privacy and data and information protection legislation.

The Corporation is also subject to numerous other domestic and foreign laws and regulations. See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to Regulation—The Corporation's business is subject to complex and evolving domestic and foreign laws and regulations regarding the Internet, privacy, data protection, and other matters. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims, changes to the Corporation's business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in customer growth or engagement, or otherwise harm its business."

Responsible Gaming

Amaya is committed to responsible gaming practices and seeks to provide its customers with the resources and services they need to play responsibly, including, without limitation, through its dedicated responsible gaming department. These practices, resources and services include, without limitation, deposit limits, table and game play limits, voluntary restrictions on access and use of certain games, temporary self-exclusion and cooling off periods, and voluntary permanent exclusions from Amaya's services, sites and applications. Amaya has also partnered with various responsible gaming organizations around the world that conduct research and offer education and direct counselling for players. These organizations include GameCare and Responsible Gaming Trust in the United Kingdom, Adictel in France, Tactus in the Netherlands, FEJAR in Spain, the National Council of Problem Gambling in the United States, Responsible Gaming Council in Canada and GamblingTherapy.org worldwide.

Human Resources

As of December 31, 2016, the Corporation had approximately 1,778 employees of which approximately 1,219 were located in Europe, approximately 288 were located in Canada, approximately 61 were located in the United States, approximately 200 were located in Latin America, and approximately 10 were located in Australasia. These employees provide services in either general and administration, marketing, operations, including customer support and services, or information technology and R&D capacities, with operations comprising the largest department. Although the number of employees had decreased by approximately 213 during 2016, primarily as a result of the Corporation's operational excellence program, as part of the same program and other initiatives, the Corporation was actively seeking to hire approximately 200 employees, with approximately 60 of such positions being filled, but just awaiting a start date as a result of a reassignment or otherwise. Although certain of Amaya's employees in Italy may be party to collective bargaining or related agreements and certain of Amaya's employees in the European Union may be represented by labor unions, to its knowledge, the vast majority of its employees are not. However, the Corporation has never experienced any employment-related work stoppages and believes its relationship with its employees is good.

The Corporation has numerous policies and practices, including, without limitation, a Code of Business Conduct, a Disclosure, Confidentiality and Trading Policy, an Anti-Bribery Policy, an Anti-Fraud Policy and a Whistleblower Policy, that are collectively designed to deter and detect wrongdoing and promote, among other things, legal, honest, ethical, healthy and safe conduct, good governance, and transparency and effective communication between and among employees, management and the public. The Code of Business Conduct and Amaya's Anti-Bribery Policy, as applicable, also provide rules and guidelines regarding compliance with Canada's Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (the "CFPOA"), the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA"), and any local anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws that may be applicable, such as the U.K. Bribery Act (2010) (the "U.K. Bribery Act") and the

Isle of Man Bribery Act (2013) (the "IOM Bribery Act"), and to evidence Amaya's commitment to full compliance, including compliance by its officers, directors and employees, therewith. The Corporation is committed to operating in accordance with the highest ethical standards and conducting business in an honest and transparent manner that is in compliance with applicable law, its Code of Business Conduct and applicable internal policies. See also "Directors and Officers—Ethical Business Conduct" and "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions". In addition, the Corporation has a policy of entering into confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements with its employees and limiting access to and dissemination of its proprietary technology and confidential information.

Specialized Skill and Knowledge

The development, design, marketing and distribution of the Corporation's current products and services require specialized skills and knowledge, particularly in the areas of software architecture, development, conceptualization, and graphic design, as well as in the poker, casino, sports betting and daily fantasy sports verticals. Amaya believes it has personnel with the required specialized skills and knowledge to carry out its operations. While the current labor market in the industries in which the Corporation operates is highly competitive, the Corporation expects to, but there can be no assurance that it will, attract and maintain appropriately qualified employees for fiscal 2017. If the Corporation fails to attract and maintain appropriately qualified employees, its business, financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected. See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties", including "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Failure to attract, retain and motivate key employees may adversely affect the Corporation's ability to compete and the loss of the services of key personnel could have a material adverse effect on its business."

Facilities

The Corporation maintains approximately 13 offices internationally. The Corporation's headquarters are located in Pointe-Claire, Québec, Canada, where its general and administrative departments primarily operate. These premises are leased and consist of approximately 28,000 square feet of space, with a lease term that expires on October 31, 2018.

Rational Group is headquartered in Douglas, Isle of Man. Rational Group's senior management is based there as well as staff in its general and administrative, marketing and technology departments. Rational Group's headquarters consist of approximately 65,000 square feet of office space and are owned by an Amaya subsidiary. Technology services are also provided by staff based out of offices in Dublin and Toronto.

The Corporation, through its subsidiaries, also leases office space in Austin (Texas, United States), Hollywood (Florida, United States), Linwood (New Jersey, United States), London (England), Malta, San Jose (Costa Rica), and elsewhere internationally.

The Corporation, through its subsidiaries, has data centers and transit points of presence throughout Europe and in certain locations in the United States. These include (i) approximately 18 data center facilities leased in the Isle of Man, France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain, Malta, Estonia, Holland, Bulgaria, Romania, the United States, the United Kingdom and Belgium, and (ii) approximately five transit points of presence leased in the United Kingdom, the United States, the Netherlands and Italy.

Amaya believes that its facilities are suitable and adequate for its current needs.

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

Amaya was incorporated in 2004 and completed its initial public offering ("IPO") on the TSX Venture Exchange in July 2010. Amaya graduated to the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") in October 2013, was added to the S&P/TSX Composite Index in September 2014, and was listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market in June 2015. In early 2011, the Corporation announced plans to advance its B2B business and facilitate its anticipated growth through strategic acquisitions. Such acquisitions developed Amaya's diversified gaming solutions, products and services and shifted its focus to larger markets, including the United States and Europe. In August 2014, Amaya completed the Rational Group Acquisition, which transformed its operations into the B2C business. Following the Rational Group Acquisition, Amaya explored additional strategic opportunities resulting in the divestment of its B2B business and its transformation into a pure-play consumer technology company. See also "Business of the Corporation—Overview" above. The Corporation believes that these strategic transactions, along with certain financings and capital markets activities, corporate initiatives, and other announcements, each as further detailed below or elsewhere in this annual information form, have been the primary influence on the general development of its business during the last three completed financial years.

Recent History of the Former B2B Business (2014-2016)

Diamond Game Enterprises

In February 2014, Amaya completed its acquisition of all the issued and outstanding equity of Diamond Game for approximately \$25 million, subject to customary post-closing purchase price adjustments and hold-backs, which included the retirement of Diamond Game's then-outstanding debt. Diamond Game develops unique games and products for the global gaming industry, with particular focus on state and provincial lotteries, including its LT-3 instant ticket vending machine which dispenses tickets while simultaneously displaying the results of each ticket on a video monitor.

On May 5, 2015, Amaya completed the spin-off of Diamond Game through the initial public offering (the "Innova Offering") of common shares of Innova Gaming Group Inc. (TSX: IGG) ("Innova"). The Innova Offering, which included a treasury offering of common shares by Innova and a secondary offering of common shares of Innova by Amaya, resulted in Amaya receiving aggregate net proceeds of approximately CDN\$34.1 million and maintaining ownership of approximately 40% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Innova. Amaya formed Innova in connection with the Innova Offering, and Innova currently holds all of the shares of Diamond Game. In March 2017, Amaya announced that it entered into a support agreement with Pollard Banknote Limited ("Pollard") in respect of all of the common shares of Innova held by Amaya. The support agreement requires that Pollard present an offer to Innova to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Innova.

WagerLogic Malta Holdings Ltd.

In February 2014, one of Amaya's subsidiaries completed the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of WagerLogic Malta Holdings Ltd. ("WagerLogic") to Goldstar Acquisitionco Inc. ("Goldstar") for approximately CDn\$70 million, less a closing working capital adjustment of approximately CDN\$7.5 million and subject to further customary post-closing adjustments, satisfied through cash consideration of CDN\$52.5 million and a vendor takeback in the form of a promissory note of CDN\$10 million, bearing interest at 6.0% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears starting on the second anniversary of the closing date and maturing on the fourth anniversary of the closing date. WagerLogic, through a wholly owned subsidiary, operated, among other things, an online casino through its "Inter" brand (the "InterCasino Business"). Amaya acquired the InterCasino Business through its acquisition of CryptoLogic in July 2012. The share purchase agreement for this divestiture also provides for bonus payments of \$10 million per year to be paid by Goldstar to Amaya if CryptoLogic Operations Limited ("Cryptologic Operations") achieves certain annual net revenue targets in each of the first three years following the divestiture. As of December 31, 2016, Cryptologic Operations did not achieve the first or second annual net revenue target and as such, Amaya did not receive the applicable additional bonus payments. Amaya currently does not expect Cryptologic Operations to achieve the third annual net revenue target either.

Until Amaya completed the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale (as defined below), it continued to license online casino games to WagerLogic for the InterCasino Business. Amaya and certain of its subsidiaries also entered into a two-year revenue guarantee agreement under which they jointly and severally guaranteed the financial obligations of such subsidiaries under the service agreements related to the same. Amaya paid a total of approximately \$23 million during such two-year period under the revenue guarantee agreement.

In connection with the January 2017 London Stock Exchange ("LSE") listing of Jackpotjoy plc (LSE: JPJ) ("Jackpotjoy"), parent company of The Intertain Group Ltd. (TSX: IT) ("Intertain") and WagerLogic, and in exchange for its 4,920,000 Intertain common shares and the conversion of its CDN\$3.85 million 5.0% Intertain convertible debentures, Amaya received, or has the right to receive upon the exchange of certain exchangeable shares, an aggregate of 5,561,666 Jackpotjoy common shares. The Intertain common shares previously held by Amaya were issued to it as a result of a combination of an exchange for Goldstar shares (the outstanding securities of Goldstar were exchanged for Intertain securities in February 2014), the purchase of Intertain common shares in the open market in early 2014, and the exercise of certain Intertain common share purchase warrants in 2015.

Ongame Network Ltd.

In December 2014, one of Amaya's subsidiaries sold Ongame, a provider of poker software and network solutions, to NYX Gaming (Gibraltar) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NYX Gaming Group Limited (TSXV: NYX) ("NYX Gaming Group"), for a purchase price equal to the sum of (i) \$1.00 (paid at the closing), plus (ii) an amount equal to eight times Ongame's EBITDA (as defined in the purchase agreement governing the sale) for the year ending December 31, 2015, less any required working capital adjustments. Ongame did not generate such EBITDA for the applicable period and as such, Amaya only received the \$1.00 paid at closing as the purchase price. In connection with this divestiture, Amaya and NYX Gaming Group entered into a strategic investment transaction pursuant to which NYX Gaming Group issued, and Amaya purchased, a CDN\$9 million unsecured convertible debentures in November 2014 (initially CDN\$10 million but Amaya subsequently sold and assigned an aggregate of CDN\$1 million to four individuals), which pursuant to an amendment thereof in November 2016 (the "Debentures Amendment"), NYX Gaming Group will

be required to make cash payments of CDN\$1 million on the 17th day of each month commencing on May 17, 2017 until the balance due date of April 17, 2018, at which time all amounts outstanding under the debentures, as amended by the Debentures Amendment, will be due and payable in cash. After May 17, 2017, Amaya will be entitled to automatically setoff any amount owing under the debentures against any minimum license commitment owing to NYX Gaming Group or any of its affiliates under the License Agreement (as defined below).

Cadillac Jack Inc.

On July 1, 2015, Amaya announced the completion of the sale of Cadillac Jack (the "Cadillac Jack Sale") to AGS, LLC, an affiliate of funds managed by Apollo Global Management, LLC (NYSE:APO), for approximately \$382 million, comprising cash consideration of \$370 million, subject to adjustment, and a \$12 million payment-in-kind note, bearing interest at 5.0% per annum and due on the eighth anniversary of the closing date. Cadillac Jack is a designer and supplier of electronic games and systems for the regulated global gaming industry, particularly in the United States and Mexico, and including the tribal, commercial and charitable gaming markets, as applicable.

Amaya used the net proceeds from the Cadillac Jack Sale for deleveraging, which included the repayment of its then-outstanding \$240 million senior secured term loan (the "Senior Facility") and \$100 million mezzanine subordinated unsecured term loan (the "Mezzanine Facility" and together with the Senior Facility, the "Cadillac Jack Credit Facilities") on May 29, 2015. The repayment of the Cadillac Jack Credit Facilities resulted in the Corporation repaying approximately \$344 million of debt and related fees, thereby eliminating all related debt service costs, including interest payments, of each of the Senior Facility and Mezzanine Facility. For more information on the Cadillac Jack Credit Facilities and the repayment of the same, see the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and 2016 Annual MD&A.

Amaya (Alberta) Inc. (formerly Chartwell Technology Inc.) and CryptoLogic Ltd.

On July 31, 2015, Amaya announced that it completed the sale of Cryptologic to NYX Gaming Group and Chartwell to NYX Digital Gaming (Canada) ULC, a subsidiary of NYX Gaming Group (the "NYX Sub") (together, the "Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale") for gross proceeds of approximately CDN\$150 million, subject to adjustment, of which CDN\$110 million was paid in cash and CDN\$40 million was paid by the NYX Sub through the issuance of exchangeable preferred shares (the "NYX Sub Preferred Shares"). Collectively, Chartwell and CryptoLogic formed Amaya's B2B online casino business.

The Corporation used the majority of the cash net proceeds from the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale for deleveraging, including the Refinancing (as defined below). The NYX Sub Preferred Shares, which were subsequently amended in December 2015, (i) rank in priority to all common shares and any other preferred shares of the NYX Sub outstanding as of the closing in the event of winding-up, dissolution or liquidation of the NYX Sub; (ii) are redeemable for cash at any time at the option of the NYX Sub and are subject to mandatory redemption in the event of any financing completed by NYX Gaming Group or any of its affiliates (until all issued and outstanding NYX Sub Preferred Shares are redeemed), in each case at a price equal to the initial liquidation preference of CDN\$40 million, as adjusted from time to time; (iii) are not entitled to receive any dividends; (iv) are not transferrable or assignable, except to an affiliate; and (v) are exchangeable into NYX Gaming Group ordinary shares at any time after one year from the closing date, in whole or in part, upon 35 days' advance written notice to the NYX Sub, at the then applicable exchange ratio, which was initially equal to 8 million NYX Gaming Group ordinary shares. The exchange ratio will increase every six months following the closing date at a rate of 3% for so long as the NYX Sub Preferred Shares are outstanding.

In connection with the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale, an Amaya subsidiary and NYX Gaming Group entered into a supplier licensing agreement (the "Licensing Agreement") for a term of six years, under which NYX Gaming Group is expected to provide certain casino gaming content to Amaya's real-money online casino offering. Pursuant to the Licensing Agreement, a subsidiary of Amaya will pay NYX Gaming Group a minimum license commitment in the amount of CDN\$12 million per year for each of the first three years of the Licensing Agreement. Pursuant to the Debentures Amendment described above, after May 17, 2017, Amaya will be entitled to automatically setoff any amount owing under the NYX Gaming Group debentures against such minimum license commitment.

Acquisition of the B2C Business

On August 1, 2014 (the "Rational Group Acquisition Closing Date"), Amaya expanded its operations into its B2C business by completing the purchase of all the issued and outstanding equity of the Rational Group in an all-cash transaction for a purchase price of approximately \$4.9 billion, including a certain deferred payment due on February 1, 2017. The purchase price of the transaction was financed through a combination of debt financing, equity financing and cash on hand. For additional detail on the deferred payment, see the 2016 Annual MD&A.

Without giving effect to the Refinancing or Repricing (each as defined and described below), the debt financing consisted of (i) a \$1.75 billion seven-year first lien term loan priced at LIBOR plus 4.00% and a €200 million seven-year first lien term loan priced at Euribor plus 4.25%, in each case with a 1.00% LIBOR and Euribor floor, as applicable, (ii) a \$100 million five-year first lien revolving credit facility priced, at Amaya's option, at LIBOR plus 4.00% or ABR plus 3.00%, none of which was drawn as of the closing of the Rational Group Acquisition, and (iii) an \$800 million eight-year second lien term loan priced at LIBOR plus 7.00%, with a 1.00% LIBOR floor (collectively, the "Rational Group Facilities"). The Rational Group Facilities were fully underwritten by Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch ("Deutsche Bank AG"), Barclays Bank PLC ("Barclays") and MIHI LLC. The obligations of the lenders under the Rational Group Facilities are several and not joint. Deutsche Bank AG acted as sole administrative agent and as sole collateral agent for the first lien facilities and Barclays acted as sole administrative agent and as sole collateral agent for the second lien facility. Both GSO Capital Partners LP and certain funds or accounts managed or advised by it or its affiliates (collectively, "GSO") and BlackRock Financial Management, Inc. and certain funds or accounts managed or advised by it or its affiliates (collectively, "BlackRock") participated in the debt financing.

In August 2015, Amaya refinanced certain of this debt (the "Refinancing"), which included the repayment of approximately \$590 million of the second lien term loan through a combination of an approximately \$315 million and €92 million increase in the first lien term loans, respectively, and approximately \$195 million in cash. In March 2017, Amaya also repriced the first lien term loans such that these loans are currently priced at LIBOR plus 3.50% with a LIBOR floor of 1.00% and Euribor plus 3.75% with no Euribor floor, respectively, and retranched such loans by raising €100 million of incremental debt and using the proceeds to reduce the U.S. denominated first lien term loan (collectively, the "Repricing"). For more information regarding the foregoing, as well as information regarding certain of Amaya's hedging activities related to the same, see the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and 2016 Annual MD&A.

The equity financing comprised the issuance, on a private placement basis, of (i) \$1.05 billion of Preferred Shares (the "Preferred Share Financing"), (ii) \$640 million of subscription receipts (the "Subscription Receipts" and, the offering of the Subscription Receipts, the "Subscription Receipt Offering") and (iii) \$55 million of Common Shares to GSO at a price of \$20.00 per Common Share. In connection with the transaction, as payment for a portion of the fees payable to GSO and BlackRock and consideration for their significant roles in the financing of the transaction, Amaya also granted 11,000,000 Common Share purchase warrants to GSO and 1,750,000 Common Share purchase warrants to BlackRock, each with an exercise price of \$0.01. All such warrants have since been exercised.

In connection with the Preferred Share Financing, Amaya entered into an agreement with Canaccord Genuity Corp. ("Canaccord Genuity") pursuant to which Canaccord Genuity purchased from treasury, on an underwritten bought-deal, private placement basis, approximately \$179.2 million of Preferred Shares. Amaya also entered into separate subscription agreements with each of GSO and BlackRock pursuant to which (i) GSO purchased \$600 million of Preferred Shares, and (ii) BlackRock purchased approximately \$270.8 million of Preferred Shares. The Preferred Shares are not listed on any exchange but, subject to certain limitations and restrictions, are freely transferable at the option of the holder. The terms of the Preferred Shares are set forth below under the heading "Description of Capital Structure – Preferred Shares".

The Subscription Receipt Offering was completed on a bought-deal, fully underwritten, private-placement basis pursuant to an underwriting agreement entered into among Amaya and a syndicate of underwriters led by Canaccord Genuity, Cormark Securities Inc. ("Cormark") and Desjardins Capital Markets ("Desjardins", and together with Canaccord Genuity, Cormark and the remaining members of the syndicate, the "Underwriters"). Under the terms of the underwriting agreement, the Underwriters purchased 32,000,000 Subscription Receipts at a price of CDN\$20.00 per Subscription Receipt, for aggregate gross proceeds to Amaya of CDN\$640 million. The Subscription Receipt Offering closed on July 7, 2014 and the Subscription Receipts converted into Common Shares on a one-to-one basis upon the completion of the Rational Group Acquisition.

Amaya funded approximately \$213 million from cash on hand, which included a \$50 million deposit made on June 12, 2014, the date of the announcement of the Rational Group Acquisition.

In connection with the Rational Group Acquisition, each of GSO and BlackRock entered into separate registration rights agreements with the Corporation (together, the "Registration Rights Agreements") regarding the qualification and registration, as applicable, for resale of Common Shares, Preferred Shares and other registrable securities held by GSO or BlackRock (collectively, the "Registrable Securities"). The Registration Rights Agreements also grant GSO and BlackRock the right to make a written request that the Corporation effect a public underwritten offering and sale of all or part of the Registrable Securities for cash pursuant to a Canadian shelf prospectus, provided that the anticipated aggregate offering price therefor, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, is at least \$50 million. In satisfaction of its obligations under the Registration Rights Agreements, Amaya filed a Canadian base shelf prospectus with the applicable Canadian securities authorities and a corresponding Form F-10 registration statement in the United States with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") in November 2015, both of which are, as of the date of this annual information form, final or effective, as applicable.

Each of GSO and BlackRock also entered into separate voting disenfranchisement agreements with Amaya (together, the "Voting Disenfranchisement Agreements") under which they agreed that as long as each of them beneficially owns, or has control or direction over, Common Shares issued or issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Shares representing more than 50% of the number of Common Shares that each of them may be deemed to hold on an asconverted basis on the Rational Group Acquisition Closing Date, each of them will not vote more than 50% of such Common Shares in ordinary course shareholder proxy votes for matters relating to the composition of the board of directors of Amaya (the "Board") (provided that GSO and BlackRock are each entitled to vote up to the full amount of such Common Shares if they are voting in favor of Board nominees proposed by Amaya or its senior management). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Voting Disenfranchisement Agreements provide that each of GSO and BlackRock will not be disenfranchised for any other matters to be presented to shareholders, including, without limitation, approval of mergers and acquisitions, business combinations or amendments to a stock option plan.

For a description of Amaya's B2C business, see "Business of the Corporation" above.

RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition, and results of operations. Current and prospective investors should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, in addition to other information contained in this annual information form, as well as the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and 2016 Annual MD&A. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones Amaya faces. Additional risks and uncertainties that Amaya is unaware of, or that it currently believes are not material, may also become important factors that could adversely affect Amaya's business. If any of the following risks or other unexpected risks actually occur, Amaya's business, financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of its securities could decline, and investors could lose part or all of their investment.

Risks Related to the Corporation's Substantial Indebtedness

The Corporation's substantial indebtedness requires that it use a significant portion of its cash flow to make debt service payments, which could have significant adverse consequences on the Corporation and its business.

The Corporation is highly leveraged. As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had approximately \$2.53 billion of outstanding indebtedness, and the Corporation currently estimates that its fiscal year 2017 debt service will be approximately \$138 million, including both required principal and interest payments. The Corporation's substantial indebtedness could have significant adverse consequences on the Corporation and its business, including:

- requiring a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on its indebtedness, therefore reducing its ability to use cash flow to fund its operations, capital expenditures and potential future business opportunities, or to make timely payment of the deferred payment in connection with the Rational Group Acquisition;
- making it more difficult for the Corporation to make payments on its indebtedness, and any failure to comply with the obligations of any of its
 debt instruments, including restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions, could result in an event of default under the agreements governing
 its indebtedness;
- limiting its ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes;
- reducing the Corporation's flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in its operations or business;
- prohibiting the Corporation from making strategic acquisitions, developing new products and product features, introducing new technologies or exploiting business opportunities;
- placing the Corporation at a competitive disadvantage as compared to its less-leveraged competitors;
- making the Corporation more vulnerable to downturns in its business or the economy;
- negatively affecting the Corporation's ability to renew gaming and other licenses; and
- exposing the Corporation to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of its borrowings are at variable rates of interest.

Any of the foregoing could restrict or prohibit investment in or expansion of the Corporation's business, including as a result of reduced cash flow, and have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and results of operations. For additional information on the Corporation's outstanding long-term debt, including, without limitation, amounts outstanding, interest,

certain restrictions and excess cash flow sweep requirements, see the 2016 Annual MD&A under the heading "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Long-Term Debt" and the 2016 Annual Financial Statements.

The Corporation's secured credit facilities and provisions governing the Preferred Shares contain covenants and other restrictions that may limit its flexibility in operating its business.

The Corporation's secured credit facilities and provisions governing the Preferred Shares, as applicable, contain various provisions that may limit the Corporation's ability to, among other things:

- incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred shares;
- pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase capital stock, redeem or repurchase subordinated debt or make other restricted payments;
- make investments, create liens, or consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets;
- plan for, or react to, changes in the Corporation's business and the industries in which it operates;
- engage in certain transactions or take certain actions if maximum leverage ratios are exceeded;
- enter into agreements that restrict dividends or other payments from its restricted subsidiaries to the Corporation;
- · consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the Corporation' assets;
- engage in transactions with affiliates;
- enter into hedging contracts;
- create unrestricted subsidiaries; and
- enter into sale and leaseback transactions.

A breach of any of the covenants or undertakings in the agreements governing the secured credit facilities could result in an event of default under the same. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Corporation's secured credit facilities, if the Corporation does not cure such default, the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding thereunder to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If the Corporation were unable to repay those amounts, then the lenders under such facility could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness. If any of the Corporation's lenders accelerate the repayment of respective borrowings, the Corporation cannot assure that it will have sufficient assets to repay the amounts outstanding, which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and results of operation. In addition, if the Corporation fails to comply with certain undertakings required by the terms of the Preferred Shares, the applicable Conversion Ratio (as defined below) may be increased between a range of 2% and 6% per annum, depending on which undertaking is breached, for each year in which the breach occurs, which would result in, among other things, dilution to the Corporation's shareholders and increased share ownership by the holders of the Preferred Shares.

The Corporation may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its debt service obligations.

The Corporation's ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance its debt obligations and to make distributions to enable it to service its debt obligations depends on its financial and operating performance and the ability to generate cash from its operations. These variables are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, legal, regulatory and other factors beyond the Corporation's control, including fluctuations in interest rates, market liquidity conditions, operating costs and trends in the industries in which it operates. If the Corporation's cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund its debt service obligations, then it may be forced to reduce, delay or cease business activities, investments, expansion or capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional capital, including through additional indebtedness or through dilutive financings, or restructure or refinance its indebtedness. Depending on the capital markets at the time of any such restructuring or refinancing, it is possible that such restructuring or refinancing could be available, if at all, only on unattractive terms, leading to significant increases in debt service costs and interest expenses and could potentially result in additional restrictions on the Corporation's operations. Any required refinancing, restructuring or capital raise may not be successful and may not permit the Corporation to meet its scheduled debt service obligations. In such circumstances, the Corporation could face inadequate liquidity and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations, or reduce, delay or cease business activities, investments, expansion or capital expenditures to meet debt service and other obligations. Any default by the Corporation in meeting its debt service obligations in a timely manner would have a material adverse effect on its business, operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to the Corporation's Business

If the Corporation fails to retain existing customers or add new customers, or if its customers decrease their level of engagement with its products, the Corporation's revenue, financial results, and business may be significantly harmed.

The size of the Corporation's customer base and its customers' level of engagement are critical to its success. The financial performance of the Corporation has been and will continue to be significantly determined by its success in adding, retaining, and engaging active customers. If people do not perceive the Corporation's products to be enjoyable, reliable, and trustworthy, the Corporation may not be able to attract or retain customers or otherwise maintain or increase the frequency and duration of their engagement. A number of other online gaming and interactive entertainment companies that achieved early popularity have since seen their active customer bases or levels of engagement decline. There is no guarantee that the Corporation will not experience a similar erosion of its active customer base or engagement levels. The Corporation's customer engagement patterns have changed over time, and customer engagement can be difficult to measure, particularly as customers continue to engage increasingly via mobile devices and as the Corporation introduces new and different products and services. Any number of factors could potentially negatively affect customer retention, growth, and engagement, including if:

- customers increasingly engage with the products or services of the Corporation's competitors;
- the Corporation fails to introduce new products or services that users find engaging or if it introduces new products or services that are not favorably received;
- customers have difficulty installing, updating, or otherwise accessing the Corporation's products on desktops or mobile devices as a result of actions by the Corporation or third parties that it relies on to distribute its products and deliver its services;
- the Corporation is unable to continue to develop products for desktop or mobile devices that customers find engaging, that work with a variety of operating systems and networks, and that achieve a high level of market acceptance;
- there are decreases in customer sentiment about the quality of the Corporation's products or concerns related to privacy, safety, security, or other factors;
- customers adopt new technologies where the Corporation's products may be displaced in favor of other products or services, or may not be featured or otherwise available:
- there are adverse changes in the Corporation's products that are mandated by legislation, regulatory authorities, or litigation, including settlements:
- the Corporation does not obtain applicable approvals or renewals of such approvals to offer its products in new or existing jurisdictions;
- technical or other problems prevent the Corporation from delivering its products in a rapid and reliable manner or otherwise affect the customer experience, such as security breaches or failure to prevent or limit spam or similar content;
- the Corporation adopts policies or procedures related to areas such as customer data and information that are perceived negatively by its customers or the general public;
- the Corporation elects to focus its customer growth and engagement efforts more on longer-term initiatives, or if initiatives designed to attract and retain customers and engagement are unsuccessful or discontinued, whether as a result of actions by the Corporation, third parties, or otherwise;
- the Corporation fails to provide adequate customer service; or
- the Corporation or other companies in the industries in which it operates are the subject of adverse media reports or other negative publicity.

If the Corporation is unable to maintain or increase its customer base and engagement, its revenue and financial results may be adversely affected. Any decrease in customer retention, growth, or engagement, including player liquidity, could render the products of the Corporation less attractive to customers, which is likely to have a material and adverse impact on its revenue, business, financial condition, and results of operations. If the Corporation's active customer growth rate begins to slow, it may become increasingly dependent on its ability to maintain or increase levels of customer engagement and monetization in order to drive revenue growth.

The online gaming and interactive entertainment industries are intensely competitive and the Corporation's potential inability to compete successfully could adversely impact the Corporation.

There is intense competition among online gaming and interactive entertainment providers, and the online gaming and interactive entertainment industries are characterized by dynamic customer demand and technological advances. There are a number of established, well-financed companies producing online gaming and/or interactive entertainment products and services that compete with the products and services of the Corporation. Such competitors may spend more money and time on developing and testing products, undertake more extensive marketing campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing or promotional policies or otherwise develop more commercially successful products than the Corporation, which could negatively impact the Corporation's business. Furthermore, new competitors may enter the Corporation's key market areas. Moreover, there has also been consolidation among the Corporation's competitors in the gaming industry. Such consolidation could result in the formation of larger competitors with increased financial resources and altered cost structures, which may enable them to offer more competitive products, gain a larger market share of customers, expand product offerings and broaden their geographic scope of operations.

As a result of the foregoing, among other factors, the Corporation must continually introduce and successfully market new and innovative technologies, products and product enhancements to remain competitive and effectively stimulate customer demand, acceptance and engagement. The process of developing new products and systems is inherently complex and uncertain. The Corporation's ability to retain, increase, and engage its customer base and to increase its revenue depends heavily on its ability to create successful new products and enhance existing products, both independently and in conjunction with developers or other third parties. The Corporation may introduce significant changes to its existing products, or acquire or introduce new and unproven products, including using technologies with which it has little or no prior development or operating experience. It also requires accurate anticipation of continuously changing and dynamic customer needs, demands and preferences as well as emerging technological trends. Additionally, the introduction of products embodying new technology and the emergence of new industry standards can render the Corporation's existing products and services obsolete and unmarketable. To remain competitive, the Corporation must invest resources to introduce new and innovative products that are secure, trustworthy and reliable and that perform with dynamic features to attract new customers and retain existing customers. Although the Corporation intends to continue investing resources in its R&D efforts, there can be no assurance that such investments will lead to successful new technologies or timely new products or enhanced existing products, in each case with product life cycles long enough for the product to be successful. Additionally, if the Corporation cannot efficiently adapt its processes and infrastructure to meet the needs of its product innovations, its business could be negatively impacted. For example, although the Corporation has and continues to be a significant market leader in online poker, it is just beginning its entry into casino and sportsbook, where competition is significant and more formidable. The Corporation currently monetizes these products in a limited fashion and may not be successful in its efforts to generate meaningful revenue from these products in either the short or long terms.

There is no certainty that the Corporation's new products will attain market acceptance or that its competitors will not more effectively anticipate or respond to changing customer preferences. In addition, any delays by the Corporation in introducing new products or product enhancements could negatively impact its operating results by providing an opportunity for its competitors to introduce new products and gain market share. If the Corporation fails to accurately anticipate customer needs and preferences through the development of new products and technologies, or if the Corporation's competitors develop new content and technologically innovative products or services, and the Corporation fails to keep pace and compete successfully against competitors' offerings, it could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Amaya's online offerings are part of new and evolving industries, which presents significant uncertainty and business risks.

The online gaming and interactive entertainment industries are relatively new and continue to evolve. Whether these industries grow and whether Amaya's online business will ultimately succeed, will be affected by, among other things, developments in social networks, mobile platforms, legal and regulatory developments (such as the passage of new laws or regulations or the extension of existing laws or regulations to online gaming activities), taxation of gaming activities, data and information privacy and payment processing laws and regulation and other factors that the Corporation is unable to predict and which are beyond the Corporation's control. Given the dynamic evolution of these industries, it can be difficult to plan strategically, including as it relates to product launches in new or existing jurisdictions which may be delayed or denied, and it is possible that competitors will be more successful than the Corporation at adapting to change and pursuing business opportunities. Additionally, as the online gaming industry advances, including with respect to regulation, the Corporation may become subject to additional compliance-related costs. Consequently, the Corporation cannot provide assurance that the Corporation's online and interactive offerings will grow at the rates expected, or be successful in the long term. If Amaya's products do not obtain popularity or maintain popularity, or fail to grow in a manner that meets the its expectations, or if it cannot offer its products and services in particular jurisdictions that may be material to its business, Amaya's business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

The Corporation may prioritize customer growth and engagement and the customer experience over short-term financial results.

The Corporation has made and may in the future make product decisions that reduce its short-term revenue or profitability if it believes that the decisions are consistent with its long-term goals to benefit the aggregate customer experience and improve its financial performance. For example, in late-2015 and throughout 2016, the Corporation began implementing changes to, including certain reductions in, its loyalty programs to ensure that the distribution of rebates, rewards and incentives is aligned with the Corporation's goal of incentivizing customers for loyalty and behavior that is positive to the overall customer experience and the particular product's ecosystem, and introduced other changes, such as adjustments to poker rake and other pricing. Among other things, the Corporation currently expects to continue implementing certain changes to such programs and intends to introduce a new loyalty program across each of poker, casino and sportsbook in 2017. See also above under the heading "Business of the Corporation" and the 2016 Annual MD&A under the heading "Overview and Outlook". The Corporation also may introduce changes to existing products, or introduce new products, that direct customers away from products where it has a proven means of monetization and which may reduce engagement with its core product offerings, such as through the introduction of online casino and sportsbook. The Corporation also may take steps that result in limiting distribution of certain products and services, such as on mobile devices, in the short term in order to attempt to ensure the availability of such products and services to its customers over the long term. These decisions may not produce the long-term benefits that the Corporation expects, in which case its customer growth and engagement, its relationships with third parties, and its business and results of operations could be harmed.

If the Corporation is not able to build, maintain and enhance its brands, or if events occur that damage its reputation and brands, its ability to expand its customer base may be impaired, and its business and financial results may be harmed.

The Corporation believes that its brands, particularly *PokerStars* and related brands, have significantly contributed to the success of its business. The Corporation also believes that building, maintaining and enhancing its brands, including its newer brands, such as BetStars and PokerStars Casino, is critical to expanding its customer base and generating revenue. Building, maintaining and enhancing the brands of the Corporation will depend largely on its ability to continue to provide enjoyable, reliable, trustworthy, and innovative products, which the Corporation may not do successfully, as well as its ability to successfully maintain or advance its internal marketing and branding functions and its ability to establish and develop new relationships and build on existing relationships with ambassadors and service providers on which it relies to promote its products and services. The Corporation may introduce new products, programs, terms of service or policies, including those related to loyalty programs, that customers do not like, which may negatively affect its brands. The Corporation will also continue to experience media, legislative, or regulatory scrutiny as it relates to the online gaming industry, as well as its decisions regarding regulation, user privacy, payments, and other issues, which may adversely affect its reputation and brands. The Corporation also may fail to provide adequate customer service, which could erode confidence in its brands. The brands of the Corporation may also be negatively affected by the actions of customers that are deemed to be hostile or inappropriate to other customers, including through the use of certain software to gain an advantage over other customers (see "Business of the Corporation—Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development"), or by the use of the products or services of the Corporation for illicit, objectionable, or illegal ends. In addition, the Corporation cannot provide assurance that its current or former directors, officers, employees, ambassadors or service providers will act in a manner that will promote the success of its products and services. Maintaining and enhancing the brands of the Corporation may require it to make substantial investments and these investments may not be successful. If the Corporation fails to successfully promote and maintain its brands or if it incurs excessive expenses in this effort, its business and financial results may be adversely affected.

Moreover, unfavorable publicity regarding, for example, the Corporation's policies, product changes, product quality, litigation or regulatory activity, the use of its products or services for illicit, objectionable, or illegal ends, the actions of its customers, the actions of other companies that provide similar products and services to it, or the industries in which it operates in general could damage its reputation and brands. Such negative publicity also could have an adverse effect on the size, engagement, and loyalty of the Corporation's customer base and result in decreased revenue, which could adversely affect its business and financial results.

The Corporation's customer growth, engagement, and monetization on mobile devices each depend upon effective operation with mobile operating systems, networks, and standards that it does not control.

There is no guarantee that popular mobile devices will start to support or continue to feature the products of the Corporation, or that mobile device users will continue to use the products of the Corporation rather than competing products. As it relates to the Corporation's mobile platforms, the Corporation is dependent on the interoperability of such products with popular mobile operating systems, networks, and standards that it does not control, such as the Android and iOS operating systems, and any changes in such systems, the Corporation's relationships with mobile partners, or in their terms of service or policies that degrade the Corporation's products' functionality, reduce or eliminate its ability to distribute its products, give preferential treatment to competitive products, limit its ability to deliver its products, or impose fees or other charges related to its delivery of products could adversely affect its product usage and monetization on mobile devices. Additionally, in order to deliver high quality mobile products, it is important that the Corporation's products work well with a range of mobile technologies, systems, networks, and standards that it does not control,

and that the Corporation has good relationships with applicable manufacturers and carriers. The Corporation may not be successful in maintaining or developing relationships with key participants in the mobile industry or in developing products that operate effectively with these technologies, systems, networks, or standards. In the event that it is more difficult for the Corporation's customers to access and use its products on their mobile devices, or if the customers of the Corporation choose not to access or use its products on their mobile devices or use mobile products that do not offer access to its products, its customer growth and engagement could be harmed, which could adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Corporation's financial results will fluctuate from quarter to quarter and are difficult to predict.

The Corporation's quarterly financial results have fluctuated in the past and will fluctuate in the future. Additionally, Amaya has a limited operating history with the current scale of its business, particularly with respect to its newer product offerings, such as online casino and sportsbook, which makes it difficult to forecast its future results. For example, Amaya may not be able to accurately predict the anticipated margin variances on its newer products, particularly online casino and sportsbook. As a result, investors should not rely upon the Corporation's past quarterly financial results as indicators of future performance. Investors should take into account the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in rapidly evolving and highly competitive markets. The financial results of the Corporation in any given quarter can be influenced by numerous factors, many of which it is unable to predict or are outside of its control, including without limitation, the risks and uncertainties set forth in this annual information form and the 2016 Annual MD&A, including under the headings "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" hereunder and thereunder.

The Corporation is subject to foreign exchange and currency risks that could adversely affect its operations, and the Corporation's ability to mitigate its foreign exchange risk through hedging transactions may be limited.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation derived approximately 80% of its revenues in currencies other than the Canadian or U.S. dollar; however, a significant portion of the Corporation's expenses are incurred in Canadian and U.S. dollars, Euro and Great Britain Pound and the primary currency of customer game play is in U.S. dollars. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar, the Euro and other currencies may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and operating results. The Corporation's consolidated financial results are significantly affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Foreign currency exchange rate exposure arises from current transactions and anticipated transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and from the translation of foreign-currency-denominated balance sheet accounts into U.S. dollar-denominated balance sheet accounts. In particular, uncertainty regarding economic conditions in Europe and the debt crisis affecting certain countries in the European Union pose risk to the stability of the Euro. Exchange rate fluctuations could materially adversely affect the Corporation's operating results and cash flows and the value of its foreign assets. If a foreign currency is devalued in a jurisdiction in which the Corporation accepts deposits in such currency, then the Corporation's customers may be unable or unwilling to deposit and spend the same or similar amounts that they may otherwise deposit or spend. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation estimates the decline in the purchasing power of its consumer base, based on a weighted average of customer deposits, was a result of an average 3.9% decline in the value of its customers' local currencies relative to the U.S. dollar.

While the Corporation has certain natural expense hedges and has entered and may in the future enter into cross-currency swap agreements, forward contracts and other derivative and hedging instruments intended to mitigate foreign currency exchange risk, there can be no assurance the Corporation will do so or that any instruments that the Corporation enters into will successfully mitigate such risk. If the Corporation enters into foreign currency forward or other hedging contracts, the Corporation would be subject to the risk that a counterparty to one or more of these contracts defaults on its performance under the contracts. During an economic downturn, a counterparty's financial condition may deteriorate rapidly and with little notice, and the Corporation may be unable to take action to protect its exposure. In the event of a counterparty default, the Corporation could lose the benefit of its hedging contract, which may harm its business and financial condition. In the event that one or more of the Corporation's counterparties becomes insolvent or files for bankruptcy, the Corporation's ability to eventually recover any benefit lost as a result of that counterparty's default may be limited by the liquidity of the counterparty. The Corporation expects that it will not be able to hedge all of its exposure to any particular foreign currency, and it may not hedge its exposure at all with respect to certain foreign currencies. Changes in exchange rates and the Corporation's limited ability or inability to successfully hedge exchange rate risk could have an adverse impact on the Corporation's liquidity and results of operations. Although the Corporation has entered into, and from time to time in the future may enter into additional, cross-currency swap agreements, forward contracts and other hedging instruments, which it anticipates will result in lower interest payments on existing debt and potentially mitigate the impact of fluctuations in the Euro to U.S. dollar exchange rate with respect to such debt, there can

The Corporation may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities.

The tax obligations of the Corporation are varied and include taxes on gaming income (POC, gaming duty and, in some cases, corporate tax) and taxes on profits and transactions of its group entities (corporate tax, VAT and withholding taxes). These tax obligations are based in part on its corporate operating structure and intercompany arrangements, including the manner in which it develops, values, and uses its intellectual property and the valuations of its intercompany transactions, as well as its operations in online gaming. The tax laws applicable to the Corporation's business are subject to interpretation, and certain jurisdictions are seeking to introduce new, or aggressively interpret existing, laws to tax online gaming operators on their activity with local customers in an effort to raise additional tax revenue from companies such as the Corporation. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which the Corporation operates or has customers may challenge its methodologies for determining the taxes payable, which could increase its worldwide effective tax rate and harm its financial position and results of operations. The Corporation is subject to periodic review and audit by domestic and foreign tax authorities. Tax authorities may disagree with certain positions the Corporation has taken and any adverse outcome of such a review or audit could have a negative effect on its financial position and results of operations. In addition, the determination of the Corporation's worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment by management, and there are many transactions where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Although the Corporation believes that its estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in its financial statements and may materially affect its financial results in the period or periods for which such determination is made. For example, the Corporation has previously incurred tax liabilities for past tax years as a result of the positions taken by tax authorities in certain jurisdictions, including in certain European jurisdictions. See the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and 2016 Annual MD&A. This could continue to happen in the future in various jurisdictions where the Corporation offers or has offered its products and services. In addition, the Corporation's future income taxes could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions that have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated in jurisdictions that have higher statutory tax rates, by changes in the valuation of the Corporation's deferred tax assets and liabilities, by changes in tax laws, regulations, or accounting principles, by the introduction of new tax laws in jurisdictions where it operates or derives revenue from customers, or as a result of taxes in new jurisdictions where it does not currently operate but may in the future as a result of licensure, approval or otherwise.

Amaya and its subsidiaries transact with each other as part of their operations. The tax laws of many countries where Amaya or its subsidiaries operate have detailed transfer pricing rules which require that all transactions with non-resident related parties be priced using arm's length pricing principles. The taxation authorities in these countries could disagree with the Corporation's arm's length related party transfer pricing policies. International transfer pricing is a subjective area of taxation and generally involves a significant degree of judgment. If any of these taxation authorities were to successfully challenge the Corporation's transfer pricing policies, this could result in a higher worldwide effective tax rate and harm the financial position and results of operations of the Corporation.

Changes in tax laws or administrative policies related to tax could materially affect the Corporation's financial position and results of operations.

Changes in tax laws or administrative policies related to tax could materially affect the Corporation's financial position and results of operations. For example, many countries in the European Union in which the Corporation offers its products and services to customers, as well as a number of other countries and organizations, have recently adopted or are actively considering changes to existing tax laws as they relate to online gaming or are changing the manner in which they interpret such tax laws. Such changes have resulted and could result in significant increases to the tax obligations of the Corporation in many countries where it does business or has customers, and may include new or additional taxes (such as POC, gaming duties, VAT and corporate tax). Due to the large and expanding scale of the Corporation's international business activities, any changes in the taxation of such activities may increase its worldwide effective tax rate and harm its financial position and results of operations.

The Corporation has significant international operations and plans to continue expanding its operations abroad, which may subject it to increased business and economic risks that could affect its financial results.

The Corporation has significant international operations and plans to continue the international expansion of its business operations and products. The products of the Corporation are available in numerous jurisdictions and nearly two dozen languages, and it operates from offices, data centers or transit points of presence throughout the world. Nearly all of the Corporation's current operations are conducted from offices in foreign jurisdictions, particularly in the Isle of Man, Malta, and in certain member states of the European Union, and it derives revenue from customers in various numerous countries worldwide. As such, the Corporation's operations may be adversely affected by changes in foreign government policies and legislation or social, economic or political instability and other factors which are not within the control of the Corporation, including, but not limited to, recessions in foreign economies, expropriation, nationalization and limitation or restriction on repatriation of funds, assets or earnings, changes in consumer tastes and trends, renegotiation or nullification of existing contracts or licenses, changes in online gaming policies, regulatory requirements or the personnel administering them, exchange controls, economic sanctions, risk of terrorist activities, revolution,

border disputes, implementation of tariffs and other trade and investment barriers and protectionist practices, withdrawals from economic or political unions, such as "Brexit", taxation policies, including royalty and tax increases (such as additional corporate tax, VAT, POC and gaming duties) and retroactive tax claims, volatility of financial markets and fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, difficulties in the protection of intellectual property, evolving regulations regarding data and information privacy and payment processing, labor disputes and other risks arising out of foreign governmental sovereignty over the areas in which the Corporation's operations are conducted. The Corporation's operations and revenues may also be adversely affected by social, political and economic instability. If the Corporation's operations or revenues are disrupted or threatened for unexpected reasons, its business may be materially harmed.

The Corporation's international activities may require protracted negotiations with host governments and regulators, national companies and third parties. Foreign government regulations may require foreign product and service providers to, among other things, be located in or employ citizens or residents of a particular jurisdiction and otherwise comply with numerous and extensive procedures and formalities. These procedures and formalities may result in unexpected or lengthy delays in commencing important business activities, and, in some cases, failure to follow such formalities or obtain relevant evidence may call into question the validity of the entity or the actions taken. Management of the Corporation is unable to predict the effect of additional corporate and regulatory formalities which may be adopted in the future including whether any such laws or regulations would materially increase the Corporation's cost of doing business or affect its operations in any jurisdiction. In addition, the Corporation may in the future enter into agreements and conduct activities outside of the jurisdictions where it currently carries on business, which expansion may present challenges and risks that the Corporation has not faced in the past, any of which could adversely affect the results of operations and/or financial condition of the Corporation.

Moreover, in the event of a dispute arising in connection with the Corporation's operations with respect to a foreign jurisdiction where it conducts its business or has customers, the Corporation may be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not be successful in subjecting foreign persons to the jurisdiction of domestic courts or enforcing domestic judgments in such other jurisdictions. The Corporation may also be hindered or prevented from enforcing its rights with respect to a governmental instrumentality because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity.

Although the Corporation believes that management's experience to date in numerous foreign jurisdictions may be of assistance in helping to reduce these risks, the Corporation's activities in foreign jurisdictions could be substantially affected by factors beyond the Corporation's control, any of which could have a material adverse effect on it.

Certain of the Corporation's customer metrics are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm the Corporation's reputation and negatively affect its business.

The numbers for the Corporation's key metrics, which include quarterly real-money active uniques ("QAUs") and quarterly net yield, as well as certain other metrics, are calculated using internal company data based on the activity of customer accounts. While these numbers are based on what the Corporation believes to be reasonable judgements and estimates of its customer base for the applicable period of measurement, there are certain challenges and limitations in measuring the usage of its products and services across its customer base. Such challenges and limitations may also affect the Corporation's understanding of certain details of its business. In addition, the Corporation's key customer metrics estimates may differ from estimates published by third parties or from similarly-titled metrics of its competitors due to differences in methodology and access to information.

For example, the methodologies used to measure customer metrics are based on significant internal judgments and estimates, and may be susceptible to algorithm, calculation or other technical errors, including, without limitation, how certain metrics may be defined (and the assumptions and considerations made and included in, or excluded from, such definitions). Moreover, the Corporation's business intelligence tools may fail on a particular data backup or upload, which could lead to certain customer activity not being recorded, and thus not included, in the calculation of a particular key metric, such as QAUs. In addition, as it relates to certain of Amaya's product offerings, customers are required to provide certain information when registering and establishing accounts, which could lead to the creation of multiple accounts for the same customer (in nearly all instances such account creation would be in violation of Amaya's applicable terms and conditions of use). Although the Corporation typically addresses and corrects any such failures, duplications and inaccuracies relatively quickly, its metrics are still susceptible to the same and its estimations of such metrics may be lower or higher than the actual numbers.

The Corporation regularly reviews its processes for calculating and defining these metrics, and from time to time it may discover inaccuracies in its metrics or make adjustments to improve their accuracy, including adjustments that may result in the recalculation or replacement of historical metrics or introduction of new metrics. These changes may also include adjustments to underlying data, such as changes to historical revenue amounts as a result of certain accounting reallocations made in later periods and adjustments to definitions in an effort to provide what management believes may be the most helpful and relevant data. The Corporation also continuously seeks to improve its ability to identify irregularities and inaccuracies (and suspend any accounts that

violate its terms and conditions of use) and its key metrics or estimates of key metrics may change due to improvements or changes in its methodology. Notwithstanding, the Corporation believes that any such inaccuracies or adjustments are immaterial unless otherwise stated.

If the public or investors do not perceive the Corporation's customer metrics to be accurate representations of its customer base, or if it discovers material inaccuracies in its customer metrics, its reputation may be harmed, which could negatively affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Corporation plans to continue to make acquisitions if opportunities arise in the future. Investigating, completing, implementing and integrating acquisitions involve risks that could negatively affect the Corporation's business, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity.

As part of its business strategy, the Corporation has made and intends to continue to make acquisitions if opportunities arise in the future to add specialized employees and new or complementary companies, products, or technologies. In some cases, the costs of such acquisitions may be substantial, including, without limitation, as a result of professional adviser fees and due diligence efforts; and there is no assurance that the time and resources expended on pursuing a particular acquisition will result in a completed transaction, or that any completed transaction will ultimately be successful. For example, the Corporation has grown significantly in recent years through acquisitions, in particular through the transformative Rational Group Acquisition. Currently, the Corporation anticipates that it may continue to make strategic acquisitions if opportunities arise in the future, some of which may be significant; however, the Corporation may not be able to identify suitable acquisition or strategic investment opportunities, or may be unable to obtain any required financing, such as consent from its lenders or holders of the Preferred Shares, as applicable, or regulatory approvals, and therefore may not be able to complete such acquisitions or strategic investments on favorable terms, if at all. The Corporation may decide to pursue acquisitions with which the Corporation's investors may not agree and the Corporation cannot assure investors that any acquisition or investment, including the Rational Group Acquisition, will be successful or otherwise provide a favorable return on investment. In addition, acquisitions and the integration thereof require significant time and resources and place significant demands on the Corporation's operational and financial infrastructure. In particular, acquisitions may expose the Corporation to operational challenges and risks, including:

- the ability to profitably manage acquired businesses or successfully integrate the acquired businesses' operations, personnel, financial reporting and accounting and internal controls, technologies and products and services into the Corporation's business;
- the expense of integrating acquired businesses, including significant administrative, operational, economic, geographic or cultural challenges in managing and integrating the expanded or combined operations;
- entry into markets or acquisition of products or technologies with which Amaya has limited or no prior experience;
- increased indebtedness;
- the ability to fund cash flow shortages that may occur if anticipated revenue is not realized or is delayed, whether by general economic or market conditions, or unforeseen internal difficulties;
- the availability of funding sufficient to meet increased capital needs;
- diversion of management's attention; and
- the ability to retain or hire qualified personnel required for expanded operations.

If the Corporation does not successfully integrate future acquisitions, if any, it may not realize the expected benefits and its business, liquidity and operating results may be materially adversely affected.

In the future, the Corporation may pay substantial amounts of cash or incur debt, including convertible debt, to pay for acquisitions, which could adversely affect its liquidity and its ability to service its debt. The incurrence of indebtedness would also result in increased fixed obligations, increased interest expense, and could also include covenants or other restrictions that would impede the Corporation's ability to manage its operations. The Corporation may also issue equity securities to pay for acquisitions and may grant a significant amount of equity-based incentive awards to retain the employees of acquired companies, which could increase its expenses, adversely affect its financial results, and result in dilution to its shareholders. In addition, any acquisitions the Corporation announces could be viewed negatively by customers or investors, which may adversely affect its business or the price of its Common Shares.

In addition, acquired companies may have liabilities that the Corporation failed, or was unable, to discover or sufficiently assess in the course of performing due diligence investigations. The effectiveness of the Corporation's due diligence review and its ability to

evaluate the results of such due diligence are dependent in part upon the accuracy and completeness of statements and disclosures made or actions taken by the companies it acquires or their representatives, as well as the limited amount of time in which acquisitions are executed. In addition, the Corporation may fail to accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction, including tax and accounting charges, including impairments of acquired assets. The Corporation cannot be sure that the remedies available to it at law or under contract, or the indemnification granted to it by sellers of acquired companies, will be sufficient in amount, scope or duration to fully or partially offset the possible liabilities associated with businesses or properties the Corporation assumes upon consummation of an acquisition. The Corporation may learn additional information about its acquired businesses that could materially adversely affect it, such as unknown or contingent liabilities, unprofitable products, and liabilities related to compliance with applicable laws. Acquisitions may also result in the Corporation's recording of significant additional expenses to its results of operations and recording of substantial finite-lived intangible assets on its balance sheet upon closing. Any of these factors, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity. For certain examples, see below under "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions".

The Corporation cannot assure investors that it will effectively manage its growth.

The Corporation's employee headcount and the scope and complexity of its business increased significantly as a result of the Rational Group Acquisition, and the Corporation currently expects certain growth to continue for the foreseeable future. The growth and expansion of the Corporation's business and products create significant challenges for its management, operational, and financial resources, including managing multiple relations with customers, investors and other third parties. In the event of continued growth of the Corporation's operations or in the number of its third-party relationships, its information technology systems or its internal controls and procedures may not be adequate to support its operations. In addition, some members of management of the Corporation do not have significant experience managing a large, public global business operation, so its management may not be able to manage such growth effectively. To effectively manage the Corporation's growth, the Corporation must continue to improve its operational, financial, and management processes and systems and to effectively expand, train, and manage its employee base. As the Corporation's organization continues to grow, and the Corporation is required to implement more complex organizational management structures, it may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the benefits of its corporate culture and efficiencies, including its ability to quickly develop and launch new and innovative products. This could negatively affect the Corporation's business performance.

Failure to attract, retain and motivate key employees may adversely affect the Corporation's ability to compete and the loss of the services of key personnel could have a material adverse effect on its business.

The Corporation depends on the services of its executive officers as well as its key technical, operational, marketing and management personnel. The loss of any of these key persons could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations and financial condition. The Corporation's success is also highly dependent on its continuing ability to identify, hire, train, motivate and retain highly qualified technical, sales, marketing and management personnel. Competition for such personnel can be intense, and the Corporation cannot provide assurance that it will be able to attract or retain highly qualified technical, sales, marketing and management personnel in the future. Equity-based awards comprise a significant component of key employee compensation, and if the Corporation's Common Share price declines or continues to be volatile, it may be difficult to retain such individuals. In addition, as the Corporation matures, the incentives to attract, retain, and motivate employees provided by the Corporation's equity-based awards or by future arrangements may not be as effective as in the past, and if it issues significant equity to attract additional employees, the ownership of its existing shareholders may be further diluted. The Corporation's potential inability to attract and retain the necessary technical, sales, marketing and management personnel may adversely affect its future growth and profitability. The Corporation's retention and recruiting may require significant increases in compensation expense, which would adversely affect the Corporation's results of operation.

The leadership of the Corporation's current executive officers has been a critical element of the Corporation's success. The departure, death or disability of such officers or other extended or permanent loss of their services, or any negative market or industry perception with respect to them or their loss, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business. Certain of the Corporation's other senior management have made significant contributions to its growth and success. The unexpected loss of services of one or more of these individuals could also adversely affect the Corporation. The Corporation is not protected by key man or similar life insurance covering its executive officers or members of senior management.

Litigation costs and the outcome of litigation could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business.

From time to time, Amaya may be subject to litigation claims through the ordinary course of its business operations regarding, but not limited to, employment matters, security of customer and employee personal information, contracts with third parties, marketing, infringement of trademarks and other intellectual property rights, and operations of the Rational Group business prior to the Rational Group Acquisition. Litigation to defend Amaya against claims by third parties, or to enforce any rights that Amaya may

have against third parties, may be necessary, which could result in substantial costs and diversion of Amaya's resources, causing a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. Given the nature of the Corporation's business, it is, and may from time to time in the future be, party to various, and at times numerous, legal, administrative and regulatory inquiries, investigations, proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, as well as potential class action lawsuits. Because the outcome of such legal matters is inherently uncertain, if one or more of such legal matters were to be resolved against the Corporation for amounts in excess of management's expectations, the Corporation's results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. Any litigation to which the Corporation is a party may result in an onerous or unfavorable judgment that may not be reversed upon appeal, or in payments of substantial monetary damages or fines, the posting of bonds requiring significant collateral, letters of credit or similar instruments, or the Corporation may decide to settle lawsuits on similarly unfavorable terms. Moreover, the Corporation cannot be sure that the remedies available to it at law or under contract, or the indemnification granted to it by sellers of acquired companies, will be sufficient in amount, scope or duration to fully or partially offset any such possible liabilities. Any of these factors, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity. For a description of certain currently pending legal and regulatory proceedings, including the Kentucky Proceeding (as defined below) and certain class action lawsuits, see "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions".

If the Corporation's goodwill or intangible assets become impaired, the Corporation may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.

The Corporation reviews its intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, such as a decline in stock price and market capitalization. The Corporation tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. If such goodwill or intangible assets are deemed to be impaired, an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the assets would be recognized. The Corporation may be required to record a significant charge in its financial statements during the period in which any impairment of its goodwill or intangible assets is determined, which would negatively affect its results of operations.

New products may be subject to complex revenue recognition standards, which could materially affect the Corporation's financial results.

As the Corporation introduces new products and as transactions become increasingly complex, additional analysis and judgment is required to account for and recognize revenues in accordance with applicable accounting standards. Transactions may include unique new product offerings, and applicable accounting principles or regulatory product approval delays could further change the timing of revenue recognition, which could adversely affect Amaya's financial results for any given period.

If the Corporation's internal controls are ineffective, its operating results and market confidence in its reported financial information could be adversely affected.

The Corporation's internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls or fraud. Even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. If the Corporation fails to maintain the adequacy of its internal controls or if it experiences difficulties in their implementation, its business and operating results and market confidence in its reported financial information could be harmed and it could fail to meet its financial reporting obligations.

As of December 31, 2016, the Corporation identified material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting, which led management to conclude that its internal control over financial reporting as of such date was not effective. The material weaknesses identified related to controls over derivative valuation and hedge accounting, and foreign exchange rate information. These material weaknesses are more fully explained in the 2016 MD&A under the heading "Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting".

The existence of such material weaknesses preclude management from concluding that the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting is effective and precludes the Corporation's independent auditors from issuing an unqualified opinion that the Corporation's internal controls are effective. In addition, these material weaknesses could cause investors to lose confidence in our financial reporting and may negatively affect the price the Common Shares. The Corporation also can make no assurances that it will be able to timely and cost effectively remediate these internal control deficiencies. Moreover, effective internal controls are necessary to produce reliable financial reports. If the Corporation is unable to satisfactorily remediate these deficiencies or if it discovers other deficiencies in its internal control over financial reporting, such deficiencies may lead to misstatements in its financial statements or otherwise negatively impact its financial statements, business, results of operations, and reputation.

The Corporation's business is vulnerable to changing economic conditions and to other factors that adversely affect the industries in which it operates.

The demand for entertainment and leisure activities tends to be highly sensitive to changes in consumers' disposable income, and thus can be affected by changes in the economy and consumer tastes, both of which are difficult to predict and beyond the control of the Corporation. Unfavorable changes in general economic conditions, including recessions, economic slowdown, sustained high levels of unemployment, and increasing fuel or transportation costs, may reduce customers' disposable income or result in fewer individuals engaging in entertainment and leisure activities, including online gaming. As a result, the Corporation cannot ensure that demand for its products or services will remain constant. Continued or renewed adverse developments affecting economies throughout the world, including a general tightening of availability of credit, decreased liquidity in many financial markets, increasing interest rates, foreign exchange fluctuations, increasing energy costs, acts of war or terrorism, transportation disruptions, natural disasters, declining consumer confidence, sustained high levels of unemployment or significant declines in stock markets, as well as concerns regarding epidemics and the spread of contagious diseases, could lead to a further reduction in discretionary spending on leisure activities, such as gaming. Any significant or prolonged decrease in consumer spending on entertainment or leisure activities could adversely affect the demand for the Corporation's product offerings, reducing its cash flows and revenues. If the Corporation experiences a significant unexpected decrease in demand for its products, it could incur losses.

The Corporation may require additional capital to support its business growth, and this capital may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

The Corporation may require additional capital to support its business growth or to respond to business opportunities, challenges or unforeseen circumstances. The Corporation's ability to obtain additional capital, if and when required, will depend on its business plans, investor demand, its operating performance, the condition of the capital markets, and other factors. If the Corporation raises additional funds through the issuance of equity, equity-linked or debt securities, those securities may have rights, preferences, or privileges senior to the rights of the Corporation's currently issued and outstanding equity, and its existing shareholders may experience dilution. If the Corporation is unable to obtain additional capital when required, or is unable to obtain additional capital on satisfactory terms, its ability to continue to support its business growth or to respond to business opportunities, challenges, or unforeseen circumstances could be adversely affected, and its business may be harmed.

The Corporation is subject to various laws relating to trade, export controls, and foreign corrupt practices, the violation of which could adversely affect its operations, reputation, business, prospects, operating results and financial condition.

The Corporation must comply with all applicable international trade, export and import laws and regulations of Canada, the United States and other countries, and it is subject to export controls and economic sanctions laws and embargoes imposed by the U.S. and Canadian Governments. Changes in trade sanctions laws may restrict the Corporation's business practices, including cessation of business activities in sanctioned countries or with sanctioned entities. The Corporation is also subject to the CFPOA, the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, the IOM Bribery Act and other anti-bribery laws that generally prohibit the offering, promising, giving, agreeing to give, or authorizing others to give anything of value, either directly or indirectly, to a government official in order to influence official action, or otherwise obtain or retain a business advantage.

The Corporation's business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant direct and indirect interaction with public officials, including officials of various governments worldwide. The Corporation has implemented safeguards and policies to discourage practices by its directors, officers, employees and agents that would violate applicable laws. See "Directors and Officers—Ethical Business Conduct" below. However, Amaya cannot ensure that its compliance controls, policies, and procedures will in every instance protect the Corporation from acts committed by its directors, officers, employees, agents, contractors, or collaborators that would violate the laws or regulations of the jurisdictions in which the Corporation operates.

Violations of these laws and regulations could result in significant fines, criminal sanctions against the Corporation, its officers or its employees, requirements to obtain export licenses, disgorgement of profits, cessation of business activities in sanctioned countries, prohibitions on the conduct of its business and its inability to market and sell the Corporation's products in one or more countries. Additionally, any such violations could materially damage the Corporation's reputation, brand, international expansion efforts, ability to attract and retain employees and customers, and the Corporation's business, operating results and financial condition. For information regarding a certain previously disclosed foreign payments matter and the Corporation's review of the same, see "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions" below. In particular, as a result of this matter, the Corporation and one or more subsidiaries could be subject to fines, penalties, administrative sanctions, convictions or settlements arising from civil proceedings or criminal charges. This could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation, including its reputation and ability to conduct business, its holding of gaming regulatory licenses, the listing of its securities on an exchange, its financial position, profitability or liquidity or the market price of its publicly traded shares. In addition, it is difficult for the Corporation to estimate the time or resources that will be needed for the investigation of this matter or its final resolution because, in part, the time and resources needed

are dependent on the nature and extent of the information requested by the authorities involved, and such time or resources could be substantial.

The Corporation's insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover all possible losses it may suffer, and, in the future, its insurance costs may increase significantly or it may be unable to obtain the same level of insurance coverage.

The Corporation may suffer damage to its property due to a casualty loss (such as fire, natural disasters and acts of war or terrorism) or other losses, such as those related to labor, professional liability or certain actions or inactions by its management or employees, that could severely disrupt its business or subject it to claims by third parties who are injured or harmed. Although Amaya maintains insurance that it believes is adequate, that insurance may be inadequate or unavailable to cover all of the risks to which the Corporation's business and assets may be exposed, including, without limitation, risks related to certain litigation. Should an uninsured loss (including a loss which is less than the applicable deductible) or loss in excess of insured limits occur, it could have a significant adverse impact on Amaya's operations and revenues.

Amaya generally renews its insurance policies on an annual basis. If the cost of coverage becomes too high or if Amaya believes certain coverage becomes inapplicable, Amaya may need to reduce its policy limits or agree to certain exclusions from its coverage in order to reduce the premiums to an acceptable amount or to otherwise reduce its coverage for certain occurrences. Among other factors, national security concerns, catastrophic events or any change in the current applicable statutory requirement that insurance carriers offer coverage for certain acts of terrorism could adversely affect available insurance coverage and result in, among other things, increased premiums on available coverage (which may cause the Corporation to elect to reduce its policy limits or not renew its coverage) and additional exclusions from coverage.

The Corporation's results of operations could be affected by natural events in the locations in which it operates or where its customers or suppliers operate.

Amaya, its customers, and its suppliers have operations in locations subject to natural occurrences such as severe weather and other geological events, including hurricanes, earthquakes, floods, or tsunamis that could disrupt operations. Any serious disruption at any of Amaya's facilities or the facilities of its customers or suppliers due to a natural disaster could have a material adverse effect on Amaya's revenues and increase its costs and expenses. If there is a natural disaster or other serious disruption at any of Amaya's facilities, it could impair its ability to adequately supply its customers, cause a significant disruption to its operations, cause Amaya to incur significant costs to relocate or re-establish these functions and negatively impact its operating results. While Amaya insures against certain risks, such insurance may not adequately compensate Amaya for any losses incurred as a result of natural or other disasters. In addition, any natural disaster that results in a prolonged disruption to the operations of Amaya's customers or suppliers may adversely affect its business, results of operations or financial condition.

Risks Related to Regulation

The online gaming industry is heavily regulated and failure by the Corporation to obtain or maintain applicable licensure or approvals, or otherwise comply with applicable requirements, could be disruptive to its business and could adversely affect its operations.

The Corporation is subject to regulation affecting online gaming which varies from one jurisdiction to another and future legislative and regulatory action, court decisions or other governmental action to online gaming may have a material impact on the operations and financial results of the Corporation.

The Corporation and its licensees are subject to applicable laws in the jurisdictions in which they operate or derive revenues from customers. Some countries have introduced regulations attempting to restrict or prohibit online gaming, while others have taken the position that online gaming should be regulated and have adopted or are in the process of considering legislation to enable that regulation.

While the U.K. and other European countries, such as Malta, have currently adopted a regime which permits its licensees to accept wagers from other jurisdictions, certain jurisdictions, including, without limitation, states within the United States, have, or are in the process of implementing, regimes which are targeted toward the domestic market provided a local license or applicable approval is obtained and local taxes accounted for.

The regulatory requirements vary by jurisdiction, however most require:

- licenses and/or permits;
- findings of suitability;

- documentation of qualifications, including evidence of financial stability; and
- other required approvals for companies who operate in online gaming or manufacture or distribute gaming equipment and services, including but not limited to approvals for new products.

Any license, permit, approval or finding of suitability may be revoked, suspended or conditioned at any time. The loss of a license in one jurisdiction could trigger the loss of a license or affect the Corporation's eligibility for a license in another jurisdiction. The Corporation may be unable to obtain or maintain all necessary registrations, licenses, permits or approvals, and could incur fines or experience delays related to the licensing process which could adversely affect its operations. The finding of suitability process may be expensive and time-consuming. The Corporation's delay or failure to obtain licenses and approvals in any jurisdiction may prevent it from distributing its products and services, increasing its customer base and/or generating revenues. A gaming regulatory body may refuse to issue or renew a license or registration if the Corporation, or one of its directors, officers, employees or associates: (i) is considered to be a detriment to the integrity or lawful conduct or management of gaming, (ii) no longer meets a licensing or registration requirement, (iii) has breached or is in breach of a condition of licensure or registration or an operational agreement with a regulatory authority, (iv) has made a material misrepresentation, omission or misstatement in an application for licensure or registration or in reply to an enquiry by a person conducting an audit, investigation or inspection for a gaming regulatory authority, (v) has been refused a similar license or registration in another jurisdiction, (vi) has held a similar license or registration in that province, state or another jurisdiction which has been suspended, revoked or cancelled, or (vii) has been convicted of an offence, inside or outside of Canada and the United States that calls into question the Corporation's honesty or integrity or the honesty or integrity of one of its directors, officers, employees or associates.

Additionally, the Corporation's products and services must be approved in most regulated jurisdictions in which they are offered; this process cannot be assured or guaranteed. Obtaining these approvals is a time-consuming process that can be extremely costly. A developer and provider of online gaming products and services may pursue corporate regulatory approval with regulators of a particular jurisdiction while it pursues technical regulatory approval for its products and services by that same jurisdiction. It is possible that after incurring significant expenses and dedicating substantial time and effort towards such regulatory approvals, that the Corporation may not obtain either of them. If the Corporation fails to obtain the necessary certification, registration, license, approval or finding of suitability in a given jurisdiction, it would likely be prohibited from distributing and providing its products and services in that particular jurisdiction altogether. If the Corporation fails to seek, does not receive, or receives a suspension or revocation of a license in a particular jurisdiction for its products and services (including any related technology and software) then it cannot offer the same in that jurisdiction and its licenses or approvals in other jurisdictions may be impacted. Furthermore, some jurisdictions require license holders to obtain government approval before engaging in some transactions, such as business combinations, reorganizations, stock offerings and repurchases. The Corporation may not be able to obtain all necessary registrations, licenses, permits, approvals or findings of suitability in a timely manner, or at all. Delays in regulatory approvals or failure to obtain such approvals may also serve as a barrier to entry to the market for the Corporation's products and services. If the Corporation is unable to overcome the barriers to entry, it will materially affect its results of operations and future prospects. To the extent new online gaming jurisdictions are established or expanded, the Corporation cannot guarantee it will be successful in penetrating such new jurisdictions or expanding its business or customer base in line with the growth of existing jurisdictions. As the Corporation enters into new markets, it may encounter legal and regulatory challenges that are difficult or impossible to foresee and which could result in an unforeseen adverse impact on planned revenues or costs associated with the new market opportunity. If the Corporation is unable to effectively develop and operate within these new markets or if its competitors are able to successfully penetrate geographic markets that it cannot access or where it faces other restrictions, then its business, operating results and financial condition could be impaired. The Corporation's failure to obtain or maintain the necessary regulatory approvals in jurisdictions, whether individually or collectively, would have a material adverse effect on its business. See "Business of the Corporation – Regulatory Environment".

To expand into new jurisdictions, the Corporation may need to be licensed, obtain approvals of its products and/or seek licensure of its officers, directors, major shareholders, key employees or business partners. Any delays in obtaining or difficulty in maintaining regulatory approvals needed for expansion within existing markets or into new jurisdictions can negatively affect the Corporation's opportunities for growth, including the growth of its customer base, or delay its ability to recognize revenue from its products and services in any such jurisdictions.

Future legislative and regulatory action, and court decisions or other governmental action, may have a material impact on the operations and financial results of the Corporation. There is a risk that governmental authorities may view the Corporation or its licensees as having violated their local laws, despite the Corporation's efforts to obtain all applicable licenses or approvals. Therefore, there is a risk that civil and criminal proceedings, including class actions, could be initiated against the Corporation, its business partners and others involved in the online gaming industry. Such potential proceedings could involve substantial litigation expense, penalties, fines, seizure of assets, injunctions, payment blocking, internet service provider blocking or other restrictions being imposed upon the Corporation or third parties, while diverting the attention of key executives. Such proceedings could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, revenues, operating results and financial condition as well as impact upon the Corporation's

reputation, even in instances where such proceedings are concluded successfully in favor of the Corporation. See also "Legal and Regulatory Proceedings".

There can be no assurance that legally enforceable prohibiting legislation will not be proposed and passed in jurisdictions relevant or potentially relevant to the Corporation's business to prohibit, legislate or regulate various aspects of the Internet, e-commerce, payment processing, or the online gaming and interactive entertainment industries (or that existing laws in those jurisdictions will not be interpreted negatively). Compliance with any such legislation may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and results of operations, either as a result of the Corporation's determining that a jurisdiction should be blocked, or because a local license or approval may be costly for the Corporation or business partners to obtain and/or such licenses or approvals may contain other commercially undesirable conditions.

Public opinion can also exert a significant influence over the regulation of the online gaming industry. A negative shift in the public's perception of online gaming could affect future legislation or regulation in different jurisdictions. Among other things, such a shift could cause jurisdictions to abandon proposals to legalize online gaming, thereby limiting the number of new jurisdictions into which the Corporation could expand. Negative public perception could also lead to new restrictions on or to the prohibition of online gaming in jurisdictions in which the Corporation currently operates.

The Corporation may not be able to capitalize on the expansion of online gaming or other trends and changes in the online gaming industry, including due to laws and regulations governing this industry.

The Corporation participates in the new and evolving online gaming industry through its online, social and mobile products. The Corporation intends to take advantage of the liberalization of online and mobile gaming, both within the United States, Europe and elsewhere internationally; however, expansion of online and mobile gaming involves significant risks and uncertainties, including legal, business and financial risks. The success of online and mobile gaming and the Corporation's products and services may be affected by future developments in social networks, mobile platforms, regulatory developments, data and information privacy laws and other factors that the Corporation is unable to predict and are beyond its control. Consequently, the Corporation's future operating results relating to its online gaming products and services are difficult to predict, and Amaya cannot provide assurance that its products and services will grow at expected rates or be successful in the long term.

Additionally, the Corporation's ability to successfully pursue its online gaming strategy depends on the laws and regulations relating to wagering through interactive channels. In the United States, until recently, there was uncertainty as to whether the Federal Wire Act prohibited U.S. states from conducting intrastate lottery transactions via the Internet if the transmissions over the Internet during the transaction crossed state lines. In late 2011, the Office of Legal Counsel of the DOJ issued an opinion to the effect that state lottery ticket sales over the internet to in-state adults do not violate the Federal Wire Act. The opinion provided an impetus for states to authorize forms of online lottery or gaming in order to generate additional revenue. However, to the extent states wish to pursue online gaming, such states may be required or otherwise deem it advisable to enact enabling legislation or new regulations addressing the sale of lottery tickets or the offering of other forms of gaming through online channels, such as the actions taken by Delaware, Nevada and New Jersey to authorize various forms of online gaming.

Despite the 2011 DOJ opinion, there are still significant forces working to limit or prohibit online gaming in the United States. On February 4, 2015, Representative Jason Chaffetz introduced the Restoration of America's Wire Act ("RAWA") in the U.S. House of Representatives and on June 24, 2015 and September 21, 2016, Senator Lindsey Graham and Senator Tom Cotton, respectively, introduced similar legislation in the U.S. Senate. RAWA and its counterparts in the Senate failed to pass Congress in the 114th Session of Congress and therefore the legislation expired. As of mid-March 2017, RAWA had not been reintroduced in the current 115th Session of Congress. In January 2017, U.S. Attorney General Jeff Sessions also vowed to review the 2011 DOJ opinion. As proposed, RAWA would revise the Federal Wire Act to ban most forms of online gambling, including sports betting, online poker, online casino games, fantasy sports and other activities. The enactment of online gaming legislation that federalizes significant aspects of the regulation of online gaming and/or limits the forms of online wagering that are permissible could have an adverse impact on the Corporation's ability to pursue its interactive strategy in the United States.

Internationally, laws relating to online gaming are evolving, particularly in Europe. To varying degrees, a number of European governments have taken steps to change the regulation of online wagering through the implementation of new or revised licensing and taxation regimes, including the possible imposition of sanctions on unlicensed providers. The Corporation cannot predict the timing, scope or terms of any such state, federal or foreign laws and regulations, or the extent to which any such laws and regulations will facilitate or hinder its interactive strategy.

Moreover, new gaming laws or regulations, changes in existing gaming laws or regulations, new interpretations of existing gaming laws or regulations or changes in the manner in which existing laws and regulations are enforced, may hinder or prevent the Corporation from continuing to operate in those jurisdictions where it currently carries on business, including in jurisdictions where

the Corporation's products and services are available through its multi-jurisdictional licenses, which would harm its operating results and financial condition. For example, in 2016 the Company ceased offering real-money games to customers physically located in Slovenia due to a change in the regulatory environment in that jurisdiction. The Company also announced the potential cessation of the real-money online poker offering in Australia due to a proposed change in the regulatory landscape in that jurisdiction.

If the Corporation fails to comply with any existing or future laws or requirements, the regulators may take action against the Corporation which could ultimately include fines, the conditioning, suspension or revocation of approvals, registrations, permits or licenses and other disciplinary action. If the Corporation fails to adequately adjust to any such potential changes, its business, results of operations or financial condition could be harmed.

The Corporation's business is subject to complex and evolving domestic and foreign laws and regulations regarding the Internet, privacy, data protection, and other matters. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims, changes to the Corporation's business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in customer growth or engagement, or otherwise harm its business.

In addition to regulations governing online gaming, the Corporation is subject to a variety of laws and regulations domestically and abroad that involve the Internet, e-commerce, privacy and protection of personal information, rights of publicity, acceptable content, intellectual property, advertising, marketing, distribution, data and information security, electronic contracts and electronic communications, competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, unfair commercial practices, product liability, taxation, economic or other trade prohibitions or sanctions, securities law compliance, and online payment and payment processing services. The introduction of new products or expansion of the Corporation's activities in certain jurisdictions may subject it to additional laws and regulations. In addition, foreign data and information protection, privacy, and other laws and regulations can be more restrictive than those in the United States or Canada. For example, Amaya handles, collects and stores confidential, personal information relating to its customers for various business purposes, including marketing and financial purposes, and credit card information for processing payments. Amaya may share this personal or confidential information with vendors or other third parties in connection with processing of transactions, operating certain aspects of its business, combating fraud or for marketing purposes.

These laws, regulations and legislation, along with other applicable laws and regulations, which in some cases can be enforced by private parties or government entities, are constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. As a result, the application, interpretation, and enforcement of these laws and regulations, including pre-existing laws regulating communications and commerce in the context of the Internet and e-commerce, are often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly evolving industries in which the Corporation operates, and may be interpreted and applied inconsistently from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and inconsistently with its current policies and practices. Any regulatory or legislative action affecting the manner in which the Corporation displays content or provides its products to its customers could adversely affect customer growth and engagement, including by restricting or prohibiting the use of the Internet. In addition, foreign court judgments or regulatory actions could impact the Corporation's ability to transfer, process and/or receive information that is critical to its operations, including information relating to suppliers, partners or customers. Such judgments or actions could affect the manner in which the Corporation provides its products or services and adversely affect its financial results.

Proposed legislation and regulations could also significantly affect the business of the Corporation. There currently are a number of proposals pending before federal, state, and foreign legislative and regulatory bodies, including a new single framework for data and information protection regulation within the European Union which is expected to be implemented across its member states. This new regulation includes significant requirements for companies that (i) offer goods and services to residents within European Union member states; or (ii) monitor the behavior of residents within European Union member states. Such requirements are different than those currently in place in the European Union and include significant penalties for non-compliance. Similarly, there are a number of legislative proposals in the United States, at both the federal and state level, that could impose new obligations in areas affecting the Corporation's business, such as liability for copyright infringement by third parties. In addition, some jurisdictions are considering or have passed legislation implementing data and information protection requirements or requiring local storage and processing of data and information or similar requirements that could increase the cost and complexity of delivering the Corporation's services.

These existing and proposed laws and regulations, as well as any changes to such laws and any related inquiries, investigations, or actions, can be costly to comply with and can delay or impede the development of new products, result in negative publicity, increase the Corporation's operating costs, require significant management time and attention, and subject the Corporation to remedies that may harm its business, including fines or demands or orders that the Corporation modifies or ceases certain or all existing business practices, including limiting its use of personal information to add value for customers, or implement costly and burdensome compliance measures. Any such consequences could adversely affect the Corporation's business, results of operations or financial condition.

The Corporation has been subject to regulatory investigations and settlements and it expects to continue to be subject to such proceedings in the future, which could cause it to incur substantial costs or require it to change its business practices in a manner materially adverse to its business.

From time to time, the Corporation receives formal and informal inquiries from government authorities and regulators, including securities authorities, tax authorities and gaming regulators, regarding its compliance with laws and other matters. The Corporation expects to continue to be the subject of investigations and audits in the future as it continues to grow and expand its operations. Violation of existing or future regulatory orders or consent decrees could subject the Corporation to substantial monetary fines and other penalties that could negatively affect its financial condition and results of operations. In addition, it is possible that future orders issued by, or inquiries or enforcement actions initiated by, government or regulatory authorities could cause the Corporation to incur substantial costs, expose it to unanticipated civil and criminal liability or penalties, or require it to change its business practices in a manner materially adverse to its business. See also "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions".

Amaya's shareholders are subject to extensive governmental regulation, and if a shareholder is found unsuitable by a gaming authority, that shareholder would not be able to beneficially own the Corporation's Common Shares directly or indirectly.

In many jurisdictions, gaming laws can require any of the Corporation's shareholders to file an application, be investigated, and qualify or have his, her or its suitability determined by gaming authorities. Gaming authorities have very broad discretion in determining whether an applicant should be deemed suitable. Subject to certain administrative proceeding requirements, the gaming regulators have the authority to deny any application or limit, condition, restrict, revoke or suspend any license, registration, finding of suitability or approval, or fine any person licensed, registered or found suitable or approved, for any cause deemed reasonable by the gaming authorities.

Furthermore, any person found unsuitable by a gaming authority may not hold directly or indirectly ownership of any voting security or the beneficial or record ownership of any nonvoting security or any debt security of any public corporation which is registered with the relevant gaming authority beyond the time prescribed by the relevant gaming authority. A violation of the foregoing may constitute a criminal offense. A finding of unsuitability by a particular gaming authority impacts that person's ability to associate or affiliate with gaming licensees in that particular jurisdiction and could impact the person's ability to associate or affiliate with gaming licensees in other jurisdictions.

Many jurisdictions also require any person who acquires beneficial ownership of more than a certain percentage of voting securities of a gaming company and, in some jurisdictions, non-voting securities, typically 5%, to report the acquisition to gaming authorities, and gaming authorities may require such holders to apply for qualification or a finding of suitability, subject to limited exceptions for "institutional investors" that hold a company's voting securities for investment purposes only.

The Corporation's articles include certain provisions to ensure that the Corporation complies with applicable gaming regulations. These provisions provide, among other things, that the Corporation shall have the right, subject to the conditions set out in the gaming provisions share terms, to redeem Common Shares held by an unsuitable person. Such redemption rights may negatively affect the trading price of the Common Shares and may negatively affect the liquidity of the Common Shares.

Risks Related to the Corporation's Intellectual Property and Technology

Amaya's intellectual property may be insufficient to properly safeguard its technology and brands.

The Corporation holds patents, trademarks and other intellectual property rights. The Corporation has also applied for patent protection in the United States, Canada, Europe and other countries relating to certain existing and proposed processes, designs and methods and other product innovations. Patent applications can, however, take many years to issue and the Corporation can provide no assurance that any of these patents will be issued at all, particularly in light of a global shift towards not granting patents involving computer related inventions. If the Corporation is denied any or all of these patents, it may not be able to successfully prevent its competitors from imitating its products and services or using some or all of the processes that are the subject of such patent applications. Such imitation may lead to increased competition within the finite market for the Corporation's products and services. Even if pending patents are issued to the Corporation, its intellectual property rights may not be sufficiently comprehensive to prevent its competitors from developing similar competitive products and technologies or may be vulnerable to challenge due to it changing case law regarding the patentability of computer related inventions. The Corporation's success may also depend on its ability to obtain trademark protection for the names or symbols under which it markets its products and to obtain copyright protection and patent protection of its proprietary technologies, intellectual property and other game innovations and if the granted patents are challenged, protection may be lost. The Corporation may not be able to build and maintain goodwill in its trademarks or obtain trademark or patent protection, and there can be no assurance that any trademark, copyright or issued patent will provide competitive advantages for Amaya or that Amaya's intellectual property will not be successfully challenged or circumvented by competitors.

Source codes for Amaya's technology may also receive protection under international copyright laws. However, for many third parties who intend to use Amaya source codes without Amaya's consent, the presence of copyright protection in the source codes alone may not be enough of a deterrent to prevent such use. As such, Amaya may need to initiate legal proceedings following such use to obtain orders to prevent further use of the source code.

The Corporation also relies on trade secrets, ideas and proprietary know-how. Although the Corporation generally requires its employees and independent contractors to enter into confidentiality and intellectual property assignment agreements, it cannot be assured that the obligations therein will be maintained and honored. If these agreements are breached, it is unlikely that the remedies available to the Corporation will be sufficient to compensate it for the damages suffered even if the Corporation promptly applies for injunctive relief. In spite of confidentiality agreements and other methods of protecting trade secrets, the Corporation's proprietary information could become known to or independently developed by competitors. If the Corporation fails to adequately protect its intellectual property and confidential information, its business may be harmed and its liquidity and results of operations may be materially adversely impacted.

The Corporation may be subject to claims of intellectual property infringement or invalidity and adverse outcomes of litigation could unfavorably affect its operating results.

Monitoring infringement and misappropriation of intellectual property can be difficult and expensive, and the Corporation may not be able to detect infringement or misappropriation of its proprietary rights. Although the Corporation intends to aggressively pursue anyone who is reasonably believed to be infringing upon its intellectual property rights and who poses a significant commercial risk to the business, to protect and enforce its intellectual property rights, initiating and maintaining suits against such third parties will require substantial financial resources. The Corporation may not have the financial resources to bring such suits, and, if it does bring such suits, it may not prevail. Regardless of the Corporation's success in any such actions, the expenses and management distraction involved may have a material adverse effect on its financial position. A significant portion of the Corporation's revenues is generated from products using certain intellectual property rights, and Amaya's operating results would be negatively impacted if it was unsuccessful in licensing certain of those rights and/or protecting those rights from infringement, including losses of proprietary information from breaches of the Corporation's cybersecurity efforts.

If the registration and enforcement policies regarding the Corporation's intellectual property portfolios are inadequate to deter unauthorized use or appropriation by third parties, the value of the Corporation's brands and other intangible assets may be diminished and competitors may be able to more effectively mimic its brands, products, services, and methods of operations. Such events could have an adverse effect on the Corporation's business and financial results. At the same time, the Corporation has to be mindful of how it will be perceived by its customers and potential customers if it deploys an unduly strict enforcement policy; an overly aggressive position may deter its customers from supporting the brands and therefore damage not only the brands' reputation in the market place but also negatively impact financial results.

Further, the Corporation's competitors have been granted patents protecting various gaming products and services features, including systems, methods and designs. If the Corporation's products and services employ these processes, or other subject matter that is claimed under its competitors' patents, or if other companies obtain patents claiming subject matter that the Corporation uses, those companies may bring infringement actions against it. The question of whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often uncertain. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be applications now pending of which the Corporation is unaware, which might later result in issued patents that the Corporation's products and services may infringe. There can be no assurance that the Corporation's products, including those with currently pending patent applications, will not be determined to have infringed upon an existing third party patent. If any of the Corporation's products and services infringes a valid patent, the Corporation may be required to discontinue offering certain products or systems, pay damages, purchase a license to use the intellectual property in question from its owner, or redesign the product in question to avoid infringement. A license may not be available or may require Amaya to pay substantial royalties, which could in turn force Amaya to attempt to redesign the infringing product or to develop alternative technologies at a considerable expense. Additionally, the Corporation may not be successful in any attempt to redesign the infringing product or to develop alternative technologies, which could force the Corporation to withdraw its product or services from the market.

The Corporation may also infringe other intellectual property rights belonging to third parties, such as trademarks, copyrights and confidential information. As with patent litigation, the infringement of trademarks, copyrights and confidential information involve complex legal and factual issues and the Corporation's products, branding or associated marketing materials may be found to have infringed existing third party rights. When any third party infringement occurs, the Corporation may be required to stop using the infringing intellectual property rights, pay damages and, if it wishes to keep using the third party intellectual property, purchase a license or otherwise redesign the product, branding or associated marketing materials to avoid further infringement. Such a license may not be available or may require Amaya to pay substantial royalties.

It is also possible that the validity of any of Amaya's intellectual property rights might be challenged either in standalone proceedings or as part of infringement claims. There can be no assurance that Amaya's intellectual property rights will withstand an invalidity claim and, if declared invalid, the protection afforded to the product, branding or marketing material will be lost.

Moreover, the future interpretation of intellectual property law regarding the validity of intellectual property by governmental agencies or courts in Canada, Europe, the United States or other jurisdictions in which Amaya has rights could negatively affect the validity or enforceability of the Corporation's current or future intellectual property. This could have multiple negative impacts including, without limitation, the marketability of, or anticipated revenue from, certain of Amaya's products. Additionally, due to the differences in foreign patent, trademark, trade dress, copyright and other laws concerning proprietary rights, the Corporation's intellectual property may not receive the same degree of protection in foreign countries as it would in Canada, Europe or the United States. The Corporation's failure to possess, obtain or maintain adequate protection of its intellectual property rights for any reason in these jurisdictions could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.

Furthermore, infringement and other intellectual property claims, with or without merit, can be expensive and time-consuming to litigate, and the Corporation may not have the financial and human resources to defend itself against any infringement suits that may be brought against Amaya. Litigation can also distract management from day-to-day operations of the business.

In addition, the Corporation's business is dependent in part on the intellectual property of third parties. For example, the Corporation licenses trademarks and other intellectual property from third parties for use in its gaming products. The future success of the Corporation may depend upon its ability to obtain licenses to use new marks and its ability to retain or expand existing licenses for certain products. If the Corporation is unable to obtain new licenses or renew or expand existing licenses, it may be required to discontinue or limit its use of such products that use the licensed marks and its financial condition, operating results or prospects may be harmed.

Compromises of the Corporation's systems, manipulation of its products or services, or unauthorized access to its confidential information or data, or its customers' personal information or data, could materially harm Amaya's reputation and business.

Amaya assesses and monitors the security of its systems as well as the collection, storage and transmission of customer information on an ongoing basis. See also "Business of the Corporation - Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development". However, Amaya's business is prone to cyberattacks. Cyber-attacks may be carried out by third parties or insiders using techniques that range from highly sophisticated efforts to electronically circumvent network security or overwhelm websites to more traditional intelligence gathering and social engineering aimed at obtaining information necessary to gain access. These third parties often seek unauthorized access to the Corporation's confidential information or data or its customers' personal information or data, or to maliciously overwhelm the Corporation's services which could result in prolonged outages during which customers would not be able to use the Corporation's products or services. Any failure to prevent or mitigate security breaches and improper access to or disclosure of the Corporation's data or user information could result in the loss or misuse, including fraudulent manipulation, of such data or information, which could harm the Corporation's business and reputation and diminish its competitive position. In addition, computer malware, viruses, denial-of-service, and hacking, phishing and similar attacks by third parties have become more prevalent in the Corporation's industries. Although the Corporation has not experienced attacks that have resulted in a material adverse effect on the Corporation, such as a materially prolonged service outage or the compromise of a material amount of company or personal data, attacks have occurred on its systems in the past, most commonly distributed denial of service attacks, and may occur on its systems in the future. As a result of the Corporation's prominence in the industries in which it operates, particularly in online gaming, and large customer base who provide personal information to create real-money accounts, the Corporation believes that it is a particularly attractive target for such breaches and attacks. Such attacks may cause, among other things, (i) interruptions to the products and services the Corporation provides which could lead to lost revenues and confidence, (ii) compromises of confidential customer or employee information, (iii) unauthorized access to proprietary or sensitive information, (iv) devaluation of the Corporation's intellectual property, (v) increased expenditures on data and information security and remediation costs, (vi) destruction or corruption of data, (vii) theft of financial assets, (viii) litigation, fines, liability, disciplinary action or investigations by customers (for lost deposits, wagers, personal information, or otherwise) or applicable regulatory authorities, as applicable, (ix) other regulatory scrutiny, (x) increased insurance premiums, (xi) reputational and competitive harm as a result of negative customer experiences, including as a result of the foregoing, and (xii) a negative impact on the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting. The Corporation's efforts to protect its products and services, and company and customer data and information may also be unsuccessful due to software bugs or other technical malfunctions, employee error or malfeasance, government surveillance, break-ins or theft, third-party security breaches, or other factors, such as casualty loss. In addition, third parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees or customers to, or the Corporation's employees or customers themselves may, disclose information in order to gain access to the Corporation's data or its customers' information and potentially use such data or information improperly. Although the Corporation believes it and its internal information security group are adequately prepared and have developed systems and processes that are designed to prevent or hinder cyber-attacks and protect its systems, data and customer information and to prevent outages, data or information loss, fraud

and other security breaches, including, without limitation, a disaster recovery strategy for server and equipment failure and back office systems and the use of third parties for certain cyber security services, the Corporation cannot assure investors that such measures will provide absolute security. Disruptions from unauthorized access to, fraudulent manipulation of, or tampering with the Corporation's computer systems and technological infrastructure, or those of third parties Amaya utilizes, in any such event could result in a wide range of negative outcomes, including those outcomes listed above, each of which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, operating results and financial condition.

The Corporation also provides limited information to certain third parties based on the scope of services provided to it. However, if these third parties or developers fail to adopt or adhere to adequate data and information security practices, or in the event of a breach of their networks, the Corporation's customers' information may be improperly accessed, used, or disclosed.

Any loss, disclosure or misappropriation of, or access to, customers' or other proprietary information or other breach of Amaya's information security could result in legal claims or legal proceedings, including regulatory investigations and actions, or liability for failure to comply with privacy and information security laws, including for failure to protect personal information or for misusing personal information, which could disrupt Amaya's operations, force it to modify its business practices, damage its reputation and expose it to claims from its customers, financial institutions, regulators, payment card associations, employees and other persons, any of which could have an adverse effect on Amaya's business, financial condition and operations.

In addition, Amaya's customers may attempt or commit fraud or cheat in order to increase winnings. Acts of fraud or cheating may involve various tactics, possibly in collusion with employees or other customers of the Corporation. Internal acts of cheating could also be conducted by employees through collusion with programmers and other personnel. See also "Business of the Corporation - Technology Infrastructure and Research and Development". Failure to discover such acts or schemes in a timely manner could result in losses in Amaya's operations. In addition, negative publicity related to such schemes could have an adverse effect on Amaya's reputation, potentially causing a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The Corporation's business is dependent on its ability to maintain and scale its technical infrastructure, and any significant disruption in its service, including service interruptions of Internet and other technology service providers, could damage its reputation, result in a potential loss of customers and engagement, and adversely affect its financial results.

The Corporation's reputation and ability to attract, retain, and serve its customers is dependent upon the reliable performance of its products and its underlying technical infrastructure. The Corporation's systems may not be adequately designed with the necessary reliability and redundancy to avoid performance delays or outages that could be harmful to its business. If the products of the Corporation are unavailable when customers attempt to access them, or if they do not load as quickly as expected, customers may not use such products as often in the future, or at all. If the Corporation's customer base and engagement continue to grow, and the amount and types of products and services continue to grow and evolve, the Corporation will need an increasing amount of technical infrastructure, including network capacity and computing power, to continue to satisfy the needs of its customers. Such infrastructure expansion may be complex, and unanticipated delays in the completion of these projects or availability of components may lead to increased project costs, operational inefficiencies, or interruptions in the delivery or degradation of the quality of the Corporation's products. In addition, there may be issues related to this infrastructure that are not identified during the testing phases of design and implementation, which may only become evident after the Corporation has started to fully utilize the underlying equipment or software, that could further degrade the customer experience or increase the Corporation's costs. As such, it is possible that the Corporation may fail to effectively scale and grow its technical infrastructure to accommodate increased demands. In addition, the business of the Corporation may be subject to interruptions, delays, or failures resulting from earthquakes, adverse weather conditions, other natural disasters, power loss, terrorism, or other catastrophic events. If such an event were to occur, customers may be subject to service disruptions or outages and the Corporation may not b

A substantial portion of the Corporation's network infrastructure is provided by third parties, including Internet service providers and other technology-based service providers. If Internet service providers experience service interruptions, communications over the Internet may be interrupted and impair the Corporation's ability to carry on business. In addition, the Corporation's ability to process e-commerce transactions depends on bank processing and credit card systems. In order to prepare for system problems, the Corporation continuously seeks to strengthen and enhance its current facilities and the capability of its system infrastructure and support. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the Internet infrastructure or the Corporation's own network systems will continue to be able to meet the demand placed on it by the continued growth of the Internet, the overall online gaming and interactive entertainment industries and the Corporation's customers. Any difficulties these providers face may adversely affect the Corporation's business, and the Corporation exercises little control over these providers, which increases its vulnerability to problems with the services they provide. Any system failure as a result of reliance on third parties, including network, software or hardware failure, which causes a delay or interruption in the Corporation's online services and products and e-commerce services,

including its ability to handle existing or increased traffic, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, revenues, operating results and financial condition.

The Corporation may experience losses due to technical problems with its products, services or internal systems.

The Corporation's products and internal systems rely on software, including software developed or maintained internally and/or by third parties, that is highly technical and complex. In addition, the Corporation's products and internal systems depend on the ability of such software to store, retrieve, process, and manage immense amounts of data and information. The software on which the Corporation relies has contained, and may now or in the future contain, undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities. Some errors may only be discovered after the code has been released for external or internal use. Errors or other design defects within the software on which the Corporation relies may result in a negative experience for its customers, delay product introductions or enhancements, result in measurement or processing errors, or compromise its ability to protect the information of its customers and/or its intellectual property. Any errors, bugs, or defects discovered in the software on which the Corporation relies could result in damage to its reputation, loss of customers, loss of revenue, liability for damages, impairment of its ability to offer its products in the future, and/or delays in releases of its products or product enhancements, any of which could adversely affect its business and financial results.

Furthermore, the costs incurred in correcting any product or service defects or errors may be substantial and could adversely affect the Corporation's operating margins. There can be no assurance that the Corporation's efforts to monitor, develop, modify and implement appropriate test and processes for the Corporation's products or services will be sufficient to permit it to avoid a rate of failure in its products or services that results in substantial delays, significant repair or replacement costs or potential damage to its reputation, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Corporation may also be subject to claims that its products or services are defective or that some function or malfunction of its products caused or contributed to damages. The Corporation attempts to minimize this risk by incorporating provisions into its standard agreements and terms and conditions of use that are designed to limit the Corporation's exposure to potential claims of liability, in addition to maintaining applicable liability insurance policies. However, there can be assurance that all claims will be barred by the contractual provisions and terms and conditions of use limiting liability or that the provisions will be enforceable. The Corporation may be liable for an unforeseen failures or damages regarding the use of its products or services. A significant liability claim against the Corporation could have a materially adverse effect on its operating results and financial position.

Risks Related to the Corporation's Common Shares

The price and trading volume of the Common Shares has been and will likely continue to be volatile.

The market price of the Common Shares has been and will likely continue to be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, the trading volume of the Common Shares will likely continue to fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. Volatility in the market price of the Common Shares may prevent a holder of Common Shares from being able to sell their shares. In addition to the factors discussed in this annual information form, the market price for the Common Shares could fluctuate significantly for various reasons, many of which are beyond the Corporation's control, including:

- the Corporation's operating and financial performance;
- the Corporation's quarterly or annual earnings and key operational, financial and customer measures and metrics or those of other companies in the Corporation's industries;
- conditions that impact demand for the Corporation's products and services;
- the public's reaction to the Corporation's press releases, other public announcements and filings with securities authorities;
- changes in earnings estimates, recommendations or expectations by securities analysts who track the Common Shares, or failure to meet such estimates, recommendations or expectations;
- market and industry perception of the Corporation's success, or lack thereof, in pursuing its growth strategy;
- investor sentiment with respect to the Corporation's competitors, business partners and its industries in general;
- changes in stock market valuations of companies in the industries in which the Corporation operates;
- substantial "short" positions in the Corporation's Common Shares and other hedging activities by investors from which they would benefit from declines in the market price of its Common Shares;

- inclusion or removal of the Corporation's Common Shares from any trading indices;
- strategic actions by the Corporation or its competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;
- changes in government regulation, including the regulation of online gaming and additional or increased taxes or duties;
- changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;
- lawsuits threatened or filed and regulatory investigations or actions threatened or taken against the Corporation;
- changes and other developments in anticipated or new legislation and pending lawsuits or regulatory actions, including interim or final rulings by tax, judicial or regulatory bodies;
- arrival and departure of key personnel;
- changes in the Corporation's capital structure;
- sale of Common Shares by the Corporation or by members of the management team;
- changes in general market, economic and political conditions in domestic and foreign economies or financial markets, including fluctuation in stock markets resulting from, among other things, trends in the economy as whole; and
- other events or factors, including those resulting from war, natural disasters or incidents of terrorism, or responses to those events.

In addition, in recent years, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in the gaming industry. The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of the affected companies. Hence, the price of the Common Shares could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with the Corporation, and these fluctuations could materially reduce the Common Share price.

The Corporation's Common Shares rank junior to the Preferred Shares with respect to amounts payable in the event of a liquidation.

The Common Shares rank junior to the Preferred Shares with respect to amounts payable in the event of its liquidation, dissolution or winding-up. If the Corporation voluntarily or involuntarily liquidates, dissolves or winds-up, no distribution of its assets may be made to holders of Common Shares until the Corporation has paid to holders of the Preferred Shares a liquidation preference. For additional information regarding the Preferred Shares, see "Description of Capital Structure—Preferred Shares" below.

Certain provisions of the Preferred Shares could delay or prevent an otherwise beneficial takeover attempt of Amaya and, therefore, the ability of holders to exercise their rights associated with a potential fundamental change.

Certain provisions of the Preferred Shares could make it more difficult or more expensive for a third party to acquire the Corporation. For example, if a fundamental change were to occur, holders of the Preferred Shares may have the right to convert their Preferred Shares, in whole or in part, at an increased conversion rate and will also be entitled to receive a fundamental change make-whole amount. These features of the Preferred Shares could increase the cost of acquiring the Corporation or otherwise discourage a third party from acquiring it. For additional information regarding the Preferred Shares, see "Description of Capital Structure—Preferred Shares" below.

The Corporation's advance notice bylaws may prevent attempts by its shareholders to replace or remove its current management.

Provisions in the Corporation's bylaws may frustrate or prevent any attempts by the Corporation's shareholders to replace or remove current management by making it more difficult for shareholders to remove Amaya's directors. These charter provisions could make the removal of management more difficult. Furthermore, the existence of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for Common Shares. They could also deter potential acquisitions of the Corporation, thereby reducing the likelihood that shareholders could receive a premium for Common Shares in an acquisition.

Future sales, the possibility of future sales, or "short" positions in a substantial amount of the Corporation's Common Shares may depress the price of its Common Shares.

Future sales, the possibility of future sales, or "short" positions in a substantial amount of the Corporation's Common Shares in the public market could adversely affect the prevailing market price of the Common Shares and could impair Amaya's ability to raise capital through future sales of equity securities. The Corporation cannot predict future sales, the possibility of future sales, or "short"

positions, or the effect, if any, that any of the same may have on the market price of its Common Shares. Sales of substantial amounts of Common Shares (including Common Shares issued in connection with an acquisition), or the perception that such sales could occur, and substantial "short" positions may adversely affect prevailing market prices for Common Share.

The Corporation does not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

The Corporation has never declared or paid cash dividends and has no present plans to pay cash dividends to its shareholders and, for the foreseeable future, intends to retain all of its earnings for use in its business. The declaration of any future dividends by the Corporation is within the discretion of the Board and will depend on the Corporation's earnings, financial condition and capital requirements, as well as any other factors deemed relevant by the Board.

Based on publicly available information as of the date hereof, certain shareholders, each individually and collectively, own a significant amount of the Corporation's shares on a fully diluted basis and may be able to exert influence over matters requiring shareholder approval.

As of mid-March 2017 and based on publicly available information, GSO, Caledonia (Private) Investments Pty Limited, BlackRock, David Baazov and Odey Asset Management LLP (including through their respective affiliated funds managed or advised by them, as applicable), beneficially owned or had control over 21.2%, 12.2%, 10.0%, 8.2% and 5.6%, respectively, of Amaya's outstanding shares on a fully-diluted basis. As a result, each individually and collectively may be able to exercise significant influence over any matter requiring shareholder approval in the future.

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

The Corporation has never declared or paid any dividend or any other distribution. The Corporation currently intends to retain any future earnings to fund the development and growth of its business and does not anticipate paying any dividend or distribution in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends or distributions will be at the discretion of the Board and will depend upon many factors, including, without limitation, the Corporation's results of operations, capital requirements and other factors as the Board may deem relevant, as well as any restrictions under its articles or applicable law.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As of March 20, 2017, Amaya's authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares and 1,139,356 Preferred Shares. As of the same date, the Corporation had a total of 145,772,027 Common Shares issued and outstanding, 1,139,249 Preferred Shares issued and outstanding and convertible into 55,029,243 Common Shares as of such date, 9,672,325 options issued under the Corporation's stock option and equity incentive plans and exercisable for the same number of Common Shares, of which 5,122,925 were exercisable, and 4,000,000 Common Share purchase warrants issued and outstanding and exercisable for the same number of Common Shares. For more information on Amaya's issued and outstanding warrants, see the 2016 Annual MD&A and the 2016 Annual Financial Statements. For more information on Amaya's issued and outstanding stock options, and its stock option and equity incentive plans, see "Market for Securities – Issuances of Securities", the 2016 Annual MD&A, the 2016 Annual Financial Statements, and the Corporation's management information circular for the most recent annual meeting of shareholders of the Corporation, each of which is available on SEDAR at www.seclar.com and Edgar at www.sec.gov.

Common Shares

Each Common Share entitles its holder to notice of, and to one vote on, all matters submitted to Amaya's shareholders for their consideration. The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive, after payment of the full dividend on any Preferred Shares, non-cumulative annual dividends if, as and when declared by the Board. There are no fixed dates or time limits on payment of dividends on Common Shares of the Corporation. Holders of Common Shares do not have any pre-emptive rights or other rights to subscribe for additional shares, or any conversion rights. In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation, the net assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its shareholders will be distributed ratably among the holders of the Common Shares, subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions of the Corporation's then issued and outstanding Preferred Shares.

Certain gaming provisions in the Corporation's articles facilitate compliance with applicable gaming regulations (the "Gaming Provisions"). The Gaming Provisions protect the Corporation from the consequences of having a shareholder whose ownership of Common Shares or whose failure to make an application to seek licensure or suitability review from, or otherwise comply with the requirements of, a gaming regulatory authority (an "Unsuitable Person") may result in the loss, suspension or revocation (or similar action) of any license, permit, authorization, waiver or other gaming regulatory approval held by the Corporation, or the denial of any license, permit, authorization, waiver or other gaming regulatory approval sought by the Corporation. The Gaming Provisions provide

the Corporation with a right to redeem all Common Shares held by an Unsuitable Person at a redemption price determined pursuant to a written valuation and fairness opinion from an investment banking firm of nationally recognized standing in the United States. The Gaming Provisions require individuals who plan, either on their own or as part of a group acting in concert, to acquire or dispose of 5% or more of Common Shares to provide advance written notice to the Corporation prior to effecting such an acquisition or disposition. Notwithstanding the Gaming Provisions, the Corporation may not be able to exercise its redemption rights in full or at all. Under the QBCA, a corporation may not make any payment to redeem shares if the payment would cause the corporation to be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or if making the payment would cause the corporation to be unable to pay, when due, the entire redemption price of its redeemable shares. Furthermore, Amaya may become subject to contractual restrictions on its ability to redeem its shares by, for example, entering into a secured credit facility subject to such restrictions.

The foregoing description of the terms of the Common Shares does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the articles and general by-laws of the Corporation, each of which is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and Edgar at www.sec.gov.

Preferred Shares

In connection with the Preferred Share Financing, the Corporation issued \$1.05 billion of Preferred Shares on August 1, 2014. The Preferred Shares were issued at an offering price of CDN\$1,000.00 per Preferred Share. Each Preferred Share is convertible at the holder's option at any time in whole or in part, initially into 41.67 Common Shares (the "Conversion Ratio"), based on an initial conversion price of CDN\$24.00 per Common Share (the "Initial Conversion Price"), subject to adjustments. The Preferred Shares rank senior to the Common Shares in receiving payment of their liquidation preference (which is initially CDN\$1,000.00 per Preferred Share, subject to adjustments to the Conversion Ratio) upon the liquidation, winding up or dissolution of the Corporation or in any other distribution of substantially all of its assets (a "Liquidation"). The Preferred Shares are not entitled to receive dividends and have no voting rights (or any related notice rights, including notice of shareholder meetings) except with respect to amendments to the terms of the Preferred Shares or as otherwise required under applicable laws. The Conversion Ratio, representing the number of Common Shares that will be issued to a holder of Preferred Shares for each Preferred Share upon exercise of the conversion right, will be adjusted each February 1 and August 1 by multiplying the Conversion Ratio then in effect immediately prior to such adjustment by 1.03. Based on the Initial Conversion Price and Conversion Ratio, as adjusted through the date hereof such that the current Conversion Ratio is equal to 48.3031, approximately 55,029,243 Common Shares would be issuable upon the conversion of all of the Preferred Shares as of the date hereof.

Amaya cannot force a mandatory conversion of the Preferred Shares until August 1, 2017. Thereafter, Amaya may give notice to holders of Preferred Shares to force conversion (in whole or in part under certain circumstances) if the following two conditions are satisfied: (i) the closing share price of the Common Shares has been in excess of 175% of the Initial Conversion Price on any 20 trading days within a 30 consecutive day period, and (ii) except in certain circumstances, the average daily volume on any 20 trading days within the 30 consecutive day period referred to above was at least 1.75 million Common Shares. Any mandatory conversion will also be subject to specified regulatory and consent conditions.

The Preferred Shares also contain anti-dilution Conversion Ratio adjustments for certain dividends or distributions (cash, shares or otherwise), share splits, share combinations, below market equity issuances or rights, options or warrant issuance, tender offer or exchange offer payments, and reorganization events. In addition, upon a "fundamental change", additional Common Shares may be issuable to holders of Preferred Shares as a premium. Fundamental change events include:

- a person or group (other than Amaya, its subsidiaries, GSO, BlackRock or any owner of 10% or more of the Common Shares as of August 1, 2014) becoming the beneficial owner of more than 50% of voting power for the election of Amaya's directors;
- the consummation of a (i) recapitalization in which Common Shares are converted into or exchanged for other securities or assets; (ii) share exchange or merger in which Common Shares convert into cash, securities, other property; or (iii) sale, lease or other transfer of all or substantially all of Amaya's assets to a third party (other than an Amaya subsidiary);
- the Common Shares being delisted from any of the TSX, New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), NASDAQ Stock Market ("NASDAQ") or LSE, if then listed on any such exchange; or
- Amaya's shareholders approving a Liquidation.

Under the terms of the Preferred Shares, for so long as each of GSO and BlackRock holds 50% or more of the Preferred Shares issued to it on August 1, 2014, Amaya undertakes:

- not to incur indebtedness unless (i) the ratio of Consolidated Net Debt to LTM EBITDA (as each term is defined in the Preferred Share terms) would be 6.7 to 1 or less on a pro forma basis, or (ii) such indebtedness is Permitted Debt (as defined in the Preferred Share terms);
- not to issue equity securities ranking equal or superior to the Preferred Shares;
- not to make acquisitions that (i) individually exceed \$250 million, or (ii) from August 1, 2014, total \$500 million or more (subject to specified ordinary course of business and consent exceptions);
- (i) not to require a mandatory conversion of Preferred Shares if such mandatory conversion would require a regulatory filing or waiver for any holder of Preferred Shares in excess of that required for an institutional investor waiver in the State of New Jersey, and (ii) to notify GSO and BlackRock in writing at least 60 days prior to any action that will require a regulatory filing or waiver for any holder of Preferred Shares in excess of that required for an institutional investor waiver in New Jersey;
- to cooperate with holders of Preferred Shares in connection with anti-trust or competition filings relating to their investment in Amaya and/or conversion of Preferred Shares;
- to maintain the listing of the Common Shares on the NASDAQ; and
- to comply with Amaya's continuous disclosure requirements and provisions of the Registration Rights Agreements.

If Amaya fails to comply with these undertakings, the Conversion Ratio may be increased between a range of 2% and 6% per annum, depending on which undertaking is breached, for each year in which the breach occurs.

To create any additional class or series of preferred shares, the Corporation must, among other things, comply with the terms of the Preferred Shares and amend its articles, and such amendment will be subject to shareholder approval.

The foregoing description of the terms of the Preferred Shares does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the articles of the Corporation, which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and Edgar at www.sec.gov.

2013 Debentures

In February 2013, Amaya closed a private placement of units (the "February 2013 Units"), originally announced on January 17, 2013, at a price of CDN\$1,000.00 per unit, for aggregate gross proceeds of CDN\$30 million. The net proceeds were used for Amaya's working capital and general corporate purposes. Each February 2013 Unit consisted of: (i) CDN\$1,000.00 principal amount of 7.5% unsecured non-convertible subordinated debentures (the "2013 Debentures"); and (ii) 48 Common Share purchase warrants (each, a "2016 Warrant") with an exercise price of CDN\$6.25 per Common Share. Amaya repaid the 2013 Debentures in full for approximately \$30 million on February 1, 2016 (the first business day following the date of maturity on January 31, 2016) and all remaining unexercised 2016 Warrants expired on the same date. As of the date hereof, the 2013 Debentures have been retired, and the Corporation has no further obligations under or with respect to the same.

MARKET FOR SECURITIES

Trading Price and Volume

On October 1, 2013, Amaya's Common Shares began trading on the TSX. On September 22, 2014, Amaya was added to the S&P/TSX Composite Index, and on June 8, 2015, the Common Shares began trading on NASDAQ. The Common Shares trade on the TSX and NASDAQ under the symbol "AYA". Although the 2016 Warrants, 2013 Debentures and certain other warrants issued in connection with the offering of certain convertible debentures in 2012, but which expired (to the extent unexercised) on April 30, 2015 (the "2015 Warrants"), previously traded on the TSX, as of the date of this annual information form, only the Common Shares are publicly traded. The 2015 Warrants, 2016 Warrants and 2013 Debentures were previously listed for trading on the TSX under the trading symbols "AYA.WT", "AYA.WT.A" and "AYA.DB.A", respectively, until their delisting.

The following table sets out the high and low prices and total trading volume of the Common Shares as reported by the TSX and NASDAQ for each month of the year ended December 31, 2016.

	Common Shares - TSX			Common Shares – NASDAQ		
	Price R (CDN			Price R (USS		
Month	High	Low	Total Volume	High	Low	Total Volume
December 2016	19.91	17.88	4,635,627	14.85	13.35	2,791,337
November 2016	21.69	17.07	14,655,053	16.00	12.85	6,831,295
October 2016	23.41	17.53	7,511,635	17.50	13.25	5,951,442
September 2016	21.39	19.50	3,505,948	16.31	14.89	2,356,548
August 2016	22.50	18.69	7,838,305	17.57	14.26	4,061,919
July 2016	21.52	19.09	5,055,557	16.61	14.65	2,291,730
June 2016	20.13	18.04	4,948,645	15.74	13.81	2,220,310
May 2016	19.55	15.47	7,885,082	15.31	12.00	3,628,531
April 2016	18.25	15.55	7,171,809	13.98	12.06	2,841,554
March 2016	21.82	13.71	21,143,739	16.29	10.30	5,778,474
February 2016	19.82	17.00	18,087,714	14.64	12.15	6,278,635
January 2016	17.43	13.73	10,154,761	12.54	9.67	2,740,233

The following table sets out the high and low prices and total trading volume of the 2016 Warrants, as reported by the TSX for each month of the year ended December 31, 2016. The remaining unexercised 2016 Warrants expired as of the close of trading on February 1, 2016 and were simultaneously delisted from the TSX.

Month	High (CDN\$)	Low (CDN\$)	Total Volume
February 2016 (expired on February 1, 2016)	-	-	0
January 2016	11.05	8.07	79,454

The following table sets out the high and low prices and trading volume of the 2013 Debentures, as reported by the TSX for each month of the year ended December 31, 2016. The 2013 Debentures matured on January 31, 2016, were repaid in full on February 1, 2016 (the first business day following the date of maturity) and were simultaneously delisted from the TSX.

Month	High (CDN\$)	Low (CDN\$)	Total Volume
January 2016	100.01	99.80	713,000

Issuances of Securities

For information regarding options and warrants to purchase Common Shares and Common Shares issued or issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants, see the notes to the 2016 Annual Financial Statements. Amaya did not otherwise issue any class of securities of Amaya that is not listed or quoted on a marketplace during the year ended December 31, 2016.

2015 NCIB

On February 13, 2015, the TSX approved the Corporation's notice of intention to make a normal course issuer bid ("2015 NCIB") to purchase for cancellation up to 6,644,737 Common Shares, representing approximately 5% of Amaya's issued and outstanding Common Shares as of January 26, 2015. The Corporation was permitted to purchase the Common Shares at prevailing market prices and by means of open market transactions through the facilities of the TSX or by such other means as permitted by the TSX rules and policies. The 2015 NCIB terminated on February 17, 2016. The Corporation purchased and cancelled an aggregate of 1,455,300 Common Shares pursuant to the 2015 NCIB for an aggregate purchase price of approximately CDN\$45.5 million. Amaya made the 2015 NCIB because it believed that, from time to time, the prevailing market price of its Common Shares did not reflect the underlying value of the Corporation, and that purchasing Common Shares for cancellation would increase the proportionate interest of, and be advantageous to, all remaining shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth, for each of the Corporation's directors and executive officers as of the date hereof, the person's name, place of residence, positions within the Corporation, principal occupation and, if a director, the day, month and year on which the person became a director. Directors are elected at each annual shareholders meeting for a term that expires on the date of the Corporation's next annual shareholders meeting or until his or her successor is duly elected, unless prior thereto the director resigns or otherwise vacates office. As of the date of this annual information form, all directors are "independent" under applicable securities laws and exchange rules.

Name of Directors and Executive Officers	Position in the Corporation	Principal Occupation	Director Since	Common Shares, Directly or Indirectly, Beneficially Owned(1)
Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada	Chairman of the Board(2)	President of Atiga Investments Inc. (investment firm) and Director of spud.ca (online home delivery service for organic groceries)	May 11, 2010	42,500
Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi, Onchan, Isle of Man	Chief Executive Officer	Chief Executive Officer of Amaya Inc. and Rational Group	n/a	29,360
Daniel Sebag Montréal, Québec, Canada	Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer(4)	Chief Financial Officer, Amaya Inc.	May 11, 2010	350,000
Alfred F. Hurley, Jr., New York, New York, USA	Director and Chairman of the Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee(2) (3)	Sole member of Alfred F. Hurley, Jr. & Company, LLC (consulting firm)	June 28, 2016	nil
David Lazzarato, Toronto, Ontario, Canada	Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee(3)	Media and broadcast industry consultant	June 28, 2016	nil
Harlan Goodson Sacramento, California, USA	Director(2)(3)	Attorney, The Law Office of Harlan W. Goodson (law firm)	May 11, 2010	5,571
Dr. Aubrey Zidenberg Toronto, Ontario, Canada	Director	President and Chief Executive Officer, Casino Amusements Canada	July 30, 2014	nil
Gen. Wesley K. Clark Little Rock, Arkansas, USA	Director	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Wesley K. Clark & Associates, LLC (strategic consulting firm)	May 11, 2010	15,000
Marlon D. Goldstein Miami, Florida, USA	Executive Vice-President, Corporate Development & General Counsel and Secretary	Executive Vice-President, Corporate Development & General Counsel, Amaya Inc.	n/a	18,100

- (1) The information as to the number of Common Shares beneficially owned or over which control is exercised is provided to the best of the knowledge of the Corporation based on publicly available information, as of March 22, 2017.
- (2) Member of the Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee.
- (3) Member of the Audit Committee.
- (4) On January 20, 2017, the Corporation announced that Mr. Sebag will retire as Chief Financial Officer later this year once his successor is identified and appointed, and will assist the Corporation in ensuring an orderly transition of his duties.

Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia, CPA, C.A., ICD.D

Mr. Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia, 54, is the Chairman of Amaya's Board and was appointed as such in June 2016. He served as the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Chairman of Gateway Casinos & Entertainment Limited from 1992 until 2010, where he was responsible for strategic initiatives, regulatory matters and governmental relations. He has served as a director of a number of other private and public companies, as well as charities, including a director of the Canadian Gaming Association from 2005 to 2010, and currently serves as a director of Gateway Casinos & Entertainment Limited and Trian Equities. In 2009, Mr. Gadhia was awarded the Canadian Gaming News Outstanding Achievement Award and was previously awarded the Business in Vancouver's Top 40 Under 40 Award. Since 2010, Mr. Gadhia is the President of Atiga Investments Inc., an investment firm focused on consumer products, and a director of Spud.ca, an online home delivery service for organic groceries. Mr. Gadhia is a Chartered Public Accountant, a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors and holds a business degree from Simon Fraser University.

Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi

Mr. Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi, 42, currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer of Amaya and is responsible for devising and implementing its business plan and strategies. Mr. Ashkenazi is also the Chief Executive Officer for Amaya's operating business, Rational Group, and is responsible for the performance and strategy of its offerings, including *PokerStars* and related brands. Mr. Ashkenazi, who initially joined Rational Group in January 2013 as Chief Operating Officer, is an experienced gaming industry executive who previously served as Chief Operating Officer of Playtech plc (LSE: PTEC), a global gaming software development company, from January 2006 to January 2010 and then from September 2011 to January 2013, and as a member of the board of directors of Playtech from March 2006 to January 2010. From January 2010 to September 2011, Mr. Ashkenazi served as Vice President of Business Operations of Playtech. He was appointed Senior Vice President of Strategy for Amaya in April 2015, Chief Executive Officer of Rational Group in November 2015, Interim Chief Executive Officer of Amaya in March 2016 and then permanent Chief Executive Officer of Amaya in November 2016. Mr. Ashkenazi graduated with honors from Shenkar College in Israel where he earned a B.A. in Industrial Engineering.

Daniel Sebag, C.A.

Mr. Daniel Sebag, 52, joined Amaya in July 2007 as Chief Financial Officer and is the current Treasurer of Amaya. Mr. Sebag is a Chartered Accountant and specializes in the areas of cost management and financial reporting systems. He currently oversees the Corporation's financial reporting and treasury functions. Between 1999 and 2007, Mr. Sebag was a faculty lecturer at McGill University in Montreal, Québec, Canada where he led executive seminars in accounting and finance at its International Executive Institute, including the Directors Education Program and the Advanced Management Course. He has also taught advanced accounting courses to students in the McGill University MBA and Chartered Accountancy programs. From 1993 to 2007, Mr. Sebag served as a financial, accounting and information systems consultant to several multinational companies, including Bombardier, Ericsson, Transat AT and Air Liquide. Mr. Sebag earned a Bachelor's of Science degree in Psychology from McGill University in 1987 and a Specialized Graduate Diploma in Accounting from McGill University in 1991.

Alfred F. Hurley, Jr.

Mr. Alfred F. Hurley, Jr., 62, is a current director and Chairman of the Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee, and has been a director of New Mountain Finance Corporation, an NYSE-listed business development company ("NMFC"), since 2010. He is the Chairman of NMFC's Nomination and Governance and Compensation Committees and a member of its Audit and Valuation Committees. Mr. Hurley has also been a director of Merrill Corporation, which is a privately held company that provides outsourced solutions for complex, regulated and confidential business information since 2013. He serves as Chairman of Merrill's Compensation and Governance and Human Resources Committee and as a member of the Audit Committee. Since February 2014, Mr. Hurley has been the sole member of a consulting business, Alfred F. Hurley, Jr. & Company, LLC. He was Vice Chairman of Emigrant Bank and Emigrant Bancorp (collectively, the "Bank") from 2007 and 2009, respectively, to December 2012, and was a consultant at the Bank during 2013. His responsibilities at the Bank included advising the Bank's Chief Executive Officer on strategic planning, acquisitions and divestitures, asset/liability management, on-line banking and new products. In addition, he was Chairman of the Bank's Credit and Risk Management Committee from November 2008 to January 2012 and the Bank's acting Chief Risk Officer from January 2009 until January 2012. Before joining the Bank, Mr. Hurley was the Chief Executive Officer of M. Safra & Co., a private money management firm, from 2004 to 2007. Prior to joining M. Safra & Co., Mr. Hurley worked at Merrill Lynch ("ML") from 1976 to 2004. His latest management positions prior to his departure included serving as Senior Vice President of ML & Co. and Head of Global Private Equity Investing, Managing Director and Head of Japan Investment Banking and Capital Markets, Managing Director and Co-Head of the Global Manufacturing and Services Group, and Managing Director and Head of the Global Automotive, Aerospace, and Transportation Group. As part of his management duties, he was a member of the Corporate and Institutional Client Group ("CICG") Executive Committee which had global responsibility for ML's equity, debt, investment banking

and private equity businesses, a member of the Japan CICG Executive Committee, and a member of the Global Investment Banking Management and Operating Group Committees. Mr. Hurley graduated from Princeton University with an A.B. in History, cum laude.

David Lazzarato, FCA, C.A., ICD.D

Mr. David Lazzarato, 61, is a current director and Chairman of the Audit Committee, and is a media and broadcast industry consultant who assists companies in the areas of strategy development, mergers and acquisitions and financing. He has served as a member of the board of directors and chair of the audit committee of Yellow Pages Limited (TSX: Y) since December 2012 and was Senior Vice President, Finance at Bell Canada in 2010 and 2011. From 2009 until 2013, Mr. Lazzarato served on the board of directors and was the chair of the audit committee of LED Roadway Lighting and from 2004 to 2013, he was vice chair of the Trillium Health Centre Foundation. In 2008, Mr. Lazzarato was Chief Executive Officer of Craig Wireless Systems. Prior to joining Craig Wireless Systems, Mr. Lazzarato served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Alliance Atlantis Communications Inc. and Chairman of Motion Picture Distribution from 2005 to 2007. From 1999 to 2004, Mr. Lazzarato served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Allstream Inc. (formerly, AT&T Canada Inc.) and was Chief Corporate Officer of MTS Allstream Inc. in 2004. Mr. Lazzarato is past Chair of the McMaster University Board of Governors and of the Council of Chairs of Ontario Universities. Mr. Lazzarato earned a Bachelor of Commerce degree from McMaster University and is a Chartered Accountant, having received the FCA designation from the Ontario Institute of Chartered Accountants in 2006. Mr. Lazzarato received the ICD.D certification from the Institute of Corporate Directors in 2008 and has also completed the Senior Executive Program at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Harlan Goodson

Mr. Harlan Goodson, 70, is a current director and served as the Director of California's Division of Gambling Control from 1999 to 2003, during which he led the implementation of California's Tribal-State Class III gaming compacts. Prior to forming his own law practice, The Law Office of Harlan W. Goodson, in Sacramento, California, Mr. Goodson was with the national law firm of Holland and Knight, LLP for four years where his practice concentrated on Gaming Law and Gaming Regulation and Governmental Affairs. Mr. Goodson's biography was published in the 2000 edition of Who's Who in American Law and in 2002, his work gained him international distinction when he was the recipient of the International Masters of Gaming Law inaugural Regulator of the Year award in 2001. Prior to being appointed to the position of Director of California's Division of Gambling Control, Mr. Goodson worked in the California State Senate as a legislative consultant for Senator Bill Lockyer from 1994 to 1999. While serving as a consultant in the state legislature, Mr. Goodson drafted legislation in the areas of criminal law, correctional law, juvenile law and insurance law. Since 1996, Mr. Goodson has been an adjunct law professor teaching classes on the legislative process and statutory interpretation at John F. Kennedy University, School of Law. He has been a national speaker at conferences, symposia, law schools and before governmental bodies on the subjects of gaming regulation, Tribal government gaming, and Tribal-State relations. Mr. Goodson is a member of the California State Bar, the International Masters of Gaming Law and the International Association of Gaming Advisors. In 2007, Mr. Goodson also served as a Judge Pro Tempore for the Superior Court in Sacramento, California. Mr. Goodson has also been listed in America's Best Lawyers annually since 2005 and was selected by his peers as the Northern California 2012 Attorney of the Year for Gaming Law.

Dr. Aubrey Zidenberg

Dr. Aubrey Zidenberg, 64, is a current director and has served and currently serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Casino Amusements Canada, which offers commercial gaming industry expertise to both the private sector and governments, since 1976. In addition, Dr. Zidenberg is a current director of Innova and the President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of ZAP Casinos Canada, a company associated with Penn National Gaming as it relates to Casino Rama in Ontario, Canada. Dr. Zidenberg is a gaming industry specialist with extensive experience in the development, implementation and operation of international gaming, tourism and entertainment projects since 1975, including, without limitation, in the areas of commercial gaming, operations and regulatory compliance, and has advised and consulted in these areas in both the government and the private sectors. He has worked internationally with companies such as Penn National Gaming, The Bahamas Amusement Corporation, Summa Corporation, Resorts International, Trump Organization, Playboy Casinos, Carnival Hotels & Casinos, Harrah's and Hard Rock International. Since 2011, Dr. Zidenberg has been an International Vice President of B'nai Brith, an international human rights organization which has operated in Canada since 1875, and currently chairs its Special Advisory Council to the League for Human Rights. Dr. Zidenberg was a Member of the Board of the Responsible Gambling Council of Canada for over 15 years, and is registered with the Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario and numerous other gaming authorities in various jurisdictions internationally. Dr. Zidenberg is also a recipient of a 2002 Canadian Gaming Industry Award of Excellence, and in 2010, Dr. Zidenberg created and developed the First Nation Canadian Gaming Awards program. Dr. Zidenberg is currently the Chair of the York Regional Police – Integrated Strategic Community Advisory Council, formerly the Investigative Services Community Advisory Council, and has served in such position

Windsor, Ontario in 2007 for his lifetime devotion to human rights work, was presented with the Queen Elizabeth II Golden Jubilee Medal in 2003 and the Queen Elizabeth II Diamond Jubilee Medal in 2013, in each case for his dedicated service to community and country. He was knighted Chevalier de France in 2012 and received the York Regional Police Service Board 2014 Civic Leadership Award in 2015. Dr. Zidenberg earned a B.A. from York University in 1975.

General Wesley K. Clark

General Wesley K. Clark, 72, is a current director and serves as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Wesley K. Clark & Associates, a strategic consulting firm, since its founding in 2004. General Clark is, and has also been, a director of Growth Energy, an organization that represents producers and supporters of ethanol, since January 2009, senior fellow at UCLA's Burkle Center for International Relations since 2006, Advisor at the Blackstone Group since 2013, Trustee of International Crisis Group since 2004, Founding Chair of City Year Little Rock/North Little Rock, an AmeriCorps program, which is a national service organization that unites young adults, since 2004, and Chairman of Enverra Inc., a banking and strategic advisory firm, since 2010, as well as serving on a number of private and public company boards of directors and advisory boards. General Clark has authored four books and serves as a founding member of the Clinton Global Initiative, and Director of the Atlantic Council. General Clark retired a four star general after 38 years in the United States Army. He graduated first in his class at West Point and completed degrees in Philosophy, Politics and Economics at Oxford University (B.A. and M.A.) as a Rhodes Scholar. While serving in Vietnam, he commanded an infantry company in combat, where he was severely wounded and evacuated home on a stretcher. He later commanded at the battalion, brigade and division level, and served in a number of significant staff positions, including service as the Director Strategic Plans and Policy (J-5). In his last assignment as Supreme Allied Commander Europe he led NATO forces to victory in Operation Allied Force, saving 1.5 million Albanians from ethnic cleansing. His awards include the Presidential Medal of Freedom, Defense Distinguished Service Medal (five awards), Silver Star, Bronze Star, Purple Heart, honorary knighthoods from the British and Dutch governments, and numerous other awards from other governments, including award of Commander of the Legion of H

Marlon D. Goldstein

Mr. Marlon Goldstein, 43, joined Amaya in January 2014 and serves as its Executive Vice-President, Corporate Development & General Counsel and Secretary. Prior to joining Amaya, Mr. Goldstein was a principal shareholder in the corporate and securities practice at the international law firm of Greenberg Traurig P.A., where he practiced as a lawyer from 2002 until 2014 (since 2006 as a shareholder). Mr. Goldstein's practice focused on corporate and securities matters, including mergers and acquisitions, securities offerings, and financing transactions. Mr. Goldstein was also the co-chair of the firm's Gaming Practice, a multi-disciplinary team of attorneys representing owners, operators and developers of gaming facilities, manufacturers and suppliers of gaming devices, investment banks and lenders in financing transactions, and Indian tribes in the development and financing of gaming facilities. Mr. Goldstein earned a B.B.A. with a concentration in accounting from Emory University in Atlanta, Georgia in 1996 and a J.D. from the University of Florida, Levin College of Law in Gainesville, Florida in 1999.

Directors' and Executive Officers' Interests in Common Shares

The Corporation's current directors and executive officers own, or have the right to exercise direction or control over, a total of 460,531 Common Shares, representing approximately 0.32% of the total issued and outstanding Common Shares as of the date of this annual information form. Additionally, a total of 1,843,000 options, of which 1,488,000 are currently exercisable, have been granted to the Corporation's directors and executive officers to purchase an equal amount of Common Shares under the Corporation's stock option and/or equity incentive plan.

Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions

Except as disclosed below and to the knowledge of the Corporation, none of the directors or executive officers of the Corporation is, or within ten years before the date hereof, has been:

- (a) a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company (including the Corporation) that
 - (i) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days issued while the proposed director was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, or
 - (ii) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days issued after the proposed director ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which

resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer;

- (b) a director or executive officer of any company (including the Corporation) that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or
- (c) has become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromises with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the proposed director.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, General Clark: (i) ceased to be a director of Adam Aircraft Industries less than one year prior to its filing for Chapter 7 bankruptcy protection under applicable U.S. bankruptcy laws in February 2008; (ii) ceased to be Chairman of Summit Global Logistic Inc. less than one year prior to its filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection under applicable U.S. bankruptcy laws in January 2008 (which was later converted to Chapter 7 status in November 2008); (iii) ceased to be a director of NutraCea Inc. less than one year prior to its filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection under applicable U.S. bankruptcy laws in November 2009; and (iv) ceased to be a director of Rodman & Renshaw LLC less than one year prior to its filing, along with its parent, Direct Markets Holdings Corp., and certain affiliates thereof, for Chapter 7 bankruptcy under applicable U.S. bankruptcy laws in January 2013.

To the knowledge of the Corporation, none of the directors or executive officers of the Corporation have been subject to:

- (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or
- (b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, see below under "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions".

Conflicts of Interest

The directors and officers of the Corporation are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interest of the Corporation and to disclose any interests which they may have in any transaction, project or opportunity of the Corporation. However, the Corporation's directors and officers may serve on the boards and/or as officers of other companies that may compete in the same industries as the Corporation, giving rise to potential conflicts of interest, including, without limitation, with respect to negotiating terms of and consummating certain transactions in which such companies and the Corporation may participate. Conflicts of interest that arise at a meeting of the Board must be disclosed at such meeting, and the conflicted director must recuse himself or herself from the meeting and abstain from participating and voting for or against the approval of any transaction, project or opportunity in which such director has an interest. The remaining directors will determine whether or not the Corporation will participate in any such transaction, project or opportunity. Subject to such disclosure and recusal and any limitations in the Corporation's constating documents, a transaction would not be void or voidable because it was made between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers who have a conflict of interest or by reason of such director or officer being present at the meeting at which such transaction, project or opportunity was approved.

To the best of the Corporation's knowledge and other than as disclosed in this annual information form, as of the date hereof there is no known existing or potential material conflict of interest among the Corporation or a subsidiary of the Corporation and the current directors, officers or other members of management of the Corporation or a subsidiary of the Corporation as a result of their respective outside business interests.

The directors and officers of the Corporation are aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of directors and officers for usurping corporate opportunities and requiring disclosures by directors or officers of conflicts of interest, and the Corporation will rely upon such laws in respect of any conflict of interest or breach of duty.

For additional information, see also "Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions" below.

Ethical Business Conduct

The Corporation has adopted a written Code of Business Conduct (the "Code") for the Corporation's directors, officers and employees. The Corporation is committed to operating in accordance with the highest ethical standards and conducting business in an

honest and transparent manner that is in compliance with applicable law, the Code and applicable internal policies. The Code constitutes written standards that are designed to deter wrongdoing and promote, among other things: (i) honest and ethical conduct, including the handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships; (ii) avoidance of conflicts of interest, including disclosure to the Corporation of any material transaction or relationship that reasonably could be expected to give rise to a conflict of interest; (iii) safeguarding of the Corporation's confidential information and integrity and protection of business information; (iv) maintenance of a healthy and safe work environment that is free of discrimination and harassment; (v) protection of employee privacy and personal information; (vi) dealing responsibly with persons outside the Corporation, including compliance with anti-corruption laws and lobbying legislation; (vii) compliance with other applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations; (viii) the prompt reporting to a supervisor, director or officer (or if appropriate, to the appropriate authorities) of violations of the Code; and (ix) accountability and responsibility by all directors, officers and employees for adherence to the Code.

The Corporation monitors compliance with the Code and recommends disclosures as and when appropriate and required in accordance therewith. In addition, the Corporation reviews the Code with a view of complying with all applicable rules and regulations, receiving reports from management with respect to compliance with the Code when necessary and appropriate, and satisfying itself that management has established a system to disclose the Code (and any amendments thereto) to the extent required. The Corporation monitors compliance with the Code by reserving the right to audit such compliance and through the Corporation's existing "whistleblower" policy, which provides a procedure for the submission of information by persons relating to, among other things, possible violations of the Code. In addition to the Code, Amaya has adopted a number of other policies and practices related to appropriate business conduct, including, without limitation, an Anti-Bribery Policy and Anti-Fraud Policy for all employees, directors and officers of the Corporation.

The Code is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, Edgar at www.sec.gov and the Corporation's website at www.amaya.com.

Moreover, Amaya has a formal Compliance Committee comprised of independent directors and external advisors, including formal law enforcement and regulatory professionals. Amaya's Compliance Committee is also charged with overseeing all aspects of compliance with gaming regulatory and other corporate compliance matters. The Compliance Committee strives to ensure the good character, honesty and integrity of Amaya, its subsidiaries and employees, and that it conducts its business affairs in an honest, moral and ethical fashion and in compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and other conditions imposed by applicable gaming and related regulatory authorities. The Compliance Committee also strives to protect Amaya's reputation and prevent it from taking any action that could jeopardize its existing licenses and approvals or its ability to obtain any additional licenses or approvals.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee Charter

The current Audit Committee Charter was adopted on November 16, 2016. The full text of the charter is attached hereto as Schedule A. The disclosure provided under this section of this annual information form is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the charter.

Purpose

The Audit Committee is established to fulfil applicable public company obligations respecting audit committees and to assist the Board in discharging its oversight responsibilities with respect to financial reporting to ensure the transparency and integrity of the Corporation's published financial information. The Audit Committee's responsibilities include overseeing: (i) the integrity of the Corporation's financial statements and financial reporting process, including the audit process and the Corporation's internal controls over financial reporting, disclosure controls and procedures and compliance with other related legal and regulatory requirements; (ii) the qualifications, independence, retention, compensation and work of the Corporation's external auditors; (iii) the work of the Corporation's financial management and internal auditors; (iv) enterprise risk management, privacy and data and information security; and (e) the auditing, accounting and financial reporting process generally. The Audit Committee is also responsible for pre-approving all non-audit services to be provided by the Corporation's independent external auditor, procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and the confidential anonymous submission by employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters and for any additional matters delegated to the Audit Committee by the Board.

The Audit Committee has the right, for the purposes of performing its duties, to maintain direct communication with the Corporation's external auditor and the Board, to inspect all books and records of the Corporation and its subsidiaries, to seek any information it requires from any employee of the Corporation and its subsidiaries, and to retain independent outside counsel or other advisors.

The Audit Committee is required to be comprised of a minimum of three directors, each of whom must be "independent", "financially literate" (within the meaning of the applicable Canadian securities laws) and otherwise qualified within the meaning of applicable securities law and the rules of any applicable stock exchange. At least one member of the Audit Committee must be "financially sophisticated" (within the meaning of the applicable rules of NASDAQ) and at least one member must qualify as an "audit committee financial expert" (within the meaning of the applicable rules of the SEC). A member who is an "audit committee financial expert" is presumed to qualify as "financially sophisticated". The Audit Committee meets regularly and as often as it deems necessary to perform the duties and discharge its responsibilities in a timely manner, but is required to meet at least four times a year. The Audit Committee also conducts a self-evaluation at least annually to determine whether it and its members are functioning effectively, and reports its conclusion to the Board.

Composition

The Audit Committee is currently composed of Messrs. Lazzarato, Hurley and Goodson, each of whom is "independent" and "financially literate". Mr. Lazzarato is the "audit committee financial expert" and is "financially sophisticated".

Relevant Education and Experience

Each member of the Corporation's Audit Committee has an understanding of the generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the Corporation, i.e., International Financial Reporting Standards (as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board), and has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Corporation's financial statements. All three members of the Corporation's Audit Committee serve or have served on a number of other boards of directors and have acquired financial education and/or experience that would result in them being qualified as set forth above.

Name of Director	Relevant Financial Education and Experience	Other Current Public Company Directorships
David Lazzarato	See biography above	 Yellow Pages Limited (TSX: Y)
Alfred F. Hurley, Jr.	See biography above	 New Mountain Finance Corporation (NYSE: NMFC)
Harlan Goodson	See biography above	None
	Accounting courses	
	Former audit committee member of a NASDAQ-listed company	

Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee has established a practice of pre-approving all audit, audit-related, non-audit, tax and certain other services provided by the external auditor, in each case in compliance with applicable rules and guidance on the qualification and independence of external auditors. This practice is also set forth in a pre-approval policy adopted by the Audit Committee. In accordance with the Audit Committee's pre-approval practice and policy, before the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries engages the external auditor to render a service, the engagement must be either (i) specifically approved by the Audit Committee or (ii) entered into pursuant to the pre-approval policy. This is intended to ensure, among other things, that the provision of such services does not impair the external auditor's independence. The Audit Committee has delegated to its Chairman, Mr. Lazzarato, the authority, between regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit Committee, to pre-approve such services to the extent they were not previously presented at a meeting of the Audit Committee. All such pre-approvals by the Chairman of the Audit Committee are reported by him at the next meeting of the Audit Committee following the pre-approval. The Audit Committee may not delegate to management the Audit Committee's responsibilities to pre-approve services performed by the external auditor.

External Auditor Service Fees

The Corporation's current independent external auditor is Deloitte LLP, London, United Kingdom ("Deloitte").

The aggregate fees billed by Deloitte and all of its affiliates for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, were as follows:

Description	2016	2015
Audit Fees(a)	\$2,894,000	\$2,850,000
Audit – Related Fees(b)	\$377,000	\$158,000
Tax Compliance and Advisory Services(c)	\$229,000	\$527,000
All Other Fees(d)	\$835,000	\$636,000

- (a) "Audit Fees" means the aggregate fees billed by the Corporation's independent external auditor for audit services related to the annual financial statements of the Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, and for services provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or similar engagements. In addition, audit fees include the aggregate fees billed by the Corporation's independent external auditor for review services related to the interim financial statements of the Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, as well as the cost of translation of various continuous disclosure documents of the Corporation.
- (b) "Audit-Related Fees" means the aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services by the Corporation's independent external auditor that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Corporation's financial statements and are not reported as "Audit Fees", including, without limitation, other attest services not required by statute or regulation.
- (c) **"Tax Fees"** and **"Tax Compliance and Advisory Services"** means the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by the Corporation's external auditor for tax compliance, tax advice, tax planning and assistance with various other tax related questions.
- (d) **"All Other Fees"** means the aggregate fees billed in the applicable fiscal year for products and services provided by the Corporation's independent external auditor other than the services reported under clauses (a), (b) and (c), above.

Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee

The Board established the Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee to assist the Board in overseeing corporate governance and nominations matters and to take the principal role in establishing the Corporation's executive compensation plans and policies. In addition to the corporate governance and nominations duties of the Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee, the committee is responsible for, among other things, assisting the Board in discharging its oversight responsibilities relating to the compensation and retention of key senior management employees with the skills and expertise needed to enable the Corporation to achieve its goals and strategies at a fair and competitive compensation, including appropriate performance incentives. For more information on the Corporation's Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee, please see the Corporation's management information circular for the most recent annual meeting of shareholders of the Corporation, which is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and Edgar at www.sec.gov.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

Other than as set forth herein, the Corporation is currently not, and was not during the year ended December 31, 2016, a party to any material legal proceedings, and its property and assets are not currently, and were not during the same period, the subject of material legal proceedings. The Corporation is not aware of any other material legal proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, outstanding, threatened or pending as of the date hereof by or against the Corporation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, given the nature of its business, the Corporation is, and may from time to time in the future be, party to various, and at times numerous, legal, administrative and regulatory inquiries, investigations, proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, including, without limitation, various current tax audits by domestic and foreign tax authorities. The outcome of litigation, legal proceedings and regulatory actions is inherently uncertain. See "Risk Factors and Uncertainties".

In addition, and except as set forth herein, the Corporation is not currently, and was not during the year ended December 31, 2016, subject to: (i) penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority; (ii) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision; or (iii) settlement agreements entered into before a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or with a Canadian securities regulatory authority.

In the normal course of business, to facilitate transactions of services and products, the Corporation has agreed to indemnify certain parties with respect to certain matters. The Corporation has agreed to hold certain parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or out of intellectual property infringement or other claims made by third parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. In addition, the Corporation is a party to certain indemnification agreements with its current and certain former officers and directors, and certain employees, and its constituting documents contain similar indemnification obligations. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these

indemnification agreements due to the limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement.

Italian Tax Matter

On January 13, 2016, Amaya reported that it paid approximately €5.9 million as a final settlement with Italian tax authorities to resolve a previously disclosed tax dispute in which Italian authorities estimated that approximately €85 million were owed by a subsidiary of Amaya related to its Italian operations under the *PokerStars* brand for the 2009 through 2014 tax years. The agreement represents a final settlement of the matter and the payment includes all amounts owing to Italian authorities for the periods at issue. In addition, as part of the settlement, the subsidiary of Amaya does not owe any additional taxes for the 2014 tax year. The entire settlement amount plus related expenses was paid from the escrow fund established under the merger agreement governing the Rational Group Acquisition.

Kentucky Proceeding

Prior to the Rational Group Acquisition, the Commonwealth of Kentucky, ex. rel. J. Michael Brown, Secretary of the Justice and Public Safety Cabinet, filed a legal proceeding against Oldford Group and certain affiliates thereof (the "Oldford Parties") and various other defendants (the "Kentucky Proceeding"), pursuant to which the Commonwealth sought to recover alleged gambling losses on behalf of Kentucky residents who played real-money poker on the *PokerStars* website during the period between October 12, 2006 and April 15, 2011. On August 12, 2015, the trial court in the Kentucky Proceeding entered a default judgment against the Oldford Parties following certain alleged discovery failures, including by certain former owners of Oldford Group, and partial summary judgment on liability in favor of the Commonwealth. On December 23, 2015, the trial court entered an order for damages in the amount of approximately \$290 million, which the trial court trebled to approximately \$870 million. Amaya believes the action is frivolous and will vigorously dispute the liability. Amaya, through certain subsidiaries, has filed a notice of appeal to the Kentucky Court of Appeals and posted a \$100 million supersedeas bond to stay enforcement of the order for damages during the pendency of the appeals process. The posting of the bond required the delivery of cash collateral in the amount of \$40 million and letters of credit in the aggregate amount of \$30 million. To the extent the Oldford Parties may be ultimately obligated to pay any amounts pursuant to a final adjudication following exhaustion of all appeals and other legal options, Amaya intends to seek recovery against the former owners of Oldford Group.

In late-January 2016, pursuant to and in accordance with the procedures set forth in the merger agreement governing the Rational Group Acquisition, a subsidiary of Amaya submitted a notice of claim to the sellers' representative and escrow agent seeking indemnification for losses and potential losses caused by breaches under the merger agreement and requesting, among other things, that the escrow agent retain the then-remaining balance of the escrow fund established under the merger agreement in an aggregate amount equal to approximately \$300 million. Amaya has since received a notice from the sellers' representative initially disputing all claims set forth in Amaya's notice of claim. The disputed indemnity claims and release of the escrow funds will be resolved in accordance with the provisions of the merger and escrow agreements, and there can be no assurance that such notice of claim will result in any amounts in the escrow fund being remitted to Amaya or that any of Amaya's estimates of potential losses will reimbursed by the sellers or otherwise.

AMF Investigation and Related Matters

As announced on December 11, 2014, the *Autorité des marchés financiers*, the securities regulatory authority in the Province of Quebec (the "AMF"), is investigating trading activities in Amaya's securities surrounding its announcement of the Rational Group Acquisition (the "2014 AMF Investigation"). Related to the 2014 AMF Investigation, on March 23, 2016, the AMF charged Mr. Baazov, along with a former financial advisor to Amaya and a former employee of Amaya, with various violations of Quebec securities laws, including insider trading, insider tipping and market manipulation. The AMF has not made any allegation of wrongdoing by Amaya or any of its subsidiaries or other directors or officers in these charges.

On March 23, 2016, the Board also became aware of a decision of the Tribunal administratif des marchés financiers (formerly known as the Bureau de décision et de révision) (the "TMF"), the administrative tribunal in Quebec that hears certain AMF applications, which disclosed additional AMF investigations into the alleged conduct of Mr. Baazov and 12 individuals which are beyond the scope of the charges and of the internal investigation referred to in Amaya's March 23, 2016 and prior press releases and public disclosure. None of these individuals targeted by the TMF decision are currently employees, officers or directors of Amaya.

Amaya continues to cooperate with the AMF as it has done since 2014, which is consistent with the Corporation's practice.

Foreign Payments Matter

As disclosed on November 14, 2016, in the course of the internal investigation with respect to the AMF matters, the Board became aware of certain information which it is reviewing in order to determine whether the Corporation or its subsidiaries may have

made improper payments relating to its historical B2B business directly or through external consultants to foreign governmental officials in certain jurisdictions outside of Canada and the United States. This historical business, which primarily provided lottery services but also sold refurbished gaming terminals to both governments and private businesses, was never profitable and effectively ceased operations in 2014. The Corporation does not currently have operations or hold any licenses or approvals in any of these foreign jurisdictions.

The Board's review of the possibility of improper foreign payments is ongoing, with the involvement of external counsel, and additional information could become known to it in the future. As part of the Board's review, the Corporation contacted the Royal Canadian Mounted Police ("RCMP") in Canada and the Department of Justice and SEC in the United States. These authorities are investigating these matters and the Corporation continues to cooperate with the same, including, without limitation, by voluntarily contacting these authorities, cooperating with the RCMP on its execution and extension of a search warrant at the Corporation's Point-Claire, Quebec office, responding to information requests, and voluntarily providing records and information.

Class Actions

U.S. Class Action

On August 31, 2016, the lead plaintiffs in Carmack v. Amaya Inc., et. al. (Case No. 1:16-cv-01884-JHR-JS) filed an amended class action complaint (the "Amended Complaint") in the United States District Court, District of New Jersey (the "U.S. Class Action") (three putative class actions were filed in the Southern District of New York, but the respective plaintiffs subsequently filed requests for voluntary dismissal, leaving the U.S. Class Action as the remaining class action against the Corporation in the United States). The Amended Complaint names as defendants the Corporation, the Corporation's former Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Baazov, the Corporation's Chief Financial Officer, Daniel Sebag, and two directors, Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia and Harlan Goodson, and alleges a class period beginning on May 26, 2015 and ending on March 22, 2016 (the day prior to the announcement of the filing of charges brought by the AMF against Mr. Baazov).

The Amended Complaint generally alleges that the defendants violated certain U.S. securities laws by misrepresenting or failing to disclose that Mr. Baazov allegedly was engaged in an insider trading scheme as charged by the AMF. The U.S. Class Action seeks damages stemming from losses that the plaintiffs and the alleged class claim to have suffered as a result of the foregoing.

The Corporation believes that the U.S. Class Action is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself against it; however, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in its defense.

Quebec Class Action

On July 22, 2016, a re-amended motion for authorization of a class action and for authorization to bring an action pursuant to Quebec securities law (the "Re-Amended Lemelin Class Action"), Lemelin and Derome v. Amaya Inc. et al. (Case No. 500-06-000785), was filed in the Superior Court of Quebec, Province of Quebec, Canada, District of Montreal, naming the Corporation, Mr. Baazov, Mr. Sebag, and certain of the Corporation's directors, Mr. Gadhia, Mr. Goodson and General Wesley K. Clark, as defendants. The Re-Amended Lemelin Class Action was filed by two individual shareholders on behalf of themselves and a class of persons, composed of a sub-class of primary market purchasers and a sub-class of secondary market purchasers, who purchased the Corporation's securities between March 31, 2014 and March 22, 2016 (the day before the announcement of the filing of charges brought by the AMF against Mr. Baazov). The plaintiffs generally allege that throughout the class period the defendants violated certain Canadian securities laws by misrepresenting or failing to disclose (or acquiescing in the same), among other things, that Mr. Baazov allegedly was engaged in an insider-trading scheme as charged by the AMF. The plaintiffs also allege that the Corporation did not properly disclose that it had inadequate or ineffective internal controls and that one or more of its directors and Mr. Baazov were in breach of its Code of Business Conduct.

The Re-Amended Lemelin Class Action seeks damages stemming from losses the plaintiffs claim to have suffered as a result of the foregoing. The Corporation believes that the Re-Amended Lemelin Class Action is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself against it; however, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in its defense.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

To the Corporation's knowledge and other than as set forth herein, there are no material interests, direct or indirect, of directors, executive officers, any shareholder who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of any class or series of voting securities of the Corporation, or any associate or affiliate of such persons, in any transaction within the last three most recently

completed fiscal years or in any proposed transaction which has materially affected or would reasonably be expected to materially affect the Corporation. See also "Directors and Officers – Conflicts of Interest" above.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, on February 1, 2016, the Corporation received a non-binding indication from its then Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, David Baazov, that he intended to make an all-cash proposal to acquire the Corporation at a price then-estimated by Mr. Baazov to be CDN\$21.00 per Common Share. The Board subsequently formed a special committee of independent directors (the "Special Committee") to review any such proposal, as well as other potential strategic alternatives. On October 18, 2016, the Corporation announced, among other things, that the Board had completed its strategic alternatives review and had concluded at that time that remaining as in independent publicly-traded corporation best positioned the Corporation to deliver long-term shareholder value. Following this announcement, on November 14, 2016, the Corporation announced that it had received a non-binding all cash offer from Mr. Baazov on behalf of an entity to be formed to acquire the Corporation at a price of CDN\$24.00 per Common Share. Discussions with Mr. Baazov and his offer were terminated on December 20, 2016.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares in Canada is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its offices in Montréal, Québec and Toronto, Ontario and in the United States is Computershare Trust Company, N.A. at its offices in Canton, Massachusetts, Jersey City, New Jersey and College Station, Texas. The transfer agent and registrar for the 2015 Warrants, 2016 Warrants and 2013 Debentures was, and for the Preferred Shares is, Computershare Trust Company of Canada Inc. at its offices in Montréal, Québec and Toronto, Ontario.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following is a list of the Corporation's material contracts required to be listed under applicable Canadian securities laws that the Corporation or the subsidiaries of the Corporation have entered into since January 1, 2016 or prior thereto but which are still in effect:

- the registration rights agreements, dated August 1, 2014, entered into among the Corporation and each of GSO Capital Partners L.P and BlackRock Financial Management, Inc. and their respective affiliated funds managed or advised by them in connection with the Rational Group Acquisition. See "General Development of the Business Acquisition of the B2C Business";
- the first lien credit agreement, dated August 1, 2014, entered into among the Corporation, Amaya Holdings Coöperatieve U.A., Amaya Holdings B.V., Amaya (US) Co-Borrower, LLC, Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Barclays Bank PLC and Macquarie Capital (USA) Inc. in connection with the debt financing component of the Rational Group Acquisition, as amended on August 12, 2015 in connection with the Refinancing and on March 3, 2017 in connection with the Repricing. See "General Development of the Business Acquisition of the B2C Business";
- the second lien credit agreement, dated August 1, 2014, entered into among the Corporation, Amaya Holdings Coöperatieve U.A., Amaya Holdings B.V., Amaya (US) Co-Borrower, LLC, Barclays Bank PLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Macquarie Capital (USA) Inc. in connection with the debt financing component of the Rational Group Acquisition, as amended on August 12, 2015 in connection with the Refinancing. See "General Development of the Business Acquisition of the B2C Business"; and
- the deed and scheme of merger agreement, dated June 12, 2014, entered into among the Corporation, Amaya Holdings B.V., Titan IOM Mergerco Ltd., Oldford Group Limited and each of the selling securityholders of Oldford Group Limited, in connection with the Rational Group Acquisition. See "General Development of the Business Acquisition of the B2C Business".

Copies of these agreements may be inspected at the Corporation's headquarters located at 7600 TransCanada Highway, Pointe-Claire, Québec, H9R 1C8, Canada during normal business hours and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and Edgar at www.sec.gov.

INTEREST OF EXPERTS

The Corporation's independent external auditor for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was Deloitte. Deloitte reports that for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and throughout the period covered by the financial statements of the Corporation on which they reported, they were independent with respect to the Corporation within the applicable rules and regulations adopted by the SEC and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB).

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to Amaya and its business including, without limitation, the 2016 Annual Financial Statements, 2016 Annual MD&A and other filings that Amaya has made and may make with applicable securities authorities in the future, may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, Edgar at www.sec.gov and on Amaya's website at www.amaya.com. Additional information, including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of Amaya securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, is contained in the Corporation's management information circular for the most recent annual meeting of shareholders of the Corporation. Additional financial information is provided in the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and the 2016 Annual MD&A.

In addition to press releases, securities filings and public conference calls and webcasts, Amaya intends to use its investor relations page on its website as a means of disclosing material information to its investors and others and for complying with its disclosure obligations under applicable securities laws. Accordingly, investors and others should monitor the website in addition to following Amaya's press releases, securities filings and public conference calls and webcasts. This list may be updated from time to time.

SCHEDULE A

AMAYA INC.

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

PURPOSE

- 1. The Audit Committee is a standing committee appointed by the board of directors (the "**Board**") of Amaya Inc. (the "**Company**"). The Committee is established to fulfill applicable public company obligations respecting audit committees and to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to financial reporting including responsibility to, among other things as may be delegated by the Board from time to time, oversee:
 - (a) the integrity of the Company's financial statements and financial reporting process, including the audit process and the Company's internal controls over financial reporting, disclosure controls and procedures and compliance with other related legal and regulatory requirements;
 - (b) the qualifications and independence of the external auditors;
 - (c) the work of the Company's financial management, internal auditors and external auditors;
 - (d) enterprise risk management, privacy and data security and to monitor the same; and
 - (e) the auditing, accounting and financial reporting process generally.
- 2. In addition, the Committee shall prepare, if required, an audit committee report for inclusion in the Company's annual management information circular, in accordance with applicable rules and regulations.
- 3. The function of the Committee is oversight. It is <u>not</u> the duty or responsibility of the Committee or its members: (a) to plan or conduct audits; (b) to determine that the Company's financial statements are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; or (c) to conduct other types of auditing or accounting reviews or similar procedures or investigations. The Committee, its Chair and its audit committee financial expert are members of the Board, appointed to the Committee to provide broad oversight of the financial, risk and control related activities of the Company, and are specifically not accountable or responsible for the day to day operation or performance of such activities.
- 4. Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and integrity of the Company's financial statements. Management is also responsible for maintaining appropriate accounting and financial reporting principles and policies and systems of risk assessment and internal controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are properly authorized, recorded and reported and to assure the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, the reliability of financial reporting and compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations. Management is also responsible for monitoring and reporting on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. The external auditors are responsible for planning and carrying out an audit of the Company's annual financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards to provide reasonable assurance that, among other things, such financial statements are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

PROCEDURES OF THE COMMITTEE

- 1. *Number of Members* The members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board. The Committee will be composed of not less than three (3) Board members.
- 2. Independence The Committee shall be constituted at all times of "independent directors" who either meet or exceed the independence requirements of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC ("NASDAQ") and who are "independent" within the meaning of National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices ("NI 58-101"). The Board will consider all relevant facts and circumstances in making a determination of independence for each director and, as appropriate, impose independence requirements more stringent than those provided for by NASDAQ and/or NI 58-101 to the extent required by Canadian or U.S. securities laws, including rules and policies promulgated by the Securities and Exchange

Commission ("SEC") and the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX"). In particular, each member shall be "independent" in accordance with National Instrument 52-110 – *Audit Committees* ("NI 52-110") and Rule 10A-3(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act").

- 3. *Financial Literacy* Each member shall be able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, in accordance with NASDAQ audit committee requirements, and shall otherwise be "financially literate" within the meaning of other applicable requirements or guidelines for audit committee service under securities laws or the rules of any applicable stock exchange, including NI 52-110. At least one member will have past employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or other comparable experience or background, including a current or past position as a principal financial officer or other senior officer with financial oversight responsibilities and will otherwise qualify as an "audit committee financial expert" as defined by applicable rules of the SEC.
- 4. Appointment and Replacement of Committee Members Any member of the Committee may be removed or replaced at any time by the Board and shall automatically cease to be a member of the Committee upon ceasing to be a director. The Board shall fill any vacancy if the membership of the Committee is less than three directors. Whenever there is a vacancy on the Committee, the remaining members may exercise all its power as long as a quorum remains in office. Subject to the foregoing, the members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board annually and each member of a Committee shall remain on the Committee until the next annual meeting of shareholders after his or her appointment or until his or her successor shall be duly appointed and qualified.
- 5. *Committee Chair* Unless a Committee Chair is designated by the full Board, the members of the Committee may designate a Chair by majority vote of the full Committee. The Committee Chair shall be responsible for leadership of the Committee assignments and reporting to the Board. If the Committee Chair is not present at any meeting of the Committee, one of the other members of the Committee who is present shall be chosen by the Committee to preside at the meeting. The Committee will report through the Committee Chair to the Board following meetings of the Committee on matters considered by the Committee, its activities and compliance with this Charter.
- 6. *Conflicts of Interest* If a Committee member faces a potential or actual conflict of interest relating to a matter before the Committee, other than matters relating to the compensation of directors, that member shall be responsible for alerting the Committee Chair. If the Committee Chair faces a potential or actual conflict of interest, the Committee Chair shall advise the Chair of the Board. If the Committee Chair, or the Chair of the Board, as the case may be, concurs that a potential or actual conflict of interest exists, the member faced with such conflict shall disclose to the Committee the member's interest and shall not participate in consideration of the matter and shall not vote on the matter.
- 7. *Meetings* The Committee shall meet regularly and as often as it deems necessary to perform the duties and discharge its responsibilities described herein in a timely manner, but not less than four (4) times a year and any time the Company proposes to issue a press release with its quarterly or annual earnings information or any other material financial information of the Company. The Committee Chair will approve the agenda for such meetings and any member may suggest items for consideration. Briefing materials will be provided to the Committee as far in advance of meetings as practicable. The Committee shall maintain written minutes of its meetings, which will be filed with the meeting minutes of the Board.
- 8. Separate Executive Meetings The Committee shall meet periodically, but no less than quarterly, with the Chief Financial Officer, the head of the internal audit function (if other than the Chief Financial Officer) and the external auditors in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that the Committee or any of these groups believes should be discussed privately and such persons shall have access to the Committee to bring forward matters requiring its attention. However, the Committee shall also meet periodically without management present.
- 9. *Reliance* Absent actual knowledge to the contrary (which shall be promptly reported to the Board), each member of the Committee shall be entitled to rely on: (a) the integrity of those persons or organizations within and outside the Company from which it receives information; (b) the accuracy of the financial and other information provided to the Committee by such persons or organizations; and (c) representations made by management and the external auditors as to any information technology, internal audit and other permissible non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Company and its subsidiaries.
- 10. *Self-Evaluation* The Committee shall conduct a self-evaluation at least annually to determine whether it and its members are functioning effectively, and report its conclusion to the Board.

AUDIT RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMITTEE

Selection and Oversight of the External Auditors

- 1. The external auditors are ultimately accountable to the Committee and the Board as the representatives of the shareholders of the Company and shall report directly to the Committee and the Committee shall so instruct the external auditors. The Committee shall evaluate the performance of the external auditors and make recommendations to the Board on the reappointment or appointment of the external auditors of the Company to be proposed in the Company's management information circular for shareholder approval and shall have authority to terminate the external auditors. If a change in external auditors is proposed, the Committee shall review the reasons for the change and any other significant issues related to the change, including the response of the incumbent auditors, and enquire on the qualifications of the proposed auditors before making its recommendation to the Board.
- 2. The Committee shall be directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the work of any registered public accounting firm engaged (including resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting) for the purposes of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services of the Company, and each such registered public accounting firm must report directly to the audit committee.
- 3. The Committee shall also review and approve disclosures with respect to permissible non-audit services, as set forth in Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act and other applicable securities laws. The Committee may approve policies and procedures for the pre-approval of services to be rendered by the external auditors, which policies and procedures shall include reasonable detail with respect to the services covered. All permissible non-audit services to be provided to the Company or any of its affiliates by the external auditors or any of their affiliates that are not covered by pre-approval policies and procedures approved by the Committee shall be subject to pre-approval by the Committee. The Committee shall have the sole discretion regarding the prohibition of the external auditor providing certain non-audit services to the Company and its affiliates. The Committee shall also review and approve disclosures with respect to permissible non-audit services.
- 4. The Committee shall review the independence of the external auditors and shall make recommendations to the Board on appropriate actions to be taken which the Committee deems necessary to protect and enhance the independence of the external auditors. In connection with such review, the Committee shall:
 - (a) actively engage in a dialogue with the external auditors about all relationships or services that may impact the objectivity and independence of the external auditors;
 - (b) require that the external auditors submit to it on a periodic basis, and at least annually, a formal written statement delineating all relationships between the Company and its subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the external auditors and their affiliates on the other hand and to the extent there are relationships, monitor and investigate them;
 - (c) ensure the rotation of the lead (and concurring) audit partner having primary responsibility for the audit and the audit partner responsible for reviewing the audit as required by applicable law;
 - (d) consider whether there should be a regular rotation of the external audit firm itself; and
 - (e) consider the auditor independence standards promulgated by applicable auditing regulatory and professional bodies.
- 5. The Committee shall establish and monitor clear policies for the hiring by the Company of employees or former employees of the external auditors.
- The Committee shall require the external auditors to provide to the Committee, and the Committee shall review and discuss with the external auditors, all reports which the external auditors are required to provide to the Committee or the Board under rules, policies or practices of professional or regulatory bodies applicable to the external auditors, and any other reports which the Committee may require. Such reports shall include:
 - (a) a description of the external auditors' internal quality-control procedures, any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, or Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) review, of the external auditors, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities, within the preceding five years, respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the external auditors, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues; and

- (b) a report describing: (i) the proposed audit scope, approach and independence of all critical accounting policies and practices to be used in the annual audit; (ii) all alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted accounting principles related to material items that have been discussed with management, ramifications of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments, and the treatment preferred by the external auditors; and (iii) other material written communication between the external auditors and management, such as any management letter or schedule of unadjusted differences.
- 7. The Committee shall review the experience and qualifications of the independent audit team and review the performance of the independent auditors, including assessing their effectiveness and quality of service, annually and, every five (5) years, perform a comprehensive review of the performance of the independent auditors over multiple years to provide further insight on the audit firm, its independence and application of professional standards.

Appointment and Oversight of Internal Auditors

- 8. The appointment, terms of engagement, compensation, replacement or dismissal of the internal auditors shall be subject to prior review and approval by the Committee. When the internal audit function is performed by employees of the Company, the Committee may delegate responsibility for approving the employment, term of employment, compensation and termination of employees engaged in such function other than the head of the Company's internal audit function.
- 9. The Committee shall obtain from the internal auditors, and shall review, summaries of the significant reports to management prepared by the internal auditors, or the actual reports if requested by the Committee, and management's responses to such reports.
- 10. The Committee shall, as it deems necessary, communicate with the internal auditors with respect to their reports and recommendations, the extent to which prior recommendations have been implemented and any other matters that the internal auditor brings to the attention of the Committee. The head of the internal audit function shall have unrestricted access to the Committee.
- 11. The Committee shall, annually or more frequently as it deems necessary, evaluate the internal auditors, including their activities, organizational structure, independence, objectivity, qualifications and effectiveness.

Oversight and Monitoring of Audits

- 12. The Committee shall review with the external auditors, the internal auditors and management the audit function generally, the objectives, staffing, locations, coordination (reduction of redundant efforts) and effective use of audit resources, reliance upon management and internal audit and general audit approach and scope of proposed audits of the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, the overall audit plans, the responsibilities of management, the internal auditors and the external auditors, the audit procedures to be used and the timing and estimated budgets and staffing of the audits.
- 13. The Committee shall meet periodically with the internal auditors to discuss the progress of their activities, any significant findings stemming from internal audits, any changes required in the planned scope of their audit plan and any difficulties or disputes that arise with management in the course of their audits, including any restrictions on the scope of their work or access to required information, and the adequacy of management's responses in correcting audit-related deficiencies.
- 14. The Committee shall review with management the results of internal and external audits.
- 15. The Committee shall provide an open avenue of communication between the external auditors, the internal auditors, the Board and management and take such other reasonable steps as it may deem necessary to satisfy itself that the audit was conducted in a manner consistent with all applicable legal requirements and auditing standards of applicable professional or regulatory bodies.

Oversight and Review of Accounting Principles and Practices

- 16. The Committee shall, as it deems necessary, oversee, review and discuss with management, the external auditors and the internal auditors (together and separately as it deems necessary), among other items and matters:
 - (a) the quality, appropriateness and acceptability of the Company's accounting principles, practices and policies used in its financial reporting, its consistency from period to period, changes in the Company's accounting principles or

practices and the application of particular accounting principles and disclosure practices by management to new transactions or events;

- (b) all significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of the financial statements, including the effects of alternative methods within generally accepted accounting principles on the financial statements and any "second opinions" sought by management from an independent auditor with respect to the accounting treatment of a particular item;
- (c) any material change to the Company's auditing and accounting principles and practices as recommended by management, the external auditors or the internal auditors or which may result from proposed changes to applicable generally accepted accounting principles;
- (d) the extent to which any changes or improvements in accounting or financial practices, as approved by the Committee, have been implemented; and
- (e) the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives on the Company's financial statements and other financial disclosures.
- 17. The Committee will review and resolve disagreements between management and the external auditors regarding financial reporting or the application of any accounting principles or practices.

Oversight and Monitoring of Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

- 18. The Committee shall, as it deems necessary, exercise oversight of, review and discuss with management, the external auditors and the internal auditors (together and separately, as it deems necessary):
 - (a) the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations;
 - (b) any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures;
 - (c) the risk of management's ability to override the Company's internal controls;
 - (d) any fraud, of any amount or type, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the internal controls over financial reporting;
 - (e) the adequacy of the Company's internal controls and any related significant findings and recommendations of the external auditor and internal auditors together with management's responses thereto; and
 - (f) management's compliance with the Company's processes, procedures and internal controls.
- 19. The Committee shall establish procedures for: (a) the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and (b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

Oversight and Monitoring of the Company's Financial Reporting and Disclosures

- 20. The Committee shall:
 - (a) review with the external auditors and management and recommend to the Board for approval the audited financial statements and the notes and Managements' Discussion and Analysis accompanying such financial statements, the Company's annual report and any financial information of the Company contained in any prospectus or information circular of the Company;
 - (b) review with the external auditors and management each set of interim financial statements and the notes and Managements' Discussion and Analysis accompanying such financial statements and any other disclosure

- documents or regulatory filings of the Company containing or accompanying financial information of the Company; and
- (c) review the disclosure regarding the Committee required to be included in any publicly filed or available document by applicable securities laws or regulations or stock exchange rules or requirements.

Such reviews shall be conducted prior to the release of any summary of the financial results or the filing of such reports with applicable regulators.

- 21. Prior to their distribution, the Committee shall discuss earnings press releases, as well as financial information and earnings guidance prior to public disclosure, it being understood that such discussions may, in the discretion of the Committee, be done generally (i.e., by discussing the types of information to be disclosed and the type of presentation to be made) and that the Committee need not discuss in advance each earnings release or each instance in which the Company gives earning guidance.
- 22. The Committee shall oversee compliance with the requirements of the SEC for disclosure of auditors' services, engagements and independence of external auditors and audit committee member qualifications and activities.
- 23. The Committee shall receive and review the financial statements and other financial information of material subsidiaries of the Company and any auditor recommendations concerning such subsidiaries.
- 24. The Committee shall meet with management to review the process and systems in place for ensuring the reliability of public disclosure documents that contain audited and unaudited financial information and their effectiveness.

Oversight of Finance Matters

- 25. The Committee shall:
 - (a) review periodically the capital structure of the Company, and, when necessary, recommend to the Board transactions or alterations to the Company's capital structure;
 - (b) review and make recommendations to the Board concerning the financial structure, condition and strategy of the Company and its subsidiaries, including with respect to annual budgets, long-term financial plans, corporate borrowings, investments, capital expenditures, long term commitments and the issuance and/or repurchase of stock;
 - (c) periodically review matters pertaining to the Company's material policies and practices respecting cash management and material financing strategies or policies or proposed financing arrangements and objectives of the Company;
 - (d) periodically review the Company's major financial risk exposures (including foreign exchange and interest rate) and management's initiatives to control such exposures, including the use of financial derivatives and hedging activities;
 - (e) review and approve special transactions or expenditures as specifically delegated by the Board;
 - (f) review and discuss with management all material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations), leases and other relationships of the Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons, that may have a material current or future effect on financial condition, changes in financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital resources, capital reserves, or significant components of revenues or expenses;
 - (g) review and discuss with management any equity investments, acquisitions and divestitures that may have a material current or future effect on financial condition, changes in financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital resources, capital reserves, or significant components of revenues or expenses;
 - (h) review and discuss policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management, including appropriate guidelines and policies to govern the process, as well as the Company's major financial risk exposures and the steps management has undertaken to control them;

- (i) review and discuss with management the Company's effective tax rate, adequacy of tax reserves, tax payments and reporting of any pending tax audits or assessments, and material tax policies and tax planning initiatives; and
- (j) review the Company's pension or similar retirement arrangements, management and obligations, as applicable.

Risk Oversight, Privacy and Data Security

- 26. The Committee shall annually (or as more frequently as the Committee deems necessary or appropriate):
 - (a) review and discuss with management (including Board recommendations, as necessary): (i) management's program to identify, assess, manage, and monitor significant business risks of the Company, including financial, operational, privacy, security, business continuity, legal and regulatory, and reputational risks; and (ii) management's risk management decisions, practices, and activities; and
 - (b) review and discuss with management (including Board recommendations, as necessary) the Company's privacy and data security risk exposures, including, but not limited to: (i) the potential impact of those exposures on the Company's business, operations and reputation; (ii) the steps management has taken to monitor and mitigate such exposures; (iii) the Company's information governance policies and programs; and (iv) major legislative and regulatory developments that could materially impact the Company's privacy and data security risk exposure; and
 - (c) review and discuss with management (including Board recommendations, as necessary) the adequacy of the Company's insurance coverage.

Committee Reporting

- 27. If required by applicable laws or regulations or stock exchange requirements, the Committee shall prepare, review and approve a report to shareholders and others (the "**Report**"). In the Report, the Committee shall state, among other things, whether it has:
 - (a) reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management, the external auditors and the internal auditors;
 - (b) received from the external auditors all reports and disclosures required under legal, listing and regulatory requirements and this Charter and have discussed such reports with the external auditors, including reports with respect to the independence of the external auditors; and
 - (c) based on the reviews and discussions referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements be included in the Company's annual report.
- 28. The Committee shall otherwise report regularly to the Board regarding the execution of the Committee's duties, responsibilities, and activities, as well as any issues encountered and related recommendations and recommend to the Board that the audited financial statements be included in the Company's applicable annual report.
- 29. The Committee shall also report to the Board annually regarding the oversight and receipt of certifications from applicable management confirming compliance with certain applicable laws, regulations or rules and certain Company policies and practices, in each case as the Committee deems necessary or appropriate.

Additional Responsibilities

- 30. The Committee shall have the authority to engage independent counsel and other advisers, hire and terminate special legal, accounting, financial or other consultants to advise the Committee at the Company's expense, in each case, as it determines necessary to carry out its duties and without consulting with, or obtaining prior approval from, any officer of the Company or the Board. The Committee may ask members of management or others to attend meetings or provide information as necessary. The Company's independent auditors will have direct access to the Committee at their own initiative.
- 31. The Committee shall provide for appropriate funding for payment: of (a) compensation to any registered public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services for

- the Company; (b) compensation to any advisers engaged or employed by the Committee under subsection 28 above; and (c) ordinary administrative expenses of the Committee that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties.
- 32. The Committee shall review and/or approve any other matter specifically delegated to the Committee by the Board and undertake on behalf of the Board such other activities as may be necessary or desirable to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to financial reporting and perform such other functions as assigned by law or the Company's constating documents.
- 33. The Committee shall review and approve in advance any proposed related-party transactions and required disclosures of such in accordance with applicable securities laws and regulations and consistent with any related party transaction policy of the Company, to the extent such policy exists, and report to the Board on any approved transactions.

THIS CHARTER

The Committee shall review and reassess annually the adequacy of this Charter as required by applicable laws or by the applicable rules of NASDAQ, the TSX or the SEC. This Charter shall be posted on the Company's website.

DATED November 16, 2016





ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

March 22, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	2
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	6
Consolidated Statements of Earnings	6
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income	7
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position	8
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity	9
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	10
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	11
1. Nature of business	11
2. Summary of significant accounting policies	11
3. Recent accounting pronouncements	24
4. Change in presentation currency	25
5. Change in accounting estimate	25
6. Segmented information	25
7. Expenses classified by nature	28
8. Income taxes	28
9. Discontinued operations	30
10. Net earnings per share	33
11. Prior period adjustment	33
12. Goodwill and intangible assets	34
13. Property and equipment	36
14. Investments in associates	37
15. Investments	38
16. Restricted cash advances and collateral	40
17. Prepaid expenses and deposits	40
18. Assets held for sale	41
19. Credit facility	41
20. Long-term debt	41
21. Capital management	44
22. Derivatives	45
23. Commitments	46
24. Other payables	47
25. Provisions	48
26. Customer deposits	49
27. Share capital	49
28. Reserves	50
29. Fair value	53
30. Statement of cash flows	57
31. Contingent liabilities	57
32. Financial instruments	58
33. Related party transactions	60
34. Subsequent events	60



Deloitte LLP 2 New Street Square London EC4A 3BZ

Phone: +44 (0)20 7936 3000 Fax: +44 (0)20 7583 1198 www.deloitte.co.uk

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Amaya Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Amaya Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2015 and the consolidated statements of earnings, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Amaya Inc. and subsidiaries as at December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and January 01, 2015 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its registered office at 2 New Street Square, London EC4A 3BZ, United Kingdom.

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), a UK private company limited by guarantee, whose member firms are legally separate and independent entities. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of DTTL and its member firms.

© 2017 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.

Deloitte.

Other Matters

As discussed in Note 4 to the financial statements, the Company has elected to change its presentation currency in the year ended December 31, 2016.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 22, 2017 expressed an adverse opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants

22 March 2017

London, United Kingdom



Deloitte LLP 2 New Street Square London EC4A 3BZ

Phone: +44 (0)20 7936 3000 Fax: +44 (0)20 7583 1198 www.deloitte.co.uk

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Amaya Inc.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Amaya Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying "Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting— Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting" included in the accompanying Management's Discussion & Analysis. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management's assessment: operating effectiveness of controls over derivative valuations and hedge accounting and the design of controls over the foreign exchange rates used by the Corporation to determine the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations and for financial reporting purposes. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 of the Company and this report does not affect our report on such financial statements.

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its registered office at 2 New Street Square,

London EC4A 3BZ, United Kingdom.

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), a UK private company limited by guarantee, whose member firms are legally separate and independent entities. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of DTTL and its member firms. © 2017 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.

Deloitte.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses identified above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 of the Company and our report dated March 22, 2017 expressed an unmodified/unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an Other Matters paragraph regarding the Company's election to change its presentation currency.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants

22 March 2017

London, United Kingdom

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

		Year Ended December 31,			
U.S. dollars	Note	2016 \$000's (except per share amounts)	2015 \$000's (except per share amounts) (As adjusted – note 4)		
Revenues	6	1,155,892	1,072,320		
Expenses	6, 7		_		
Selling		170,496	166,557		
General and administrative		577,412	567,422		
Financial		137,972	197,226		
Gaming duty		113,102	139,197		
Acquisition-related costs		199	495		
Total expenses		999,181	1,070,897		
Gain on sale of subsidiary		_	4,352		
Loss from investments		(20,250)	(10,626)		
Earnings (loss) from associates		623	(727)		
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration	25	2,466			
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes		139,550	(5,578)		
Income taxes	8	4,000	14,441		
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations		135,550	(20,019)		
Net earnings from discontinued operations (net of tax)	9		230,281		
Net earnings		135,550	210,262		
Net earnings (loss) attributable to					
Shareholders of Amaya Inc.		136,144	210,656		
Non-controlling interest		(594)	(394)		
Net earnings		135,550	210,262		
Basic earnings (loss) from continuing operations per Common Share	10	\$ 0.96	\$ (0.15)		
Diluted earnings (loss) from continuing operations per Common Share	10	\$ 0.70	\$ (0.15)		
Basic earnings per Common Share	10	\$ 0.96	\$ 1.58		
Diluted earnings per Common Share	10	\$ 0.70	\$ 1.06		

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Year Ended 1	December 31,
U.S. dollars	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted – note 4)
Net earnings	135,550	210,262
Items that are or may be reclassified to net earnings		
Available-for-sale investments – loss in fair value		
(net of income tax expense of \$146,000)		
(2015 - net of income tax recovery of \$1,744,000)	(2,095)	(17,019)
Available-for-sale investments – reclassified to net earnings	4,394	(8,909)
Foreign continuing operations – unrealized foreign currency		
translation differences	22,969	78,409
Foreign discontinued operations – unrealized foreign currency translation differences	_	(3,647)
Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences reclassified to net earnings upon disposal	_	6,818
Cash flow hedges – effective portion of changes in fair value (net of income tax of nil (2015 - nil))	50,865	(7,059)
Cash flow hedges – reclassified to net earnings		
(net of income tax of nil (2015 - nil))	(42,263)	(43,898)
Other	_	(375)
Other comprehensive income	33,870	4,320
Total comprehensive income	169,420	214,582
Total comprehensive income attributable to		
Shareholders of Amaya Inc.	170,014	214,976
Non-controlling interest	(594)	(394)
Total comprehensive income	169,420	214,582

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

		As at Dec	ember 31,	As at January 1,	
	_	2016	2015	2015	
U.S. dollars	Note	\$000's	\$000's (As adjusted – note 4, 11)	\$000's (As adjusted – note 4, 11)	
ASSETS			(15 dajustea Hote 4, 11)	(ris adjusted Hote 4, 11)	
Current assets					
Cash and cash equivalents - operational		129,459	70,884	119,418	
Cash and cash equivalents - customer deposits	26	138,225	203,475	247,320	
Total cash and cash equivalents	_	267,684	274,359	366,738	
Restricted cash advances and collateral	16	5,767	_	97,000	
Current investments		59,977	67,539	74,117	
Current investments - customer deposits	26	228,510	240,044	270,710	
Total current investments	15	288,487	307,583	344,827	
Accounts receivable		81,557	71,642	137,123	
Inventories		515	755	8,807	
Prepaid expenses and deposits	17	22,567	30,734	32,450	
Assets held for sale	18	6,972	_	_	
Income tax receivable		16,838	26,972	17,858	
Promissory note		_	_	3,261	
Derivatives	22	<u> </u>	13,485		
Total current assets	<u>_</u>	690,387	725,530	1,008,064	
Non-current assets					
Restricted cash advances and collateral	16	45,728	118,169	58,397	
Prepaid expenses and deposits	17	20,798	21,794	24,024	
Investments in associates	14	_	10,734	1,835	
Long-term accounts receivable		9,458			
Long-term investments	15	6,921	9,462	8,957	
Promissory note		4,827	7,700	<u> </u>	
Property and equipment	13	40,800	47,092	81,780	
Investment tax credits receivable		1,892	1,410	6,664	
Deferred income taxes	8	1,054	302	47,227	
Derivatives	22	52,038			
Goodwill and intangible assets	12	4,588,572	4,701,354	4,942,715	
Total non-current assets		4,772,088	4,918,017	5,171,599	
Total assets	<u>_</u>	5,462,475	5,643,547	6,179,663	
LIABILITIES	_				
Current liabilities					
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		135,777	140,295	154,201	
Other payables	24	56,588	89,454	183,338	
Provisions	25	212,780	17,891	40,064	
Customer deposits	26	366,735	443,519	518,030	
Income tax payable		23,616	28,876	28,417	
Current maturity of long-term debt	20	47,750	32,889	9,871	
Derivatives	22	4,922	18,723		
Total current liabilities		848,168	771,647	933,921	
Non-current liabilities					
Other payables	24	_	569	6,884	
Long-term debt	20	2,380,829	2,436,538	3,012,280	
Provisions	25	8,942	388,007	355,979	
Derivatives	22	5,594	6,102	<u> </u>	
Deferred income taxes	8	17,214	20,778	40,279	
Total non-current liabilities	-	2,412,579	2,851,994	3,415,422	
Total liabilities		3,260,747	3,623,641	4,349,343	
EQUITY	_	3,200,747	3,023,041	.,5 +5,5+5	
Share capital	27	1,862,789	1,571,400	1,576,292	
Reserves	28	35,847	1,571,400	298,540	
	28				
Retained earnings (deficit)	_	302,288	166,144	(44,512)	
Equity attributable to the owners of Amaya Inc.		2,200,924	2,018,508	1,830,320	
Non-controlling interest		804	1,398		
Total equity		2,201,728	2,019,906	1,830,320	
m - 12 1 22 1 1 24	—	E 460 455	E 642 545	2,050,020	

Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes.
Approved and authorized for issue on behalf of the Board on March 22, 2017.
(Signed) "Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia", Director (Signed) "David Lazzarato", Director

Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia, Chairman of the Board David Lazzarato, Chairman of the Audit Committee

5,462,475

5,643,547

6,179,663

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

		Share Capital							
U.S. dollars	Common Shares number	Convertible Preferred Shares number	Common Shares amount \$000's	Convertible Preferred Shares amount \$000's	Reserves (note 28) \$000's	Retained Earnings/ (Deficit) \$000's	Equity attributable to the owners of Amaya Inc. \$000's	Non- controlling interest \$000's	Total equity \$000's
Balance – January 1, 2015	422.044.244	4.400.056		600.604	200 = 40	(44 =40)	4 000 000	·	4 000 000
(As adjusted– note 4)	132,844,341	1,139,356	887,598	688,694	298,540	(44,512)	1,830,320		1,830,320
Net earnings (loss)	_					210,656	210,656	(394)	210,262
Other comprehensive income					4,320		4,320		4,320
Total comprehensive income (loss)					4,320	210,656	214,976	(394)	214,582
Issue of Common Shares in relation to exercised warrants	935,996	_	3,984	_	(810)	_	3,174	_	3,174
Issue of Common Shares in relation	555,550		3,50.		(010)		3,17.		3,171
to exercised employee stock options	1,096,564		5,186	_	(1,188)	_	3,998	_	3,998
Conversion of Preferred Shares	4,592	(107)	98	(98)	` ´	_	´ —	_	_
Share repurchase	(1,455,300)	`	(8,166)	`	(28,142)	_	(36,308)	_	(36,308)
Stock-based compensation		_	` —	_	14,224	_	14,224	_	14,224
Put liability (note 22)	_	_	_	_	(5,980)	_	(5,980)	_	(5,980)
Deferred income taxes in relation to share issuance					, , ,		* .		,
costs	_	_	(1,685)	(4,211)	_	_	(5,896)	_	(5,896)
Non-controlling interest								1,792	1,792
Balance – December 31, 2015									
(As adjusted– note 4)	133,426,193	1,139,249	887,015	684,385	280,964	166,144	2,018,508	1,398	2,019,906
Net earnings (loss)						136,144	136,144	(594)	135,550
Other comprehensive income	_	_	_	_	33,870	_	33,870	· —	33,870
Total comprehensive income (loss)					33,870	136,144	170,014	(594)	169,420
Issue of Common Shares in relation to exercised warrants	11 200 575		200 174		(200,002)		1 100		1 100
	11,266,575	_	290,174	_	(288,982)	_	1,192	_	1,192
Issue of Common Shares in relation	400.350		1 215		(204)		021		921
to exercised employee stock options	408,359	_	1,215	_	(294)		921		
Stock-based compensation	145 101 125	1 120 240	1 170 101		10,289	202 200	10,289		10,289
Balance – December 31, 2016	145,101,127	1,139,249	1,178,404	684,385	35,847	302,288	2,200,924	804	2,201,728

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

		Year Ended D	ecember 31,
II.C. Jallana		2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's
U.S. dollars Operating activities			(As adjusted – note 4, 11)
Net earnings		135,550	210,262
Interest accretion		36,433	61,996
Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign exchange		(17,571)	29,040
Depreciation of property and equipment		8,181	10,789
Amortization of intangible assets		125,760	122,843
Amortization of intaligible assets Amortization of deferred development costs		5,942	1,853
Stock-based compensation		10,289	14,224
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration		(2,466)	14,224
Gain on discontinued operations, net of tax		(2,400)	(287,626)
The state of the s		<u> </u>	28,483
Loss on retirement of debt		16.021	
Impairment of intangible assets, investments and associates		16,931	24,459
Realized (gain) loss on investments		2,906	(10,735)
Unrealized loss on investments		6,703	12,520
Loss (earnings) from associates		(623)	727
Gain on sale of subsidiary			(4,352)
Income tax expense recognized in net earnings		4,000	15,204
Income taxes paid		(1,699)	(14,105)
Interest expense		130,848	161,729
Dormant accounts recognized as revenue		(9,160)	(6,825)
Other		923	895
Changes in non-cash operating elements of working capital	30	(32,019)	46,554
Customer deposit liability movement		(70,992)	(55,225)
Net cash inflows from operating activities		349,936	362,710
Financing activities			
Issuance of capital stock in relation with exercised warrants		1,192	3,174
Issuance of capital stock in relation with exercised employee stock options		921	3,998
Repurchase of treasury shares		_	(36,308)
Interest paid		(131,346)	(189,626)
Payment of deferred consideration		(200,000)	
Repayment of premium on long-term debt		`	(28,483)
Repayment of long-term debt		(46,353)	(559,955)
Net cash outflows from financing activities		(375,586)	(807,200)
Investing activities		(5.5,555)	(633,200)
Additions in deferred development costs		(20,961)	(22,999)
-		, ,	, ,
Purchase of property and equipment Acquired intangible assets		(6,806) (7,669)	(16,080) (4,366)
Net purchase of investments		(5,722)	(29,937)
		(5,/22)	
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary		_	464,987
Cash disposed of in discontinued operations	1.0		(9,175)
Cash movement from (into) restricted cash advances and collateral	16	66,969	(59,870)
Settlement of minimum revenue guarantee		(16,070)	(7,657)
Acquisition of subsidiaries		(3,549)	(2,020)
Sale of investments utilizing customer deposits		22,679	57,770
Net cash inflows from investing activities	<u> </u>	28,871	370,653
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		3,221	(73,837)
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of period		274,359	366,738
Unrealized foreign exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents		(9,896)	(18,542)
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period		267,684	274,359

See accompanying notes.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Amaya Inc. ("Amaya" or the "Corporation"), formerly Amaya Gaming Group Inc., is a leading provider of technology-based products and services in the global gaming and interactive entertainment industries. As at December 31, 2016, Amaya had two major lines of operations within its Business-to-Consumer ("B2C") business, real-money online poker ("Poker") and real-money online casino and sportsbook ("Casino & Sportsbook"). As it relates to these two business lines, online revenues include revenues generated through the Corporation's online, mobile and desktop client platforms. After accounting for discontinued operations as a result of the divestiture of its Business-to-Business ("B2B") assets during the year ended December 31, 2015, Amaya no longer operates its former B2B business, which previously consisted of certain of its subsidiaries that offered interactive and land-based gaming solutions for the regulated gaming industry worldwide.

Amaya's B2C operations operate globally and conduct its principal activities from its headquarters in the Isle of Man. The Corporation owns and operates gaming and related interactive entertainment businesses, which it offers under several owned brands including, among others, *PokerStars*, *PokerStars*, *Casino*, *BetStars*, *Full Tilt*, *StarsDraft*, and the *PokerStars Championship* and *PokerStars Festival* live poker tour brands (incorporating aspects of the *European Poker Tour*, *PokerStars Caribbean Adventure*, *Latin American Poker Tour* and *Asia Pacific Poker Tour*).

Amaya's registered head office is located at 7600 Trans-Canada Highway, Montréal, Québec, Canada, H9R 1C8 and its common shares ("Common Shares") are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the "TSX") and the Nasdaq Global Select Market, each under the symbol "AYA".

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of accounting

The Corporation's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB").

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except derivative financial instruments and financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss which are each measured at fair value.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to a specific "note" refers to these notes to the Corporation's consolidated financial statements.

Principles of consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Corporation. As such, the Corporation is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with such entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its current ability to direct such entity's relevant activities (i.e., control over the entity).

The existence and effect of substantive voting rights that the Corporation potentially has the practical ability to exercise (i.e., substantive rights) are considered when assessing whether the Corporation controls another entity.

The Corporation's consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its subsidiaries. Upon consolidation, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Corporation's equity therein. Those non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the fair value of the subsidiary's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests' share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Corporation's profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration received and of any investment retained in the former subsidiary and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations are either separate major lines of business or geographical operations that have been sold or classified as held for sale. When held for use, discontinued operations were a cash-generating unit ("CGU") or a group of CGUs, where a CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets. These comprise operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the Corporation. The applicable results from discontinued operations are presented separately in the consolidated statements of earnings on a comparative basis.

Revenue Recognition

B2C revenue

Revenue from the B2C business consists primarily of Poker and Casino & Sportsbook revenue and is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Corporation and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is recognized in the accounting periods in which the transactions occurred after deduction of certain offsets, such as promotional bonuses and customer coins granted to customers through a loyalty program, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Poker revenue represents primarily the commission charged at the conclusion of each poker hand in ring games (i.e., rake) and entry fees for participation in poker tournaments, and is net of certain promotional expenses. In poker tournaments, entry fee revenue is recognized when the tournament has concluded. Revenues are presented gross of gaming duties, which are presented within expenses.

Casino revenue represents primarily the difference between the amounts of bets placed by the customer less amounts won (i.e., net house win) and is net of certain promotional expenses. Casino revenues are presented gross of gaming duties, which are presented within expenses.

Sportsbook revenue represents primarily bets placed less payouts to customers and is net of certain promotional expenses. Open betting positions are carried at fair value and gains and losses arising on these positions are recognized in revenue. Sportsbook revenues are presented gross of gaming duties which are presented within expenses.

The B2C business operates loyalty programs for its customers that award customer coins generally based on amounts wagered. The value of customer coins is estimated with reference to the redemption value of the applicable customer coin through the Corporation's product offerings, including in an online store operated by the Corporation and accessible through such product offerings, and the probability of use of such customer coins by customers. In accordance with International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 13, Customer loyalty programmes, the fair value attributed to the awarded customer coins is deferred as a liability and recognized as a customer deposit upon redemption of the customer coins.

B2B revenue (Discontinued operations)

Multiple-element revenue arrangements

Certain contracts of the Corporation included license fees, training, installation, consulting, maintenance, product support services and periodic upgrades.

Where such agreements existed, the amount of revenue allocated to each element was based upon the relative fair values of the various elements. The fair values of each element were determined based on the current market price of each of the elements when sold separately. Revenue was only recognized when, in management's judgment, the significant risks and rewards of ownership were transferred or when the obligation was fulfilled.

Product sales

Revenue from product sales was recognized when the product is shipped to the customer and when there were no unfulfilled obligations of the Corporation that affected the customer's final acceptance of the product pursuant to the arrangement. Any cost of warranties and remaining obligations that were inconsequential or perfunctory were accrued when the corresponding revenue was recognized.

Participation leases and arrangements

In contracts that stipulated profit sharing arrangements, revenues were earned based on revenue splits established in the contracts and varied depending on the contracts. Revenues were recognized when performance had been achieved and collectability was reasonably assured.

Software licensing

Typically, license fees, included fees from master license agreements, most of which were contingent upon the licensee's customer usage, were calculated as a percentage of each licensee's level of activity. The percentage was established in the contract and varied depending on the particular contract and the terms thereof. The license fees were recognized on an accrual basis as earned.

Translation of Foreign Operations and Foreign Currency Transactions

Functional and presentation currency

IFRS requires entities to consider primary and secondary indicators when determining functional currency. Primary indicators are closely linked to the primary economic environment in which the entity operates and are given more weight. Secondary indicators provide supporting evidence to determine an entity's functional currency. Once the functional currency of an entity is determined, it should be used consistently, unless significant changes in economic factors, events and conditions indicate that the functional currency has changed.

A change in functional currency is accounted for prospectively from the date of the change by translating all items into the new functional currency using the exchange rate at the date of the change.

Based on an analysis of the primary and secondary indicators, the functional currency of each of the Corporation and its subsidiaries have been determined. The Corporation's consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the applicable functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized within expenses.

Group companies

The results and financial position of the Corporation's subsidiaries that have a functional currency different from the Corporation's presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- (i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing exchange rate on the date of that statement of financial position;
- (ii) income and expenses for each statement of net earnings (loss) and statement of other comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates (unless such average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates at issue, in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange rate on the dates of such transactions); and
- (iii) all resulting exchange rate differences are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and are transferred to net earnings (loss) as part of gain (loss) on sale of subsidiaries.

The following foreign currencies are referred to herein:

Currency Symbol
USD, USD \$, \$
CDN, CDN \$
EUR, €
GBP

Currency Description
United States Dollar
Canadian Dollar
European Euro
Great Britain Pound Sterling

Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Under this method, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including contingent liabilities, are recognized, regardless of whether they have been previously recognized in the acquiree's financial statements prior to the acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the acquired entity are included in the consolidated statements of financial position at their respective fair values. Goodwill is recorded based on the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the Corporation's interest in the acquiree's net identifiable assets on the date of the acquisition. Any excess of the identifiable net assets over the consideration transferred is immediately recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings.

The consideration transferred by the Corporation to acquire control of an entity is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Corporation, including the fair value of all the assets and liabilities resulting from a deferred payment arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Operating Segments

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation had one reportable and operating segment, B2C, which for the purposes of the financial statements is further divided into the Poker and Casino & Sportsbook business lines. After accounting for discontinued operations and the divestiture of its B2B assets, Amaya no longer owns or operates its B2B business and thus did not account for it as a separate reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Amaya's B2C business, which it operates primarily through its two business lines, Poker and Casino & Sportsbook, was acquired through the Corporation's acquisition of Amaya Group Holdings (IOM) Limited (formerly known as Oldford Group Limited ("Oldford Group")) and its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively with Oldford Group, "Rational Group") on August 1, 2014 (the "Rational Group Acquisition"). The Corporation's segments are organized around the markets they serve and are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Corporation's key management. An operating segment is a component of the Corporation that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the Corporation.

The Corporation presents separate information on an operating segment when any of the following criteria are met:

- (i) reported revenue of the segment is 10% or more of the consolidated revenue; or
- (i) the absolute amount of reported profit or loss of the segment is 10% or more of consolidated profit or loss; or
- (i) assets of the segment are 10% or more of consolidated assets.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value and are classified as one of the following: "fair value through profit or loss"; "available-for-sale"; or "loans and receivables". The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired and their respective characteristics. Except in very limited circumstances, the classification may not be changed subsequent to initial recognition.

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held-for-trading and derivatives. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term or as otherwise determined by management to be in this category. Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with the realized and unrealized changes in fair value recognized each reporting period in the consolidated statements of earnings. The Corporation has current investments and derivatives classified as fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. Such assets are included in other non-current financial assets unless management intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the date of the consolidated statements of financial position. Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Interest on available-for-sale assets is calculated using the effective interest rate method and is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings. When a decline in fair value is determined to be significant and prolonged, the cumulative loss included in accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss) is removed as such and then recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). Gains and losses realized on the disposal of available-for-sale assets are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings. The Corporation has current and non-current investments classified as available-for-sale.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments but which are not quoted in an active market. All such assets with maturities equal to or less than 12 months from the date of the consolidated statements of financial position are classified as current assets, while those with maturities greater than 12 months from such date are classified as non-current assets. Financial instruments classified as loans and receivables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable and promissory notes are classified as loans and receivables.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation assesses whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets, other than those classified as fair value through profit or loss, is impaired. If there is objective evidence that impairment exists, the loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings. The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities "at fair value through profit or loss" or "other financial liabilities".

At fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as "at fair value through profit or loss" when the financial liability is designated as such.

A financial liability is designated as "at fair value through profit or loss" upon initial recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or
- the financial liability is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.

Financial liabilities "at fair value through profit or loss", such as certain derivatives, are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability (or a shorter period where appropriate) to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities that are classified as through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from, as applicable, the fair value of the financial instrument on initial recognition. These costs are expensed to financial expenses on the consolidated statements of earnings over the term of the related financial asset or financial liability using the effective interest method. When a debt facility is retired by the Corporation, any remaining balance of related debt transaction costs is expensed to financial expenses on the consolidated statements of earnings in the period that the debt facility is retired. Transaction costs related to financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are expensed when incurred.

Compound financial instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Corporation and its subsidiaries are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. The Corporation has issued, and in the future may issue, compound financial instruments comprising both financial liability and equity components. The financial liability component is initially recognized at the fair value of a similar liability. The proceeds are then allocated between the financial liability and the equity components using the residual method. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the financial liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. The financial liability component of a compound financial instrument is subsequently re-measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity components are not re-measured subsequent to their initial recognition.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives may be embedded in other financial and non-financial instruments (i.e., the host instrument). Embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host instrument, the terms of the embedded derivative are the same as those of a stand-alone derivative and the combined instrument (i.e., the embedded derivative plus the host instrument) is not held-for-trading or designated at fair value. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with subsequent changes recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Derivatives

From time to time the Corporation uses derivative instruments for risk management purposes. The Corporation does not use derivative instruments for speculative trading purposes. All derivatives are recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position. For derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, the re-measurement of the derivatives each period are recognized in financial expenses on the consolidated statements of earnings.

Derivatives are measured at fair value using pricing and valuation models whenever possible, including market-based inputs to models, broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources. To qualify for hedge accounting, the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument must meet several strict conditions on documentation, probability of occurrence, hedge effectiveness and reliability of measurement. If these conditions are not met, then the relationship does not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and both the hedged item and the hedging instrument are reported independently, as if there was no hedging relationship.

Cash flow hedges

The Corporation currently uses derivatives for cash flow hedges. The effective portion of the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of earnings. Gains and losses on cash flow hedges accumulated in other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated statements of earnings in the same period the hedged item affects the consolidated statements of earnings. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, the hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to the consolidated statements of earnings.

Net investment hedges

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging item relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in consolidated statements of earnings. Gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are included in the consolidated statements of earnings when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

Determination of fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the applicable measurement date. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Corporation uses market observable data to the extent possible. If the fair value of an asset or a liability is not directly observable, it is estimated by the Corporation using valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs (e.g., by the use of the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash flow analysis, or option pricing models refined to reflect the Corporation's specific circumstances). Inputs used are consistent with the characteristics of the asset or liability that market participants would take into account.

For the Corporation's financial instruments which are recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value, the fair value measurements are categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety and the degree to which the inputs are observable. The significance levels are classified as follows in the fair value hierarchy:

- **Level 1** Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- **Level 3** Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized by the Corporation at the end of the reporting period during which the transfer occurred.

Prepaid Expenses and Deposits

Prepaid expenses and deposits consist of amounts paid in advance or deposits made for which the Corporation will receive goods or services.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment which have finite lives are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is expensed from the month the particular asset is available for use over the estimated useful life of such asset at the following rates, which in each case are intended to reduce the carrying value of the asset to the estimated residual value:

Revenue-producing assets	Diminishing balance	20%
Furniture and fixtures	Straight-line	5 years
Computer equipment	Straight-line	5 years
Building	Straight-line	25 years

Intangible Assets

Software technology Straight-line 5 years Software technology (Defensive Straight-line 2 years

intangible asset)

Customer relationships Straight-line 15 years

Brands N/A Indefinite useful life

The amortization method, useful life and residual values are assessed annually and the assets are tested for impairment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Upon retirement or disposal, the cost of the asset disposed of and the related accumulated amortization are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of earnings. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

The Corporation determined that its owned brands have indefinite useful lives as they have no foreseeable limit to the period over which such assets are expected to contribute to the Corporation's cash flows. In addition, the Corporation expects to continue to support its brands with ongoing marketing efforts.

The Corporation tests its owned brands for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances such as significant declines in expected sales, net earnings or cash flows indicate that that the CGUs to which goodwill is allocated might be impaired.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired in a business acquisition. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances such as significant declines in expected sales, net earnings or cash flows indicate that that the CGUs to which goodwill is allocated might be impaired.

Investments

Investments are stated at the lower of cost and fair market value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis on a consolidated basis.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Corporation has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the associate but is not the control or joint control over those policy decisions.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Corporation's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Corporation's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Corporation's interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Corporation's net investment in the associate), the Corporation discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the Corporation has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Corporation's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate is recognized as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Corporation's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of earnings in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36, Impairment of Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss with respect to the Corporation's investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Corporation is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the Corporation discontinues the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is classified as held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method. The Corporation discontinues the use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal results in the Corporation losing significant influence over the associate or joint venture.

After the disposal takes place, the Corporation accounts for any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in accordance with IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement unless the retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which case the Corporation uses the equity method.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Impairment of Non-Current Assets

Management assesses, at the end of the reporting period, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Corporation estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's or CGU's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or CGU's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Corporation bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which is prepared for the Corporation's assets or CGU to which such assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of three to five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the final year included in the forecast.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill may not be reversed. At the end of the reporting period, the Corporation assesses if there is an indication that impairment losses recognized in previous periods for other assets have decreased or no longer exist. Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount provided that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed except in cases where development costs meet certain identifiable criteria for deferral. Deferred development costs, which have probable future economic benefits, can be clearly defined and measured, and are incurred for the development of new products or technologies, are capitalized. These development costs net of related research and development investment tax credits are not amortized until the products or technologies are commercialized, at which time, they are amortized over the estimated life of the commercial production of such products or technologies.

The amortization method and the life of the commercial production are assessed annually and the assets are tested for impairment whenever there exits an indication that an asset might be impaired.

The Corporation claims research and development investment tax credits as a result of incurring scientific research and experimental development expenditures. Research and development investment tax credits are recognized when the related expenditures are incurred and there is reasonable assurance of their realization. Investment tax credits are accounted for by the cost reduction method whereby the amounts of tax credits are applied as a reduction of the expense or deferred development costs.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings, except to the extent it relates to items recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income or directly in the statements of changes in equity.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from earnings as reported in the consolidated statements of earnings because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Corporation's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the particular reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Corporation's consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable income nor the accounting earnings.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments and interests in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Corporation is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable income against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of any such asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realized, in each case based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Corporation expects, at the end of the particular reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Corporation intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Current and deferred tax are recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings, except when they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Stock-based compensation

The Corporation has two equity-based award plans and accounts for grants under these plans in accordance with the fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based compensation. As it relates to equity-settled stock options, compensation expense for such options awarded to participants under the plans is measured at the fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model and is recognized using the graded vesting method over the vesting period of the options granted. Stock-based compensation expense recognized is adjusted to reflect the number of options that has been estimated by management for which conditions attaching to service will be fulfilled as of the grant date until the vesting date so that the recognized expense corresponds to the options that have actually vested. The stock-based compensation expense credit is attributed to reserves when the expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings. When options are exercised, any consideration received from participants as well as the related compensation cost recorded as reserves are credited to share capital.

Non-employee equity-settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value of the goods and services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably. If the fair value cannot be measured reliably, non-employee equity-settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument granted as measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The Corporation subsequently remeasures non-employee equity-settled share-based payments at each vesting period and settlement date with any changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). Stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the contract life of the options or the option settlement date, whichever is earlier.

Provisions

Provisions represent liabilities of the Corporation for which the amount or timing of payment is uncertain. Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected expenditures required to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in provisions due to the passage of time is recognized in financial expenses on the consolidated statements of earnings.

Provision for jackpot

The Corporation offers progressive jackpot games. Each time a progressive jackpot game is played, a portion of the amount wagered by the player is contributed to the jackpot for that specific game or group of games. Once a jackpot is won, the progressive jackpot is reset with a predetermined base amount. The Corporation maintains a provision for the reset for each jackpot and the progressive element added as the jackpot game is played. The provision for jackpots at the reporting date is included in provisions. The Corporation believes that its provisions are sufficient to cover the full amount of any required payout.

Deferred consideration

The acquisition-date fair value of any deferred consideration is recognized as part of the consideration transferred by the Corporation in exchange for the acquiree. Changes in the fair value of deferred consideration that result from additional information obtained during the measurement period (i.e., a maximum of one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date are adjusted retrospectively against goodwill. The Corporation estimates, based on expected future cash flows, the amount that would be required to settle the applicable obligation and recognizes the present value of the same.

Provision for minimum revenue guarantee

A provision for minimum revenue guarantee is recognized pursuant to an agreement with the vendor in connection with the terms of certain of the Corporation's past divestitures. The Corporation estimates, based on expected future cash flows, the amount that would be required to settle the applicable obligation and recognizes the present value of the same.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position but are reported in the notes. They may arise from uncertainty as to the existence of a liability or represent a liability in respect of which the amount cannot be reliably measured.

Royalties (Discontinued operations)

The Corporation licensed various royalty rights from several owners of intellectual property rights. Generally, these arrangements required material prepayments of minimum guaranteed amounts which were recorded as prepayments in the consolidated statements of financial position. These prepaid amounts were amortized over the life of the arrangement as gross revenue was generated or on a straight-line basis if the underlying games were expected to have an effective royalty rate greater than the agreed amount. The amortization of these amounts was recorded as royalty expense within selling expenses in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of the Corporation's consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that can have a significant effect on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Estimates and judgments are significant when:

- the outcome is highly uncertain at the time the estimates are made; or
- different estimates or judgments could reasonably have been used that would have had a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include estimates based on currently available information and management's judgment as to the outcome of future conditions and circumstances. Management uses historical experience, general economic conditions and trends, and assumptions regarding probable future outcomes as the basis for determining estimates.

Estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis and the effects of any changes are recognized immediately. Changes in the status of certain facts or circumstances could result in material changes to the estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions.

Set forth below are descriptions of items that management believes require its most critical estimates and judgments.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Deferred consideration

The Corporation has made and may make acquisitions which include deferred payments as part of the consideration for the acquiree. The Corporation reevaluates the fair value of any deferred consideration, including an "earn out", on its business acquisitions at the end of each reporting period. Significant estimates are required to determine the fair value of the deferred consideration. The Corporation considers the key inputs of the particular arrangement and market participant assumptions when developing the projected cash flows that are used to determine the fair value of the deferred consideration. This includes the need to estimate the likelihood and timing of achieving the relevant milestones of such deferred consideration or "earn out". The Corporation exercises judgment when applying a probability assessment for each of the potential outcomes. In addition, the Corporation must consider the time value of money. In determining the discount rate applied to the estimated cash outflows, the Corporation considers the risks inherent to the payment of the particular deferred consideration, such as projection risks, credit risks and liquidity risks.

Goodwill impairment

Goodwill impairment exists when the carrying value of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Management uses estimates in determining the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal of the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated. The estimates include but are not limited to the control premium, the implied trading multiple, and costs of disposal. A change in future earnings or any other assumptions may have a material impact on the fair value of the CGU, and could result in an impairment loss.

Fair value measurement and valuation process

The Corporation measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value for financial reporting purposes. Management has a review process which is designed to ensure that fair values are calculated in a consistent manner. The valuation techniques and inputs are reviewed by management to ensure consistency and any changes are analyzed and approved. Valuations for financial assets and liabilities are performed and reviewed on a quarterly basis, and are reviewed and approved by the key management.

In estimating the fair value, management uses market observable data to the extent it is available. Where observable market data does not exist, management internally calculates the fair value using valuation techniques that maximizes the use of observable inputs. These inputs are reviewed and approved by management.

Judgments

Useful lives of long-lived assets

Judgment is used to estimate each component of an asset's useful life and is based on an analysis of all pertinent factors including, but not limited to, the expected use of the asset and, in the case of an intangible asset, contractual provisions that enable the renewal or extension of the asset's legal or contractual life without substantial cost, as well as renewal history. Incorrect estimates of useful lives could result in an increase or decrease in the annual amortization expense and future impairment charges.

Functional currency

The Corporation's worldwide operations expose the Corporation to transactions denominated in a number of different currencies, which are required to be translated into one currency for consolidated financial statement reporting purposes. The Corporation's foreign currency translation policy is designed to reflect the economic exposure of the Corporation's operations to various currencies.

The Corporation's foreign operations (including subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and branches) based mainly outside Canada may have different functional currencies. The functional currency of an operation is the currency of the primary economic environment to which it is exposed. In order to determine the functional currency, management will first consider the currency that influences sales prices of the goods and services provided by the operations and the currency that influences the costs incurred by the operations. Then, if based on these two primary factors, the functional currency is not obvious, management will examine secondary factors such as the currency in which funds from financing are obtained, the currency in which cash receipts are retained and the levels of interactions with the parent company. In determining the functional currency of an operation, management uses its judgement to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

Investments in associates

Management assesses the relationship with investees to determine if the Corporation has control or significant influence over such investee. Management determines that it has control over an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its investment in an entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

When the Corporation does not have control over an investee but has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, management determines that it has significant influence over the investee.

Impairment on investments

The Corporation needs to use judgment when assessing whether the investments held are impaired. The Corporation determines whether the investment's decline is significant or prolonged by analyzing the historical volatility of the investment as well as the period of time over which the investment value has been depressed. Generally, the Corporation will judge that a decrease of 30% in the value of the investment or a decline of 9 months to be significant and prolonged respectively.

Contingent liabilities

The Corporation reviews outstanding legal cases following developments in the legal proceedings at each balance sheet date, considering, among other things: the nature of the litigation, claim or assessment; the legal processes and potential level of damages in the jurisdiction in which the litigation, claim or assessment has been brought; the progress of the case (including progress after the date of the financial statements but before those statements are issued); the opinions or views of legal counsel and other advisors; experience of similar cases; and any decision of the Corporation's management as to how it will respond to the litigation, claim or assessment. The Corporation assesses the probability of an outflow of resources to settle the obligation as well as if the outflow can be reliably measured. If these conditions are not met, no provision will be recorded and the relevant facts will be disclosed as a contingent liability. To the extent that the Corporation's assessments at any time do not reflect subsequent developments or the eventual outcome of any claim, its future financial statements may be materially affected, with a favourable or adverse impact on the Corporation's business, financial condition or results of operations.

Derivatives and hedging

The Corporation uses derivatives to manage a variety of risks, including risks related to interest rates and foreign exchange. Accounting for derivatives as hedges requires that, at inception and over the term of the arrangement, the hedged item and related derivative meet the requirements for hedge accounting. The rules and interpretations related to derivatives accounting are complex. Failure to apply this complex guidance correctly will result in all changes in the fair value of the derivative being reported in earnings, without regard to the offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged item. The accompanying financial statements reflect the consequences of loss of hedge accounting for certain positions.

In evaluating whether a particular relationship qualifies for hedge accounting, we first determine whether the relationship meets the strict criteria to qualify for exemption from ongoing effectiveness testing. For a relationship that does not meet these criteria, we test effectiveness at inception and quarterly thereafter by determining whether changes in the fair value of the derivative offset, within a specified range, changes in the fair value of the hedged item. This test is conducted on a cumulative basis each reporting period. If fair value changes fail this test, we discontinue applying hedge accounting to that relationship prospectively. Fair values of both the derivative instrument and the hedged item are calculated using internal valuation models incorporating market-based assumptions, subject to third-party confirmation.

Further information about the Corporation's use of derivatives is provided in note 22.

3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

New Accounting Pronouncements - Not Yet Effective

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments

The IASB issued IFRS 9 relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the many different rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments (i.e., its business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of such financial assets. IFRS 9 also amends the impairment model by introducing a new expected credit losses model for calculating impairment on its financial assets and commitments to extend credit. The standard also introduces additional changes relating to financial liabilities. IFRS 9 also includes a new hedge accounting standard which aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk management. This new standard does not fundamentally change the types of hedging relationships or the requirement to measure and recognize ineffectiveness, however it will provide more hedging strategies that are used for risk management to qualify for hedge accounting and introduce more judgment to assess the effectiveness of a hedging relationship. Extended disclosures about risk management activity for those applying hedge accounting will also be required under the new standard.

An entity shall apply IFRS 9 retrospectively, with some exemptions, for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of this standard, and does not anticipate applying it prior to its effective date.

IFRS 15, Revenues from Contracts with Customers

The Financial Accounting Standards Board and IASB have issued converged standards on revenue recognition. This new IFRS 15 affects any entity using IFRS that either enters into contracts with customers, unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards such as insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts. This IFRS will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in IAS 18 and most industry-specific guidance.

The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized.

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of this standard, and does not anticipate applying it prior to its effective date.

IFRS 16, Leases

The IASB recently issued IFRS 16 to replace IAS 17 "Leases". This standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors.

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2019. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of this standard, and does not anticipate applying it prior to its effective date.

4. CHANGE IN PRESENTATION CURRENCY

Effective January 1, 2016, the Corporation changed its presentation currency in the consolidated financial statements from the Canadian dollar to the U.S. dollar. The change in presentation currency was made as the Corporation believes that this change will reduce the impact of movements in exchange rates on reported results and provide shareholders with a more accurate reflection of the Corporation's underlying performance. In making the change to a U.S. dollar presentation currency, the Corporation applied the change retrospectively, in accordance with IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors", as if the new presentation currency had always been the Corporation's presentation currency.

The financial statements for all periods presented herein have been translated to a U.S. dollar presentation currency. For comparative balances, assets and liabilities were translated into the presentation currency at the closing rate of exchange at the reporting date for those financial periods, and income and expenses were translated into the presentation currency using a reasonable average exchange rate that approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions in accordance with IAS 21 "The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates". Non U.S. dollar cash flows were translated into U.S. dollars using the average rates of exchange over the relevant period, and share capital and reserves were translated at the historical rates prevailing on the date of each relevant transaction. Exchange rate differences arising on translation to the presentation currency were recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve in shareholders' equity.

The exchange rates were as follows:

CDN \$/\$ exchange rate	Year ended December 31, 2015
Opening rate	1.1601
Closing rate	1.3840
Average rate	1.2785

5. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation determined that it was necessary to accelerate the amortization of the Full Tilt software no longer used as a result of the previously announced migration of the Full Tilt brand and players to the PokerStars platform reducing the remaining life from 39 to 24 months. Although the software will no longer be used, the Corporation determined that there is value in preventing its use by others. This change in accounting estimate results in an increase in amortization of intangibles expense from approximately \$11.28 million to approximately \$18.10 million annually from May 2016 through April 2018.

In connection with the Innova Offering (as defined below in note 9) the Corporation entered into an EBITDA support agreement with Innova Gaming Group Inc. (TSX: IGG) ("Innova") pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to pay Innova each year until June 30, 2020 a maximum of CDN\$2 million per year based on any applicable EBITDA shortfall recognized by Innova in each such year. For the year ended December 31, 2015, no shortfall was expected and therefore no provision was recorded. During the year ended December 31, 2016, Innova informed the Corporation that its EBITDA expectations would result in a shortfall in each of the remaining four years and as a result, the Corporation recorded a provision of \$5.33 million, representing the present value of the expected remaining EBITDA support payments. For information regarding the potential disposition of the Corporation's ownership in Innova and the corresponding reclassification, see notes 14 and 18.

6. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, after accounting for discontinued operations, the Corporation had one reportable segment, B2C, which for the purposes of the financial statements is further divided into the Poker and Casino & Sportsbook business lines. The Corporation's "Chief Operating Decision Makers" receive business line revenue information throughout the year for the purposes of assessing their respective performance. Other B2C sources of revenue are aggregated into "Other", while certain other nominal sources of revenue and corporate costs are included in "Corporate".

	Year Ended December 31, 2016						
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's	
Revenue	846,059	264,114	44,966	1,155,139	753	1,155,892	
Selling				(168,673)	(1,823)	(170,496)	
General and administrative				(508,074)	(69,338)	(577,412)	
Financial				(142,236)	4,264	(137,972)	
Gaming duty				(113,102)	_	(113,102)	
Acquisition-related costs				(199)	_	(199)	
Income (loss) from investments				552	(20,802)	(20,250)	
Earnings from associates				_	623	623	
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration				2,466	_	2,466	
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes				225,873	(86,323)	139,550	
Income taxes				4,027	(27)	4,000	
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations				221,846	(86,296)	135,550	
Other segmented information							
Depreciation & amortization				139,301	582	139,883	
Bad debt				4,142	1,938	6,080	
Total Assets				5,412,449	50,026	5,462,475	
Total Liabilities				3,230,806	29,941	3,260,747	

Segmented net earnings from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2015:

	Year ended December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)					
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's
Revenue	887,165	136,293	47,348	1,070,806	1,514	1,072,320
Selling				(164,437)	(2,120)	(166,557)
General and administrative				(500,398)	(67,024)	(567,422)
Financial				(195,238)	(1,988)	(197,226)
Gaming duty				(139,197)	_	(139,197)
Acquisition-related costs				(338)	(157)	(495)
Gain on sale of subsidiary				_	4,352	4,352
Loss from investments				(516)	(10,110)	(10,626)
Loss from associates					(727)	(727)
Net earnings (loss) from continuing						
operations before income taxes				70,682	(76,260)	(5,578)
Income taxes				5,513	8,928	14,441
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations				65,169	(85,188)	(20,019)
Other segmented information						
Depreciation & amortization				127,194	860	128,054
Impairment				6,833	17,626	24,459
Bad debt				2,050	2,219	4,269
Total Assets				5,572,077	71,470	5,643,547
Total Liabilities				3,563,132	60,509	3,623,641

The Corporation also evaluates revenue performance by geographic region based on the primary jurisdiction where the Corporation is licensed or approved to offer, or offers through third party licenses or approvals, its products and services. The following tables set out the proportion of revenue attributable to each license or approval (as opposed to the jurisdiction where gameplay actually occurred) generating a minimum of 5% of total consolidated revenue:

	Year Ended December 31, 2016						
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's	
Geographic Area							
Isle of Man	339,513	19,187	3	358,703	_	358,703	
Malta	225,974	166,198	4	392,176	_	392,176	
Italy	77,646	31,693	624	109,963	_	109,963	
United Kingdom	56,837	13,439	387	70,663	_	70,663	
Spain	42,326	24,370	653	67,349	_	67,349	
France	51,989	2,356	573	54,918	_	54,918	
Other licensed or approved							
jurisdictions	51,774	6,871	42,722	101,367	753	102,120	
	846,059	264,114	44,966	1,155,139	753	1,155,892	

	Year ended December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)						
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's	
Geographic Area							
Isle of Man	361,663	14,562	_	376,225	_	376,225	
Malta	238,416	87,153	_	325,569	_	325,569	
Italy	81,304	9,048	600	90,952	_	90,952	
United Kingdom	64,644	10,422	368	75,434	_	75,434	
Spain	44,569	14,977	604	60,150	_	60,150	
France	56,875	_	563	57,438	_	57,438	
Other licensed or approved							
jurisdictions	39,694	131	45,213	85,038	1,514	86,552	
	887,165	136,293	47,348	1,070,806	1,514	1,072,320	

The distribution of some of the Corporation's non-current assets (goodwill, intangible assets and property and equipment) by geographic region is as follows:

	As at December 31,		As at January 1,
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Geographic Area			
Canada	39,993	31,406	19,027
Isle of Man	4,567,314	4,693,965	4,807,704
Malta	_	673	465
Italy	47	61	36
United Kingdom	6,380	5,157	3,453
France	_	376	558
Other licensed or approved jurisdictions	15,638	16,808	193,252
	4,629,372	4,748,446	5,024,495

7. EXPENSES CLASSIFIED BY NATURE

	Year Ended De	cember 31,
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's
		(As adjusted – note 4)
Financial		
Interest and bank charges	167,618	191,376
Foreign exchange (gain) loss	(29,646)	5,850
	137,972	197,226
General and administrative		
Processor costs	56,555	57,719
Office	66,002	62,350
Salaries and fringe benefits	182,080	176,499
Research and development salaries	27,661	32,286
Stock-based compensation	10,289	14,224
Depreciation of property and equipment	8,181	7,584
Amortization of deferred development costs	5,942	1,453
Amortization of intangible assets	125,760	119,017
Professional fees	71,008	67,205
Impairment of intangible assets, investments and associates	16,931	24,459
Bad debt	6,080	4,269
Loss on disposal of assets	923	357
	577,412	567,422
Selling	170,496	166,557
Gaming duty	113,102	139,197
Acquisition-related costs		
Professional fees	199	495
	199	495

8. INCOME TAXES

Details of income tax expense were as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,			
	2016	2015		
	\$000's	\$000'S (As adjusted – note 4)		
Current income tax expense	8,384	7,342		
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)	(4,384)	7,099		
Income tax expense	4,000	14,441		

The Corporation's applicable Canadian statutory tax rate is equal to the Federal and Provincial combined tax rate applicable in the jurisdiction within Canada where the Corporation's head office is registered (i.e., Quebec). Income taxes reported differ from the amount computed by applying the statutory rates to earnings before income taxes. The reconciliation is as follows:

	Year Ended Dec	ember 31,
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted – note 4)
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	139,549	(5,578)
Canadian statutory tax rate	26.9%	26.9%
Statutory income taxes	37,539	(1,501)
Non-taxable income	(99)	(1,130)
Non-deductible expenses	4,710	8,451
Differences in effective income tax rates in foreign jurisdictions	(102,206)	(63,918)
Deferred tax assets not recognized	64,191	69,537
Other	(135)	3,002
Income tax expense	4,000	14,441

Significant components of the Corporation's deferred income tax balance at December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

	Property & Equipment \$000's	Transaction Costs \$000's	Intangibles \$000's	Tax Losses \$000's	Foreign Tax credits \$000's	Other \$000's	Total \$000's
At January 1, 2015	5,211	22,072	(37,258)	11,316	_	5,607	6,948
Credited / (charged) to net earnings (note 4)	(3,468)	(5,523)	1,598	1,751	_	(1,456)	(7,098)
Credited / (charged) to discontinued							
operations net earnings (note 9)	(163)	_	3,472	327	_	(127)	3,509
Credited / (charged) directly to asset/liability	(3,329)	_	656	543	_	2,149	19
Credited / (charged) to other							
comprehensive income	(172)	(1,340)	(228)	2,294	_	508	1,062
Charged directly to equity	_	(5,896)	15	(75)	_	_	(5,956)
Transferred to discontinued operations							
(note 9)	1,959	(5,029)	13,168	(15,855)	_	(12,668)	(18,425)
Acquisition of subsidiary	_	_	(535)	_	_	_	(535)
At December 31, 2015	38	4,284	(19,112)	301	_	(5,987)	(20,476)
Credited / (charged) to net earnings	(10)		1,808	(174)	_	2,760	4,384
Reclassification		(4,284)				4,284	_
Credited / (charged) to other							
comprehensive income	(3)	_		12	_	(81)	(72)
Impairment	_	_	4	_	_	_	4
At December 31, 2016	25		(17,300)	139		976	(16,160)

As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had Canadian Federal and Provincial non-capital losses of approximately \$77.56 million and \$77.08 million, respectively (December 31, 2015 – \$20.40 million and \$21.26 million, respectively), that may be applied against earnings in future years, through December 31, 2036. The Corporation's foreign subsidiaries have non-capital losses of approximately \$610.06 million (December 31, 2015 - \$253.01 million) that may be applied against earnings in future years. The majority of those losses can be applied through December 31, 2023 (\$137.15 million), through December 31, 2024 (\$326.02 million) and through December 31, 2025 (\$119.47 million). As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation did not recognize deferred tax assets with respect to \$34.15 million (December 31, 2015 - \$44.55 million) of deductible temporary differences and \$610.06 million (December 31, 2015 - \$253.01 million) of foreign non-capital losses. The deductible temporary differences and foreign non-capital losses may be applied against earnings in future years, through December 31, 2036. No deferred tax liability has been recognized for unremitted earnings totaling \$695.9 million (December 31, 2015 - \$265.17 million), as the Corporation controls the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

9. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On May 5, 2015, Innova closed its initial public offering (the "Innova Offering"), which included a treasury offering of common shares by Innova and a secondary offering of common shares of Innova by Amaya, with the Corporation receiving aggregate net proceeds of approximately CDN\$34.10 million and maintaining ownership of approximately 40% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Innova. Amaya formed Innova in connection with the Innova Offering and Innova currently holds all of the shares of Diamond Game Enterprises ("Diamond Game"), which was formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary of Amaya. In connection with the Innova Offering, the Corporation entered into an EBITDA support agreement with Innova (as described above in note 5). For information regarding the potential disposition of the Corporation's ownership in Innova and the corresponding reclassification, see notes 14 and 18.

On June 1, 2015, Amaya announced that it had completed the sale of Cadillac Jack Inc. ("Cadillac Jack") to AGS, LLC, an affiliate of funds managed by Apollo Global Management, LLC (NYSE: APO), for approximately \$382 million comprising cash consideration of \$370 million, subject to adjustment, and a \$12 million payment-in-kind note, bearing interest at 5.0% per annum and due on the eighth anniversary of the closing date (the "Cadillac Jack Sale").

On July 31, 2015, Amaya announced that it completed the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of its subsidiaries, Chartwell and Cryptologic, to NYX Gaming Group Limited (TSXV: NYX) ("NYX Gaming Group") and NYX Digital Gaming (Canada) ULC, a subsidiary of NYX Gaming Group (the "NYX Sub") (the "Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale") for gross proceeds of approximately CDN\$150 million, subject to adjustment, of which CDN\$110 million was paid in cash and CDN\$40 million was paid by the NYX Sub through the issuance of exchangeable preferred shares (the "NYX Sub Preferred Shares"). The Corporation used the majority of the net proceeds from the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale for deleveraging, including the Refinancing (as defined in note 20 below). The NYX Sub Preferred Shares (i) rank in priority to all common shares and any other preferred shares of the NYX Sub outstanding as of the closing in the event of winding-up, dissolution or liquidation of the NYX Sub; (ii) are redeemable for cash at any time at the option of the NYX Sub and are subject to mandatory redemption in the event of any financing completed by NYX Gaming Group or any of its affiliates (until all issued and outstanding NYX Sub Preferred Shares are redeemed), in each case at a price equal to the initial liquidation preference of CDN\$40 million, as adjusted from time to time; (iii) are not entitled to receive any dividends; (iv) are not transferrable or assignable, except to an affiliate; and (v) are exchangeable into NYX Gaming Group ordinary shares at any time after one year from the closing date, in whole or in part, upon 35 days' advance written notice to the NYX Sub, at the then applicable exchange ratio, which was initially 8 million NYX Gaming Group ordinary shares. The exchange ratio increases every six months at a rate of 3% commencing six months after the closing of the sale for so long as the NYX Sub Preferred Shares are outstanding.

In connection with the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale, an Amaya subsidiary and NYX Gaming Group entered into a supplier licensing agreement (the "Licensing Agreement") for a term of six years, under which NYX Gaming Group provides certain casino gaming content to the Corporation's real-money online casino offerings. Pursuant to the Licensing Agreement, a subsidiary of Amaya will pay NYX Gaming Group a minimum license commitment in the amount of CDN\$12 million per year for each of the first three years of the Licensing Agreement. Pursuant to a November 24, 2016 amendment to certain NYX Gaming Group debentures held by the Corporation (the "Debentures Amendment"), after May 17, 2017, the Corporation will be entitled to automatically setoff any amount owning under such debentures, as amended by the Debentures Amendment, the Corporation will be entitled to automatically setoff any amount outstanding under the debentures against any amount owing under the License Agreement. See note 15.

Each of the B2B businesses, Diamond Game (now a wholly owned subsidiary of Innova, of which the Corporation holds approximately 40% of its issued and outstanding common shares), Cadillac Jack and Chartwell and Cryptologic are classified as discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2015. The following tables illustrate the impact of these discontinued operations of the Corporation on December 31, 2015:

Results from Discontinued Operations

	Year ended December 31, 2015 \$000's except per share data (As adjusted – note 4)
Total Revenue	45,058
Expenses	(113,758)
Results from operating activities before income taxes	(68,700)
Income taxes	40
Net loss from discontinued operations	(68,740)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations	360,424
Minimum revenue guarantee	(20,827)
Taxes on gain on sale of discontinued operations	(35,124)
Transaction costs	(5,452)
Net earnings from discontinued operations	230,281
Basic earnings from discontinued operations per Common Share	\$ 1.73
Diluted earnings from discontinued operations per Common Share	\$ 1.16

Cash Flows from (Used In) Discontinued Operations

	Year ended December 31,
	2015
	\$000's
	(As adjusted - note 4)
Net cash inflows from operating activities	1,225
Net cash inflows from financing activities	1,218
Net cash outflows from investing activities	(16,121)

Effect on the Financial Position of the Corporation

The assets, liabilities and reserves disposed of in connection with the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale, which was completed during the year ended December 31, 2015, were as follows:

	As of July 31, 2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Cash and cash equivalents	(1,581)
Restricted cash	(98)
Accounts receivable	(2,225)
Investment tax credit	(3,002)
Prepaid expenses and deposits	(714)
Goodwill and intangible assets	(19,577)
Property plant and equipment	(1,671)
Accounts payable	2,230
Provisions	5,394
Income tax payable	485
Other payables	186
Deferred revenue	98
Deferred income tax	2,957
Net assets disposed of in discontinued operations	(17,518)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations	113,089
Gain on sale of discontinued operations	95,571

The assets, liabilities and reserves disposed of in connection with the Cadillac Jack Sale, which was completed during the year ended December 31, 2015, were as follows:

	As of June 1, 2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Cash and cash equivalents	(4,233)
Accounts receivable	(13,589)
Income tax receivable	(2)
Inventory	(5,341)
Prepaid expenses and deposits	(2,484)
Finance lease receivable	(1,401)
Goodwill and intangible assets	(106,310)
Property plant and equipment	(26,275)
Accounts payable	40,508
Provisions	2,225
Income tax payable	228
Other payables	551
Deferred income tax	9,993
Long term debt	343,766
Contributed surplus	3,220
Net liabilities disposed of in discontinued operations	240,856
Cash transferred in sale of discontinued operations	(2,248)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations	238,608

The assets, liabilities and reserves disposed of in connection with the divestiture of Diamond Game through the Innova Offering, which was completed during the year ended December 31, 2015, were as follows:

	As of May 5, 2015
	\$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Cash and cash equivalents	(3,361)
Accounts receivable	(2,874)
Inventory	(1,935)
Prepaid expenses and deposits	(514)
Goodwill and intangible assets	(22,367)
Property plant and equipment	(8,119)
Deferred tax asset	(1,327)
Accounts payable	3,736
Income tax payable	248
Other payables	3,028
Deferred revenue	2,024
Deferred income tax	2,225
Net assets disposed of in discontinued operations	(29,236)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations	55,481
Gain on sale of discontinued operations	26,245

10. NET EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings from continuing operations and earnings per Common Share for the following periods:

	Year Ended December 31,			
	 2016	(/	2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	
Numerator			_	
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per Common Share – net earnings (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 136,144,000	\$	(19,625,000)	
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per Common Share – net earnings from discontinuing operations	\$ _	\$	230,281,000	
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per Common Share – net earnings	\$ 136,144,000	\$	210,656,000	
Denominator				
Denominator for basic earnings per Common Share – weighted average number of Common Shares	 141,463,244		133,238,795	
Effect of dilutive securities				
Stock options	1,585,173		2,403,516	
Warrants	_		12,971,474	
Convertible Preferred Shares	 52,384,503		49,379,715	
Effect of dilutive securities	 53,969,676		64,754,705	
Dilutive potential for diluted earnings per Common Share	195,432,920		197,993,500	
Basic earnings (loss) from continuing operations per Common Share	\$ 0.96	\$	(0.15)	
Diluted earnings (loss) from continuing operations per Common Share	\$ 0.70	\$	(0.15)	
Basic earnings from discontinued operations per Common Share	\$ 	\$	1.73	
Diluted earnings from discontinued operations per				
Common Share	\$ 	\$	1.16	
Basic earnings per Common Share	\$ 0.96	\$	1.58	
Diluted earnings per Common Share	\$ 0.70	\$	1.06	

As the Corporation reported a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015, the effect of the conversion or exercise of stock options, warrants and convertible Preferred Shares (as defined below) was anti-dilutive and excluded from the calculation.

11. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

The following table illustrates the reclassification of certain items in the consolidated statement of cash flows for customer deposits

	Y	ear Ended December 31,	
	2015 \$000's (As adjusted – note 4)	2015 \$000's (As reclassified)	2015 \$000's
Adjustment to operating activities			
Changes in non-cash operating elements of working capital	(8,761)	55,225	46,464
Customer deposit liability movement	<u></u>	(55,225)	(55,225)
	(8,761)	<u> </u>	(8,761)
Adjustment to investing activities			
Purchase of investments	27,833	(57,770)	(29,937)
Sale of investments utilizing customer deposits	<u></u>	57,770	57,770
	27,833	_	27,833

The Corporation separated Cash and cash equivalents into two line items, "Cash and cash equivalents – operational" and "Cash and cash equivalents - customer deposits", in the consolidated statement of financial position. Cash and cash equivalents – operational presents cash and cash equivalents that is available for use by the Corporation for operations whereas Cash and cash equivalents – customer deposits presents cash and cash equivalents that is only available to the Corporation to cover its customer deposit liability.

The Corporation also separated Current investments into two line items, "Current investments" and "Current investments – customer deposits", in the consolidated statement of financial position. Current investments presents current investments (i.e., short term, highly liquid investments) held by the Corporation and that the Corporation may liquidate to use for operations whereas Current investments – customer deposits presents current investments held by the Corporation and that the Corporation may only liquidate to cover its customer deposit liability (whether directly or by adding the proceeds to Cash and cash equivalents – customer deposits).

As a result of these reclassifications, the Corporation also (i) reclassified the sale of current investments relating to customer deposits from "Net purchases of investments" in the investing activities section of the consolidated statement of cash flows to its own line item titled "Sale of investments utilizing customer deposits" within the investing activities section of the same statement, and (ii) reclassified the customer deposit liability movements from net working capital to its own line item titled "Customer deposit liability movement". These reclassifications had no impact on the total cash flow change.

12. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the year ended December 31, 2016:

	Note	Software Technology \$000's	Customer Relationships \$000's	Brands \$000's	Deferred Development Costs \$000's	Goodwill \$000's	Other \$000's	Total \$000's
Cost								
Balance – January 1, 2016		115,283	1,423,719	485,253	30,309	2,810,470	19,992	4,885,026
Additions		_	_	_	20,961	_	7,669	28,630
Additions through business combination		824	_	_	_	200	_	1,024
Disposals		_	_	_	(1,784)	_	(11,646)	(13,430)
Reclassification		_	_	_	(678)	_	_	(678)
Translation		(28)	_	_	_	11	(342)	(359)
Balance – December 31, 2016		116,079	1,423,719	485,253	48,808	2,810,681	15,673	4,900,213
Accumulated amortization and impairments								
Balance – January 1, 2016		32,122	134,462	_	3,122	_	13,966	183,672
Amortization		27,478	94,915	_	5,942	_	3,367	131,702
Disposals		_	_	_	(1,784)	_	(11,634)	(13,418)
Impairment		1,563	_	_	2,552	5,471	155	9,741
Translation		_	_	_	_	_	(56)	(56)
Balance – December 31, 2016		61,163	229,377	_	9,832	5,471	5,798	311,641
Net carrying amount								
At January 1, 2016		83,161	1,289,257	485,253	27,187	2,810,470	6,026	4,701,354
At December 31, 2016		54,916	1,194,342	485,253	38,976	2,805,210	9,875	4,588,572

	Note	Software Technology \$000's	Customer Relationships \$000's	Brands \$000's	Deferred Development Costs \$000's	Goodwill \$000's	Other \$000's	Total \$000's
Cost								_
Balance – January 1, 2015		172,688	1,436,341	485,253	15,600	2,896,833	32,545	5,039,260
Additions		_	_	_	22,999	_	4,366	27,365
Additions through business combination		2,440	_	_	_	5,260	_	7,700
Disposals		_	_	_	_	_	(590)	(590)
Assets disposed in discontinued operations	9	(59,473)	(12,552)	_	(8,474)	(91,486)	(15,029)	(187,014)
Reclassification		_	_	_	642	1,027	1,091	2,760
Translation		(372)	(70)		(458)	(1,164)	(2,391)	(4,455)
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)		115,283	1,423,719	485,253	30,309	2,810,470	19,992	4,885,026
Accumulated amortization and impairments								
Balance – January 1, 2015		36,409	41,078	_	3,486	_	15,572	96,545
Amortization		25,621	95,113	_	1,853	_	2,109	124,696
Disposals			_	_	_	_	(437)	(437)
Impairment		_	_	_	324	_	2,623	2,947
Assets disposed in discontinued operations	9	(29,647)	(1,712)	_	(2,191)	_	(5,210)	(38,760)
Reclassification		_	_	_	_	_	822	822
Translation		(261)	(17)		(350)		(1,513)	(2,141)
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)		32,122	134,462	_	3,122		13,966	183,672
Net carrying amount		1000=0	4 00= 000	40= 0=0			4.0.000	
At January 1, 2015		136,279	1,395,263	485,253	12,114	2,896,833	16,973	4,942,715
At December 31, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)		83,161	1,289,257	485,253	27,187	2,810,470	6,026	4,701,354

The Corporation recognized impairment losses (classified in general and administrative expenses) related to goodwill and software technology previously classified as "Corporate" assets (see note 5 above) of \$7.19 million (December 31, 2015 - \$nil). The Corporation recognized impairment losses of \$2.55 million (December 31, 2015 - \$nil) related to deferred development cost. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Corporation determined that certain B2B-related intangible assets were redundant to the Corporation's core operations, which then-consisted and currently consist of its B2C operations. As a result, during the same year, the Corporation recognized impairment losses (classified in general and administrative expenses) related to licenses (included in Other) of \$2.62 million and related to deferred development costs of \$324,000.

Impairment Testing

The Corporation performed an annual impairment test for its B2C operations in connection with the preparation of its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016. The Corporation identified the B2C operations as a single CGU for impairment testing purposes. A recoverable amount for the CGU has been determined based on the value in use methodology.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculation are those regarding the discount rate, growth rate and Adjusted EBITDA forecasts. Adjusted EBITDA is defined by the Corporation as net earnings (loss) from continuing operations before interest and financing costs (net of interest income), income taxes, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, restructuring and certain other items. These assumptions have been revised in the year ended December 31, 2016. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU.

The Corporation prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the next five years and extrapolates cash flows based on an estimated growth rate of 1.9% and a discount rate of 11.7% (December 31, 2015 - 3.0% and 11.7%). The estimated growth rate is based on the inflation rates of many of the European markets in which the Corporation is operating.

The Corporation believes that any reasonable change to these principal assumptions is unlikely to cause the CGU's carrying value to exceed its recoverable amount. This fair value measurement is a level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy.

Based on the goodwill impairment test performed, the recoverable amount of the CGU was in excess of its carrying amount and accordingly, there is no impairment of the carrying value of the goodwill.

Based on the indefinite life intangible asset impairment test performed, the fair value of the asset was in excess of its carrying amount and accordingly, there is no impairment of the carrying value of the intangible asset.

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended December 31, 2016:

	Note	Revenue- Producing Assets \$000's	Furniture and Fixtures \$000's	Computer Equipment \$000's	Building \$000's	Total \$000's
Cost						
Balance – January 1, 2016		117	11,099	14,589	26,351	52,156
Additions		3	1,536	5,267	_	6,806
Disposals		(40)	(2,762)	(965)	_	(3,767)
Translation		4	(517)	(264)	(4,746)	(5,523)
Balance – December 31, 2016		84	9,356	18,627	21,605	49,672
Accumulated depreciation						
Balance – January 1, 2016		29	1,536	2,143	1,356	5,064
Depreciation		16	3,023	4,144	998	8,181
Disposals		(22)	(1,971)	(742)	_	(2,735)
Translation		1	(571)	(306)	(762)	(1,638)
Balance – December 31, 2016		24	2,017	5,239	1,592	8,872
Net carrying amount						
At January 1, 2016		88	9,563	12,446	24,995	47,092
At December 31 2016		60	7,339	13,388	20,013	40,800

	Note	Revenue- Producing Assets \$000's	Furniture and Fixtures \$000's	Computer Equipment \$000's	Building \$000's	Total \$000's
Cost						
Balance – January 1, 2015		45,610	11,749	17,067	28,476	102,902
Additions		3,828	4,631	7,621	_	16,080
Disposals		(593)	(2,117)	(1,605)	_	(4,315)
Reclassifications and other		(99)	83	(1,086)	_	(1,102)
Assets disposed in discontinued operations	9	(47,568)	(3,132)	(7,423)	_	(58,123)
Translation		(1,061)	(115)	15	(2,125)	(3,286)
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)		117	11,099	14,589	26,351	52,156
Accumulated depreciation						
Balance – January 1, 2015		16,864	1,138	2,604	516	21,122
Depreciation		2,724	2,917	4,016	1,132	10,789
Disposals		(265)	(2,036)	(1,290)	_	(3,591)
Reclassifications and other		_	(15)	(808)	_	(823)
Assets disposed in discontinued operations	9	(18,203)	(983)	(2,872)	_	(22,058)
Translation		(1,091)	515	493	(292)	(375)
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)		29	1,536	2,143	1,356	5,064
Net carrying amount						
At January 1, 2015		28,746	10,611	14,463	27,960	81,780
At December 31 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)		88	9,563	12,446	24,995	47,092

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Corporation assessed whether its 40% common share ownership in Innova following the Innova Offering represented control or significant influence and determined that while it does not have control for various reasons, including a lack of representation on Innova's board of directors and the ability to exercise power over Innova, it does have significant influence over Innova. On October 28, 2016, the Corporation decided to pursue a potential disposition of its ownership in Innova. The investment was therefore reclassified to assets held for sale as of that date (see note 18). During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recognized an impairment loss (classified in general and administrative expenses) of \$4.21 million (December 31, 2015 – \$14.05 million) as a result of the significant and sustained decline in the fair market value of the Innova common shares before the shares were reclassified.

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for investment in associates:

	Note	\$000's
Balance – January 1, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)	<u> </u>	1,835
Disposal of investment in associates		(712)
Additional investment in associates		27,482
Loss included in income (loss) from investments		(555)
Loss included in income (loss) from associates		(727)
Impairment loss included in general and administrative expenses	7	(14,052)
Translation		(2,537)
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)	_	10,734
Income included in income from associates		623
Reclassified to long-term investments		(501)
Impairment loss included in general and administrative expenses	7	(4,206)
Translation		487
Reclassified to assets held for sale		(7,137)
Balance – December 31, 2016	_	_

15. INVESTMENTS

The Corporation held the following investments:

	As at Dece	ember 31,	As at January 1,
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted – note	2015 \$000's (As adjusted – note
	Carrying value & fair value	Carrying value & fair value	Carrying value & fair value
Funds – Available for sale	65,427	57,339	149,814
Bonds – Available for sale	91,696	90,963	105,618
Debentures – Fair value through profit/loss1	7,556	12,260	16,686
Equity in quoted companies – Available for sale	123,808	147,021	72,709
Equity in private companies – Available for sale	6,921	9,462	8,957
Total investments	295,408	317,045	353,784
Current portion	288,487	307,583	344,827
Non-current portion	6,921	9,462	8,957

A financial asset is designated as fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if it is part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives and the entire contract is designated as such.

Investments relate primarily to customer deposits held in accounts segregated from investments held for operational purposes. As of December 31, 2016, Customer deposits were covered by \$228.51 million in investments and \$138.23 million in cash.

The Corporation recognized losses related to various NYX Gaming Group and related investments of \$13.66 million (December 31, 2015 - \$10.65 million). This loss flowed through income from investments on the consolidated statements of earnings.

The following table provides information about the carrying value of bonds and debentures held by the Corporation that are due over the current and non-current terms:

	1 year or less \$000's	1 to 5 years \$000's	Greater than 5 years \$000's
Bonds	20,351	65,906	5,439
Debentures	5,926	1,630	_
Total	26,277	67,536	5,439

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recognized a loss from investments as follows:

	Funds \$000's	Bonds \$000's	Debentures \$000's	Equity in quoted companies \$000's	Equity in private companies \$000's	Total \$000's
Investment income earned	618	1,401	860	1,874	_	4,753
Realized gains/(losses)	279	(9)	175	(765)	(463)	(783)
Unrealized gains/(losses)	2,796	583	_	(1,013)	_	2,366
Impairment	_	_	_	(3,193)	_	(3,193)
Changes in fair value through profit/loss	_	_	(909)	(11,063)	_	(11,972)
Total	3,693	1,975	126	(14,160)	(463)	(8,829)

Investment income from bonds and debentures includes interest income and premium and discount amortization. Income from funds and equity includes dividends and distributions from quoted companies.

Debentures - Fair value through profit or loss

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Corporation acquired then-convertible debentures for a total cost of CDN\$9 million from NYX Gaming Group, which bear interest at 6.00% per annum (the Corporation originally acquired CDN\$10 million of such debentures but subsequently sold and assigned CDN\$1 million of the same soon thereafter). The debentures previously had a maturity date of November 17, 2016 and were convertible at the Corporation's option into fully paid common shares of NYX Gaming Group at any time prior to the maturity date at a conversion price of CDN\$3.20 per common share. However, pursuant to the Debentures Amendment, the Corporation and NYX Gaming Group extended the maturity date of the debentures and agreed that they would be repaid solely in cash monthly payments of CDN\$1 million beginning on May 17, 2017 until the balance due date of April 17, 2018. In addition, after May 17, 2017, the Corporation will be entitled to automatically setoff any amount owning under such debentures, as amended by the Debentures Amendment, against any amounts owing under the minimum license commitment set forth in the License Agreement (see note 25 where this commitment is presented as the minimum revenue guarantee related to the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale). Following an event of default under such debentures, as amended by the Debentures Amendment, the Corporation will be entitled to automatically setoff any amount outstanding under the debentures against any amount owing under the License Agreement.

	Debentures \$000's
As at January 1, 2015 (As adjusted – note 4)	16,686
Unrealized loss on investment	(1,862)
Translation	(2,564)
As at December 31, 2015 (As adjusted– note 4)	12,260
Realized gain on investment	1,035
Unrealized loss on investment	(909)
Converted to equity	(5,310)
Translation	480
As at December 31, 2016	7,556

Subsidiaries

As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had the following significant subsidiaries:

Name of principal subsidiary	Country of incorporation	Principal business	Percentage of ownership
Amaya Holdings B.V.	Netherlands	Intermediate holding company and investment vehicle	100%
Amaya Group Holdings Limited	Isle of Man	Intermediate holding company	100%
Worldwide Independent Trust Limited	Isle of Man	Treasury	100%
REEL Italy Limited	Malta	Various	100%
Rational Entertainment Enterprises Limited	Isle of Man	B2C services	100%
Naris Limited	Isle of Man	Treasury	100%
Amaya Group Limited	Isle of Man	Intermediate holding company	100%
RG Cash Plus Limited	Isle of Man	Treasury	100%
Rational Gaming Europe Limited	Malta	Various	100%

16. RESTRICTED CASH ADVANCES AND COLLATERAL

Restricted cash held by the Corporation consists of the following components:

	As at Dece	ember 31,	As at January 1,
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Guarantees in connection with licenses held	5,728	5,277	7,575
Amount owing to the DOJ* paid August 2015	_	_	97,000
Funds in connection with hedging contracts	2,879	2,000	2,400
Funds in excess of working capital requirements set aside for deferred payment **	_	110,892	48,314
Segregated funds in respect of payment processors	2,625	_	_
Cash portion of Kentucky Bond Collateral ***	40,000	_	_
Other	263	_	108
Restricted cash advances and collateral – total	51,495	118,169	155,397
Restricted cash advances and collateral – current portion	5,767		97,000
Restricted cash advances and collateral – non-current portion	45,728	118,169	58,397

- * This is the last payment related to a settlement that certain Oldford Group subsidiaries and affiliates reached with the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ") Southern District of New York, which was publicly announced in July 2012. As part of the settlement agreement, Oldford Group also acquired the assets of its primary competitor at the time, Full Tilt Poker, and committed to the full reimbursement of Full Tilt Poker customers inside and outside the United States.
- ** The purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition included a \$4.5 billion payment made at closing of the transaction, plus a deferred payment in the aggregate amount of \$400 million, payable on February 1, 2017. The Corporation must deposit into a separate bank account an amount equal to 35% of its monthly excess cash flow as defined under the credit agreements governing the First Lien Term Loans and USD Second Lien Term Loan (see note 20). On November 18, 2016, the Corporation prepaid approximately \$200 million of the deferred payment using approximately \$143 million of its required monthly excess cash flow deposits and approximately \$57 million of unrestricted cash on its balance sheet. For additional information on the deferred payment and additional payments made after December 31, 2016, see note 34.
- *** For the year ended December 31, 2016, \$40 million of restricted cash was collateralized as part of the Kentucky Bond Collateral (as defined below; see note 19) and now appears in Cash portion of Kentucky Bond Collateral.

17. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEPOSITS

As at Dece	ember 31,	As at January 1,	
2016	2015 \$000's (As adjusted – note	2015 \$000's (As adjusted – note	
6,184	8,375	11,056	
14,888	21,828	17,393	
1,495	531	4,001	
22,567	30,734	32,450	
20,698	21,014	22,060	
100	780	1,964	
20,798	21,794	24,024	
	\$000's 6,184 14,888 1,495 22,567 20,698 100	\$000's \$000's \$000's (As adjusted - note 4) 6,184 8,375 14,888 21,828 1,495 531 22,567 30,734 20,698 21,014 100 780	

Prepaid royalties include prepaid revenue share paid to a business partner. Prepaid expenses include selling and general and administrative expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recognized an impairment loss (classified in general and administrative expenses) related to non-current prepaid royalties of \$nil (December 31, 2015 - \$6.84 million).

18. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In connection with the Innova Offering (as defined above), the Corporation maintained ownership of approximately 40% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Innova. During the three months ended December 31, 2016, senior management committed to a plan to sell its ownership in Innova and it currently believes that such a disposition is likely to occur within the next 12 months. As such, the Corporation's investment in Innova was reclassified from investments in associates to assets held for sale as of that date.

19. CREDIT FACILITY

The Corporation obtained a first lien revolving credit facility of \$100 million on August 1, 2014 in connection with the Rational Group Acquisition (the "Credit Facility"). Maturing on August 1, 2019, the Credit Facility can be used to fund working capital needs and for general corporate purposes. The interest rate under the Credit Facility is, at the Corporation's option, either LIBOR plus 4.00% or ABR plus 3.00%. The applicable commitment fee on the Credit Facility is based on a first lien leverage ratio of 3.75 to 1.00 and could range from 0.375% to 0.50%. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, including the absence of a default and compliance with certain representations and warranties.

As at each of December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2015, there were no amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility. However, in connection with the Kentucky Proceeding (as defined in note 31 below) on February 22, 2016, the Corporation filed a notice of appeal to the Kentucky Court of Appeals and posted a \$100 million supersedeas bond to stay enforcement of the order for damages during the pendency of the appeals process. The posting of the bond required the delivery of cash collateral in the amount of \$40 million and letters of credit in the aggregate amount of \$30 million (collectively, the "Bond Collateral"), thereby reducing the availability under the Credit Facility to \$70 million as of the date hereof.

20. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2015 (all capitalized terms used in the table below relating to such long-term debt are defined below in this note):

	Interest rate	December 31, 2016, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's	December 31, 2016 Carrying amount \$000's	December 31, 2015, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's	December 31, 2015 Carrying amount \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	January 1, 2015, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's	January 1, 2015 Carrying amount \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
USD First Lien Term Loan	5.00%	2,021,097	1,965,929	2,041,616	1,978,763	1,745,625	1,686,252
EUR First Lien Term Loan	5.25%	286,143	296,197	289,048	307,584	199,500	233,935
USD Second Lien Term Loan	8.00%	210,000	166,453	210,000	161,524	800,000	752,969
USD Senior Facility		_	_	_	_	238,000	236,110
USD Mezzanine Facility		_	_	_	_	104,537	88,734
CDN 2013 Debentures	7.50%	_	_	30,000	21,556	30,000	24,151
Total long-term debt			2,428,579		2,469,427		3,022,151
Current portion			47,750		32,889		
Non-current portion			2,380,829		2,436,538		

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation incurred the following interest on its then-outstanding long-term debt:

	Effective interest rate	Interest \$000's	Interest Accretion \$000's	Total Interest \$000's
USD First Lien Term Loan	5.71%	95,356	7,721	103,077
EUR First Lien Term Loan	5.68%	16,950	1,241	18,191
USD Second Lien Term Loan	13.26%	17,082	4,929	22,011
CDN 2013 Debentures	7.50%	_	125	125
Total		129,388	14,016	143,404

The effective interest rate on the USD Second Lien Term Loan increased from 2014 as a result of the Refinancing.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Corporation incurred the following interest on its then-outstanding long-term debt:

	Effective interest rate	Interest \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	Interest Accretion \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	Total Interest \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
USD First Lien Term Loan	5.71%	87,813	11,010	98,823
EUR First Lien Term Loan	5.68%	13,880	984	14,864
USD Second Lien Term Loan	13.26%	46,339	4,455	50,794
USD Senior Facility	9.90%	9,154	1,890	11,044
USD Mezzanine Facility	16.16%	2,614	17,632	20,246
CDN 2013 Debentures	14.10%	1,832	1,419	3,251
Total		161,632	37,390	199,022

The Corporation's debt balance for the year ended December 31, 2016 was as follows:

	Opening Balance \$000's	Principal Movements \$000's	Transaction costs \$000's	Accretion \$000's	Translation \$000's	Total \$000's	Current \$000's	Long-term \$000's
USD First Lien Term Loan	1,978,763	(20,587)		7,752		1,965,928	45,848	1,920,080
EUR First Lien Term Loan	307,584	(3,204)	_	1,241	(9,423)	296,198	7,512	288,686
USD Second Lien Term Loan	161,524	_	_	4,929	_	166,453	(5,610)	172,063
CDN 2013 Debentures	21,556	(22,561)	_	_	1,005	_	_	_
Total	2,469,427	(46,352)		13,922	(8,418)	2,428,579	47,750	2,380,829

The Corporation's debt balance for the year ended December 31, 2015 was as follows:

	Opening Balance \$000's	Principal Movements \$000's	Transaction costs \$000's	Accretion \$000's	Translation \$000's	Total \$000's	Current \$000's	Long-term \$000's
USD First Lien Term Loan	1,686,252	295,991	(14,490)	11,010	_	1,978,763	9,191	1,969,572
EUR First Lien Term Loan	233,935	99,357	(551)	984	(26,141)	307,584	2,142	305,442
USD Second Lien Term Loan	752,969	(590,000)	(5,900)	4,455	_	161,524	_	161,524
USD Senior Facility	236,110	(238,000)	_	1,890	_	_	_	_
USD Mezzanine Facility	88,734	(106,366)	_	17,632	_	_	_	_
CDN 2013 Debentures	24,151	_	_	1,419	(4,014)	21,556	21,556	_
Total (As adjusted - note 4)	3,022,151	(539,018)	(20,941)	37,390	(30,155)	2,469,427	32,889	2,436,538

The principal repayments of the Corporation's currently outstanding long-term debt over the next five years, as adjusted for revised estimates of excess cash flow allocations to the principal repayment of the First Lien Term Loans, amount to the following:

	1 Year \$000's	2 Years \$000's	3 Years \$000's	4 Years \$000's	5 Years and Greater \$000's
USD First Lien Term Loan	57,244	80,657	20,519	20,519	1,842,158
EUR First Lien Term Loan	8,529	12,017	3,057	3,057	274,456
USD Second Lien Term Loan	_	_	_	_	210,000
Total	65,773	92,674	23,576	23,576	2,326,614

(a) First and Second Lien Term Loans

On August 1, 2014, Amaya completed the Rational Group Acquisition, which was partly financed through the issuance of long-term debt, allocated into first and second lien term loans. Without giving effect to the Refinancing, the first lien term loans consisted of a \$1.75 billion seven-year first lien term loan priced at LIBOR plus 4.00% (the "USD First Lien Term Loan") and a €200 million seven-year first lien term loan priced at Euribor plus 4.25% (the "EUR First Lien Term Loan" and, together with the USD First Lien Term

Loan, the "First Lien Term Loans"), in each case with a 1.00% LIBOR and Euribor floor and repayable on August 22, 2021. Also without giving effect to the Refinancing, the second lien term loan consisted of an \$800 million eight-year loan priced at LIBOR plus 7.00%, with a 1.00% LIBOR floor and repayable on August 1, 2022 (the "USD Second Lien Term Loan").

On August 12, 2015, the Corporation completed the previously announced refinancing of certain of its outstanding long-term indebtedness (the "Refinancing). The Refinancing included the repayment of approximately \$590 million of the USD Second Lien Term Loan. The Corporation funded this repayment, as well as fees and related costs, through a combination of an approximately \$315 million increase of the existing USD First Lien Term Loan, approximately \$92 million increase of the existing EUR First Lien Term Loan and approximately \$195 million in cash. The credit agreement related to the First Lien Term Loans was amended to, among other things, provide for these increased term loan facilities. In addition, on March 3, 2017, the Corporation completed the Repricing, which is described in note 34.

First Lien Term Loans

Giving effect to the Refinancing, the USD First Lien Term Loan increased to \$2.04 billion and the EUR First Lien Term Loan increased to €289 million. The applicable interest rates remained the same.

The Corporation is required to allocate up to 50% of the excess cash flow of the Corporation to the principal repayment of the First Lien Term Loans. Excess cash flow is referred to as EBITDA of Amaya Holdings B.V. on a consolidated basis for such excess cash flow period (i.e., each fiscal year commencing with the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2015), minus, without duplication, debt service, capital expenditures, permitted business acquisitions and investments, taxes paid in cash, increases in working capital, cash expenditures in respect of swap agreements, any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring loss, income or gain on asset dispositions, and plus, without any duplication, decreases in working capital, capital expenditures funded with the proceeds of the issuance of debt or the issuance of equity, cash payments received in respect of swap agreements, any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring gain realized in cash and cash interest income to the extent deducted in the computation of EBITDA.

The percentage allocated to the principal repayment can fluctuate based on the following:

- If the total secured leverage ratio at the end of the applicable excess cash flow period is less than or equal to 4.75 to 1.00 but is greater than 4.00 to 1.00, the repayments will be 25% of the excess cash flow.
- If the total secured leverage ratio at the end of the applicable excess cash flow period is less than or equal to 4.00 to 1.00, the repayment will be 0% of the excess cash flow.

As a result of the Refinancing and Repricing (which occurred after the year ended December 31, 2016) and respective amendments to the credit agreement for the First Lien Term Loans, the Corporation was not required to allocate any excess cash flow to the principal repayment of the First Lien Term Loans during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016 and will not be required to do so during the fiscal years ending December 31, 2017 and 2018. Notwithstanding, during the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation revised its estimates of excess cash flow allocations to the principal repayment of the First Lien Term Loans over the next five years.

The agreement for the First Lien Term Loans restricts Amaya Holdings B.V. and its subsidiaries from, among other things, incurring additional debt or granting additional liens on its assets and equity, distributing equity interests and distributing any assets to third parties.

Second Lien Term Loan

Giving effect to the Refinancing, the Second Lien Term Loan decreased to \$210 million. The applicable interest rate remained the same.

(b) Senior Facility

On May 15, 2014, a former subsidiary of the Corporation, Cadillac Jack obtained an incremental \$80 million term loan to its then-existing credit facilities through an amendment thereto for the purpose of financing working capital expenses and general corporate purposes of the Corporation. The new aggregate principal amount of \$240 million accrued interest at a per annum rate equal to LIBOR plus 8.5% with a 1% LIBOR floor (as amended, the "USD Senior Facility"). The USD Senior Facility was to mature over a five-year term from the closing date and was secured by the stock and the assets of the subsidiary. The Corporation fully repaid, and satisfied all outstanding obligations under, the USD Senior Facility on May 29, 2015.

(c) Mezzanine Facility

On May 15, 2014, Cadillac Jack obtained a mezzanine subordinated unsecured loan (the "USD Mezzanine Facility") in the form of a subordinated term loan in the aggregate principal amount of \$100 million, bearing interest at a per annum rate equal to 13%; provided, at the option of the subsidiary, interest accruing at a per annum rate of 7% could instead be paid in-kind in lieu of cash. The USD Mezzanine Facility was to mature over a six-year term from the closing date and was unsecured. The Corporation fully repaid, and satisfied all outstanding obligations under, the USD Mezzanine Facility on May 29, 2015.

The repayment of the USD Senior Facility and USD Mezzanine Facility resulted in the Corporation repaying approximately \$344 million of debt, thereby eliminating all related debt service costs, including interest payments, of each of the USD Senior Facility and USD Mezzanine Facility.

(d) 2013 Debentures

On February 7, 2013, the Corporation closed a private placement of units, issuing and selling 30,000 units at a price of CDN \$1,000 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of CDN \$30 million. Each unit consisted of certain non-convertible subordinated debentures (the "CDN 2013 Debentures") and non-transferable Common Share purchase warrants. The CDN 2013 Debentures matured on January 31, 2016 and CDN \$30 million was repaid on February 1, 2016 and the then-remaining outstanding warrants expired on January 31, 2016. As of such date, the Corporation had no further obligations under or with respect to the same.

21. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Corporation's objective in managing capital is to ensure a sufficient liquidity position to manage its business and growth objectives while maximizing return to shareholders through the optimization of debt and equity. On an ongoing basis, liquidity is necessary to finance its marketing activities, research and development activities, general and administrative expenses, working capital and overall capital expenditures.

The Corporation has historically financed its liquidity needs, primarily through borrowings, hybrid instruments and issuance of capital stock. Since the Rational Group Acquisition, the Corporation has met all of its current liquidity requirements from the cash flow generated from its cash flow from operations.

The capital structure of the Corporation and its subsidiaries consists of net debt, which includes long-term debt, and is offset by cash balances, and total equity attributable to shareholders. The Corporation's capital management objectives are to optimize its capital structure with a view to both deleverage existing operations and minimize dilution by focusing on, among other things, improving profitability, repaying debt and undertaking stock buy-back programs.

For additional information regarding the Corporation's liquidity risk, see note 32.

22. DERIVATIVES

The Corporation is exposed to interest rate and currency risk. The Corporation uses derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes only, not for generating trading profits, and anticipates that such instruments will mitigate interest rate and currency risk, as applicable. As such, any change in cash flows associated with derivative instruments is expected to be offset by changes in cash flows related the hedged position.

Cash flow hedge accounting

On March 2, 2015, a subsidiary of the Corporation entered into cross-currency interest rate swap agreements (the "March 2015 Swap Agreements"). A USD notional amount of \$1.74 billion was designated in cash flow hedge relationships to hedge the interest rate and foreign exchange of the USD First Lien Term Loan bearing a minimum floating interest rate of 5.0% (USD three-month LIBOR plus a 4.0% margin, with a LIBOR floor of 1.0%). The March 2015 Swap Agreements, which mature in five years, fixes the Euro to USD exchange rate at 1.1102 and fixes the Euro interest payments at an average rate of 4.6016%.

In connection with the Refinancing, a subsidiary of the Corporation entered into two additional cross-currency interest rate swap agreements to hedge the interest rate and foreign exchange, effective August 12, 2015, for a USD notional amount of \$325 million (the "August 2015 Swap Agreements" and together with the March 2015 Swap Agreements, the "Swap Agreements" or "CCIRS"). A portion of the August 2015 Swap Agreements (USD notional amount of \$302 million) was designated in cash flow hedge relationships to hedge the interest rate and foreign exchange of the USD First Lien Term Loan bearing a minimum floating interest rate of 5.0% (USD three-month LIBOR plus a 4.0% margin, with a LIBOR floor of 1.0%). The August 2015 Swap Agreements, which mature in five years, fix the Euro to USD exchange rate of 1.094 and fix the Euro interest payments at an average rate of 4.657%. Subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Corporation unwound and settled a notional principal amount of \$616.54 million of the CCIRS for a gain of \$13.9 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recognized an ineffectiveness gain with respect to the cash flow hedge of approximately \$470,000 (December 31, 2015 - \$nil) recognized in financial expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, \$7.75 million (December 31, 2015 - \$6.71 million) was reclassified from equity to the consolidated statement of earnings as Financial expenses. The ineffectiveness of the cash flow hedge recognized for the period was \$nil (December 31, 2015 - \$nil).

The fair value of the CCIRS in hedging relationships included in the derivative assets of the Corporation as at December 31, 2016 was \$52.04 million (December 31, 2015 – \$9.47 million) and the fair value of the CCIRS in hedging relationships included in the derivative liabilities of the Corporation as at December 31, 2016 was \$nil (December 31, 2015 – \$16.54 million).

Net investment hedge accounting

During a portion of each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, the Corporation designated a portion of the USD First Lien Term Loan, its entire principal amount of the USD Second Lien Term Loan and its deferred consideration (i.e., the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition) as a foreign exchange hedge of its net investment in its foreign operations. Accordingly, the portion of the losses arising from the translation of the USD-denominated liabilities that was determined to be an effective hedge during the period was recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, counterbalancing a portion of the losses arising from translation of the Corporation's net investment in its foreign operations.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there was no ineffectiveness with respect to the net investment hedge.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recorded an unrealized exchange loss on translation of \$48.29 million (December 31, 2015 - \$455,000) in the cumulative translation adjustment in reserves related to the translation of a portion of the USD First Lien Term Loan, USD Second Lien Term Loan and the deferred consideration.

Derivative instruments without hedge accounting

As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had a series of forward foreign exchange contracts to sell USD for Euros. These economic hedges are intended to mitigate the impact of the fluctuation of the USD to Euro exchange rates on foreign currency liabilities. The series of contracts were for the sale of \$125.52 million for €114.34 million at a rate of \$1.0978 to €1.0000 with a maturity date of March 31, 2017.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recognized a realized loss in income on forward foreign exchange contracts of \$1.47 million and an unrealized loss in income of \$4.92 million.

Put liabilities

In connection with the July 31, 2015 acquisition of Stars Fantasy Sports Subco, LLC, the operator of the Corporation's StarsDraft brand, the Corporation granted a put option to the sellers whereby such sellers have the right, but not the obligation, to sell to the Corporation all the equity interests then held by such sellers. This derivative was recorded as at December 31, 2016 at the present value of \$5.59 million (December 31, 2015 - \$5.29 million). The put option was categorized as a Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy and used a 5.7% discount rate (December 31, 2015 - 5.7%) to determine its fair value.

The following table summarizes the fair value of derivatives as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the change in fair value for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

	Forward Contracts \$000's	Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts \$000's	Total \$000's
Opening balance, as at January 1, 2015	_	_	_
Unrealized gain in fair value	4,012	9,473	13,485
Total derivative asset as at December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	4,012	9,473	13,485
Unrealized gain (loss) in fair value	(4,012)	42,565	38,553
Total derivative asset as at December 31, 2016		52,038	52,038

	Forward Contracts \$000's	Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts \$000's	Put Liability \$000's	Total \$000's
Opening balance, as at January 1, 2015				_
Unrealized loss in fair value	2,184	16,538	_	18,722
Derivatives granted on acquisitions	_	_	6,102	6,102
Total derivative liability as at December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	2,184	16,538	6,102	24,824
Unrealized gain (loss) in fair value	3,106	(16,538)	(815)	(14,247)
Accretion	_	_	307	307
Translation	(368)	_	_	(368)
Total derivative liability as at December 31, 2016	4,922		5,594	10,516
Current portion	4,922	_		4,922
Non-current portion			5,594	5,594

23. COMMITMENTS

The Corporation's commitments under lease agreements for premises and other obligations as at December 31, 2016 aggregate to approximately \$41.02 million and are payable as follows:

	Within one year \$000's	Later than one year but not later than 5 years \$000's	More than 5 years \$000's
Rent	6,629	17,374	15,611
Other	1,377	26	
Total	8,006	17,400	15,611

24. OTHER PAYABLES

The Corporation's other payables primarily comprise customer coins and certain Austria gaming duty as described below. The customer coins relate to loyalty programs operated by the B2C business for its customers, which involves awarding customer coins, i.e., loyalty points, based on amounts wagered and gameplay. The customer coins can be used to make a wide variety of purchases (including entry into tournaments) in lieu of cash or can be exchanged for cash. The Corporation maintains sufficient overhead in cash and investments to cover the estimated future customer coins liability.

The Corporation recorded an amount for alleged gaming duty payable in Austria for a period from 2011 through 2015. Based on tax advice, to potentially mitigate any significant penalties and possible action by the Austrian tax authorities, the Corporation made certain filings and agreed to pay the amounts allegedly due. The Corporation filed an appeal with the applicable Austrian courts on the basis of, among other arguments, the constitutionality of the gaming duty. The Corporation sent a notice of claim to the former owners of Oldford Group seeking indemnification under the merger agreement governing the Rational Group Acquisition in the amount of \$21.76 million (€19.61 million), representing the amount of alleged gaming duty owed for pre-acquisition periods. Such notice of claim has since been initially disputed by the former owners' representative and as such, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will recover the amount of alleged gaming duty owed from the former owners or otherwise. This amount has not been recorded.

	As at Dec	As at January 1,	
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Austria gaming duty	7,245	34,788	_
Settlement with DOJ	_	_	95,612
Customer coins	40,396	41,655	77,523
Brokerage account payable	7,397	7,083	8,417
Deferred payment	_	3,500	_
Bonuses payable to employees	1,550	2,412	_
Equipment financing	_	16	1,786
Total current portion of other payable	56,588	89,454	183,338

The Corporation's other long-term payables include the following:

	As at Dece	As at January 1,	
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Bonuses payable to employees	_	569	1,997
Equipment financing	_	_	2,767
Deferred revenue	_	_	2,120
Total long term portion of other payables	_	569	6,884

25. PROVISIONS

The provisions in the consolidated statements of financial position include, among other items, the provision for jackpots, the provision for deferred consideration primarily relating to the deferred payment for the Rational Group Acquisition and the minimum revenue guarantees or EBITDA support agreement, as applicable, in connection with the sale of WagerLogic Malta Holdings Ltd., the Chartwell/CryptoLogic Sale and the Innova Offering (see notes 5 and 9).

The purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition included a deferred payment of \$400 million payable on February 1, 2017. The current fair value of the deferred payment of \$195.51 million (December 31, 2015 - \$375.39 million; January 1, 2015 - \$354.13 million) is recorded in Provisions. The fair value measurement was calculated utilizing a discounted cash flow approach using a 6% discount rate (December 31, 2015 – 6.0%) and categorized as a Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. A 1% change in the discount rate would impact the value by \$9.4 million. The amount was reclassed from long-term liabilities to current liabilities during the period to reflect the February 1, 2017 due date. On November 18, 2016, the Corporation paid \$200 million of the deferred payment using approximately \$143 million of its required monthly excess cash flow deposits and approximately \$57 million of unrestricted cash on its balance sheet. Following the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation announced its financing plan for the balance of the deferred payment, additional payments, and a certain agreement relating thereto (see note 34).

The carrying amounts and the movements in the provisions during the period ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

	Player bonuses and jackpots \$000's	Deferred consideration \$000's	Minimum revenue guarantee \$000's	Other \$000's	Total \$000's
Balance at January 1, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	8,383	361,727	24,237	1,696	396,043
Additional provision recognized	67,277	_	20,986	1,087	89,350
Payments	(67,136)	_	(24,812)	_	(91,948)
Accretion of discount	_	21,325	804	_	22,129
Discontinued operations	(5,723)	(254)	_	(1,642)	(7,619)
Reclassification	(13)	_	_	13	_
Foreign exchange translation losses	(100)	(70)	(1,820)	(67)	(2,057)
Balance at December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	2,688	382,728	19,395	1,087	405,898
Additional provision recognized	13,885	_	5,762	4,613	24,260
Payments	(15,013)	(200,000)	(8,998)	(5,700)	(229,711)
Accretion of discount	_	22,277	1,095	_	23,372
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration	_	(2,466)	_	_	(2,466)
Foreign exchange translation losses	11	(24)	382	_	369
Balance at December 31, 2016	1,571	202,515	17,636		221,722
Current portion at December 31, 2015	2,688	7,472	7,731	_	17,891
Non-current portion at December 31, 2015	_	375,256	11,664	1,087	388,007
Current portion at December 31, 2016	1,571	202,515	8,694	_	212,780
Non-current portion at December 31, 2016	_	_	8,942	_	8,942

26. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

The Corporation holds customer deposits, along with winnings and any bonuses in trust accounts from which money may not be removed if it would result in a shortfall of such deposits. These deposits are included in current assets in the consolidated statements of financial position under Cash - customer deposits and Current investments – customer deposits and includes cash and short term, highly liquid investments. Customer deposits are segregated as follows:

	As at December	As at December 31,		
	2016	2015	2015	
	\$000's	\$000's	\$000's	
Cash - customer deposits	138,225	203,475	247,320	
Current investments - customer deposits	228,510	240,044	270,710	
Total	366,735	443,519	518,030	
Customer deposits liability	366,735	443,519	518,030	

Customer deposit liabilities relate to customer deposits which are held in multiple bank accounts that are segregated from those holding operational funds.

27. SHARE CAPITAL

The authorized share capital of the Corporation consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares, with no par value, and an unlimited number of convertible preferred shares ("Preferred Shares"), with no par value, issuable in series.

	Common Shares Number	Preferred Shares Number	Common Shares \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	Preferred Shares \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Opening balance, as at January 1, 2015	132,844,341	1,139,356	887,598	688,694
Exercise of stock options	1,096,564	_	5,186	_
Exercise of warrants	935,996	_	3,984	_
Deferred income taxes in relation to share issuance costs	_	_	(1,685)	(4,211)
Conversion of Preferred Shares	4,592	(107)	98	(98)
Repurchase of Common Shares	(1,455,300)	_	(8,166)	_
Ending balance, as at December 31, 2015	133,426,193	1,139,249	887,015	684,385
Exercise of stock options	408,359	_	1,215	_
Exercise of warrants	11,266,575	_	290,174	_
Ending balance, as at December 31, 2016	145,101,127	1,139,249	1,178,404	684,385

As at December 31, 2016, the Preferred Shares are convertible into 52,384,503 Common Shares (December 31, 2015 – 50,359,553).

During the year ended December 31, 2016:

- the Corporation issued 11,266,575 Common Shares for cash consideration of \$1.29 million as a result of the exercise of warrants. The exercised warrants were initially valued at \$288.98 million using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Upon the exercise of such warrants, the value originally allocated to the warrants in reserves was reallocated to the Common Shares so issued.
- the Corporation issued 408,359 Common Shares for cash consideration of \$921,000 as a result of the exercise of stock options. The exercised stock options were initially valued at \$294,000 using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Upon the exercise of such stock options, the value originally allocated to the stock options in reserves was reallocated to the Common Shares so issued.

During year ended December 31, 2015:

- the Corporation issued 935,996 Common Shares for cash consideration of \$3.17 million as a result of the exercise of warrants. The exercised warrants were initially valued at \$810,000 using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Upon the exercise of the warrants, the value originally allocated to the warrants in reserves was reallocated to the Common Shares so issued.
- the Corporation issued 1,096,564 Common Shares for cash consideration of \$4.00 million as a result of the exercise of stock options. The exercised stock options were valued at \$1.19 million using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Upon

the exercise of the stock options, the value originally allocated to the stock options in reserves was reallocated to the Common Shares so issued. the Corporation issued 4,592 Common Shares as a result of the conversion of Preferred Shares. The converted Preferred Shares were initially valued at \$98,000 using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Upon the conversion of the Preferred Shares, the value originally allocated to the Preferred Shares was reallocated to the Common Shares so issued.

On February 13, 2015, the TSX approved the Corporation's notice of intention to make a normal course issuer bid ("2015 NCIB") to purchase for cancellation up to 6,644,737 Common Shares, representing approximately 5% of Amaya's issued and outstanding Common Shares as of January 26, 2015. The Corporation was permitted to purchase the Common Shares at prevailing market prices and by means of open market transactions through the facilities of the TSX or by such other means as may be permitted by the TSX rules and policies. The 2015 NCIB terminated on February 17, 2016. The Corporation purchased and cancelled an aggregate of 1,455,300 Common Shares pursuant to the 2015 NCIB for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$36.31 million.

28. RESERVES

The following table highlights the classes of reserves included in the Corporation's equity:

	Warrants \$000's	Stock options \$000's	Treasury shares \$000's	Cumulative translation adjustments \$000's	Available for sale investments \$000's	Derivatives \$000's	Other \$000's	Total \$000's
Balance – January 1, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	304,430	8,111	(1,893)	(27,378)	13,646	_	1,624	298,540
Cumulative translation adjustments	_	_	_	81,580	_	_		81,580
Stock-based compensation	_	14,224	_	_	_	_	_	14,224
Exercise of warrants	(810)	_	_	_	_	_		(810)
Exercise of stock options	_	(1,188)	_	_	_	_	_	(1,188)
Realized gains	_	_	_	_	(8,909)	(43,898)	_	(52,807)
Unrealized losses	_	_	_	_	(17,019)	(7,059)	_	(24,078)
Purchases of treasury shares	_	_	(28,142)	_	_	_	_	(28,142)
Put liability (note 22)	_	_	_	_	_	(5,980)	_	(5,980)
Other	_	_	_	_	_	_	(375)	(375)
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	303,620	21,147	(30,035)	54,202	(12,282)	(56,937)	1,249	280,964
Cumulative translation adjustments				22,969				22,969
Stock-based compensation	_	10,289	_	_	_	_	_	10,289
Exercise of warrants	(288,982)	_	_	_	_	_	_	(288,982)
Exercise of stock options	_	(294)	_	_	_	_	_	(294)
Realized losses (gains)	_	_	_	_	4,394	(42,263)	_	(37,869)
Unrealized (losses) gains	_	_	_	_	(2,095)	50,865	_	48,770
Balance – December 31, 2016	14,638	31,142	(30,035)	77,171	(9,983)	(48,335)	1,249	35,847

Stock Options

Under the Corporation's 2010 Stock Option Plan (the "Option Plan") and 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Equity Incentive Plan" and, together with the Option Plan, the "Plans"), an aggregate of 4,151,638 additional Common Shares were reserved for issuance as at December 31, 2016. Pursuant to the terms of the Plans, this reserve cannot exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of the Corporation at any time. At December 31, 2016, the stock options represented 7.14% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of the Corporation. Except in certain circumstances, the exercise price of the options issued under the Plans shall not be less than the market price of the Common Shares of the Corporation, which under the Option Plan is equal to the greater of the Common Shares on the TSX on the business day immediately preceding the date of the grant and under the Equity Incentive Plan is equal to the greater of the closing price of the Common Shares on the TSX and any other exchange on which the Common Shares are then trading on the date of the grant. The options granted under the Option Plan have a maximum term of five years, which, pursuant to an amendment to the Option Plan approved by the Corporation's shareholders on June 22, 2015 and by the TSX, were extended in certain circumstances for an additional two years. The options granted under the Equity Incentive Plan have a maximum term of ten years. Subject to certain exceptions and as determined by the applicable plan administrator, options issued under the

Option Plan since 2012 and under the Equity Incentive Plan generally vest in equal increments over four years, while options issued under the Option Plan in years prior to 2012 generally vested in equal increments over two years.

The following table provides information about outstanding stock options issued under the Plans:

	As at December 31, 2016		As at Decembe	er 31, 2015	
	Number of options	Weighted average exercise price CDN \$	Number of options	Weighted average exercise price CDN \$	
Beginning balance	12,000,819	20.69	9,801,289	16.21	
Transactions during the period:					
Issued	65,000	20.35	4,018,500	26.40	
Exercised	(408,359)	3.01	(1,096,564)	4.67	
Forfeited	(1,298,985)	27.45	(722,406)	15.91	
Ending balance	10,358,475	20.54	12,000,819	20.69	

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation granted an aggregate of 65,000 stock options under the Plans.

The outstanding stock options issued under the Plans are exercisable at prices ranging from CDN\$1.00 to CDN\$35.30 per share and have a weighted average contractual term of 4.40 years.

The weighted average share price of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2016 was CDN\$3.01 (December 31, 2015 – CDN\$4.67).

A summary of exercisable options per stock option grant under the Plans is as follows:

	Outstanding options		Exercisable options	
Exercise prices CDN \$	Number of options	Weighted average outstanding maturity period (years)	Number of options	Exercise price CDN \$
1.00 to 4.20	1,835,100	0 to 3	1,835,100	1.00 to 4.35
4.24 to 35.05	5,078,325	3 to 5	2,911,125	4.90 to 35.05
16.00 to 35.30	3,445,050	5 to 7	876,263	16.00 to 35.30
	10,358,475	4.40	5,622,488	16.23

The Corporation recorded a compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 of \$10.29 million (December 31, 2015 – \$14.22 million). As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had \$8.51 million of compensation expense related to the issuance of stock options to be recorded in future periods.

The stock options issued during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were accounted for at their grant date fair value of \$209,000 and \$15.83 million, respectively, as determined by the Black-Scholes valuation model using the following weighted-average assumptions:

	2016	2015
Expected volatility	54%	54%
Expected life	4.75 years	3.75 to 6.25 years
Expected forfeiture rate	17%	0%-17%
Risk-free interest rate	1.07%	1.07%
Dividend yield	Nil	Nil
Weighted average share price	CDN \$20.35	CDN \$26.40
Weighted average fair value of options at grant date	CDN \$4.31	CDN \$5.04

The expected life of the options is estimated using the average of the vesting period and the contractual life of the options. The expected volatility is estimated based on the Corporation's public trading history on the TSX for the last 4.75 years. Expected forfeiture rate is estimated based on a combination of historical forfeiture rates and expected turnover rates.

Warrants

The following table provides information about outstanding warrants at December 31, 2016 and 2015:

	As at December 31, 2016		As at Decembe	er 31, 2015
	Number of warrants	Weighted average exercise price CDN \$	Number of warrants	Weighted average exercise price CDN \$
Beginning balance	15,274,584	5.14	16,211,410	5.09
Issued	_	_	_	_
Exercised	(11,273,902)	0.16	(935,996)	4.29
Expired	(682)	6.25	(830)	3.00
Ending balance	4,000,000	19.17	15,274,584	5.14

The following table provides information about outstanding warrants per particular warrant grant:

		Number of	
Grant date	Expiry date	warrants	Exercise price CDN \$
May 15, 2014	May 15, 2024	4,000,000	19.17
		4,000,000	19.17

The warrants issued in 2014 were accounted for at their grant date fair value, as determined by the Black-Scholes valuation model using the following weighted-average assumptions:

	2014
Expected volatility	60%
Expected life	10 years
Expected forfeiture rate	0%
Risk-free interest rate	1.17%
Dividend yield	Nil
Weighted average fair value of warrants at grant date	CDN \$28.64

29. FAIR VALUE

The Corporation determined that the carrying values of its short-term financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value because of the relatively short periods to maturity of these instruments and low risk of credit.

Certain of the Corporation's financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table provides information about how the fair values of these financial assets and liabilities are determined as at each of December 31, 2016, 2015 and January 1, 2015:

	As at December 31, 2016				
	Fair value & carrying value \$000's	Level 1 \$000's	Level 2 \$000's	Level 3 \$000's	
Funds - Available for sale	58,518	58,518			
Bonds - Available for sale	98,605	98,605	_	_	
Debentures - Fair value through profit/loss	7,556	_	7,556	_	
Equity in quoted companies - Available for sale, fair value through profit/loss	123,808	115,480	_	8,328	
Equity in private companies - Available for sale	6,921	_	_	6,921	
Derivatives	52,038	_	52,038	_	
Total financial assets	347,446	272,603	59,594	15,249	
Derivatives	10,516	_	4,922	5,594	
Provisions	213,141	_	_	213,141	
Total financial liabilities	223,657		4,922	218,735	

		As at December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)				
	Fair value & carrying value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3		
	\$000's	\$000's	\$000's	\$000's		
Funds - Available for sale	57,340	57,340				
Bonds - Available for sale	90,963	90,963	_	_		
Debentures- Fair value through profit/loss	12,261	4,952	7,309	_		
Equity in quoted companies - Available for sale	147,019	128,802	_	18,217		
Equity in private companies - Available for sale	9,462	_	_	9,462		
Derivatives	13,485	_	13,485	_		
Total financial assets	330,530	282,057	20,794	27,679		
Derivatives	24,825	_	18,723	6,102		
Provisions	393,100	_	_	393,100		
Total financial liabilities	417,925	_	18,723	399,202		

	As at January 1, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)				
	Fair value & carrying value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	
	\$000's	\$000's	\$000's	\$000's	
Funds - Available for sale	149,814	149,814			
Bonds - Available for sale	105,618	105,618	_	_	
Debentures- Fair value through profit/loss	16,686	7,135	9,551	_	
Equity in quoted companies - Available for sale	72,709	72,709	_	_	
Equity in private companies - Available for sale	8,957	_	_	8,957	
Total financial assets	353,784	335,276	9,551	8,957	
Provisions	354,133	_	_	354,133	
Total financial liabilities	354 133			354 133	

The fair values of other financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost on the statements of financial position as at each of December 31, 2016, 2015 and January 1, 2015 are as follows:

		As at December 31, 2016				
	Fair value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3		
	\$000's	\$000's	\$000's	\$000's		
Promissory note	4,827	_		4,827		
Total financial assets	4,827			4,827		
First Lien Term Loans	2,336,792	2,336,792	_	_		
USD Second Lien Term Loan	209,870	209,870		<u>—</u>		
Total financial liabilities	2,546,662	2,546,662				
	As	s at December 31, 2015	(As adjusted - note 4)			
	Fair value \$000's	Level 1 \$000's	Level 2 \$000's	Level 3 \$000's		
Promissory note	7,700	_	_	7,700		
Total financial assets	7,700			7,700		
First Lien Term Loans	2,221,413	2,221,413	_	_		
USD Second Lien Term Loan	209,475	209,475	_	_		
2013 Debentures	21,676	21,676	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
Total financial liabilities	2,452,564	2,452,564	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
	,	As at January 1, 2015 (<i>F</i>	As adjusted - note 4)			
	Fair value \$000's	Level 1 \$000's	Level 2 \$000's	Level 3 \$000's		
Promissory note	3,261	_	_	3,261		
Total financial assets	3,261	_	_	3,261		
First Lien Term Loans	1,975,258	1,975,258	_	_		
USD Second Lien Term Loan	791,000	791,000	_	_		
Credit Facilities and Senior Facility	244,842	_	244,842	_		
Mezzanine Facility	109,894	_	109,894	_		
2013 Debentures	25,865	25,865	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Corporation uses market observable data to the extent possible. If the fair value of an asset or a liability is not directly observable, it is estimated by the Corporation using valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs (e.g., by the use

3,146,859

2,792,123

354,736

Total financial liabilities

of the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash flow analysis, or option pricing models refined to reflect the Corporation's specific circumstances). Inputs used are consistent with the characteristics of the asset or liability that market participants would take into account.

For the Corporation's financial instruments which are recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value, the fair value measurements are categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety and the degree to which the inputs are observable. The significance levels are classified as follows in the fair value hierarchy:

- Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
 and
- Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized by the Corporation at the end of the reporting period during which the transfer occurred. There were no transfers in or out of Level 1, 2 or 3 during the year ended December 31, 2016.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Currently, the Corporation uses cross currency swap and interest rate swap agreements to manage its interest rate risk and foreign currency forward contracts to manage foreign currency risk. The valuation of these instruments is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves, spot and forward rates, as well as option volatility.

To comply with the provisions of IFRS 13, Fair value measurement, the Corporation incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk, the Corporation has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.

Although the Corporation has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. However, as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Corporation has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its derivatives. As a result, the Corporation has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values

Some of the Corporation's financial assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because the respective fair value determinations use inputs that are not based on observable market data. As at January 1, 2015, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, for each Level 3 asset or liability the valuation techniques and key inputs used by the Corporation were as follows:

- NYX Sub Preferred Shares (Level 3 Asset): The Corporation uses a binomial valuation approach with NYX Gaming Group common share price and volatility. See also note 9.
- Equity in private companies (Level 3 Asset): Given the nature of the investee's business, there is no readily available market data to carry an extensive valuation. The Corporation assesses for impairment on an annual basis using latest management budgets, long-term revenue growth rates and pre-tax operating margins.
- Promissory note (Level 3 Promissory note): The Corporation uses a net present value approach with an 11.3% discount rate and 5% interest rate. See also note 9.
- Deferred consideration (Level 3 Liability): See note 25 above for the applicable description.
- Stars Fantasy Sports Subco put option (Level 3 Liability): See note 22 above for the applicable description.
- Innova EBITDA support agreement (Level 3 Liability): The Corporation uses a net present value approach using a 5.7% discount rate. See also note 5.
- Licensing Agreement (Level 3 Liability): The Corporation uses a net present value approach using a 5.7% discount rate, 9% revenue share percentage and long-term revenue forecast. See also note 9.

The following table shows a reconciliation from opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 fair values:

	Level 3 Asset \$000's	Level 3 Promissory note \$000's
Balance – January 1, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	8,957	3,261
Acquisition through business divestiture	28,050	7,195
Purchases	505	_
Utilization	_	(3,261)
Loss included in income from investments	(9,767)	_
Interest and accretion included in financial expenses	_	505
Unrealized gain included in other comprehensive income	(66)	_
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	27,679	7,700
Loss included in income from investments	(14,124)	_
Interest and accretion included in financial expenses	_	888
Purchases	11,754	_
Sales	(2,566)	_
Reclassification	501	_
Conversion of Level 3 instruments	(8,377)	_
Loss on settlement	_	(3,761)
Unrealized gain included in other comprehensive income	382	_
Balance – December 31, 2016	15,249	4,827

	Level 3 Liability \$000's
Balance – January 1, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	354,133
Accretion on deferred consideration	21,260
Issuance of put liability (note 22)	6,102
Acquisition through business acquisitions	20,986
Accretion of minimum revenue guarantee	598
Payments	(2,416)
Translation	(1,461)
Balance – December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)	399,202
Accretion	23,167
Repayment of deferred consideration	(200,000)
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration	(2,466)
Acquisition through business acquisitions	5,299
Payments	(7,309)
Additional provision	465
Translation	377
Balance – December 31, 2016	218,735

30. STATEMENT OF CASH-FLOWS

Changes in non-cash operating elements of working capital were as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	
Accounts receivable	(15,262)	37,504	
Prepaid expenses	5,065	(4,936)	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(26,349)	19,953	
Provisions	4,174	(5,611)	
Other	353	(356)	
Total	(32,019)	46,554	

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As part of management's ongoing regulatory compliance and operational risk assessment process, management monitors legal and regulatory developments and proceedings, and their potential impact on the business.

In particular, prior to the Rational Group Acquisition, the Commonwealth of Kentucky, ex. rel. J. Michael Brown, Secretary of the Justice and Public Safety Cabinet, filed a legal proceeding against Oldford Group and certain affiliates thereof (the "Oldford Parties") and various other defendants (the "Kentucky Proceeding"), pursuant to which the Commonwealth sought to recover alleged gambling losses on behalf of Kentucky residents who played real-money poker on the PokerStars website during the period between October 12, 2006 and April 15, 2011. On August 12, 2015, the trial court in the Kentucky Proceeding entered a default judgment against the Oldford Parties following certain alleged discovery failures, including by certain former owners of Oldford Group, and partial summary judgement on liability in favor of the Commonwealth. On December 23, 2015, the trial court entered an order for damages in the amount of approximately \$290 million, which the trial court trebled to approximately \$870 million. The Corporation believes the action is frivolous and will vigorously dispute the liability and therefore no provision has been recorded regarding this matter. On February 22, 2016, the Corporation filed a notice of appeal to the Kentucky Court of Appeals and posted a \$100 million supersedeas bond to stay enforcement of the order for damages during the pendency of the appeals process. The posting of the bond required the delivery of cash collateral in the amount of \$40 million and letters of credit in the aggregate amount of \$30 million (collectively, the "Kentucky Bond Collateral"), thereby reducing the availability under the Credit Facility to \$70 million as of the date hereof. To the extent the Oldford Parties may be ultimately obligated to pay any amounts pursuant to a final adjudication following exhaustion of all appeals and other legal options, the Corporation intends to seek recovery against the former owners of Oldford Group. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in its defense or

In addition, there are also two currently pending class action complaints (one in the State of New Jersey, United States and one in Quebec, Canada) against the Corporation and certain other defendants, each of which were filed during the year ended December 31, 2016 and generally allege, among other things, that the Corporation violated certain securities laws by misrepresenting or failing to disclose information related to the charges made by the Autorité des marchés financiers against the former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors (the Quebec class action also alleges that the Corporation did not properly disclose that it had inadequate or ineffective internal controls and that one or more of its directors and its former Chief Executive Officer were in breach of its Code of Business Conduct). The class actions seek damages stemming from losses that the plaintiffs claim to have suffered as a result of the foregoing. The Corporation believes that the class actions are without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself against them; however, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in its defense. No provision has been recorded regarding these matters.

Given the nature of the legal and regulatory landscape of the industry in which it operates, from time to time the Corporation has also received notices, communications and legal actions from regulatory authorities in various jurisdictions and other parties in respect of its activities. The Corporation has taken legal advice as to the manner in which it should respond and the likelihood of success of such actions. Based on this advice and the nature of the actions, no provisions have been recorded with respect to any such legal or regulatory notices, communications or actions for the year ended December 31, 2016.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Foreign Exchange Risk

As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation's significant foreign exchange currency exposure on its financial instruments by currency was as follows (in U.S. dollar equivalents):

	CDN \$000's	EUR \$000's	GBP \$000's
Cash	6,779	83,614	6,405
Restricted cash	<u> </u>	1,064	_
Available for sale investments	59,977	6,636	_
Accounts receivable	9,033	38,079	8,633
Derivatives	-	52,038	_
Assets held for sale	6,972	_	_
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(15,977)	(55,749)	(23,999)
Other payables	(7,923)	(7,573)	_
Long-term debt	_	(296,197)	_
Derivatives	(108)	(11)	(30)
Customer deposits	(2,505)	(73,678)	(6,466)

The table below details the effect on earnings before tax of a 10% strengthening or weakening of the USD exchange rate at the balance sheet date for balance sheet items denominated in CDN, EUR and GBP:

Currency	10% Strengthening (weakening) \$000's
CDN	5,092
EUR	(25,249)
GBP	(1,546)

The table below details the effect on earnings before tax and equity of a 10% strengthening or weakening of the USD:EUR exchange rate on the CCIRS:

	Net earnings (loss) \$000's	Equity \$000's	
	+/- 10%	+/- 10%	
EUR:USD exchange rate	5,663	195,471	

Interest Rate Risk

The Corporation's exposure to changes in interest rates (particularly, fluctuations in LIBOR) relates primarily to interest paid on the Corporation's long-term indebtedness, as well as the interest earned on and market value of its cash and available-for-sale investments. The Corporation is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk with respect to its USD First Lien Term Loan, which it hedged through the Swap Agreements by fixing the interest rate on the same. The Corporation is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on its EUR First Lien Term Loan and USD Second Lien Term Loan which bear interest at variable rates.

A one percentage point increase in interest rates would have decreased net earnings before income taxes by approximately \$6.14 million for the year, with all other variables held constant. The EUR First Lien Term Loan and USD Second Lien Term Loan each have a floor of 1.00% for the LIBOR and Euribor and as such, the interest rate cannot decrease below 5.00% and 8.00%, respectively. Management monitors movements in the interest rates by reviewing the Bank of Canada prime rate, Euribor and LIBOR on a quarterly basis.

The table below details the effect on earnings before tax and equity of a 100 basis points strengthening or weakening of the LIBOR and Euribor interest rates:

	Net earnings \$000's	Net earnings (loss) \$000's		
	- 100 bps	+ 100 bps	- 100 bps	+ 100 bps
LIBOR	572	(106)	19,987	(3,688)
Euribor	(1,251)	1,214	(32,720)	43,216
	58			

Credit Risk

Trade receivables include amounts that are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the Corporation has not recognized an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

Age of receivables that are past due but not impaired:

	As at Dece	As at January 1,	
	2016 2015 \$000's \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)		2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Past due less than 181 days	217	1,880	3,316
Past due more than 181 days	163	1,377	2,761
Total	380	3,257	6,077

The allowance for doubtful accounts is \$308,000 as at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 – nil).

Age of impaired trade receivables:

	As at Dece	As at January 1,	
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
Past due less than 181 days	_	_	485
Past due more than 181 days	309	578	3,819
Total past due	309	578	4,304

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the Corporation's ability to meet its financial obligations when they come due. The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk with respect to its contractual obligations and financial liabilities. The Corporation manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Corporation's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through borrowing facilities available through the Corporation's banks and other lenders. The Corporation's policy is to seek to ensure adequate funding is available from operations, established lending facilities and other sources, including the debt and equity capital markets, as required.

The Corporation's principal sources of liquidity are its cash generated from operations and certain other currently available funds. Currently available funds consist primarily of cash on deposit with banks and available-for-sale investments, which are comprised primarily of certain highly liquid, short-term investments, including equity and debt securities. Generally, following the Rational Group Acquisition, the Corporation's working capital needs are minimal over the year as the B2C business requires customers to deposit funds prior to playing or participating in its real-money product offerings. The Corporation believes that such deposits are typically converted to revenue efficiently and on a timely basis such that operating expenditures are sufficiently covered. Management is also of the opinion that investing is a key element necessary for the continued growth of the Corporation's customer base and the future development of new and innovative products and services. Based on the Corporation's currently available funds, funds available from the Credit Facility and its ability to access the debt and equity capital markets, if necessary, management believes that the Corporation will have the cash resources necessary to satisfy current obligations and working capital needs, and fund currently planned development activities and other capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. Notwithstanding, as a result of, among other things, the state of capital markets and the Corporation's ability to access them on favorable terms, if at all, micro and macro-economic downturns, and contractions of the Corporation's operations may influence its ability to liquidate its available-for-sale investments or otherwise secure the capital resources required to satisfy current or future obligations (including, without limitation, those set forth below) and fund future projects, strategic initiatives and support growth.

Customer deposit liabilities relate to customer deposits which are held in segregated multiple bank accounts from those holding operational funds. These deposits are included in current assets in the consolidated statements of financial position under Cash and cash equivalents – customer deposits and Current investments – customer deposits (see note 26).

The following table provides information about the terms of the Corporation's financial obligations and liabilities:

	On demand \$000's	Less than 1 year \$000's	2 to 5 years \$000's	Greater than 5 years \$000's
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	135,777	_	_	_
Other payables	47,793	8,795	_	_
Customer deposits	366,735	_	_	_
Derivatives	_	4,922	5,594	_
Provisions	_	212,780	8,942	_
Long-term debt*	_	198,861	2,719,519	224,187
Total	550,305	425,358	2,734,055	224,187

 ^{*} Includes capital and interest

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management of the Corporation includes the members of the board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice-President, Corporate Development and General Counsel, and certain other key members, which include certain members of management of the Corporation's subsidiaries.

The compensation of such key management for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 included the following:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	
Salaries, bonuses and short-term employee benefits	5,559	6,530	
Director retainers	1,316	236	
Stock-based payments	2,245	4,053	
	9,120	10,819	

The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Executive Vice-President, Corporate Development and General Counsel consists primarily of a salary, cash bonuses and share-based payments. Director retainers include the Special Committee retainers and fees (related to, among other matters, the Corporation's strategic alternatives review during the year ended December 31, 2016, and certain previously disclosed investigations), Audit Committee fees, Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee fees and Compliance Committee fees.

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 9, 2017, the Corporation announced its financing plan for the balance of the deferred payment and decided to pay the remaining balance over the course of 2017 from unrestricted cash on its balance sheet and cash flow from operations and entered into an agreement with the former owners of the Rational Group whereby the former owners have agreed not to enforce during 2017 their right under the original merger agreement to cause the Corporation to use commercially reasonable efforts to issue equity to finance any outstanding balance of the deferred purchase price. In addition, under the original merger agreement for the Rational Group Acquisition and as previously disclosed, the former owners agreed not to enforce the payment of the deferred purchase price prior to the maturity or repayment of the acquisition financing (i.e., the First Lien Term Loans and USD Second Lien Term Loan). In exchange for the new agreement, on February 1, 2017, the Corporation paid approximately \$6 million, representing an advance payment of three-months of non-refundable late payment fees related to the unpaid balance of the deferred purchase price at the rates outlined in the merger agreement (monthly rate equal to 30 day LIBOR plus 85 basis points until August 1, 2017 and then 30 day LIBOR plus 135 basis points thereafter), with such fees to be credited against any late fees incurred during such three-month period. On January 30, 2017, the Corporation paid an additional \$75 million towards the then-outstanding balance. As a result and as of the date hereof, the Corporation's remaining deferred purchase price obligation is approximately \$122.5 million. Any additional fees that may be incurred on the outstanding balance beginning on May 1, 2017 will also be calculated at the rates outlined in the merger agreement.

On March 3, 2017, the Corporation announced that it successfully repriced and retranched First Lien Term Loans and amended the applicable credit agreement (collectively, the "Repricing"). The Repricing included reducing the applicable interest rate margin on the

First Lien Term Loans by 50 basis points to LIBOR plus 350 basis points with a LIBOR floor of 100 basis points and Euribor plus 375 basis points with no Euribor floor, respectively, and retranching such loans by raising €100 million of incremental debt on the EUR First Lien Term Loan and using the proceeds to reduce the USD First Lien Term Loan. As a result of the Repricing, the Corporation currently expects to save approximately 13%, or \$15.4 million, of interest over the next twelve months. The Repricing will be accounted for as a debt modification and as a result there will be no significant impact on the carrying amount.

Amaya and the lenders also amended the credit agreement for the First Lien Term Loans to, among other things, reflect the Repricing and waive the required 2016 and 2017 excess cash flow repayments (as defined and described in the credit agreement) previously due on March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018, respectively.

At the request of certain lenders, the amendment also modifies the change of control provision in the credit agreement to remove the ability of a certain current shareholder to directly or indirectly acquire control of the Corporation without triggering an event of default and potential acceleration of the repayment of the debt under the credit agreement for the First Lien Term Loans.





FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

March 22, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	1
	1
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	2
<u>LIMITATIONS OF KEY METRICS AND OTHER DATA</u>	3
OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK	4
KEY METRICS	7
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION	10
<u>DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS</u>	13
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS	23
<u>LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES</u>	24
CASH FLOWS BY ACTIVITY	30
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES	32
RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS	32
OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS	33
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA	33
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS	34
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING	34
RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES	37
FURTHER INFORMATION	37

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This Management's Discussion and Analysis (this "MD&A") provides a review of the results of operations, financial condition and cash flows for Amaya Inc. ("Amaya" or the "Corporation"), on a consolidated basis, for the three months and year ended December 31, 2016. This document should be read in conjunction with the information contained in the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the "2016 Annual Financial Statements") and the Corporation's annual information form for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the "2016 Annual Information Form" and together with this MD&A and the 2016 Annual Financial Statements, the "2016 Annual Reports"). These documents and additional information regarding the business of the Corporation are available on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval ("SEDAR") at www.sedar.com, the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system ("EDGAR") at www.sec.gov, and the Corporation's website at www.amaya.com.

As previously reported, beginning with the three months ended March 31, 2016, the Corporation changed its presentation currency from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars (see note 4). As such, for reporting purposes the Corporation currently prepares its financial statements in U.S. dollars and, unless otherwise indicated, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar ("\$") and "USD" amounts and references in this MD&A are in and to U.S. dollars. References to "EUR" or " \in " are to European Euros and references to "CDN" or "CDN \$" are to Canadian dollars. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to a specific "note" refer to the notes to the 2016 Annual Financial Statements.

As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had two major lines of operations within its Business-to-Consumer ("B2C") business, real-money online poker ("Poker") and real-money online casino and sportsbook ("Casino & Sportsbook"). As it relates to these two business lines, online revenues include revenues generated through the Corporation's online, mobile and desktop client platforms. After accounting for discontinued operations and the divestiture of its Business-to-Business ("B2B") assets during the year ended December 31, 2015, the Corporation no longer owns or operates the former B2B segment. The Corporation restated all prior periods presented herein to reflect the B2C operating segment and major lines of operations within such segment.

This MD&A references non-IFRS and non-U.S. GAAP financial measures, including those under the headings "Selected Financial Information" and "Key Metrics" below. Amaya believes these non-IFRS and non-U.S. GAAP financial measures will provide investors with useful supplemental information about the financial performance of its business, enable comparison of financial results between periods where certain items may vary independent of business performance, and allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in operating its business and making decisions. Although management believes these financial measures are important in evaluating Amaya, they are not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, financial information prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS or U.S. GAAP. They are not recognized measures under IFRS or U.S. GAAP and do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS or U.S. GAAP. These measures may be different from non-IFRS and non-U.S. GAAP financial measures used by other companies, limiting its usefulness for comparison purposes. Moreover, presentation of certain of these measures is provided for period-over-period comparison purposes, and investors should be cautioned that the effect of the adjustments thereto provided herein have an actual effect on Amaya's operating results.

Unless otherwise stated, in preparing this MD&A the Corporation has taken into account information available to it up to March 22, 2017, the date the Corporation's board of directors (the "Board") approved this MD&A and the 2016 Annual Reports. All quarterly information contained herein is unaudited.

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The 2016 Annual Reports, including this MD&A, contain certain information that may constitute forward-looking information and statements (collectively, "forward-looking statements") within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable securities laws, including financial and operational expectations and projections. These statements, other than statements of historical fact, are based on management's current expectations and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including market and economic conditions, business prospects or opportunities, future plans and strategies, projections, technological developments, anticipated events and trends and regulatory changes that affect the Corporation, its customers and its industries. Although the Corporation and management believe the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable and are based on reasonable assumptions and estimates, there can be no assurance that these assumptions or estimates are accurate or that any of these expectations will prove accurate. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to significant business, regulatory, economic and competitive risks, uncertainties and contingencies that could cause actual events to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect, "may", "will", "project", "predict", "potential", "targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "would", "should", "believe", "objective", "ongoing" or the negative of these words or other variations or synonyms of these words or comparable terminology and similar expressions.

Specific factors and assumptions include, without limitation, the following factors, which are discussed in greater detail in the "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" section of the 2016 Annual Information Form: the heavily regulated industry in which the Corporation carries on its business; interactive entertainment and online and mobile gaming generally; current and future laws or regulations and new interpretations of existing laws or regulations with respect to online and mobile gaming; potential changes to the gaming regulatory scheme; legal and regulatory requirements; ability to obtain, maintain and comply with all applicable and required licenses, permits and certifications to distribute, operate, and market its products and services, including difficulties or delays in the same; significant barriers to entry; competition and the competitive environment within the Corporation's addressable markets and industries; impact of inability to complete future acquisitions or to integrate businesses successfully; ability to develop and enhance existing products and services and new commercially viable products and services; ability to mitigate foreign exchange and currency risks; ability to mitigate tax risks and adverse tax consequences, including, without limitation, the imposition of new or additional taxes, such as value-added ("VAT") and point of consumption taxes, and gaming duties; risks of foreign operations generally; protection of proprietary technology and intellectual property rights; ability to recruit and retain management and other qualified personnel, including key technical, sales and marketing personnel; defects in the Corporation's products or services; losses due to fraudulent activities; management of growth; contract awards; potential financial opportunities in addressable markets and with respect to individual contracts; ability of technology infrastructure to meet applicable demand; systems, networks, telecommunications or service disruptions or failures or cyberattacks; regulations and laws that may be adopted with respect to the Internet and electronic commerce and that may otherwise impact the Corporation in the jurisdictions where it is currently doing business or intends to do business; ability to obtain additional financing on reasonable terms or at all; refinancing risks; customer and operator preferences and changes in the economy; dependency on customers' acceptance of its products and services; consolidation within the gaming industry; litigation costs and outcomes; expansion within existing and into new markets; relationships with vendors and distributors; and, natural events. These factors are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect the Corporation; however, these factors, as well as those risk factors presented under the heading "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" in the 2016 Annual Information Form, elsewhere in the 2016 Annual Reports and in other filings that Amaya has made and may make with applicable securities authorities in the future, should be considered carefully.

Shareholders and investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as the plans, assumptions, intentions or expectations upon which they are based might not occur. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. Unless otherwise indicated by the Corporation, forward-looking statements in this MD&A describe Amaya's expectations as of March 22, 2017 and, accordingly, are subject to change after such date. The Corporation does not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statements, except in accordance with applicable securities laws.

LIMITATIONS OF KEY METRICS AND OTHER DATA

The numbers for Amaya's key metrics, which include quarterly real-money active uniques ("QAUs") and quarterly net yield ("QNY"), as well as certain other metrics, are calculated using internal company data based on the activity of customer accounts. While these numbers are based on what Amaya believes to be reasonable judgements and estimates of its customer base for the applicable period of measurement, there are certain challenges and limitations in measuring the usage of its products and services across its customer base. Such challenges and limitations may also affect Amaya's understanding of certain details of its business. In addition, Amaya's key metrics and related estimates may differ from estimates published by third parties or from similarly-titled metrics of its competitors due to differences in methodology and access to information. Moreover, QNY is a non-IFRS measure. For important information on Amaya's non-IFRS measures, see the information presented in italics under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis" above and the information under "Key Metrics" and "Selected Financial Information—Other Financial Information" below.

For example, the methodologies used to measure customer metrics are based on significant internal judgments and estimates, and may be susceptible to algorithm, calculation or other technical errors, including, without limitation, how certain metrics may be defined (and the assumptions and considerations made and included in, or excluded from, such definitions). Moreover, Amaya's business intelligence tools may fail on a particular data backup or upload, which could lead to certain customer activity not being recorded, and thus not included, in the calculation of a particular key metric, such as QAUs. In addition, as it relates to certain of Amaya's product offerings, customers are required to provide certain information when registering and establishing accounts, which could lead to the creation of multiple accounts for the same customer (in nearly all instances such account creation would be in violation of Amaya's applicable terms and conditions of use). Although Amaya typically addresses and corrects any such failures, duplications and inaccuracies relatively quickly, its metrics are still susceptible to the same and its estimations of such metrics may be lower or higher than the actual numbers.

Amaya regularly reviews its processes for calculating and defining these metrics, and from time to time it may discover inaccuracies in its metrics or make adjustments to improve their accuracy that may result in the recalculation or replacement of historical metrics or introduction of new metrics. These changes may also include adjustments to underlying data, such as changes to historical revenue amounts as a result of certain accounting reallocations made in later periods and adjustments to definitions in an effort to provide what management believes may be the most helpful and relevant data. Amaya also continuously seeks to improve its ability to identify irregularities and inaccuracies (and suspend any customer accounts that violate its terms and conditions of use) and its key metrics or estimates of key metrics may change due to improvements or changes in its methodology. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Amaya believes that any such inaccuracies or adjustments are immaterial unless otherwise stated.

If the public or investors do not perceive Amaya's customer metrics to be accurate representations of its customer base, or if it discovers material inaccuracies in its customer metrics, its reputation may be harmed, which could negatively affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Business Overview and Background

Amaya is a leading provider of technology-based products and services in the global gaming and interactive entertainment industries. Amaya focuses on developing and acquiring interactive technology-based assets with high-growth potential in existing and new markets and industries or verticals. Amaya's B2C business currently consists of the operations of Amaya Group Holdings (IOM) Limited (formerly known as Oldford Group Limited) and its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, "Rational Group"). Rational Group currently offers, among other products and services, online (including desktop and mobile) real- and play-money poker and other products, particularly casino and sports betting (also known as sportsbook). Until July 31, 2015, the date on which Amaya completed the sale of its then-remaining B2B assets, Amaya's B2B business consisted of the operations of certain of its subsidiaries, which offered interactive and land-based gaming solutions. Amaya used the proceeds from the sale of its B2B assets during 2015 to repay a significant portion of its outstanding indebtedness and repurchase certain of its common shares ("Common Shares").

Since Amaya's acquisition of the Rational Group on August 1, 2014 (the "Rational Group Acquisition") and as a result thereof, its B2C operations have been and continue to be its primary business and source of revenue. Through Rational Group, which is based in the Isle of Man and operates globally, Amaya owns and operates gaming and related interactive entertainment businesses, which it offers under several ultimately owned brands, including, among others, *PokerStars Casino, BetStars, Full Tilt, StarsDraft*, and the *PokerStars Championship* and *PokerStars Festival* live poker tour brands (incorporating the *European Poker Tour*, *PokerStars Caribbean Adventure*, *Latin American Poker Tour* and *Asia Pacific Poker Tour*). These brands together have more than 108 million registered customers globally and collectively form the largest poker business in the world, comprising online poker games and tournaments, sponsored live poker competitions, marketing arrangements for branded poker rooms in popular casinos in major cities around the world, and poker programming and content created for television and online audiences. The Corporation currently estimates that the *PokerStars* site collectively holds a majority of the global market share of real-money poker player liquidity, or the volume of real money poker players, and is among the leaders in play-money poker player liquidity. Since its 2001 launch, the Corporation also estimates that *PokerStars* has become the world's largest real-money online poker site based on, among other things, player liquidity and revenues, and the Corporation believes that *PokerStars* has distinguished itself as the world's premier poker brand.

In addition to pursuing growth opportunities in online and mobile poker in existing and new markets, including through the innovation of new product features and enhancements, geographic expansion and improvements to the poker ecosystem (as discussed below), Amaya believes that there are potentially significant opportunities for growth in other verticals. Specifically, Amaya believes that these verticals initially include online and mobile casino and sportsbook, and such potential opportunities include the ability to leverage its brand and product recognition (particularly poker) to acquire new customers, including recreational customers, and capitalize on network effects and cross-selling these new verticals to its existing and new customer base. While the Corporation continues to improve the product offering, including through a mobile application and other enhancements, expand its game portfolio and geographic reach, and launch limited and targeted external marketing campaigns, it estimates that Rational Group's combined online casino, including *PokerStars Casino*, is currently among the world's fastest growing and has one of the largest player bases among its competitors. In addition to online and mobile casino and sportsbook, Amaya currently intends to expand upon and explore other growth opportunities, including, without limitation, expanding upon its current social gaming offering, exploring potential opportunities for its daily fantasy sports product, and pursuing other interactive entertainment opportunities. Through what it believes to be a premier, scalable platform that diversifies its products and services both geographically and across verticals, Amaya currently expects that the Rational Group Acquisition will continue to help facilitate an increase in shareholder value and the delivery of sustainable, profitable long-term growth.

Amaya continuously works to enhance its proprietary platforms and has invested significantly in its technology infrastructure since inception to ensure a positive experience for its customers, not only from a gameplay perspective, but most importantly, with respect to security and integrity across business segments and verticals. Amaya dedicates nearly all of its research and development investments to its B2C business, which seeks to provide broad market applications for products derived from its technology base. To support Amaya's strong reputation for security and integrity, Amaya employs what it believes to be industry-leading practices and systems with respect to various aspects of its technology infrastructure, including, but not limited to, information and payment security,

game integrity, customer fund protection, marketing and promotion, customer support, responsible gaming and loyalty programs, rebates and rewards (i.e., incentives).

Amaya also monitors and assesses its products and services to continuously improve the experience for all of its customers and to ensure a safe, competitive and enjoyable environment. As such and as previously reported, Amaya has implemented a number of policies and controls, and anticipates implementing additional policies and controls throughout 2017, to significantly reduce or eliminate the use of certain sophisticated technology that may provide an artificial competitive advantage for certain customers over others. In addition to controls over technological tools and software, Amaya also assesses its pricing and incentives to ensure that such pricing and the distribution of such incentives is aligned with the Corporation's objectives to reward customers for loyalty and behavior that is positive to the overall customer experience and the particular product's ecosystem. As previously reported, since the beginning of 2016, Amaya has introduced certain improvements in the poker ecosystem to benefit and attract high value, net depositing customers (primarily recreational players) and reduce incentives for high volume, net withdrawing customers, and adjusting the pricing on poker games and tournaments (also known as rake) on certain offerings (which resulted in an effective increase). Amaya anticipates that these and future planned improvements, despite an expected overall decrease in volume of gameplay and total deposit balances held by high volume, net withdrawing players, will create a more attractive environment and experience for recreational players, allowing them to play longer on its platforms and engage in its various product offerings. Amaya believes this has led and may continue to lead to an increase in net deposits (equal to total customer deposits minus total customer withdrawals made on Amaya's real money platform) and greater retention. Amaya has been, among other things, reinvesting resulting savings and funds from the poker ecosystem improvements into marketing, increased incentives for other cu

Amaya, through certain of its subsidiaries, is licensed or approved to offer, or offers under third party licenses or approvals, its products and services in various jurisdictions throughout the world, including in Europe, both within and outside of the European Union, North America and elsewhere. In particular, *PokerStars* is the world's most licensed online gaming brand, holding licenses or related operating approvals in 17 jurisdictions. Amaya intends to seek licensure with respect to more European Union member states if and when such member states introduce their own independent regulatory and licensing regimes and generally following a determination by the European Commission that such national regulatory frameworks are compliant with European Union law. Outside of the European Union, Amaya anticipates there may be a potential for regulation of online gaming, including online poker, casino and/or sportsbook, and that this may result in potential licensing or partnerships with private operators or governmental bodies with respect to various jurisdictions. Amaya supports regulation of online gaming, including licensing and taxation regimes, which it believes will promote sustainable online gaming markets that are beneficial for consumers, governments and the citizens of the regulating jurisdiction, operators, and the industry as a whole. See also "Regulatory Environment" in the 2016 Annual Information Form.

Notwithstanding, the online gaming industry is heavily regulated and failure by Amaya to obtain or maintain applicable licensure or approvals, or otherwise comply with applicable requirements, restrictions and prohibitions, could, among other things, be disruptive to its business and adversely affect its operations. Amaya may also not be able to capitalize on the expansion of online gaming or other trends and changes in the online gaming industry, including due to laws and regulations governing this industry. For example, new gaming laws or regulations, changes in existing gaming laws or regulations, new interpretations of existing gaming laws or regulations or changes in the manner in which existing laws and regulations are enforced, may hinder or prevent the Corporation from continuing to operate in those jurisdictions where it currently carries on business or where its customers are located, which would harm its operating results and financial condition. For additional risks and uncertainties related to regulation, see below under "Risk Factors and Uncertainties", as well as "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to Regulation" in the 2016 Annual Information Form.

For additional information about the B2C business and the former B2B business, as well as additional information about Amaya and certain recent corporate highlights and developments, see "Overview and Outlook—Year-to-Date and Subsequent Developments", "Additional Information", and the 2016 Annual Reports. For additional risks and uncertainties relating to, among other things, Amaya, its business, its customers, its regulatory and tax environment and the industries and geographies in which it operates or where its customers are located, see "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" below and in the 2016 Annual Information Form, as well as the risks and uncertainties contained elsewhere herein, the 2016 Annual Reports and in other filings that Amaya has made and may make with applicable securities authorities in the future.

2016 and Subsequent Developments

Set forth below is a general summary of certain recent corporate developments for the year ended 2016 and to the date hereof. For additional recent corporate developments and highlights, see the 2016 Annual Reports, the Corporation's management's discussion and analysis for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 (the "Q3 2016 MD&A"), and refer to "Further Information" below. See also "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions" below.

Appointment of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Retirement of Chief Financial Officer

On June 28, 2016, the Corporation announced that Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia, former lead independent director of the Board, was appointed Chairman following his re-election to the Board, replacing Amaya's former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, David Baazov.

On August 12, 2016, the Corporation announced that Rafael Ashkenazi was appointed Chief Executive Officer on a permanent basis, effective August 11, 2016, also replacing Mr. Baazov. Mr. Ashkenazi also continues to serve as Chief Executive Officer of Rational Group.

On January 20, 2017, the Corporation announced that it was advised by Daniel Sebag, its Chief Financial Officer, that he will retire later this year once his successor is identified and appointed, and will assist the Corporation in ensuring an orderly transition of his duties. The Board retained Spencer Stuart, a leading executive recruiting firm, to advise it and launch a global CFO search.

Strategic Alternatives Review

On February 1, 2016, the Corporation received a non-binding indication from Mr. Baazov that he intended to make an all-cash proposal to acquire the Corporation at a price then-estimated by Mr. Baazov to be CDN\$21.00 per Common Share. The Board subsequently formed a special committee of independent directors (the "Special Committee") to review any such proposal, as well as other potential strategic alternatives. On October 18, 2016, the Corporation announced, among other things, that the Board had completed its strategic alternatives review and had concluded that remaining as in independent publicly-traded corporation best positioned the Company to deliver long-term shareholder value. Following this announcement, on November 14, 2016, the Corporation announced that it had received a non-binding all cash offer from Mr. Baazov on behalf of an entity to be formed to acquire the Corporation at a price of CDN\$24.00 per Common Share. Discussions with Mr. Baazov and his offer were terminated on December 20, 2016.

Deferred Payment Financing

On January 9, 2017, the Corporation announced its financing plan for the balance of the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition, which was due on February 1, 2017. The Corporation decided to pay the remaining balance over the course of 2017 from unrestricted cash on its balance sheet and cash flow from operations and entered into an agreement with the former owners of the Rational Group whereby the former owners have agreed not to enforce during 2017 their right under the original merger agreement to cause the Corporation to use commercially reasonable efforts to issue equity to finance any outstanding balance of the deferred purchase price. In addition, under the original merger agreement for the Rational Group Acquisition and as previously disclosed, the former owners agreed not to enforce the payment of the deferred purchase price prior to the maturity or repayment of the acquisition financing (i.e., the First Lien Term Loans and USD Second Lien Term Loan (each as defined below)). In exchange for the new agreement, on February 1, 2017, the Corporation paid approximately \$6 million, representing an advance payment of three-months of non-refundable late payment fees related to the unpaid balance of the deferred purchase price at the rates outlined in the merger agreement (monthly rate equal to 30 day LIBOR plus 85 basis points until August 1, 2017 and then 30 day LIBOR plus 135 basis points thereafter), with such fees to be credited against any late fees incurred during such three-month period.

On January 30, 2017, the Corporation paid an additional \$75 million towards the then-outstanding balance. Any additional fees that may be incurred on the outstanding balance beginning on May 1, 2017 will also be calculated at the rates outlined in the merger agreement. Prior to this payment, in November 2016, Amaya had paid \$200 million of the deferred purchase price, resulting in approximately \$2.5 million in savings towards the outstanding balance at that time. As a result of the Repricing (as defined below), the Corporation will pay an additional approximately \$48

million towards the then-outstanding balance by May 15, 2017. The outstanding balance as of the date hereof is \$122.5 million.

First Lien Term Loan Repricing and Amendment

On March 3, 2017, the Corporation announced that it successfully repriced and retranched First Lien Term Loans and amended the applicable credit agreement (collectively, the "Repricing"). The Repricing included reducing the applicable interest rate margin on the First Lien Term Loans by 0.5% to LIBOR plus 3.50% with a LIBOR floor of 1.00% and Euribor plus 3.75% with no Euribor floor, respectively, and retranching such loans by raising €100 million of incremental debt on the EUR First Lien Term Loan (as defined below) and using the proceeds to reduce the USD First Lien Term Loan (as defined below). As a result of the Repricing, the Corporation currently expects to save approximately 13%, or \$15.4 million, of interest expense over the next twelve months.

Amaya and the lenders also amended the credit agreement for the First Lien Term Loans to, among other things, reflect the Repricing and waive the required 2016 and 2017 excess cash flow repayments (as defined and described in the credit agreement) previously due on March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018, respectively. The Corporation will use the approximately \$48 million of previously allocated 2016 excess cash flow to pay an additional amount on the remaining balance on the deferred purchase price by May 15, 2017.

At the request of certain lenders, the amendment also modifies the change of control provision in the credit agreement to remove the ability of a certain current shareholder to directly or indirectly acquire control of the Corporation without triggering an event of default and potential acceleration of the repayment of the debt under the credit agreement for the First Lien Term Loans.

KEY METRICS

The Corporation reviews a number of metrics, including those key metrics set forth below, to evaluate its business, measure performance, identify trends affecting the same, formulate business plans and make strategic decisions. With respect to the key metrics set forth below, Amaya began calculating and reviewing such metrics as of the start of the fourth quarter of 2014 following the Rational Group Acquisition and as such, has provided below applicable trend information for each of the quarterly periods since the fourth quarter of 2014. Although management may have provided other key metrics since the Rational Group Acquisition, it continues to review and assess the importance, completeness and accuracy of such metrics as it relates to its evaluation of the business, its performance and the trends affecting the same, including, without limitation, customer engagement, gameplay, depositing activity, and various other customer trends, particularly following the introduction of certain previously announced improvements in the poker ecosystem to benefit and attract recreational customers and reduce incentives for high volume, net withdrawing customers, the introduction of certain customer acquisition initiatives, and the Corporation's expansion in real-money online casino and sportsbook. As such, management may determine that particular metrics that may have been presented in the past may no longer be helpful or relevant to an understanding of Amaya's current and future business, performance or trends affecting the same, and as a result, such historic metrics may be replaced or new or alternative metrics may be introduced. For each applicable period, management intends to provide key metrics that it believes may be the most helpful and relevant to a complete and accurate understanding of the Corporation's business, performance and trends affecting the same, in each case taking into account, among other things, the development of its product offerings, loyalty programs, customer acquisition efforts, and expansion i

Quarterly Real-Money Active Uniques (QAUs)

The Corporation defines QAUs as active unique customers (online, mobile and desktop client) who generated rake, placed a bet or otherwise wagered (excluding free play, bonuses or other promotions) on or through an Amaya poker, casino or sportsbook offering during the applicable quarterly period. The Corporation defines unique as a customer who played at least once on one of the Corporation's real-money offerings during the period, and excludes duplicate counting, even if that customer is active across multiple verticals (e.g., both poker and casino). For further clarity, the exclusions from QAUs noted as "free play, bonuses or other promotions" include, without limitation, low-stakes and/or non-raked poker games, but do not include non-cash promotions or poker tournament fees

covered by the Corporation as incentives for customers who ultimately make or place real-money wagers or bets on or through an Amaya poker, casino or sportsbook offering. QAUs are a measure of the player liquidity on the Corporation's real-money poker product offerings and level of gameplay on all of its real-money product offerings, collectively. Customer growth trends reflected in QAUs are key factors that affect the Corporation's revenues. Trends in QAUs affect revenue and financial results by influencing the volume of gameplay, the Corporation's product offerings, and its expenses and capital expenditures. QAUs are disclosed below on a combined basis for the Corporation's real-money online gaming brands.



During the three months ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation had 2.61 million combined QAUs, which represents an increase of 7.6% over the three months ended December 31, 2015. The Corporation believes that the increase when compared to the fourth quarter of 2015 was primarily the result of increased registrations of new customers driven by certain customer acquisition initiatives, improved retention and reactivation of existing customers due to the expansion of the Corporation's product offerings into casino and sportsbook, relaunch of real-money online poker and launch of real-money online casino in Portugal, successful marketing campaigns, and improvements in the poker ecosystem benefiting recreational players, as well as increased investment in customer relationship management initiatives. This is despite a decline in customer activity on the *Full Tilt* real-money online offerings in connection with a reduction in marketing expense and the player migration to the *PokerStars* platform. Historically, QAUs from the Corporation's B2C operations have generally been higher in the first and fourth fiscal quarters. For a description of seasonal trends and other factors, see "Summary of Quarterly Results" below.

The Corporation has faced and may continue to face challenges in increasing the size of its active customer base, due to, among other things, competition from alternative products and services, past and potential future weakness in global currencies against the U.S. dollar, which decreases the purchasing power of the Corporation's global customer base as the U.S. dollar is the primary currency of game play on the Corporation's product offerings, high-volume, netwithdrawing customers who detract from the overall poker ecosystem and discourage recreational customers, as well as the use of certain sophisticated technology that may provide an artificial competitive advantage for certain customers over others. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation intends to drive growth in its customer base, reactivate dormant users and retain existing customers by, among other things, continuing to introduce improvements in the poker ecosystem to benefit recreational players, invest in customer relationship management initiatives, demonstrate the superiority of its products and services, improve the effectiveness of its marketing and promotional efforts, and by continuing to introduce new and innovative products, features and enhancements. See also the 2016 Annual Information Form, including under the headings "Business of the Corporation—Online and Mobile Poker", "—Other Online and Mobile Products" and "—Business Strategy of the Corporation". To the extent the growth of or growth rate in the Corporation's customer base declines, the Corporation's revenue growth will become increasingly dependent on its ability to increase levels of customer monetization.

Quarterly Net Yield (QNY)

The Corporation defines QNY as combined real-money online gaming and related revenue (excluding certain other revenues, such as revenues from play-money offerings, live events and branded poker rooms, which are included in Other B2C revenues) for its two business lines (i.e., Poker and Casino & Sportsbook) as reported during the applicable quarterly period (or as adjusted to the extent any accounting reallocations are made in later periods) divided by the total QAUs during the same period. QNY is a non-IFRS measure. For a reconciliation of the

numerator of QNY to the nearest IFRS measure, see below, and for other important information on Amaya's non-IFRS measures, see the information presented in italics under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis" above and the information under "Selected Financial Information—Other Financial Information" below. The Corporation also provides QNY on a constant currency basis. For information on the Corporation's constant currency revenues, see "Discussion of Operations—Impact of Foreign Exchange on Revenue". Trends in QNY are a measure of growth as the Corporation continues to expand its core real-money online poker offerings and real-money online casino and sportsbook offerings. In addition, the trends in the Corporation's ability to generate revenue on a per customer basis across its three real money online gaming offerings are reflected in QNY and are key factors that affect the Corporation's revenue.



During the three months ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation's QNY was \$114, which represents an increase of 0.5% from the three months ended December 31, 2015. The growth in QNY was primarily the result of the continued rollout of the casino product offerings, including through additional third party slots under the *PokerStars Casino* brand and into new jurisdictions, and improved customer relationship management initiatives, as well as the previously announced changes to the customer loyalty program and rake structure. Notwithstanding, QNY in the fourth quarter of 2016 was negatively impacted by (i) an increasing proportion of newly registered QAUs (i.e., QAUs who registered within the calendar year), who tend to have lower yields in their first few quarters of activity, as a total percentage of QAUs, primarily as a result of an evolving marketing strategy and certain customer acquisition initiatives, and (ii) the Corporation only offering online poker in Portugal for approximately one month following its relaunch in that jurisdiction late in the quarter. In addition, QNY in the fourth quarter of 2015 benefited from approximately \$6.8 million in one-time revenues resulting from accounting adjustments for certain offsets to gross gaming revenue. During the three months ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation's constant currency QNY was \$117, which represents an increase of 3.3% from the three months ended December 31, 2015. The growth in constant currency QNY was driven primarily by the same factors mentioned above.

There are many variables that impact the monetization of the Corporation's product offerings through QNY, including the rake and fees charged in real-money online poker, the amounts wagered in real-money online casino and sportsbook, the amount of time customers play on its products, offsets to gross gaming revenue for loyalty program rebates, rewards, bonuses, promotions and VAT in certain jurisdictions, and the amount the Corporation spends on advertising and other expenses. The Corporation currently intends to increase QNY in future periods by, among other things, (i) continuing to introduce new and innovative products and other initiatives to enhance and optimize the customer experience and increase customer engagement, including through customer relationship management initiatives to attract high value customers (primarily recreational players), (ii) capitalizing on its existing online poker platforms and offerings, which provides customers with the highest level of player liquidity globally, (iii) cross-selling its online poker, casino and sportsbook offerings to both existing and new customers, and (iv) continuing to expand and improve its online casino and sportsbook offerings, including through the addition of new product offerings and new geographies. See also the 2016 Annual Information Form, including under the headings "Business of the Corporation—Online and Mobile Poker", "—Other Online and Mobile Products" and "—Business Strategy of the Corporation".

The table below presents a reconciliation of the numerator of QNY (i.e., Poker and Casino & Sportsbook) to the nearest IFRS measure (i.e., revenue) as reported for the applicable period. Unless otherwise noted, any deviation in the reconciliation below to measures presented herein may be the result of immaterial adjustments made in later periods due to certain accounting reallocations.

\$000's	Mar 31, 2015 (as adjusted)	Jun 30, 2015 (as adjusted)	Sep 30, 2015 (as adjusted)	Dec 31, 2015 (as adjusted)	Mar 31, 2016	Jun 30, 2016	Sep 30, 2016	Dec 31, 2016
Revenue	272,292	259,500	247,327	293,201	288,673	285,939	270,846	310,434
Corporate	(426)	(392)	(225)	(471)	(214)	(223)	(165)	(151)
Other B2C	(12,638)	(11,562)	(9,729)	(13,419)	(11,971)	(10,479)	(9,632)	(12,884)
Poker and Casino & Sportsbook	259,228	247,546	237,373	279,311	276,488	275,237	261,049	297,399

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Selected Financial Information

Selected financial information of the Corporation for the three months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 is set forth below.

	Three Months Ended December 31,			 Year Ended December 31,					
\$000's, except per share amounts		2016	_(2015 as adjusted)	2016	_(2015 as adjusted)		2014 (as adjusted)
Revenue		310,434		293,201	1,155,892		1,072,320		496,025
Net Earnings (Loss)		45,039		(17,119)	135,550		210,262		(3,680)
Net Earnings (Loss) from Continuing Operations		45,039		(15,226)	135,550		(20,019)		87,590
Basic Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share	\$	0.31	\$	(0.13)	\$ 0.96	\$	1.58	\$	0.80
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share	\$	0.23	\$	(0.13)	\$ 0.70	\$	1.06	\$	0.64
Basic Net Earnings (Loss) from Continuing Operations per Common Share	\$	0.31	\$	(0.11)	\$ 0.96	\$	(0.15)	\$	(0.03)
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) from Continuing Operations per									
Common Share	\$	0.23	\$	(0.11)	\$ 0.70	\$	(0.15)	\$	(0.03)
Total Assets (as at)		5,462,475		5,643,547	5,462,475		5,643,547		6,179,663
Total Long-Term Financial Liabilities (as at)		2,412,579		2,851,994	2,412,579		2,851,994		3,415,422

Total revenue increased in both the three month period and year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year periods primarily as a result of the growth of the Corporation's online casino and sportsbook product offerings and as compared to the year ended December 31, 2014, as a result of the Rational Group Acquisition, which was acquired on August 1, 2014. For additional variance analysis on Poker revenues and Casino & Sportsbook revenues, see "Discussions of Operations" below. See also "Foreign Exchange Impact on Revenues" below for total revenue calculated on a constant currency basis.

The Corporation's asset base of approximately \$5.46 billion and outstanding long-term liabilities of approximately \$2.41 billion at December 31, 2016 and asset base of approximately \$5.64 billion and outstanding long-term liabilities of approximately \$2.85 billion at December 31, 2015 were all primarily attributable to the Rational Group Acquisition. The decrease in the Corporation's asset base from December 31, 2015 was primarily the result of the depreciation of its intangible assets, while the decrease in outstanding long-term liabilities from December 31, 2015 was primarily the result of reclassifying to current liabilities the deferred consideration in the initial aggregate amount of \$400 million (of which the Corporation paid \$200 million in November 2016 and an additional \$75 million in January 2017). For additional information on the Corporation's financial condition, see "Liquidity and Capital Resources" below.

Other Financial Information

To supplement its 2016 Annual Financial Statements presented in accordance with IFRS, the Corporation considers certain financial measures that are not prepared in accordance with IFRS, including those set forth below and QNY set forth above under "Key Metrics". The Corporation uses such non-IFRS financial measures in evaluating its operating results and for financial and operational decision-making purposes. However, these measures should not

be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS. There are a number of limitations related to the use of such non-IFRS measures as opposed to their nearest IFRS equivalents. See also the information presented in italics under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis" above and the information under "Limitations of Key Metrics and Other Data" and "Key Metrics" above.

	Three Months E	nded December 31,	Year Ended	December 31,
\$000's, except per share amounts	2016	2015 (as adjusted)	2016	2015 (as adjusted)
Total Revenue	310,434	293,201	1,155,892	1,072,320
Adjusted EBITDA	147,604	125,305	524,093	459,290
Adjusted Net Earnings	107,013	82,287	366,699	290,802
Adjusted Net Earnings per Diluted Share	\$ 0.53	\$ 0.42	\$ 1.88	\$ 1.47

Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted Net Earnings per Diluted Share

The Corporation defines Adjusted EBITDA as net earnings (loss) from continuing operations before interest and financing costs (net of interest income), income taxes, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, restructuring and certain other items as set out in the table below.

The Corporation defines Adjusted Net Earnings as net earnings (loss) from continuing operations before interest accretion, amortization of intangible assets resulting from purchase price allocation following acquisitions, deferred income taxes, stock-based compensation, restructuring, foreign exchange, and certain other items as set out in the table below. Adjusted Net Earnings per Diluted Share as defined by the Corporation means Adjusted Net Earnings divided by Diluted Shares.

Diluted Shares means the weighted average number of Common Shares on a fully diluted basis, including options, warrants and the Corporation's convertible preferred shares ("Preferred Shares"). The effects of anti-dilutive potential Common Shares are ignored in calculating Diluted Shares. See note 10. For the year ended December 31, 2016, Diluted Shares equaled 195,423,920.

The Corporation uses these non-IFRS measures in evaluating its operating results and for financial and operational decision-making purposes. The Corporation believes that such measures help identify underlying trends in its business that could otherwise be masked by the effect of the expenses that we exclude in such measures. The Corporation believes that such measures provide useful information about its operating results, enhance the overall understanding of its past performance and future prospects and allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational decision-making.

The table below presents a reconciliation of such non-IFRS measures to the nearest IFRS measures.

	Three Months End	led December 31,	Year Ended D	Year Ended December 31,		
\$000's, except per share amounts	2016	2015 (as adjusted)	2016	2015 (as adjusted)		
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations	45,039	(15,226)	135,550	(20,019)		
Financial expenses	36,630	51,214	137,972	197,226		
Income taxes	(78)	970	4,000	14,441		
Depreciation of property and equipment	2,072	2,009	8,181	7,584		
Amortization of intangible and deferred development costs	34,783	31,262	131,702	120,470		
EBITDA	118,446	70,229	417,405	319,702		
Stock-based compensation	1,893	2,901	10,289	14,224		
Termination of employment agreements	3,643	9,607	15,008	12,745		
Termination of affiliate agreements	1,099	2,362	4,485	7,652		
Loss on disposal of assets	361	194	923	357		
Loss (gain) from investments and associates	4,832	(774)	19,627	11,353		
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration	(2,466)	_	(2,466)	_		
Loss (gain) on sale of subsidiary	_	1,000	_	(4,352)		
Acquisition-related costs	_	275	199	495		
Impairment	9,646	8,940	16,931	24,459		
Other costs	10,150	30,571	41,692	72,655		
Adjusted EBITDA	147,604	125,305	524,093	459,290		
Current income tax expense	(2,570)	(3,023)	(8,384)	(7,342)		
Depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of purchase price						
allocation intangibles)	(5,779)	(3,903)	(18,138)	(10,573)		
Interest (excluding interest accretion)	(32,242)	(36,092)	(130,872)	(150,573)		
Adjusted Net Earnings	107,013	82,287	366,699	290,802		
Diluted Shares	200,132,710	196,401,455	195,432,920	197,993,500		
Adjusted Net Earnings per Diluted Share	\$ 0.53	\$ 0.42	\$ 1.88	\$ 1.47		

These non-IFRS measures should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS. There are a number of limitations related to the use of these measures rather than net earnings (loss) from continuing operations, which is the nearest IFRS equivalent of these financial measures. Some of these limitations are:

- these non-IFRS financial measures exclude the applicable items listed in the reconciliation table above and other costs as set forth in the table below; and
- the expenses that the Corporation excludes in its calculation of these non-IFRS financial measures may differ from the expenses, if any, that its peer companies may exclude from similarly-titled non-IFRS measures when they report their results of operations. In addition, although certain excluded expenses may have been incurred in the past or may be expected to recur in the future, management believes it is appropriate to exclude such expenses at this time as it does not consider them as on-going core operating expenses as it relates specifically to the Corporation as compared to its peer companies. For example, the Corporation currently excludes certain lobbying and legal expenses in jurisdictions where it is actively seeking licensure or similar approval, not for such expenses in jurisdictions where it (or any of its subsidiaries) currently operates, has customers, or holds a license or similar approval. Management believes that the Corporation's incremental cost of these lobbying and legal expenses in such jurisdictions is generally higher than its peers given liabilities and related issues primarily stemming from periods prior to the Rational Group Acquisition or from matters not directly involving the Corporation or its current business. Moreover, certain exclusions, such as retention bonuses and office restructuring and legacy business unit shutdown costs, primarily relate to the Corporation's transformation from a B2B provider to a pure-play B2C operator as a result of the Rational Group Acquisition and management believes such expenses are more similar to acquisition-related costs than to on-going core operating expenses. Over time, as management continues to assess its operations and calculation of applicable non-IFRS measures, it believes that, subject to, among other things,

unanticipated events or impacts of anticipated events, it should have fewer adjustments or the amounts of such adjustments should decrease over time. The table below presents certain items comprising "Other costs" in the reconciliation table above:

	Three Months Ende	d December 31,	Year Ended December 31,		
	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (as adjusted)	2016 \$000's	2015 \$000's (as adjusted)	
Non-U.S. lobbying expenses	765	2,773	3,065	8,081	
U.S. lobbying and legal expenses	3,630	101	12,792	6,658	
Strategic review professional fees	2,965	_	10,338	_	
Retention bonuses	615	1,653	3,272	8,263	
Non recurring professional fees	1,188	104	6,021	4,031	
Romania back taxes	_	_	_	6,988	
Austria gaming duty	-	24,853	_	24,853	
New Jersey license fees	_	111	_	1,551	
AMF investigation professional fees	1,018	(348)	5,509	4,510	
Office restructuring and legacy business					
unit shutdown costs	(31)	1,324	695	7,720	
Other costs	10,150	30,571	41,692	72,655	

DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the Three Months Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

	Three Months Ended December 31,							
\$000's except percentage amounts	2016	2015 (as adjusted)	Variance	% Change				
Revenue	310,434	293,201	17,233	5.9%				
Selling	47,736	41,252	6,484	15.7%				
General and administrative	149,321	154,918	(5,597)	(3.6%)				
Financial	36,630	51,214	(14,584)	(28.5%)				
Gaming duty	29,420	59,572	(30,152)	(50.6%)				
Acquisition-related costs	_	275	(275)	(100.0%)				
Loss on sale of subsidiary	_	(1,000)	1,000	100.0%				
Loss (gain) from investments	4,811	(884)	5,695	644.2%				
Loss from associates	21	110	(89)	(80.9%)				
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration	2,466	_	2,466	_				
Income taxes (recovery)	(78)	970	(1,048)	(108.0%)				

Revenue

The revenue increase for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily attributable to (i) the continued rollout of the casino product offerings, including through additional third party slots under the *PokerStars Casino* brand and the expansion of the geographical reach into eligible markets, (ii) the previously announced changes to the customer loyalty program and rake structure, as well as adjustments to the Corporation's multi-table tournament payout structure, (iii) the addition of new sports to and the expansion of the geographical reach into eligible markets of the Corporation's sportsbook product, and (iv) the re-launch of real money online poker and launch of real money online casino in Portugal. It was also favorably impacted by growth in QAUs and the Corporation's previously announced strategy of focusing on recreational players, which continues to see signs of success resulting in additional Poker revenue in part as a result of the reinvestment of loyalty program cost reductions and additional rake into customer relationship management and lifecycle campaigns for recreational players. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the general strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to certain foreign currencies continued to have an unfavorable impact on the Corporation's revenue as compared to the prior year period. See also "Foreign Exchange Impact on Revenue" below.

		I nree months ended December 31, 2016							
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's			
Geographic Area									
Isle of Man	88,323	8,521	1	96,845	_	96,845			
Malta	52,727	46,267	1	98,995	_	98,995			
Italy	19,947	10,347	177	30,471	_	30,471			
United Kingdom	13,518	3,507	104	17,129	_	17,129			
Spain	11,870	6,917	185	18,972	_	18,972			
France	13,807	1,144	160	15,111	_	15,111			
Other licensed or approved									
jurisdictions	17,022	3,482	12,256	32,760	151	32,911			
	217,214	80,185	12,884	310,283	151	310,434			

	Three months ended December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)						
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's	
Geographic Area							
Isle of Man	92,705	4,047	_	96,752	_	96,752	
Malta	60,051	33,161	_	93,212	_	93,212	
Italy	20,898	5,003	142	26,043	_	26,043	
United Kingdom	16,411	3,471	87	19,969	_	19,969	
Spain	11,351	4,733	143	16,227	_	16,227	
France	13,406	_	133	13,539	_	13,539	
Other licensed or approved							
jurisdictions	14,012	62	12,914	26,988	471	27,459	
	228,834	50,477	13,419	292,730	471	293,201	

Following the Rational Group Acquisition, the vast majority of the Corporation's revenues have been generated through Poker, followed by Casino & Sportsbook. Other offerings, including social and play-money gaming, live poker events, branded poker rooms and daily fantasy sports, and other nominal B2C sources of revenue are aggregated into Other B2C revenues. Corporate revenues include certain other nominal sources of revenue. These revenues together comprise one segment as individually they do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds or disclosure requirements described in IFRS 8, Operating segments.

Poker Revenue

Poker revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2016 was \$217.2 million as compared to Poker revenue of \$228.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 2015, which represents a decrease of approximately 5.1% year-over-year. The decline in Poker revenue was primarily the result of (i) certain customers playing, either entirely or partially in place of poker, the Corporation's real-money online casino offerings, (ii) \$6.8 million of revenue resulting from accounting adjustments for certain offsets to gross gaming revenue (iii) a decline in customer activity on the *Full Tilt* real-money online poker offerings, (iv) the cessation of operations in Israel and Slovenia, and (v) a decline in interest on player deposits, reflecting a decrease in the aggregate amount of customer deposits. Notwithstanding, Poker revenues were positively impacted and supported by (i) the Corporation's previously announced strategy of focusing on recreational players, including through initiatives such as changes to its online poker loyalty program, rake structure, and the introduction of new poker promotions (in part a result of the reinvestment of loyalty program cost reductions and additional rake into customer relationship management and lifecycle campaigns for recreational players), (ii) an increase in poker QAUs, (iii) adjustments to the multi-table tournament payout structure to increase the percentage of players who have the ability to win, and (iv) the re-launch

of poker and launch of casino in Portugal and launch of *PokerStars NJ*. The factors resulted in additional Poker revenue that partially offset the overall year-over-year decline. For information on the impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, see "Foreign Exchange Impact on Revenue" below.

Casino & Sportsbook Revenue

Casino & Sportsbook revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2016 was \$80.2 million as compared to \$50.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2015, which represents an increase of 58.9%. The increase in Casino & Sportsbook revenue was primarily the result of (i) an increase in casino and sportsbook QAUs, (ii) the continued rollout of the Corporation's casino product offerings, including through additional third party slots under the *PokerStars Casino* brand, (iii) the expansion of the geographical reach of the Corporation's casino and sportsbook products into eligible markets, and (iv) the addition of new sports to the Corporation's sportsbook product, as well as the initiation of measured and efficient marketing campaigns.

Revenue by Geographic Region

The Corporation also evaluates revenue performance by geographic region based on the primary jurisdiction where the Corporation is licensed or approved to offer, or offers through third party licenses or approvals, its online gaming products and services. The revenue tables above set out the proportion of revenue attributable to each gaming license or approval generating a minimum of 5% of total consolidated revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Poker

Poker revenue was relatively stable in Italy, Spain and France and decreased in Isle of Man, Malta and United Kingdom for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period. The growth in other licensed and approved jurisdictions was primarily the result of obtaining local licenses to operate certain online gaming in Romania and Portugal (Romania had previously operated under the Malta license and the Corporation had previously ceased operations in Portugal), and the introduction of *PokerStars NJ* to the New Jersey market. The overall decline in Poker revenue was primarily the result of (i) certain customers playing, either entirely or partially in place of poker, the Corporation's real-money online casino offerings, (ii) a decline in customer activity on the *Full Tilt* real-money online poker offerings, and (iii) the cessation of operations in Israel and Slovenia, impacting Malta and Isle of Man Poker revenues. The decline in the United Kingdom was primarily due to the devaluation of the Great Britain Pound Sterling.

Casino & Sportsbook

Casino & Sportsbook revenue increased in each geographic region for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period. The increases were primarily the result of (i) the continued rollout of the Corporation's casino product offerings, including through additional third party slots under the *PokerStars Casino* brand, (ii) the expansion of the geographical reach of the Corporation's casino and sportsbook products into eligible markets, and (iii) the addition of new sports to the Corporation's sportsbook product, as well as the initiation of measured and efficient marketing campaigns. The significant increase in Malta was also the result of the Corporation offering online casino under its Malta license in the Isle of Man and the United Kingdom. The Corporation uses its Malta license for online casino offerings in the Isle of Man and United Kingdom to offset the VAT that it is contractually obligated to pay third party online slots providers with corresponding VAT input tax credits. Malta was also positively impacted by the expansion of the Corporation's online casino and sportsbook product offerings into eligible markets. In addition, the significant increase in other licensed or approved jurisdictions was primarily the result of obtaining local licenses to operate online gaming in Romania and Portugal (Romania had previously operated under the Malta license and the Corporation had previously ceased operations in Portugal), introduction of online casino and sportsbook in Denmark and the introduction of online casino in New Jersey. The Corporation does not currently offer online casino in France, but introduced its online sportsbook product offering in that jurisdiction in June 2016.

Other B2C

Other B2C revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period.

Foreign Exchange Impact on Revenue

The general strengthening of the U.S. dollar, which is the primary currency of game play on the Corporation's product offerings, relative to certain foreign currencies (particularly the Euro which is the primary depositing currency of the Corporation's customers) during the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the same period in 2015 continued to have an unfavorable impact on the Corporation's revenue. During the three months ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation estimates the decline in the purchasing power of its consumer base, based on a weighted average of customer deposits, was a result of an average 3.0% decline in the value of its customers' local currencies relative to the U.S. dollar.

To calculate revenue on a constant currency basis, the Corporation translated revenue for the current period using the prior year's monthly average exchange rates for its local currencies other than the U.S. dollar, which the Corporation believes is a useful metric that facilitates comparison to its historical performance, mainly because the U.S. dollar is the primary currency of game play on the Corporation's product offerings and the majority of the Corporation's customers are from European Union jurisdictions.

If the Corporation had translated its total IFRS revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2016 using the constant currency exchange rates for its settlement currencies other than the U.S. dollar, such revenues would have been approximately \$319.0 million, which is approximately \$8.5 million, or 2.7%, higher than actual IFRS revenue during such period.

Expenses

Selling

The increase in selling expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of increased measured and efficient marketing and advertising campaigns, including those associated with the Corporation's expansion of its online sportsbook offering, particularly as it relates to the promotion of the new *BetStars* brand, and the launch of limited television marketing for its *PokerStars Casino* brand in December 2016. Selling expenses also increased due to an increase in expenses relating to sponsored live events which facilitate the Corporation's ability to create poker marketing content.

General and Administrative

The decrease in general and administrative expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of a decrease in salaries as a result of staff restructuring and reduction in professional fees, both in connection with the Corporation's previously announced operational excellence program. The decrease was partially offset by (i) increased amortization of intangible assets and deferred development costs associated with the migration of the *Full Tilt* platform and customers, and the launch of new casino and sportsbook product offerings, including new casino games and sports, (ii) increased payment processor costs, and (iii) increased operational costs, including communications and technology infrastructure, associated with growing the online casino and sportsbook platforms.

Financial

The decrease in financial expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of lower interest incurred on long-term debt as a result of the Swap Agreements (as defined and detailed below) and an unrealized exchange loss on translation related to the translation of the USD Second Lien Term Loan (as defined below) and the deferred consideration for the Rational Group Acquisition incurred during the three months ended December 31, 2015.

Gaming Duty

The decrease in gaming duty expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of a one-time expense for alleged gaming duties in Austria (primarily relating to periods prior to the Rational Group Acquisition) which was accrued in the three month period ended December 31, 2015. The decrease was partially offset by (i) gaming duties in New Jersey and Portugal and (ii) increases in gaming

duty on the Casino & Sportsbook revenues reflecting growth in such revenues in markets where gaming duty is applicable, such as Spain and Greece.

Foreign Exchange Impact on Expenses

The Corporation's expenses are also impacted by currency fluctuations. Almost all of its expenses are incurred in either the Euro, Great Britain Pound Sterling, U.S. dollar or Canadian dollar. There are some natural hedges as a result of customer deposits made in such currencies, however the Corporation also enters into certain economic hedges to mitigate the impact of foreign currency fluctuations as it deems necessary. Further information on foreign currency risk can be found below in "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Market Risk—Foreign Currency Exchange Risk".

Loss from Investments

The loss recognized from investments during the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of the lower value of the Corporation's retained ownership of certain preferred shares of NYX Digital Gaming (Canada) ULC ("NYX Sub"), a subsidiary of NYX Gaming Group Limited (TSXV: NYX) ("NYX Gaming Group"). Such preferred shares were issued to the Corporation in connection with the sale of two of its former B2B businesses, CryptoLogic Ltd. and Amaya (Alberta) Inc. (formerly Chartwell Technology Inc.), to NYX Gaming Group and NYX Sub (the "Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale").

Gain on Settlement of Deferred Consideration

The Corporation recognized a gain on the payment in November 2016 of \$200 million of the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition, resulting in approximately \$2.5 million in savings towards the outstanding balance of such deferred purchase price during the three month period ended December 31, 2016.

Income Taxes

The decrease in income taxes during the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of the Corporation recognizing further deferred tax assets in particular jurisdictions.

Results from Discontinued Operations

Certain of the former B2B businesses were classified as discontinued operations for the three months ended December 31, 2015. The table below illustrates the impact of such discontinued operations on the Corporation's earnings during such period.

	Three months ended December 31, 2015 \$000's except per share amounts (As adjusted – note 4)
Revenue	_
Expenses	(3,098)
Results from operating activities before income taxes	(3,098)
Income taxes	_
Net loss from discontinued operations	(3,098)
Basic loss from discontinued operations per Common Share	\$ (0.02)
Diluted loss from discontinued operations per Common Share	\$ (0.02)

For additional information regarding the impact of such discontinued operations on the Corporation's earnings, see the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and management's discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the "2015 Annual MD&A").

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

	Year Ended December 31,							
\$000's except percentage amounts	2016	2015 (as adjusted)	Variance	% Change				
Revenue	1,155,892	1,072,320	83,572	7.8%				
Selling	170,496	166,557	3,939	2.4%				
General and administrative	577,412	567,422	9,990	1.8%				
Financial	137,972	197,226	(59,254)	(30.0%)				
Gaming duty	113,102	139,197	(26,095)	(18.7%)				
Acquisition-related costs	199	495	(296)	(59.8%)				
Gain on sale of subsidiary	<u> </u>	4,352	(4,352)	(100.0%)				
Loss from investments	20,250	10,626	9,624	90.6%				
Gain on settlement of deferred consideration	2,466	_	2,466	_				
Earnings (loss) from associates	623	(727)	1,350	185.7%				
Income taxes	4,000	14,441	(10,441)	(72.3%)				

Revenue

The revenue increase for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily attributable to (i) the expansion of the geographical reach of the Corporation's casino and sportsbook products into eligible markets, (ii) the continued rollout of the casino product offerings, including through additional third party slots under the *PokerStars Casino* brand (*PokerStars* first launched its third party slots offerings during the second quarter of 2015), (iii) the previously announced changes to the customer loyalty program and rake structure, as well as adjustments to the Corporation's multitable tournament payout structure, and (iv) the addition of new sports to the Corporation's sportsbook product. It was also favorably impacted by growth in QAUs and the Corporation's previously announced strategy of focusing on recreational players, which continues to see signs of success resulting in additional Poker revenue in part as a result of the reinvestment of loyalty program cost reductions and additional rake into customer relationship management and lifecycle campaigns for recreational players (which such Poker revenue partially offset the overall year-over-year decline, as detailed below). Notwithstanding, the general strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to certain foreign currencies continued to have an unfavorable impact on the Corporation's revenue as compared to the prior year period. See also "Foreign Exchange Impact on Revenue" below.

Revenue by Business Line and Geographic Region

	Year Ended December 31, 2016						
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's	
Geographic Area							
Isle of Man	339,513	19,187	3	358,703	_	358,703	
Malta	225,974	166,198	4	392,176	_	392,176	
Italy	77,646	31,693	624	109,963	_	109,963	
United Kingdom	56,837	13,439	387	70,663	_	70,663	
Spain	42,326	24,370	653	67,349	_	67,349	
France	51,989	2,356	573	54,918	_	54,918	
Other licensed or approved							
jurisdictions	51,774	6,871	42,722	101,367	753	102,120	
	846,059	264,114	44,966	1,155,139	753	1,155,892	

	Year ended December 31, 2015 (As adjusted - note 4)					
	Poker \$000's	Casino & Sportsbook \$000's	Other B2C \$000's	Total B2C \$000's	Corporate \$000's	Total \$000's
Geographic Area	·					
Isle of Man	361,663	14,562	_	376,225	_	376,225
Malta	238,416	87,153	_	325,569	_	325,569
Italy	81,304	9,048	600	90,952	_	90,952
United Kingdom	64,644	10,422	368	75,434	_	75,434
Spain	44,569	14,977	604	60,150	_	60,150
France	56,875	_	563	57,438	_	57,438
Other licensed or approved						
jurisdictions	39,694	131	45,213	85,038	1,514	86,552
	887,165	136,293	47,348	1,070,806	1,514	1,072,320

Following the Rational Group Acquisition, the vast majority of the Corporation's revenues have been generated through Poker, followed by Casino & Sportsbook. Other offerings, including social and play-money gaming, live poker events, branded poker rooms and daily fantasy sports, and other nominal B2C sources of revenue are aggregated into Other B2C revenues. Corporate revenues include certain other nominal sources of revenue. These revenues together comprise one segment as individually they do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds or disclosure requirements described in IFRS 8, Operating segments.

Poker Revenue

Poker revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 was \$846.1 million as compared to Poker revenue of \$887.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which represents a decrease of 4.6%. The decline in Poker revenue was primarily the result of (i) a decline in customer activity on the *Full Tilt* realmoney online poker offerings, (ii) certain customers playing, either entirely or partially in place of poker, the Corporation's real-money online casino offerings, (iii) customers playing with a smaller deposit base as compared to the prior year period when they had not yet experienced the impact of the devaluation of their local currency against the U.S. dollar, (iv) a decline in interest on player deposits, reflecting a decrease in the aggregate amount of customer deposits, (v) the cessation of operations in Portugal (from July 2015 through the end of November 2016), Israel and Slovenia, and (vi) the impact of the Union of European Football Associations' Euro 2016 tournament (the "2016 Euros"). Notwithstanding, and similar to the three months ended December 31, 2016, Poker revenues were positively impacted and supported by (i) the Corporation's previously announced strategy of focusing on recreational players (in part a result of the reinvestment of loyalty program cost reductions and additional rake into customer relationship management and lifecycle campaigns for recreational players), (ii) adjustments to the multi-table tournament payout structure to increase the percentage of players who have the ability to win, (iii) the launch of *PokerStars NJ*, and (iv) the re-launch of poker and launch of casino in Portugal. The factors resulted in additional Poker revenue that partially offset the overall year-over-year decline. For information on the impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, see "Foreign Exchange Impact on Revenue" below.

Casino & Sportsbook Revenue

Casino & Sportsbook revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 was \$264.1 million as compared to \$136.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which represents an increase of 93.8%. The increase in Casino & Sportsbook revenue was primarily the result of (i) the expansion of the geographical reach of the Corporation's casino and sportsbook products into eligible markets, (ii) the continued rollout of the casino product offerings, including through additional third party slots under the *PokerStars Casino* brand (*PokerStars* first launched its third party slots offerings during the second quarter of 2015), (iii) growth in casino and sportsbook QAUs, and (iv) the addition of new sports to the Corporation's sportsbook product, as well as the initiation of measured and efficient marketing campaigns.

Revenue by Geographic Region

The Corporation also evaluates revenue performance by geographic region based on the primary jurisdiction where the Corporation is licensed or approved to offer, or offers through third party licenses or approvals, its online

gaming products and services. The revenue tables above set out the proportion of revenue attributable to each gaming license or approval generating a minimum of 5% of total consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Poker

Poker revenue declined in most geographic regions for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to prior year period. The growth in other licensed and approved jurisdictions was primarily the result of obtaining local licenses to operate online gaming in Romania and Portugal (Romania had previously operated under the Malta license and the Corporation had previously ceased operations in Portugal), and the introduction of *PokerStars* to the New Jersey market. The overall decline in Poker revenue was primarily the result of (i) a decline in customer activity on the *Full Tilt* real-money online poker offerings, (ii) certain customers playing, either entirely or partially in place of poker, the Corporation's real-money online casino offerings, (iii) customers playing with a smaller deposit base as compared to the prior year period when they had not yet experienced the impact of the devaluation of their local currency against the U.S. dollar, (iv) the cessation of operations in Portugal (from July 2015 through the end of November 2016), Israel and Slovenia, impacting Malta and Isle of Man Poker revenues, (v) a decline in interest on player deposits, reflecting a decrease in the aggregate amount of customer deposits, and (vi) the impact of the 2016 Euros. The United Kingdom's revenue was also negatively impacted by higher than anticipated jackpot payouts in the Corporation's Spin & Go product. As it relates to France, the decline was also due to an increase in customer relationship management campaigns, in anticipation of France potentially transitioning to shared liquidity, leading to a reduction in net gaming revenue.

Casino & Sportsbook

Casino & Sportsbook revenue increased in each geographic region for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period. The increases were primarily the result of (i) the continued rollout of the Corporation's casino product offerings, including through additional third party slots under the *PokerStars Casino* brand, (ii) the expansion of the geographical reach of the Corporation's casino and sportsbook, products into eligible markets, and (iii) the addition of new sports to the Corporation's sportsbook product, as well as the initiation of measured and efficient marketing campaigns. The significant increase in Malta was also primarily a result of the Corporation offering online casino under its Malta license in the Isle of Man and the United Kingdom. The Corporation uses its Malta license for online casino offerings in the Isle of Man and United Kingdom to offset the VAT that it is contractually obligated to pay third party online slots providers with corresponding VAT input tax credits. In addition, the significant increase in other licensed or approved jurisdictions was primarily the result of the introduction of online casino and sportsbook in Denmark and the growth of online casino in Greece, obtaining local licenses to operate online gaming in Romania and Portugal (Romania had previously operated under the Malta license and the Corporation had previously ceased operations in Portugal), and the introduction of online casino in New Jersey. The Corporation does not currently offer online casino in France, but introduced its online sportsbook product offering in that jurisdiction in June 2016.

Other B2C

Other B2C revenue declined in other licensed or approved jurisdictions for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year period primarily due to a decrease in play money chip sales.

Foreign Exchange Impact on Revenue

The general strengthening of the U.S. dollar, which is the primary currency of game play on the Corporation's product offerings, relative to certain foreign currencies (particularly the Euro which is the primary depositing currency of the Corporation's customers) during the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the same period in 2015 continued to have an unfavorable impact on the Corporation's revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation estimates the decline in the purchasing power of its consumer base, based on a weighted average of customer deposits, was a result of an average 3.9% decline in the value of its customers' local currencies relative to the U.S. dollar.

If the Corporation had translated its total IFRS revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 using the constant currency exchange rates for its settlement currencies other than the U.S. dollar, such revenues would have been

approximately \$1.21 billion, which is approximately \$50.3 million, or 4.4%, higher than actual IFRS revenue during such period.

Expenses

Selling

The increase in selling expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of (i) increased third party royalty costs associated with increased casino revenue share driven by expansion of third party slot and live dealer game offerings and (ii) expenses related to campaigns promoting the new *BetStars* brand, offset by a reduction in (x) *Full Tilt* media expenses and (y) affiliate costs relating to the restructuring of certain affiliate agreements.

General and Administrative

The increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of (i) increased amortization of intangible assets and deferred development costs associated with the migration of the *Fill Tilt* platform and customers, and the launch of new casino and sportsbook product offerings, including new casino games and sports, as applicable, (ii) consulting and professional fees incurred by the Corporation in connection with the Special Committee's review of strategic alternatives for the Corporation, (iii) increased operational costs, including communications and technology infrastructure, associated with growing the online casino and sportsbook platforms, and (iv) hedging and incremental salary costs associated with certain termination payments related to staff restructuring related to the Corporation's previously announced operational excellence program. These costs were partially offset by (i) a decrease in impairment of various acquired intangibles, (ii) a decrease in impairment of the Corporation's investment in Innova Gaming Group Inc. (TSX.V: IGG) ("Innova") which was previously classified as investment in associate and is now classified as an asset held for sale (see note 18), and (iii) reduced stock based compensation expense compared to the prior year.

Financial

The decrease in financial expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of (i) the translation of the USD Second Lien Term Loan and the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition and (ii) lower interest incurred on long-term debt as a result of the Refinancing (as defined below).

Gaming Duty

The decrease in gaming duty expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of (i) a one-time expense for the payment of gaming duties owed in Romania in 2015 and for alleged gaming duties in Austria (primarily relating to periods prior to the Rational Group Acquisition) which was accrued in 2015, and (ii) change in gaming duty computation in Italy. These expenses were partially offset by (x) New Jersey and Portugal gaming duty expense and (y) gaming duty imposed on the Casino & Sportsbook revenues reflecting growth of such revenues in markets where gaming duty is applicable, such as Spain and Greece.

Foreign Exchange Impact on Expenses

The Corporation's expenses are also impacted by currency fluctuations. Almost all of its expenses are incurred in either the Euro, Great Britain Pound Sterling, U.S. dollar or Canadian dollar. There are some natural hedges as a result of customer deposits made in such currencies, however the Corporation also enters into certain economic hedges to mitigate the impact of foreign currency fluctuations as it deems necessary. Further information on foreign currency risk can be found below in "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Market Risk—Foreign Currency Exchange Risk".

Loss from Investments

The increased loss recognized from investments during the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of a provision representing the present value of expected remaining EBITDA

support payments under that certain EBITDA support agreement (as detailed below) entered into in connection with the initial public offering of common shares of Innova (the "Innova Offering").

Gain on Settlement of Deferred Consideration

The Corporation recognized a gain on the payment in November 2016 of \$200 million of the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition, resulting in approximately \$2.5 million in savings towards the outstanding balance during the year ended December 31, 2016.

Income taxes

The decrease in income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period was primarily the result of the unwinding of certain deferred tax balances related to the divestiture of the Corporation's former B2B businesses as well provisions recorded with respect to certain tax audits during the year ended December 31, 2015.

Results from Discontinued Operations

Certain of the former B2B businesses were classified as discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2015. The table below illustrates the impact of such discontinued operations on the Corporation's earnings during such period.

	Year ended December 31,
	2015
	\$000's
	except per share data
Total Revenue	(As adjusted – note 4) 45,058
	•
Expenses	(113,758)
Results from operating activities before income taxes	(68,700)
Income taxes	40
Net loss from discontinued operations	(68,740)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations	360,424
Minimum revenue guarantee	(20,827)
Taxes on gain on sale of discontinued operations	(35,124)
Transaction costs	(5,452)
Net earnings from discontinued operations	230,281
Basic earnings from discontinued operations per Common Share	\$ 1.73
Diluted earnings from discontinued operations per Common Share	\$ 1.16

For additional information regarding the impact of such discontinued operations on the Corporation's earnings, see the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and 2015 Annual MD&A.

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following financial data for each of the eight most recently completed quarters has been prepared in accordance with IFRS, and all such periods have been adjusted to reflect the impact of discontinued operations, as applicable. Although the presentation currency for each period presented below is currently the U.S. dollar, all such periods (with the exception of the 2016 quarters presented) were previously presented in Canadian dollars. See note 4 for additional information on the change in presentation currency from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars.

For the three months ended (As adjusted for 2015 - note 4) September September March 31, June 30, 30. December 31, March 31, June 30, 30. December 31. 2015 2016 2015 2015 2015 2016 2016 2016 \$000's, except per share amounts 272,292 259,500 247,327 288,673 270,846 Total Revenue 293,201 285,939 310,434 Net Earnings (loss) 10,767 187,467 29,147 (17,119)55,491 22,497 12,523 45,039 Net Earnings (loss) from Continuing Operations 23,263 6,382 (34,438)(15,226)55,491 22,497 12,523 45,039 Basic Net Earnings (loss) per Common Share 0.08 \$ 1.40 \$ 0.22 \$ (0.13)\$ 0.42 \$ 0.16 \$ 0.09 \$ 0.31 Diluted Net Earnings (loss) per Common Share \$ 0.05 \$ 0.94 \$ 0.15 \$ (0.13)\$ 0.28 \$ 0.12 \$ 0.06 \$ 0.23 Basic Net Earnings (loss) from 0.05 \$ 0.09 \$ Continuing Operations per Common Share \$ 0.17 \$ (0.26)\$ (0.11)\$ 0.42 \$ 0.16 \$ 0.31 Diluted Net Earnings (loss) from Continuing Operations per Common Share \$ 0.12 \$ 0.03 \$ (0.26)\$ (0.11)\$ 0.28 \$ 0.12 \$ 0.06 \$ 0.23

The revenue increases for each quarter of 2016 as compared to the prior year periods were primarily attributable to Casino & Sportsbook Revenues resulting from the continued rollout of casino and sportsbook products and the expansion of the geographical reach of such products into eligible markets, and the previously announced changes to the Corporation's customer loyalty program and rake structure, as well as adjustments to the Corporation's multi-table tournament payout structure, including through the reinvestment of a portion of the loyalty program cost reductions and additional rake into customer relationship management and lifecycle campaigns for recreational players.

For a discussion of trends and variances over the three month period and years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, see "Selected Financial Information", "Discussion of Operations", "Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Cash Flows by Activity" contained in this MD&A.

Given the nature of the B2C business, including, without limitation, the extent of certain non-recurring and other costs, instead of evaluating IFRS net earnings (loss) from continuing operations alone, the Corporation also analyzes Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted Net Earnings per Diluted Share to evaluate operating results and for financial and operational decision-making purposes. The Corporation believes that these measures provide more useful information about its operating results and enhances the overall understanding of its past performance and future prospects, as well as its performance against peers and competitors. See "Selected Financial Information—Other Financial Information" above.

The Corporation's results of operations can fluctuate due to seasonal trends and other factors. Historically, given the geographies where the majority of the Corporation's customers are located, and the related climate and weather in such geographies, among other things, revenues from its B2C operations have been generally higher in the first and fourth fiscal quarters than in the second and third fiscal quarters. In online sportsbook, fluctuations can also occur around applicable sports seasons with increased customer activity around notable or popular sporting events. As such, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved in another quarter or for the full fiscal year. There can be no assurance that the seasonal trends and other factors that have impacted the Corporation's historical results will repeat in future periods as the Corporation cannot influence or forecast many of these factors. For other factors that may cause its results to fluctuate, including, without limitation, market risks, such as foreign exchange risks, see "Outlook" above, "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Market Risk" and "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" below, and the 2016 Annual Information Form, including, without limitation, under the headings "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" and "Business of the Corporation—Seasonality" therein.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Corporation's principal sources of liquidity are its cash generated from operations and certain other currently available funds. Currently available funds consist primarily of cash on deposit with banks and available-for-sale investments, which are comprised primarily of certain highly liquid, short-term investments, including equity and debt securities. Generally, following the Rational Group Acquisition, the Corporation's working capital needs are minimal over the year as the B2C business requires customers to deposit funds prior to playing or participating in its real-money product offerings. The Corporation believes that such deposits are typically converted to revenue efficiently and on a timely basis such that operating expenditures are sufficiently covered. Management is also of the opinion that investing is a key element necessary for the continued growth of the Corporation's customer base and the future development of new and innovative products and services. Based on the Corporation's currently available funds, funds available from the Credit Facility (as defined and detailed below) and its ability to access the debt and equity capital markets, if necessary, management believes that the Corporation will have the cash resources necessary to satisfy current obligations and working capital needs, and fund currently planned development activities and other capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. Notwithstanding, as a result of, among other things, the state of capital markets and the Corporation's ability to access them on favorable terms, if at all, micro and macro-economic downturns, and contractions of the Corporation's operations may influence its ability to liquidate its available-for-sale investments or otherwise secure the capital resources required to satisfy current or future obligations (including, without limitation, those set forth under "Contractual Obligations" below) and fund future projects, strategic initiatives and support growth. For a description of the factors and risks that could affect the Corporation's ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and access the capital markets, in the short- and long-terms, in order to maintain the Corporation's capacity to meet its obligations and expected growth or fund development activities, see "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" below and in the 2016 Annual Information Form.

The Corporation's asset base of approximately \$5.46 billion and outstanding long-term liabilities of approximately \$2.41 billion at December 31, 2016 and asset base of approximately \$5.64 billion and outstanding long-term liabilities of approximately \$2.85 billion at December 31, 2015 were all primarily attributable to the Rational Group Acquisition. The decrease in the Corporation's asset base from December 31, 2015 was primarily the result of the depreciation of its intangible assets, while the decrease in outstanding long-term liabilities from December 31, 2015 was primarily the result of reclassifying the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition in the then-aggregate amount of \$400 million as a current liability.

The Corporation believes that it improved its financial condition since December 31, 2015 by, among other things, paying a portion of the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition, decreasing its leverage ratios and producing strong net cash inflows from operating activities, and expects to continue to do so by strengthening its cash flow generation, liquidity and leverage profile as a result of, among other things, continuing to introduce new and innovative products, pursue expansion into new jurisdictions and further reduce outstanding liabilities. For additional information regarding the Corporation's repayment of debt, including the Refinancing, see below under "Long-Term Debt".

For additional information regarding the Corporation's liquidity and capital resources, see the descriptions of the Corporation's debt as set forth below under "Credit Facility" and "Long-Term Debt" and the notes to the 2016 Annual Financial Statements, as well as the 2016 Annual Information Form under the heading "General Development of the Business". See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" below and in the 2016 Annual Information Form, particularly under the heading "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to the Corporation's Substantial Indebtedness".

Market Risk

The Corporation is exposed to market risks, including changes to foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

The Corporation is exposed to foreign currency risk, which includes risks related to its revenue and operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar. In general, the Corporation is a net receiver of currencies other than the U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar, primarily the Euro, which is the primary depositing currency of the Corporation's customers. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a strengthening of the U.S. dollar, have reduced the purchasing power of the Corporation's customers and thereby negatively affected the Corporation's revenue and other operating results.

The Corporation has experienced and will continue to experience fluctuations in its net earnings as a result of transaction gains or losses related to revaluing certain current asset and current liability balances that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the entities in which they are recorded. The Corporation uses derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes, not for generating trading profits, and anticipates that such instruments will mitigate foreign currency risk. As such, any change in cash flows associated with derivative instruments is expected to be offset by changes in cash flows related to the hedged position. However, it is difficult to predict the effect hedging activities could have on the Corporation's results of operations and there can be no assurance that any foreign currency exchange risks will be so mitigated or that such instruments will not result in a loss. The Corporation recognized foreign currency gain of \$5.09 million and foreign currency losses of \$3.34 million in the three months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and foreign currency gains of \$29.65 million and losses of \$5.85 million in the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

In addition to the Swap Agreements (as defined and detailed below), the Corporation entered into multiple foreign exchange contracts during the year (the "Foreign Exchange Contracts") to purchase U.S. dollars for Euros, sell U.S. dollars for Euros and to buy Great Britain Pound Sterling for U.S. dollars. These economic hedges are intended to mitigate the impact of the fluctuation of both the U.S. dollar to Euro and U.S. dollar to Great Britain Pound Sterling exchange rates on foreign currency liabilities. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recognized a realized loss of \$1.47 million in income on the Foreign Exchange Contracts that matured during the period and an unrealized loss on the Foreign Exchange Contracts of \$4.9 million that will mature in future periods during the year ending December 31, 2017. The Corporation believes that the Foreign Exchange Contracts have had no material impact on its 2016 Annual Financial Statements (see note 22). For additional information on derivatives, see also note 2 in the 2016 Annual Financial Statements. The Corporation may in the future enter into additional derivatives or other financial instruments in an attempt to hedge its foreign currency exchange risk.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The Corporation's exposure to changes in interest rates (particularly, fluctuations in LIBOR) relates primarily to interest paid on the Corporation's long-term indebtedness, as well as the interest earned on and market value of its cash and available-for-sale investments. The Corporation is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk with respect to its USD First Lien Term Loan, which it attempts to mitigate by hedging through the Swap Agreements that fix the interest rate on the same. The Corporation is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on its EUR First Lien Term Loan and USD Second Lien Term Loan, which each bear interest at variable rates.

As of the date hereof and as a result of the Repricing (as detailed above), the USD First Lien Term Loan and USD Second Lien Term Loan each have a LIBOR floor of 1.00% and EUR First Lien Term Loan has no Euribor floor. As such, the interest rates cannot decrease below 4.50%, 8.00% and 3.75%, respectively. Management monitors movements in the interest rates by reviewing the Bank of Canada prime rate, Euribor and LIBOR on a quarterly basis.

The Corporation's cash consists primarily of cash on deposit with banks and its available-for-sale investments consist primarily of certain highly liquid, short-term instruments, including equities, funds and debt securities. The Corporation's investment policy and strategy is focused on preservation of capital and supporting its liquidity requirements, not on generating trading profits. Changes in interest rates affect the interest earned on the Corporation's cash and available-for-sale investments and the market value of those securities. However, any realized gains or losses resulting from such interest rate changes would only occur if the Corporation sold the investments prior to maturity.

Liquidity Risk

The Corporation is also exposed to liquidity risk with respect to its contractual obligations and financial liabilities. The Corporation manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring its forecasted and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Corporation's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through borrowing facilities available through the Corporation's banks and other lenders. The Corporation's policy is to seek to ensure adequate funding is available from operations, established lending facilities and other sources, including the debt and equity capital markets, as required.

Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of the Corporation's contractual obligations as of December 31, 2016:

	Payments due by period				
	Total	Less than	1-3 years	3-5 years	More than
\$000's		1 year			5 years
Provisions ¹	220,150	211,208	7,495	1,447	
Long Term Debt	3,142,567	198,861	372,982	2,346,537	224,187
Derivatives	10,516	4,922	5,594	_	_
Purchase Obligations	41,016	8,005	10,792	6,608	15,611
Total	3,414,249	422,996	396,863	2,354,592	239,798

¹The purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition included a \$4.5 billion payment made at the closing of the transaction, plus a deferred purchase price initially equal to \$400 million (of which the Corporation paid \$200 million in November 2016 and an additional \$75 million in January 2017, and will pay an additional approximately \$48 million by May 15, 2017 as a result of the Repricing). Pursuant to the terms of the credit agreements governing the debt incurred for the Rational Group Acquisition, the Corporation must deposit into a separate bank account an amount equal to 35% of its monthly excess cash flow (as defined under the credit agreements) for such deferred payment. For additional information regarding the deferred payment and Amaya's current plans for financing the same, see above under "Overview—2016 and Subsequent Developments—Deferred Payment Financing".

Credit Facility

The Corporation obtained a first lien revolving credit facility of \$100 million on August 1, 2014 in connection with the Rational Group Acquisition (the "Credit Facility"). Maturing on August 1, 2019, the Credit Facility can be used to fund working capital needs and for general corporate purposes. The interest rate under the Credit Facility is, at the Corporation's option, either LIBOR plus 4.00% or ABR plus 3.00%. The applicable commitment fee on the Credit Facility is based on a first lien leverage ratio of 3.75 to 1.00 and could range from 0.375% to 0.50%. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, including the absence of a default and compliance with certain representations and warranties.

As at each of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were no amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility. However, in connection with the previously reported December 23, 2015 Commonwealth of Kentucky trial court order for damages against certain of its subsidiaries, the Corporation filed a notice of appeal to the Kentucky Court of Appeals and posted a \$100 million supersedeas bond to stay enforcement of the order for damages during the pendency of the appeals process. In connection with the posting of the bond, the Corporation delivered cash collateral in the amount of \$40 million and letters of credit in the aggregate amount of \$30 million (collectively, the "Kentucky Bond Collateral"), which thereby reduced the availability under the Credit Facility to \$70 million.

For additional information on the proceedings in Kentucky, see below under "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions", the 2016 Annual Reports and the Q3 2016 MD&A, including under the heading "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions" therein, as applicable, and note 31.

Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary of long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 (all capitalized terms used in the table below relating to such long-term debt are defined below):

Interest rate	December 31, 2016, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's	December 31, 2016 Carrying amount \$000's	December 31, 2015, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's	December 31, 2015 Carrying amount \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)	January 1, 2015, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's	January 1, 2015 Carrying amount \$000's (As adjusted - note 4)
5.00%	2,021,097	1,965,929	2,041,616	1,978,763	1,745,625	1,686,252
5.25%	286,143	296,197	289,048	307,584	199,500	233,935
8.00%	210,000	166,453	210,000	161,524	800,000	752,969
	_	_	_	_	238,000	236,110
	_	_	_	_	104,537	88,734
7.50%	_	_	30,000	21,556	30,000	24,151
		2,428,579		2,469,427		3,022,151
		47,750		32,889		
		2,380,829		2,436,538		
	5.00% 5.25% 8.00%	Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's	Therest rate	2016, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's December 31, 2016 Carrying amount \$5.00% 2,021,097 1,965,929 2,041,616 5.25% 286,143 296,197 289,048 8.00% 210,000 166,453 210,000	December 31, Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's 2016 Carrying amount \$5000's Carrying amount \$000's Car	Principal outstanding balance in local denominated currency 000's 2,021,097 1,965,929 2,041,616 1,978,763 1,745,625 5.25% 286,143 296,197 289,048 307,584 199,500 8.00% 210,000 166,453 210,000 161,524 800,000 238,000 2 38,000

The decrease in outstanding long-term debt from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016 was primarily the result of the repayment of the CDN 2013 Debentures (as defined below). The decrease in outstanding long-term debt from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2015 was primarily the result of the repayment of the USD Senior Facility and USD Mezzanine Facility in connection with the sale of a former subsidiary, Cadillac Jack Inc. ("Cadillac Jack"), to AGS, LLC, an affiliate of funds managed by Apollo Global Management, LLC (NYSE:APO) (the "Cadillac Jack Sale"), and the Refinancing (as defined below), as offset by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. For additional information regarding the interest on the Corporation's outstanding long-term debt, including the effective interest rates, see the 2016 Annual Financial Statements. To manage its interest rate exposure on certain of its debt, the Corporation entered into the Swap Agreements (as defined and described below).

The principal repayments of the Corporation's currently outstanding long-term debt over the next five years amount to the following:

	1 Year \$000's	2 Years \$000's	3 Years \$000's	4 Years \$000's	5 Years and Greater \$000's
USD First Lien Term Loan	57,244	80,657	20,519	20,519	1,842,158
EUR First Lien Term Loan	8,529	12,017	3,057	3,057	274,456
USD Second Lien Term Loan	_	_	_	_	210,000
Total	65,773	92,674	23,576	23,576	2,326,614

CDN 2013 Debentures

On February 7, 2013, the Corporation closed a private placement of units consisting of debentures and warrants, issuing and selling 30,000 units at a price of CDN \$1,000 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of CDN \$30 million (the "CDN 2013 Debentures"). The CDN 2013 Debentures matured on January 31, 2016 and were repaid in full on February 1, 2016 and the then-remaining outstanding warrants expired on January 31, 2016. As of such date, the Corporation had no further obligations under or with respect to the same.

Senior Facility

On May 15, 2014, Cadillac Jack obtained an incremental \$80 million term loan to its then-existing credit facilities through an amendment thereto for the purpose of financing working capital expenses and general corporate purposes of the Corporation. The new aggregate principal amount of \$240 million accrued interest at a per annum rate equal to LIBOR plus 8.5% with a 1% LIBOR floor (as amended, the "USD Senior Facility"). The USD Senior Facility was to mature over a five-year term from the closing date and was secured by the stock and the assets of the subsidiary. The Corporation fully repaid, and satisfied all outstanding obligations under, the USD Senior Facility on May 29, 2015.

Mezzanine Facility

On May 15, 2014, Cadillac Jack obtained a mezzanine subordinated unsecured loan (the "USD Mezzanine Facility") in the form of a subordinated term loan in the aggregate principal amount of \$100 million, bearing interest at a per annum rate equal to 13%; provided, at the option of the subsidiary, interest accruing at a per annum rate of 7% could instead be paid in-kind in lieu of cash. The USD Mezzanine Facility was to mature over a six-year term from the closing date and was unsecured. The Corporation fully repaid, and satisfied all outstanding obligations under, the USD Mezzanine Facility on May 29, 2015.

The repayment of the USD Senior Facility and USD Mezzanine Facility resulted in the Corporation repaying approximately \$344 million of debt, thereby eliminating all related debt service costs, including interest payments, of each of the USD Senior Facility and USD Mezzanine Facility.

First and Second Lien Term Loans

On August 1, 2014, Amaya completed the Rational Group Acquisition, which was partly financed through the issuance of long-term debt, allocated into first and second lien term loans. Without giving effect to the Refinancing, the first lien term loans consisted of a \$1.75 billion seven-year first lien term loan priced at LIBOR plus 4.00% (the "USD First Lien Term Loan") and a €200 million seven-year first lien term loan priced at Euribor plus 4.25% (the "EUR First Lien Term Loan" and, together with the USD First Lien Term Loan, the "First Lien Term Loans"), in each case with a 1.00% LIBOR and Euribor floor and repayable on August 22, 2021. Also without giving effect to the Refinancing, the second lien term loan consisted of an \$800 million eight-year loan priced at LIBOR plus 7.00%, with a 1.00% LIBOR floor and repayable on August 1, 2022 (the "USD Second Lien Term Loan").

On August 12, 2015, the Corporation completed the previously announced refinancing of certain of its outstanding long-term indebtedness (the "Refinancing"). The Refinancing included the repayment of approximately \$590 million of the USD Second Lien Term Loan. The Corporation funded this repayment, as well as fees and related costs, through a combination of an approximately \$315 million increase of the existing USD First Lien Term Loan, approximately \$195 million in cash. The credit agreement related to the First Lien Term Loans was amended to, among other things, provide for these increased term loan facilities. As a result of the Refinancing, the Corporation realized savings of approximately \$15.28 million and \$3.02 million in interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

In addition to the Refinancing, on March 3, 2017, the Corporation completed the Repricing. As a result of the Repricing, the Corporation currently expects to save approximately 13%, or \$15.4 million, of interest expense over the next twelve months. For additional information on the Repricing, see above under "Overview and Outlook—2016 and Subsequent Developments—First Lien Term Loans Repricing and Amendment".

First Lien Term Loans

Giving effect to the Refinancing and the Repricing, the USD First Lien Term Loan decreased to approximately \$1.92 billion and the EUR First Lien Term Loan increased to approximately €386 million.

The Corporation is required to allocate up to 50% of the excess cash flow of the Corporation to the principal repayment of the First Lien Term Loans. Excess cash flow is referred to as EBITDA of Amaya Holdings B.V. (a parent of the Rational Group) on a consolidated basis for such excess cash flow period (i.e., each fiscal year commencing with the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2015), minus, without duplication, debt service, capital expenditures, permitted business acquisitions and investments, taxes paid in cash, increases in working capital, cash

expenditures in respect of swap agreements, any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring loss, income or gain on asset dispositions, and plus, without any duplication, decreases in working capital, capital expenditures funded with the proceeds of the issuance of debt or the issuance of equity, cash payments received in respect of swap agreements, any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring gain realized in cash and cash interest income to the extent deducted in the computation of EBITDA.

The percentage allocated to the principal repayment can fluctuate based on the following:

- If the total secured leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement governing the First Lien Term Loans) at the end of the applicable excess cash flow period is less than or equal to 4.75 to 1.00 but is greater than 4.00 to 1.00, the repayments will be 25% of the excess cash flow.
- If the total secured leverage ratio at the end of the applicable excess cash flow period is less than or equal to 4.00 to 1.00, the repayment will be 0% of the excess cash flow.

As a result of the Refinancing and Repricing and respective amendments to the credit agreement for the First Lien Term Loans, the Corporation was not required to allocate any excess cash flow to the principal repayment of the First Lien Term Loans during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016 and will not be required to do so during the fiscal years ending December 31, 2017 and 2018. However, to the extent that the Corporation has such excess cash flow in applicable periods beginning in 2019, the Corporation may be required to allocate the applicable portion of such excess cash flow for such principal repayment.

The agreement for the First Lien Term Loans limits Amaya Holdings B.V. and its subsidiaries' ability to, among other things, incur additional debt or grant additional liens on its assets and equity, distribute equity interests and distribute any assets to third parties.

As described above under "—Market Risk—Interest Rate Sensitivity", the Corporation is exposed to the fluctuations in the LIBOR rate as certain of its indebtedness is at variable rates of interest which could lead to increased interest charges. During the year ended December 31, 2015, a subsidiary of the Corporation entered into cross currency interest rate swap agreements (collectively, the "Swap Agreements"), designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges, to manage the interest rate exposure on the USD First Lien Term Loan. Under the Swap Agreements, the subsidiary agreed to exchange a notional principal amount of approximately \$2.07 billion of the USD First Lien Term Loan into Euro denominated fixed rate debt in order to fix future interest and principal payments in terms of the Euro, which is the subsidiary's functional currency. In doing so, the Corporation currently expects to mitigate the impact of changes in interest rates and the impact of foreign currency gains and losses resulting from changes in the U.S. dollar to Euro exchange rate, thereby potentially reducing the uncertainty of future cash flows. As of December 31, 2016, the fair value of the Swap Agreements represented an asset of \$52.03 million, and as a result of the Swap Agreements, the Corporation had interest savings of \$7.75 million during the year. Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation unwound and settled a notional principal amount of \$616.54 million of the Swap Agreements for a gain of \$13.90 million. As a result of this unwinding and settlement, approximately \$1.28 billion of the USD First Lien Term Loan is covered under the Swap Agreements. The \$639.89 million USD First Lien Term Loan remains exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. However, as a result of the Repricing, the Corporation expects to save approximately \$1.540 million of interest expense per year.

See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" below and in the 2016 Annual Information Form, particularly under the heading "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to the Corporation's Substantial Indebtedness".

USD Second Lien Term Loan

Giving effect to the Refinancing, the USD Second Lien Term Loan decreased to \$210 million, and although the applicable interest rate remained the same, the effective interest rate increased (note 20).

During portion of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, the Corporation designated a portion of the USD First Lien Term Loan, its entire principal amount of the USD Second Lien Term Loan and its contingent consideration (i.e., the deferred purchase price for the Rational Group Acquisition) as a foreign exchange hedge of its net investment in its foreign operations. Accordingly, the portion of the losses arising from the translation of the USD-denominated liabilities that was determined to be an effective hedge during the period was recognized in the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income, counterbalancing a portion of the losses arising from translation of the Corporation's net investment in its foreign operations.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there was no ineffectiveness with respect to the net investment hedge.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation recorded an unrealized exchange loss on translation of \$48.29 million (December 31, 2015 - \$455,000) in the cumulative translation adjustment in reserves related to the translation of a portion of the USD First Lien Term Loan, USD Second Lien Term Loan and the deferred payment.

CASH FLOWS BY ACTIVITY

Comparison of the Three Months Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

The table below outlines a summary of cash inflows and outflows by activity for the three months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 with respect to continuing operations.

	Three Months Ended	Three Months Ended December 31,	
	2016	2015	
	\$000's	\$000's (as adjusted)	
Net cash inflows from operating activities	148,295	102,636	
Net cash outflows from financing activities	(237,032)	(36,779)	
Net cash inflows (outflows) from investing activities	147,441	(13.866)	

Cash Inflows from Operating Activities

The Corporation generated cash inflows from operating activities for the three months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. This was primarily the result of cash flow generated by the Corporation's B2C business. The Corporation's cash inflows from operating activities increased for the three months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period primarily as a result of increased EBITDA generated from the underlying operations.

Cash Outflows from Financing Activities

During the three months ended December 31, 2016, the primary expenditures affecting cash outflows from financing activities were (i) the payment of \$200 million on the deferred purchase price in November 2016 and (ii) the repayment of long-term debt interest and principal related to the First Lien Term Loans and the USD Second Lien Term Loan. During the three months ended December 31, 2015, the primary expenditures affecting cash outflows from financing activities were the payment of long-term debt interest and principal related to the First Lien Term Loans and the USD Second Lien Term Loan.

Cash Inflows (Outflows) from Investing Activities

During the three months ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation's cash inflows from investing activities were primarily driven by the derestriction of certain required monthly excess cash flow deposits to partially fund the \$200 million payment on the deferred purchase price in November 2016, partially offset by capital expenditures, primarily consisting of investments in online poker, casino and sportsbook. During the three months ended December 31, 2015, the Corporation's cash outflows from investing activities were primarily driven by investments in online casino and sportsbook development, required monthly excess cash flow deposits for the deferred purchase price, offset by proceeds from the sale of certain investments.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

The table below outlines a summary of cash inflows and outflows by activity for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 with respect to both continuing and discontinued operations.

	Year Ended Dec	Year Ended December 31,		
	2016	2015		
	\$000's	\$000's (as adjusted)		
Net cash inflows from operating activities	349,936	362,710		
Net cash outflows from financing activities	(375,586)	(807,200)		
Net cash inflows from investing activities	28,871	370,653		

Cash Inflows from Operating Activities

The Corporation generated cash inflows from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. This was primarily the result of cash flow generated by the Corporation's B2C business. The Corporation's cash inflows from operating activities decreased for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year period despite increased EBITDA primarily as a result of (i) payment of alleged gaming duties in Austria (primarily relating to periods prior to the Rational Group Acquisition) which were accrued in 2015, (ii) less collections of payment processor receivables, (iii) a decrease in the total deposit balances of high volume, net withdrawing customers, as partially offset by an increase in net deposits, and (iv) a reduction in accounts payable associated with the repayment of outstanding 2015 supplier balances.

Cash Outflows from Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the primary expenditures affecting cash outflows from financing activities were (i) the payment of \$200 million on the deferred purchase price in November 2016 and (ii) the repayment of long-term debt interest and principal related to the First Lien Term Loans and the USD Second Lien Term Loan. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the primary expenditures affecting the cash outflows from financing activities were (i) the repayment of the USD Senior Facility and USD Mezzanine Facility, including the associated prepayment penalty and costs, as a result of the Cadillac Jack Sale, (ii) long-term debt interest and principal payments related to the First Lien Term Loans and the USD Second Lien Term Loan, (iii) the Refinancing, including associated costs, and (iv) the repurchase of Common Shares under the Corporation's then-effective normal course issuer bid.

Cash Inflows from Investing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation's cash inflows from investing activities were primarily driven by the derestriction of certain required monthly excess cash flow deposits to partially fund the \$200 million payment on the deferred purchase price in November 2016, partially offset by (i) the required monthly excess cash flow deposits for the deferred purchase price, (ii) the cash collateral delivered as part of the Kentucky Bond Collateral, (iii) capital expenditures, primarily consisting of investments in online poker, casino and sportsbook development, and (iv) the payment of certain minimum revenue guarantees in relation to the divestitures of the Corporation's former B2B assets. During the year ended December 31, 2015, cash inflows from investing activities primarily resulted from the proceeds of the Cadillac Jack Sale, the Chartwell/Cryptologic Sale and the Innova Offering, in each case as partially offset by the required monthly excess cash flow deposits for the deferred purchase price and capital expenditures, primarily consisting of investments in deferred development costs.

Cash Inflows and Outflows from Discontinued Operations

Certain of the former B2B businesses were classified as discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2015. The table below illustrates the impact of such discontinued operations on the Corporation's cash flows during such period.

	Year ended December 31,	
	2015	
	\$000's	
	(As adjusted - note 4)	
Net cash inflows from operating activities	1,225	
Net cash inflows from financing activities	1,218	
Net cash outflows from investing activities	(16,121)	

For additional information regarding the impact of such discontinued operations on the Corporation's cash flows, see the 2016 Annual Financial Statements and 2015 Annual MD&A.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For a description of the Corporation's significant accounting policies, critical accounting estimates and judgments, and related information see note 2 to the 2016 Annual Financial Statements. Other than as set forth below, there have been no changes to the Corporation's significant accounting policies or critical accounting estimates or judgments during the year ended December 31, 2016.

Change in Critical Accounting Estimates

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation determined that it was necessary to accelerate the amortization of the Full Tilt software no longer used as a result of the previously announced migration of the Full Tilt brand and players to the PokerStars platform reducing the remaining life from 39 to 24 months. Although the software will no longer be used, the Corporation determined that there is value in preventing its use by others. This change in accounting estimate results in an increase in amortization of intangibles expense from approximately \$11.28 million to approximately \$18.10 million each year from May 2016 through April 2018.

In connection with the Innova Offering, the Corporation entered into an EBITDA support agreement with Innova pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to pay Innova each year until June 30, 2020 a maximum of CDN\$2 million based on any applicable EBITDA shortfall recognized by Innova in each such year. For the year ended December 31, 2015, no shortfall was expected and therefore no provision was recorded. During the year ended December 31, 2016, Innova informed the Corporation that its EBITDA expectations would result in a shortfall in each of the remaining four years and as a result, the Corporation recorded a provision of \$5.33 million, representing the present value of the expected remaining EBITDA support payments.

Change in Significant Accounting Policies

As previously reported, beginning with the first quarter of 2016 the Corporation changed its presentation currency from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars and reported prior period adjustments relating to the same. See above under "Management's Discussion and Analysis" and note 4 to the 2016 Annual Financial Statements.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Changes in Accounting Policies Adopted

During the year ended December 31, 2016, there were no changes to the Corporation's accounting policies adopted.

New Accounting Pronouncements - Not Yet Effective

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments

The IASB issued IFRS 9 relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the many different rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments (i.e., its business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of such financial assets. IFRS 9 also amends the impairment model by introducing a new expected credit losses model for calculating impairment on its financial assets and commitments to extend credit. The standard also introduces additional changes relating to financial liabilities. IFRS 9 also includes a new hedge accounting standard which aligns hedge accounting more closely with

risk management. This new standard does not fundamentally change the types of hedging relationships or the requirement to measure and recognize ineffectiveness, however it will provide more hedging strategies that are used for risk management to qualify for hedge accounting and introduce more judgment to assess the effectiveness of a hedging relationship. Extended disclosures about risk management activity for those applying hedge accounting will also be required under the new standard.

An entity shall apply IFRS 9 retrospectively, with some exemptions, for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of this standard, and does not anticipate applying it prior to its effective date.

IFRS 15, Revenues from Contracts with Customers

The Financial Accounting Standards Board and IASB have issued converged standards on revenue recognition. This new IFRS 15 affects any entity using IFRS that either enters into contracts with customers, unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards such as insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts. This IFRS will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in IAS 18 and most industry-specific guidance.

The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized.

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of this standard, and does not anticipate applying it prior to its effective date.

IFRS 16, Leases

The IASB recently issued IFRS 16 to replace IAS 17 "Leases". This standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors.

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2019. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of this standard, and does not anticipate applying it prior to its effective date.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on the Corporation's financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

	As at March 20, 2017
Common Shares issued and outstanding	145,772,027
Common Shares issuable upon conversion of 1,139,249 Preferred Shares	55,029,243
Common Shares issuable upon exercise of options	9,672,325
Common Shares issuable upon exercise of warrants	4,000,000
Total Common Shares on a fully-diluted basis	214,473,595

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

Other than as set forth below, there were no material changes or updates to the Corporation's material legal proceedings or regulatory actions during the three months ended December 31, 2016. For additional information regarding the Corporation's material legal proceedings and regulatory actions, see the 2016 Annual Information Form and the Q3 2016 MD&A under the heading "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions".

Kentucky Proceeding

For information regarding the previously reported proceeding in Kentucky, see above under "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Credit Facility", the 2016 Annual Information Form, including under the heading "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions" therein, and note 31 to the 2016 Annual Financial Statements.

The AMF Investigation and Foreign Payments Matter

For information regarding the previously reported AMF investigation and related matters and foreign payments matter, see the 2016 Annual Information Form.

Class Actions

For information regarding the previously reported class action lawsuits, see the 2016 Annual Information Form.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The applicable rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the Canadian Securities Administrators require Amaya's certifying officers, the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), to establish and maintain disclosure controls and procedures ("DC&P") and internal control over financial reporting ("ICFR"), as those terms are defined in such rules. In compliance with these rules, the Corporation has filed applicable certifications signed by the CEO and the CFO that, among other things, report on the design of each of DC&P and ICFR.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The CEO and CFO have designed DC&P, or have caused them to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance that:

- material information relating to the Corporation is made known to them by others, particularly during the period in which the annual and interim filings are being prepared; and
- information required to be disclosed in the annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in applicable securities legislation.

The CEO and CFO have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the effectiveness of the Corporation's DC&P at the financial year end December 31, 2016. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that, because of the material weaknesses in the Corporation's ICFR discussed below, the Corporation's DC&P were not effective as of December 31, 2016. Notwithstanding these material weaknesses, the Corporation's management, including the CEO and CFO, have concluded that the 2016 Annual Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the Corporation's financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with IFRS.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The CEO and CFO have designed ICFR, or have caused it to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the Corporation's accounting and reporting standards.

The CEO and CFO have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the effectiveness of the Corporation's ICFR at the financial year end December 31, 2016, based on the criteria set forth in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that the Corporation's ICFR was not effective as of December 31, 2016, due to the fact that there were material weaknesses in the same. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in ICFR, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Corporation's annual or interim financial statements or report will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Management identified the following internal control deficiencies that constitute individually, or in the aggregate, material weaknesses in the Corporation's ICFR as of December 31, 2016:

Derivative Valuations and Hedge Accounting —In the fourth quarter of 2016, management identified deficiencies related to the operating effectiveness of controls over derivative valuations and hedge accounting, including specifically as it related to management's review of internal calculations of fair value of derivatives and its review of the designation of such derivatives in hedge relationships. Management has concluded that as of December 31, 2016 there were material weaknesses in the controls over derivative valuations and hedge accounting, which in this instance, were not identified by the Corporation's monitoring activities. Management has undertaken certain remedial measures in the fourth quarter of 2016 that resulted in an effective control design over the Corporation's derivative valuation and hedge accounting, however management was unable to conclude that these controls were effective in the assessment for the year ended December 31, 2016 because the remedial measures had not been in place for a sufficient period of time to establish their operational effectiveness. In particular, management has undertaken the remedial measures described below under the heading, "Remediation Efforts to Address Identified Material Weaknesses - Derivative Valuations and Hedge Accounting". There were no restatements or adjusting entries required in the 2016 Annual Financial Statements or otherwise as a result of this material weakness.

Foreign Exchange Rate Information – In the fourth quarter of 2016, management also identified deficiencies related to the design of controls over the foreign exchange rates used by the Corporation to determine the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations and for financial reporting purposes. Such information was being obtained from a single source that did not provide management with a Type 1 report in accordance with Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) No. 16, Reporting on Controls at a Service Organization (a "SOC1 Report"). Although management believes that single source to be reliable, the Corporation did not consistently verify the information obtained from that source against information available from any other sources. Management has concluded that as of December 31, 2016 there was a material weakness in the control over the exchange rates used by the Corporation for financial reporting purposes. Specifically, a control was not appropriately designed to address the risk that foreign exchange rate information obtained from a single source that does not provide a SOC1 Report and is not verified against another source may not be reliable. In this instance, the material weakness was not identified by the Corporation's monitoring activities. In the first quarter of 2017, management has taken steps to remediate this material weakness by implementing changes to internal control design over foreign exchange rates. In particular, management has taken the remedial measures described below under the heading, "Remediation Efforts to Address Identified Material Weaknesses – Foreign Exchange Rate Information". There were no restatements or adjusting entries required in the 2016 Annual Financial Statements or otherwise as a result of this material weakness.

The effectiveness of the Corporation's ICFR has been audited by its independent external auditor, Deloitte LLP, London, United Kingdom ("Deloitte"), the registered public accounting firm that also audited the 2016 Annual Financial Statements. Deloitte's attestation report on the Corporation's ICFR as of December 31, 2016 is included in the 2016 Annual Financial Statements.

Changes to Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As discussed above under "Internal Control over Financial Reporting - *Derivative Valuations and Hedge Accounting*", in the fourth quarter of 2016 Amaya engaged an external service provider that provided a SOC1 report to assist with derivative valuation and hedge accounting. This change to Amaya's ICFR allowed management to conclude that, as of December 31, 2016, Amaya's internal control relating to derivative valuations and hedge accounting was effective in its design even though management could not conclude that such internal control was operationally effective. Management believes this change will allow management to conclude that such controls are also operationally effective once the engagement of the external service provider has been in place for a long enough period of time to provide sufficient evidence of operating effectiveness.

There has been no other change in Amaya's ICFR that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2016 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, Amaya's ICFR.

Remediation Efforts to Address Identified Material Weaknesses

Management is dedicated to remediating the material weaknesses in the Corporation's ICFR and identifying and remediating internal control risks that could be material to the Corporation in the future. If not remediated effectively, the material weaknesses in such ICFR could impact the accuracy and completeness of the Corporation's financial statements.

The following steps are among the measures that have been implemented or that the Corporation intends to implement after the date of this filing to address its material weaknesses as of December 31, 2016:

Derivative Valuations and Hedge Accounting – The Corporation has implemented a change to its internal control over financial reporting relating to derivative valuations and hedge accounting. Throughout the fourth quarter of 2016, the Corporation performed reviews to identify opportunities to improve the operation of its controls relating to derivative valuations and hedge accounting, and in the same quarter, the Corporation engaged an external service provider that specializes in derivative valuations and provides a SOC1 Report to provide applicable valuations for comparison to management's internal valuations and to assist with hedge documentation and technical assessments related to any significant changes to existing hedge relationships or new hedge relationships. Since adopting this change to ICFR in the fourth quarter of 2016, management compared, and continues to compare, its internal derivative valuations with that of its external service provider and consulted, and continues to consult, such provider with respect to hedge relationships. Management does not believe that any additional remedial measures are necessary at this time, as the measures taken in the fourth quarter of 2016 would allow it to conclude that these internal controls are effective once they have been in place for a long enough period of time to provide sufficient evidence of their operating effectiveness. However, in the first quarter of 2017 management intends to outsource derivative valuations and hedge relationship assessments fully to this external provider, which will continue to provide a SOC1 Report. Management currently expects that the successful implementation of these measures will allow it to conclude that the Corporation's ICFR relating to derivative valuations and hedge accounting are effective when assessing their effectiveness as at the end of the second quarter of 2017.

Foreign Exchange Rate Information - The Corporation performed a review to identify opportunities to improve the design and operation of its controls relating to foreign exchange rate information. The Corporation now obtains foreign exchange rate information from an additional reputable source to compare such information against that provided by its previous sole information source and is in the process of developing an automated control to perform such comparisons in the future. Management is also exploring the alternative of engaging a service provider that would be able to provide a SOC1 Report as the sole source for this exchange rate information. Management currently expects that the successful implementation of these measures will allow it to conclude that the Corporation's ICFR relating to foreign exchange rate information are effective when assessing their effectiveness as at the end of the second quarter of 2017.

The Corporation is committed to maintaining a strong control environment and continuously monitors and assesses the same, including its DC&P and ICFR, in an effort to achieve this goal. The Audit Committee has directed management to develop detailed plans and timetables for the completion of the implementation and testing of the remedial measures outlined above and will continue to monitor such implementation. In addition, under the direction of the Audit Committee, management will continue to review and make necessary changes to the overall design of the Corporation's internal control environment, as well as to its policies and procedures in order to improve the overall effectiveness of its ICFR.

Management believes the foregoing efforts will effectively remediate the material weaknesses. As the Corporation implements these remediation efforts, and continues to evaluate and work to improve its ICFR, management may determine that additional steps or measures may be necessary to address and remediate the material weaknesses or determine to modify the remediation efforts described above. The Corporation cannot assure you that these remediation efforts will be successful or that its ICFR will be effective in accomplishing all control objectives all of the time. Management will continue to assess the effectiveness of these remediation efforts in connection with its evaluations of ICFR.

Limitations on Effectiveness of DC&P and ICFR

In designing and evaluating DC&P and ICFR, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of DC&P and ICFR must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. See also "Risk Factors and Uncertainties—Risks Related to the Corporation's Business—If the Corporation's internal controls are ineffective, its operating results and market confidence in its reported financial information could be adversely affected".

RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition, and results of operations. Current and prospective investors should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties and other information contained in this MD&A, the 2016 Annual Financial Statements, the 2016 Annual Information Form, particularly under the heading "Risk Factors and Uncertainties" therein, and in other filings that the Corporation has made and may make with applicable securities authorities in the future, including those available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and EDGAR at www.sec.gov. The risks and uncertainties described herein and therein are not the only ones the Corporation may face. Additional risks and uncertainties that the Corporation is unaware of, or that the Corporation currently believes are not material, may also become important factors that could adversely affect the Corporation's business. If any of such risks actually occur, the Corporation's business, financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of the Common Shares (or of any other securities of the Corporation) could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

FURTHER INFORMATION

Additional information relating to Amaya and its business, including, without limitation, the 2016 Annual Reports and other filings that Amaya has made and may make with applicable securities authorities in the future, may be found on or through SEDAR at www.sedar.com, EDGAR at www.sec.gov or Amaya's website at www.amaya.com. Additional information, including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of Amaya securities and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, is also contained in the Corporation's most recent management information circular for the most recent annual meeting of shareholders of the Corporation.

In addition to press releases, securities filings and public conference calls and webcasts, Amaya intends to use its investor relations page on its website as a means of disclosing material information to its investors and others and for complying with its disclosure obligations under applicable securities laws. Accordingly, investors and others should monitor the website in addition to following Amaya's press releases, securities filings and public conference calls and webcasts. This list may be updated from time to time.

Montreal, Québec March 22, 2017

(Signed) "Daniel Sebag"

Daniel Sebag, CPA, CA Chief Financial Officer

AMAYA

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 40-F of Amaya Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The issuer's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)) and 15d-15(f)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The issuer's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the issuer's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 22, 2017 /s/ Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi

Name: Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi Title: Chief Executive Officer

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Daniel Sebag, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 40-F of Amaya Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The issuer's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)) and 15d-15(f)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The issuer's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the issuer's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 22, 2017 /s/ Daniel Sebag

Name: Daniel Sebag

Title: Chief Financial Officer

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Amaya Inc. (the "Registrant") on Form 40-F for the year ended December 31, 2016, as filed with the Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi, as Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi

Name: Rafael (Rafi) Ashkenazi Title: Chief Executive Officer Date: March 22, 2017

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This certification is not, and shall not be deemed, incorporated by reference in the Report or any other filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Amaya Inc. (the "Registrant") on Form 40-F for the year ended December 31, 2016, as filed with the Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), Daniel Sebag, as Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ Daniel Sebag

Name: Daniel Sebag
Title: Chief Financial

Title: Chief Financial Officer Date: March 22, 2017

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This certification is not, and shall not be deemed, incorporated by reference in the Report or any other filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.



Deloitte LLP
2 New Street Square
London EC4A 3BZ
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7936 3000
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7583 1198
LDE: DX 599
www.deloitte.co.uk

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-207925 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement No. 333-207917 on Form F-10 of our reports dated March 22, 2017, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Amaya Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") (which report expresses an unmodified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company's election to change its presentation currency) and the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting (which report expresses an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting because of two material weaknesses), appearing in this Annual Report on Form 40-F of Amaya Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2016.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants

22 March 2017 London, United Kingdom

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its registered office at 2 New Street Square, London EC4A 3BZ, United Kingdom.
Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), a UK private company limited by guarantee, whose member firms are legally separate and independent entities. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of DTTL and its member firms.

© 2017 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.